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         who was the model for many of his heroines, and gave way to his passion for gambling. In the following years he fell deeply
         in debt, but in 1867 he married Anna Grigoryevna Snitkina (his second wife), who helped to rescue him from his financial morass.
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      Chronology

      
      
      1821 (30 October)* Born Fyodor Mikhaylovich Dostoyevsky, in Moscow, the son of Mikhail Andreyevich, head physician at Mariinsky Hospital for
         the Poor, and Marya Fyodorovna, daughter of a merchant family.


      
      1823 Pushkin begins Eugene Onegin.

      
      1825 Decembrist uprising.

      
      1831–6 Attends boarding schools in Moscow together with his brother Mikhail (b. 1820).

      
      1836 Publication of the ‘First Philosophical Letter’ by Pyotr Chaadayev.

      
      1837 Pushkin is killed in a duel.

      
      Mother dies. He and his brother Mikhail are sent to a boarding school in St Petersburg.

      
      1838 Enters the St Petersburg Academy of Military Engineering as an army cadet (Mikhail is not admitted to the Academy).

      
      1839 Father dies, perhaps murdered by serfs on his estate.

      
      1840 Lermontov’s A Hero of Our Time.

      
      1841 Obtains a commission. Tries his hand at historical drama without success.

      
      1842 Gogol’s Dead Souls.

      
      Promoted to second lieutenant.

      
      1843 Graduates from the Academy. Attached to St Petersburg Army Engineering Corps. Translates Balzac’s Eugénie Grandet.

      
      1844 Resigns his commission. Works on Poor Folk, his first novel.


      
      1845 Establishes a friendship with Russia’s most prominent and influential literary critic, the liberal Vissarion Belinsky,
         who praises Poor Folk and acclaims its author as Gogol’s successor.


      
      1846 Poor Folk and The Double published. While Poor Folk is widely praised, The Double is much less successful. ‘Mr Prokharchin’ also published.


      
      1847 Nervous ailments and the onset of epilepsy. ‘A Novel in Nine Letters’ and ‘The Landlady’ are published.

      
      1848 Revolutions in Europe.

      
      Several short stories published, including ‘A Weak Heart’, ‘An Honest Thief’, ‘A Christmas Party and a Wedding’ and ‘White
         Nights’.


      
      1849 Netochka Nezvanova published. (23 April) Arrested along with other members of the Petrashevsky Circle, and convicted of political offences against
         the Russian state. Sentenced to death, and taken out to Semyonovsky Square to be shot by firing squad, but reprieved moments
         before execution (22 December). Instead, sentenced to an indefinite period of exile in Siberia, to begin with eight years
         of penal servitude, later reduced to four years by Tsar Nicholas I.


      
      1850 Prison and hard labour in Omsk, western Siberia.

      
      1852 Death of Gogol.

      
      1853 Outbreak of Crimean War.

      
      1854 Released from prison, but immediately sent to do compulsory military service as a private in the infantry battalion at
         Semipalatinsk, south-western Siberia.


      
      1855 Alexander II succeeds Nicholas I as Tsar; some relaxation of state censorship.

      
      Promoted to non-commissioned officer.

      
      1856 Promoted to lieutenant. Still forbidden to leave Siberia.

      
      1857 Marries the widowed Marya Dmitriyevna Isayeva. Publication of ‘The Little Hero’, written in prison during the summer
         of 1849.


      
      1859 Allowed to return to live in European Russia. (December) The Dostoyevskys return to St Petersburg. The Village of Stepanchikovo and its Inhabitants and Uncle’s Dream published.


      
      1861 (19 February) Emancipation of serfs.

      
      Mikhail starts a new literary journal, Vremya (Time). Dostoyevsky is not officially an editor, because of his convict status. The Insulted and the Injured and first part of The House of the Dead both appear in Vremya.


      
      1862 ‘A Nasty Business’ and second part of The House of the Dead published in Vremya. Makes first trip abroad, to Europe, including England, France and Switzerland. Meets Alexander Herzen in London. 


      
      Turgenev’s Fathers and Sons.

      
      1863 Polish uprising. Nikolay Chernyshevsky’s What Is to Be Done?

      
      Winter Notes on Summer Impressions published in Vremya, which is shut down by the government later this year. After Marya Dmitriyevna is taken seriously ill, travels abroad again.
         Begins liaison with Apollinaria Suslova.


      
      1864 (March) With Mikhail founds the journal Epokha (Epoch) as successor to Vremya. Notes from Underground published in Epokha. (April) Death of Marya Dmitriyevna. (July) Death of Mikhail.


      
      1865 Epokha ceases publication because of lack of funds. Suslova rejects his proposal of marriage. Gambles in Wiesbaden. Works on Crime and Punishment.


      
      1865–9 Tolstoy’s War and Peace.


      
      1866 Dmitry Karakozov attempts to assassinate Tsar Alexander II.

      
      Crime and Punishment in the Russian Messenger, and The Gambler published. The latter written in 26 days with the help of his future wife, the stenographer Anna Grigoryevna Snitkina (b.
         1846).


      
      1867 Marries. Hounded by creditors, the couple leaves for Western Europe and settles in Dresden.

      
      1868 Birth of daughter, Sofia, who dies only three months old. The Idiot published in serial form.


      
      1869 Birth of daughter, Lyubov.

      
      1870 Vladimir Lenin is born in the town of Simbirsk, on the banks of the Volga. Defeat of France in Franco-Prussian War.

      
      The Eternal Husband published.

      
      1871 Moves back to St Petersburg with his wife and family. Birth of son, Fyodor.

      
      1871–2 Serial publication of Demons.

      
      1873 Becomes contributing editor of conservative weekly journal Grazhdanin (Citizen), where his A Writer’s Diary is published as a regular column. ‘Bobok’ appears in the issue of 5 February.


      
      1874 Steps down as the editor of the Citizen.


      
      1875 Tolstoy begins publishing Anna Karenina.

      
      The Adolescent published. Birth of son, Alexey.


      
      1876 A Writer’s Diary restarts as an independent publication; ‘The Meek One’ appears in it in November.


      
      1877 ‘The Dream of a Ridiculous Man’ published in A Writer’s Diary in April.


      
      1878 Death of Alexey.

      
      1879 First part of The Brothers Karamazov published. Struggling with bad health, Dostoyevsky visits the health spa in Bad Ems, Germany, in the summer for treatment.


      
      1880 The Brothers Karamazov published (in complete form). Anna starts a book service, where her husband’s works may be ordered by mail. His ‘Pushkin
         Speech’ delivered in Moscow at the unveiling of a monument is greeted with wild enthusiasm; the speech is published in A Writer’s Diary, which resumes publication.


      
      1881 (1 March) Assassination of Tsar Alexander II.

      
      (28 January) Dostoyevsky dies in St Petersburg. The funeral procession from the author’s apartment numbers over 30,000. Buried
         in the cemetery of the Alexander Nevsky Monastery.


      

      
      
      
      Introduction

      
      New readers are advised that this Introduction makes details of the plots explicit.


      
      
      
      
      ‘MONEY IS EVERYTHING!’ – THE GAMBLER

      
      
      On 4 October 1866, Dostoyevsky was faced with yet another financial crisis. As his letters make abundantly clear, he was dogged
         by money problems throughout his adult life, from the time he was away at school, imploring his father for money (‘I’m in
         debt all the way around and very much. I owe at least 50 roubles. My God! … Save me’1) until a year before his death, when his wife had finally managed to pay off the debts accumulated over a lifetime. What
         was different about the present crisis was that he was enjoying unprecedented success with the serialization of Crime and Punishment, which had secured his stature as one of the leading writers in Russia, along with Leo Tolstoy and Ivan Turgenev. Nevertheless,
         he found himself besieged by creditors. And though he had been in desperate straits before, it was different this time – he
         needed to write and deliver a novel in twenty-six days or forfeit the rights to his works for the next nine years.


      
      The troubles had begun the previous year. In July 1865 Dostoyevsky agreed to one of the most infamous publishing contracts
         in the history of Russian literature with the publisher and bookseller Fyodor Stellovsky, whose name lives on solely from
         this one agreement. Dostoyevsky had established the journal Epoch (Epokha) the year before with his brother Mikhail, who died a few months later. Dostoyevsky unwisely decided to assume responsibility
         both for Mikhail’s personal debts and those he had accumulated from the journal. Despite Dostoyevsky’s very real efforts to keep Epoch afloat, it went under in March 1865 from financial problems. Now the sole support of six people (his stepson, Mikhail’s widow
         and her four children), Dostoyevsky found himself in a truly impossible situation. He put off dealing with Stellovsky as long
         as he could, but there was no alternative. According to the contract, the unscrupulous publisher acquired the rights to publish
         a three-volume collection of Dostoyevsky’s works; moreover, the author was obligated to write a new short novel specifically
         for this edition. If Dostoyevsky failed to produce the promised work on schedule (1 November 1866) the publisher had the right
         to publish all of Dostoyevsky’s works without any royalty payment whatsoever for the next nine years. Knowing that he was
         perhaps signing away his past as well as his future, Dostoyevsky agreed and took the 3,000 roubles Stellovsky offered. After
         paying off his most urgent debts and providing for his dependants, he was left with the far from princely sum of 175 roubles,
         which he took with him abroad later that month and promptly gambled away at the roulette tables in Wiesbaden, while his lover
         Apollinaria Suslova waited for him in Paris.


      
      The following summer, in a letter to Anna Korvin-Krukovskaya, whom he courted after the death of his wife in 1864, Dostoyevsky,
         who had not written a word of the contracted novel, complained that Stellovsky refused to give him an extension. He then went
         on to boast that he wanted:


      
      
         to do an unprecedented and unconventional thing: write 30 signatures [i.e. 480 printed pages] in four months, in two different novels, of which I’ll work on one in the morning, and
            the other in the evening and finish on time … I’m convinced that not one of our writers, past or living, wrote under the conditions
            in which I constantly write. Turgenev would die from the very thought.2



      
      However, the idea of writing two novels simultaneously, that is, Crime and Punishment, which was being serialized in the Russian Messenger, and the as yet unnamed second novel, came to naught. And so with only a month left, Dostoyevsky decided, on the recommendation
         of a friend, to enlist the services of a stenographer. The twenty-year-old Anna Grigoryevna Snitkina (who would become his second wife) arrived at 11:30 on the morning
         of 4 October to take down in shorthand his new novel, The Gambler.


      
      Years later Anna Grigoryevna would recall that the building she had entered resembled Raskolnikov’s lodgings in Crime and Punishment – she was an ardent admirer of the writer. The two quickly worked out a routine where Anna Grigoryevna would take his dictation
         during the afternoon and then transcribe a fair copy at home in the evening. Long tea-breaks provided an opportunity for the
         writer to entertain her with dramatic episodes from the story of his life: arrested in 1849 for his participation in a political
         discussion group, sentenced to death by firing squad, last-minute reprieve while awaiting execution on Semyonovsky Square,
         prison, exile in Siberia. And then there was his literary career: the famous debut with his novel Poor Folk, friendships with Vissarion Belinsky, the foremost literary critic of the day, as well as the poets Nikolay Nekrasov and
         Apollon Maykov (the latter visited during one of their working afternoons) … In her memoirs, Anna Grigoryevna writes that
         ‘the very idea, not only of meeting this gifted writer, but also of helping him in his work, filled me with excitement and
         elation … With each passing day Dostoyevsky was growing kinder and warmer toward me. He often addressed me as golubchik [darling], his favourite expression.’3 Remarkably, the novel was finished and delivered to Stellovsky on the deadline. Dostoyevsky proposed marriage to Anna a week
         later, and they were married in February of the next year.


      
      Even though the actual writing of The Gambler took all of twenty-six days from start to finish, Dostoyevsky had been mulling over the work for quite some time. He outlined
         it in a letter dated 18 September 1863:


      
      
         The plot of the story is the following: a certain type of Russian living abroad. Note: there was a big question about Russians
            living abroad in the journals this summer. That will all be reflected in my story. And in general, the whole contemporary
            moment of our inner life will be reflected … The main point is that all his life juices, energies, violence, boldness have gone into roulette. He is a gambler, and not an ordinary gambler, just as Pushkin’s miserly knight is not an ordinary knight … 


         If House of the Dead drew the attention of the public as a portrait of convicts, whom no one had portrayed graphically before House of the Dead, then this story will definitely draw attention as a GRAPHIC and very detailed portrait of the game of roulette.4



      
      While the comparison with the House of the Dead might first strike one as forced or even outrageous, the casino does represent another type of closed, special world, in
         which one needs to be initiated into new rules of conduct in order to survive. We learn these rules from reading Alexey Ivanovich’s
         ‘notes’ and following his career as a gambler; as Dostoyevsky wrote in that same letter, he is ‘a poet in his own way’.


      
      The Gambler, as Joseph Frank suggested, marks Dostoyevsky’s single foray into depicting what would come to be known as the ‘international’
         theme in the work of such writers as Henry James, where a character’s psychology and actions are evaluated not only in terms
         of personal traits or individual temperament, but also how they reflect national values.5 The novel opens with Alexey Ivanovich (who is not named until Chapter 6), the author of these ‘Notes of a Young Man’, as
         the subtitle puts it, returning to Roulettenburg to rejoin his party, the family of a retired Russian general living abroad.
         As the town’s name implies, gambling is the one and only industry – we see nothing of the town or its residents apart from
         the casino and its environs. The hotel and casino are populated by an ever-changing international congress of Englishmen,
         Frenchmen, Germans, Poles and Russians. As Mikhail Bakhtin remarked: ‘these are people cut off from their native land and
         folk, whose life ceases to be determined by the norms of people living in their own country, their behavior is no longer regulated
         by that position which they had occupied in their homeland’.6 Scandal is the norm. Fortunes and identities come and go. For example, Mademoiselle Blanche de Cominges, as Alexey Ivanovich
         learns from Mr Astley, had previously gone under the names Mlle Zelmá and Barberini.


      
      The international theme, however, also provides the xenophobic Dostoyevsky with an opportunity to indulge in stereotypes.
         As a result, we have Alexey Ivanovich’s satirical portrait of German family life and the Vater (father); his escapade with the ‘fat baroness’ and her husband, the ‘dried-up Prussian’; the Marquis des Grieux, who ‘like
         all Frenchmen’, is nothing more than surface, flattery and deceit; Mlle Blanche, the grasping courtesan, who takes him to
         Paris and fleeces him of 200,000 francs in three weeks; and the ‘little Poles’ who try to steer Grandmother’s play at the
         roulette table, stealing from her and swindling her as they do, all the while maintaining that they are ‘honourable’. The
         far from flattering portraits of the Germans and Poles here remind one of the chapter in Crime and Punishment, detailing the memorial meal for Marmeladov, written just a few months earlier, where Katerina Ivanovna ridicules her ‘stupid
         German’ landlady and excoriates the ‘wretched little Poles’ (Part V, chapter 2).


      
      The Russians, on the other hand, seem to be losing their Russianness, which is best exemplified by Polina, the professed object
         of the narrator’s passion, who has forgone her Russian name, Praskovya, for a more European-sounding equivalent. Or the minor
         character Prince Nilsky, whom Grandmother refers to in his hearing as that ‘shabby little creature, the one with the glasses’,
         not recognizing him as a fellow countryman. The exception to this rule, of course, is Grandmother, the embodiment and personification
         of Russia, who midway through the novel literally rolls into this enclave of expatriate Russians and rootless Europeans, upsetting
         everything and everybody. She is one of Dostoyevsky’s great creations, literally stealing the show when she is onstage. She
         speaks her mind to people’s faces, asks blunt questions and tells the general in no uncertain terms that he will not get money
         from her. Furthermore, she is perceptive and though exacting, she is kind. She voices her approval of Mr Astley on first meeting
         (‘I’ve always liked the English, there’s no comparison with the little Frenchies!’), and she immediately shows Polina a gruff
         kindness (‘I could love you, Praskovya’); in fact, before leaving Roulettenburg she asks Polina to come live with her in Russia.
         Finally, though she does succumb to the temptation of roulette and gambles away all of the considerable money that she’s brought with her from Russia, thus seeming
         to prove the narrator’s observation that ‘roulette is simply made for Russians’, she does at last realize that she has been
         a fool and returns home immediately, to Russia. Apart from Mr Astley nobody else seems to have a home; it is from him that
         she borrows the 3,000 francs to make the journey. (It is surely not a coincidence that Dostoyevsky received 3,000 roubles from Stellovsky for the rights to print an edition of his collected works, which would include The Gambler in the third volume.) Finally, she has promised to build a church on one of her estates, a testament both to her Russianness
         and her innate goodness.


      
      In her essay, ‘The Russian Point of View’, Virginia Woolf characterizes Dostoyevsky’s novels as ‘seething whirlpools’ and
         summarizes the opening pages of The Gambler by way of illustration:


      
      
         We open the door and find ourselves in a room full of Russian generals, the tutors of Russian generals, their stepdaughters
            and cousins, and crowds of miscellaneous people who are all talking at the tops of their voices about their most private affairs.
            But where are we? Surely it is the part of a novelist to inform us whether we are in a hotel, a flat, or a hired lodging.
            Nobody thinks of explaining.7



      
      Though Woolf exaggerates the number of generals, tutors and stepdaughters, she is right about the confusion that greets the
         reader of The Gambler. Alexey Ivanovich, our confused and perplexed diarist, half of the time cannot make heads or tails of what is going on; the
         other half he leaves out information that is crucial for the reader, because he has no cause to interrupt his narrative to give potted histories of characters he already knows or explain events
         that he does understand. And thus the first paragraph introduces seven characters, some by name, others are merely described
         (‘Mezentsov, the little Frenchman and some Englishman were expected for dinner’), with no explanation of who they are or their
         relationship to the diarist or his party.8 Much of this does become clear during the course of the novel, but others remain enigmas. For example, who is Mezentsov? He
         is never mentioned again.


      
      To complicate the picture, The Gambler has been traditionally viewed as Dostoyevsky’s most autobiographical novel. To be sure, Dostoyevsky had ample first-hand
         knowledge of risk-taking and the ‘poetry’ of gambling. The fact that Alexey Ivanovich believes himself to be in love with
         the general’s stepdaughter, Polina, whom he regards, for some reason, as a femme fatale, and that during the course of the
         novel he offers to be her slave, to throw himself down from a mountain peak and to kill her former lover would seem to draw
         a parallel with Dostoyevsky’s tortured love affair with Apollinaria (Polina) Suslova, particularly as it played out during
         their travels abroad. Dostoyevsky travelled with Suslova in Europe (France, Italy and Germany) on more than one occasion,
         attempting, by and large unsuccessfully, to satisfy his passions for his paramour and gambling simultaneously. Certainly,
         Dostoyevsky drew on his personal experience at the roulette tables in Wiesbaden and elsewhere, as well as the far-from-placid
         affair with Suslova, when composing his novel, but to view the work as thinly veiled autobiography is to confuse the mature
         writer with his adolescent narrator.


      
      All but one of the works in this volume, from the early story ‘White Nights’ (1848) to the late ‘The Dream of a Ridiculous
         Man’ (1877), are told by a first-person narrator, a form that clearly interested the author. It’s worth recalling, for example,
         that Crime and Punishment, the writing of which preceded and followed The Gambler, was originally cast as a first-person confession, but the mechanics of the much longer story with its several plot lines
         proved to be too unwieldy. How was one to convey all of the information necessary for the story and at the same time maintain
         the sense of Raskolnikov’s frenzied delirium after the murder? The solution was to change the narration to a third-person
         omniscient point of view, but one where the narrator is closely attuned to his character’s consciousness, as if he were closely
         following him, just a step behind.


      
      The Gambler, of course, is a much more compact work with a greatly reduced cast of characters and a fairly straightforward storyline. And yet we are so accustomed to granting privilege
         to the teller of the tale that we tend not to question the accuracy of Alexey Ivanovich’s account, even though there are accumulating
         signs that he is not a reliable narrator. Most importantly, his whole picture of Polina is wrong. While, on the one hand,
         he vows to be her slave, on the other, he ignores her, mistrusts her and, most importantly, misunderstands her. In fact, he
         admits that Polina ‘had always been something of a mystery for me’. Significantly, when he is gambling, ostensibly for her
         sake, while she waits for him in his room, he acknowledges several times: ‘I don’t remember whether I even once gave a thought
         to Polina all this time.’ And when he does return to his room, he essentially mimics des Grieux and tries to buy her; she
         runs to Mr Astley for protection. Meanwhile, Alexey Ivanovich is comforted by the very much inferior Mlle Blanche, who takes
         him away to Paris for three weeks of delirium and folly. When Alexey Ivanovich had no money she treated him like a servant;
         now that he’s won a fortune, she treats him like a fool. We do not learn until the final scene between Alexey Ivanovich and
         the always astute Mr Astley how much Polina loved and continues to love Alexey, because this story has always been told from
         his point of view.


      
      In the opening pages Alexey Ivanovich keenly feels the inferiority of his position in relation to the others of the general’s
         entourage. (Many of Dostoyevsky’s heroes nourish a morbid hypersensitivity: Raskolnikov in Crime and Punishment, for example.) To compensate, he commits schoolboy pranks (heckling the baroness) and tells outrageous stories (spitting
         in the monseigneur’s coffee) at the dinner table, which serve to emphasize his immaturity rather than put him on the level
         of the rest of the company. From the very beginning he believes that roulette will make his fortune and then Polina and the
         others will take notice of him. He goes to the roulette table the first time to play for Polina, with her money (a condition
         he feels will make him unlucky), and although he’s put off by the casino, because it is all ‘so filthy – somehow morally sordid
         and dirty’, he wins and delivers the money to Polina. His second time at the tables he loses everything he had won. And yet, as he tells her in Chapter 5: ‘I am still absolutely certain that
         I will win. I’ll even confess to you that you have just raised a question for me: Why has my senseless and shocking loss today
         not left me with any doubt whatsoever? I am still absolutely certain that I will win without fail as soon as I start playing
         for myself.’ This blind belief in a game of absolute chance clearly echoes Dostoyevsky’s own romance with roulette. In the
         autumn of 1863, Dostoyevsky wrote to his brother from Wiesbaden to explain how he can linger in the gambling halls when Suslova
         is in Paris:


      
      
         You ask how one can gamble away one’s shirt while travelling with the person you love. My friend Misha I created a system
            of gambling, put it into practice, and immediately won 10,000 francs. The next morning I betrayed that system because I became
            overly excited, and I immediately lost … I need money, for me, for you, for my wife, for writing a novel. Tens of thousands
            are won here easily. And besides, I came here with the idea of saving all of you and of shielding myself from disaster. And
            then, in addition, there was faith in the system.9



      
      In October 1863 Dostoyevsky was forced to borrow all round, including from Suslova who pawned a watch so that he could make
         the journey back to Petersburg – his ‘system’ had let him down again, as it would for many more years to come, until he suddenly
         quit gambling for good in 1871.10
         


      
      Alexey, like Dostoyevsky, cannot quit while he is ahead. Winning a fortune is not the object, but rather experiencing the
         thrill. After all, he fritters away one fortune with Blanche. He admits in the final chapter, which takes place a year and
         a half after his exploits in Paris, that he is a ‘beggar’ and that he has ‘ruined himself’. We learn that he’s been a lackey
         and in debtor’s prison, and he admits to himself that ‘it was not the money that was dear to me!’ He is well and truly addicted
         to gambling: ‘I had dared to take a risk and – now again I was a man among men!’ The ending of the novel leaves no doubt that
         Alexey Ivanovich is a slave to gambling and will never see Polina again. He still views gambling as his salvation: ‘To be reborn, to rise up from the dead. I need to show them … To let Polina know
         that I can still be a man.’


      
      
      
      
      THE DREAMER

      
      
      ‘White Nights’ takes the reader back almost twenty years to the early days of Dostoyevsky’s writing career. Narrated by the
         unnamed Dreamer of the subtitle (‘A Sentimental Love Story (From the Memoirs of a Dreamer)’), the story opens with an extended
         monologue of how he spends his days alone in the capital even though he has been a resident there for eight years. He roams
         the city and observes, but does not speak to anyone. He befriends not people but certain houses he passes on his wanderings.


      
      The story takes place over a series of four nights – the celebrated white nights11 – and a morning. On the first night the Dreamer chances to observe a young girl leaning against a railing of the canal. He
         hears what he believes to be a muffled sob. As he writes, ‘I turned around, took a step in her direction and would certainly
         have uttered the word “Madam”, but for the fact that I knew that this exclamation had already been uttered a thousand times
         in all the Russian society novels.’ His actions and speech take their cue from books – everything he sees and experiences
         is filtered through literature. But he does spring into action here and saves the girl from the unwanted attentions of the
         teetering, drunken gentleman pursuing her. The Dreamer and the girl agree to meet at the same spot on the following night.


      
      The second night the Dreamer and Nastenka exchange their life stories. The Dreamer begins his ‘ridiculous story … as though
         [he] were reading something that had been written down’. His life, and its telling, is circumscribed by literature. So much
         so that he narrates his own life story in the third person (‘our hero’), embellishing it with high-flown rhetorical flourishes
         and a veritable profusion of literary and cultural allusions, most of which, we must assume, are beyond the understanding
         of the good and simple Nastenka. In fact, after his lengthy ‘introduction’, Nastenka observes that it sounds as though he
         were reading from a book and suggests that perhaps he could tell it ‘less splendidly’. But that’s just the point. The Dreamer lives
         in absolute isolation; apart from his servant Matryona, words are his only companions; all action is confined to the realm
         of dream and fantasy. He has absented himself from participation in real, living life, taking refuge in a world of dreams.


      
      Seventeen-year-old Nastenka’s story is as plain-spoken and straightforward as the Dreamer’s is florid and rhetorical. We learn
         of her quiet life with her blind grandmother, the only interesting detail being that the latter pins her granddaughter to
         her dress so that she knows where she is at all times. The two sit side by side all day long, day in and day out. Everything
         changes with the advent of a new lodger, a young man, who invites them to the opera, loans them books by Walter Scott (in
         French translation) and Pushkin. Inevitably, Nastenka develops a fondness for the lodger. On hearing that he is moving away
         for a year, she packs up her belongings and goes to his room. The lodger and Nastenka agree to part, but the lodger will return
         for her a year later. In other words, Nastenka risks everything for love, in direct contrast to the Dreamer who merely fantasizes
         about speaking to a woman.


      
      The Second Night finishes with a ‘letter scene’, borrowed from Rossini’s The Barber of Seville, the opera to which the lodger has taken Nastenka and her grandmother. The Dreamer suggests that he deliver a letter from
         Nastenka to the lodger. She asks him how it should be written; he recites an eloquent draft. The Dreamer proposes that she
         arrive tomorrow with the letter, to which ‘Nastenka answered, a bit confused, “the letter … but …” But she didn’t complete
         her thought. At first she turned her little face away from me, blushed, like a rose, and suddenly I felt in my hand a letter
         that had evidently been written long ago, sealed and all ready to go.’ Whether we are to assume that Nastenka copied the manoeuvre
         from Rossini or whether this represents the spontaneous strategy of a young girl in love, it manifests Nastenka’s resolve,
         as opposed to the Dreamer’s passivity. For that matter packing her bundle and making her way to the lodger’s room had been
         a risky step for a young girl. Such a move turns out badly in countless stories.


      
      Nastenka has told the Dreamer that he may not fall in love with her, but of course he had done so at first sight. His love
         grows on each successive night, though he does not declare himself until the fourth night, when it seems unlikely that the
         former lodger will come to the appointed spot by the canal, even though they know he has arrived in the capital. Just as they
         are planning their new life together, the lodger appears and Nastenka rushes to him. The Dreamer watches them walk away together.
         The next morning he receives a letter from Nastenka, asking him to be happy for her and for him not to abandon the couple.


      
      The final lines of the story find the Dreamer once again in his room as he imagines his life fifteen years hence, still in
         the same room, just as lonely. His memoir ends with the lines: ‘My God! A whole minute of bliss! Is that really so little
         for the whole of a man’s life?’ The Dreamer would have us answer that no, indeed, such bliss can fulfil a man’s life. But
         on reflection, many of us would answer, ‘Yes, that’s much too little.’


      
      
      
      
      DOSTOYEVSKY AS SOCIAL CRITIC

      
      
      The figure of the young girl in distress is a constant in Dostoyevsky’s fiction, from ‘White Nights’ to such later works as
         Crime and Punishment, when Raskolnikov comes to the aid of a drunken young girl, about sixteen years old, who is being pursued on the embankment
         by a gentleman (Part I, Chapter 4), or the little girl who appeals to the narrator in ‘The Dream of a Ridiculous Man’ (1877).
         Dostoyevsky’s ‘A Christmas Party and a Wedding’, which was published the same year as ‘White Nights’, is a story of lechery
         in which the little girl does not get away, but is married off to her pursuer cum suitor with society’s approval.


      
      Subtitled ‘From the Notes of an Unknown Person’, the story is comprised of two unequal parts, namely, the narrator’s attendance
         at the two events of the title. The first part, the description of the children’s Christmas party, begins with a tongue-in-cheek
         sociological analysis of the hosts and their guests, ranging from the very bottom, the guest from the provinces who had been invited purely as a courtesy, to the ‘personage’ Yulian Mastakovich at the top. For that matter, the
         children are also sorted out in terms of social worthiness, as is made evident by the distribution of presents. It goes without
         saying that the most expensive gift is given to the eleven-year-old girl with the stupendous dowry and that the governess’s
         boy receives a book without illustrations. Meanwhile, Yulian Mastakovich calculates how much the dowry will gain in interest
         over five years, the time it will take for the girl to be of marriageable age. It does indeed seem that his motive for courting
         the poor girl is not lechery per se, but greed. But clearly that is of little consolation to the poor girl, who in the second
         part arrives at her wedding with tear-stained eyes.


      
      ‘A Nasty Business’ was published in the Dostoyevsky brothers’ journal Time (Vremya) in 1862, a year after the emancipation of the serfs, and is clearly written in response to discussions about the Great Reforms
         being instituted in Russia at the time. The youngest of the three generals assembled as the story opens, Ivan Ilyich Pralinsky,
         advocates, after several glasses of champagne, extending the ideas behind the government reforms to everyday life, all under
         the banner of ‘humaneness’. Nikiforov, his cynical host, cryptically observes that ‘we won’t bear it’. The remainder of the
         story gives Pralinsky an opportunity to put his philosophy into practice, which needless to say turns out to be a miserable
         failure.


      
      Through a chain of unforeseen circumstances, Pralinsky happens upon the wedding celebration of Pseldonimov, a petty clerk
         from his office. (Many of the surnames are in keeping with the satirical thrust of the story: Pralinsky conjures up confectionery
         visions of sticky pralines; the bride is the daughter of Mlekopitayev, that is, ‘mammal’; Pseldonimov is only a letter away
         from psevdonim, the Russian word for ‘pseudonym’.) The tipsy Pralinsky, who has visions of becoming a famous statesman one day, an event
         that he thinks might even be commemorated by the raising of a monument, ventures to grace the proceedings with his presence.
         During the rehearsal of his entrance we see that he means to be on equal footing with the wedding guests, but it is to be
         an equality of the patronizing, patriarchal sort. In any event, he enters the gathering, but not before he has literally put his foot into the galantine set to cool on the porch.
         Ignoring this bad omen, he walks into the house, the dancing stops and there’s general embarrassment all round. This continues
         for hours, as Pralinsky drinks two bottles of champagne that his poor clerk can ill afford. The evening ends with him sick,
         nursed all night long by Pseldonimov’s mother, and then he scurries away in the early morning, deeply ashamed of his behaviour.
         The story ends with his signing a transfer request for Pseldonimov and admitting to himself, in the story’s final line, that
         he ‘couldn’t bear it!’


      
      
      
      
      THREE STORIES FROM A WRITER’S DIARY

      
      
      In 1873, Dostoyevsky was made editor of Citizen (Grazhdanin), a weekly journal owned by the conservative Prince Meshchersky. Finding himself in frequent disagreement over politics with
         Meshchersky, who advocated, for example, rolling back the Great Reforms initiated by Tsar Alexander II, the day-to-day grind
         of running a journal took an even greater toll. But it was here that Dostoyevsky began publishing his A Writer’s Diary, not the independent publication that he had originally envisioned, but a monthly column that would comment on social and
         cultural problems of the day. As he wrote in the introductory column: ‘My position is highly uncertain. But I shall talk to
         myself and for my own amusement, in the form of this diary, and we’ll see what comes of it. What will I talk about? About
         everything that strikes me or gives me pause for thought.’ Indeed, the contents range from articles on literature and sketches
         of literary acquaintances to essays on national and international politics. And there was even one genuine short story published
         in the sixth instalment – ‘Bobok’.


      
      The genesis of these ‘Notes of a Certain Person’, as ‘Bobok’ is subtitled, can be traced to an item that appeared on 14 January
         1873 in the newspaper the Voice:


      
      
         A Writer’s Diary reminds one of the famous notes which end with the following exclamation: ‘Nevertheless, the Bey of Algiers has a bump on
            his nose!’ It’s enough to look at the portrait of the author of A Writer’s Diary, currently on exhibit in the Academy of Arts, to feel that same compassion for Mr Dostoyevsky that he so inappropriately
            mocks in his journal. This is the portrait of a man exhausted by a grave illness.




      
      The story can quite literally be regarded as Dostoyevsky’s reply to this attack. ‘Bobok’ begins in medias res, with Semyon Ardalyonovich accusing Ivan Ivanych (a name so common as to imply Everyman) of never being sober. After abruptly
         dropping Semyon Ardalyonovich altogether, the narrator immediately turns to the subject of his own portrait. The Voice columnist had commented on the now famous likeness of Dostoyevsky, painted in 1872 by Vasily Perov (1834–82), which portrays
         the writer, deep in contemplation, with hands clasping his knees; the portrait is mentioned again at the end of the story.12

      
      More importantly, the ‘notes’ that the Voice article refers to, by quoting the exclamation about the Bey of Algiers, are ‘The Notes of a Madman’ (more commonly translated
         into English as ‘The Diary of a Madman’, 1835) by Russia’s comic genius, Nikolay Gogol. The allusion elicits from Dostoyevsky
         a Gogolian response in genre, narrator and style.13 Both ‘Bobok’ and ‘The Notes of a Madman’ share the same genre identification – notes (zapiski). Furthermore, both Ivan Ivanych and Gogol’s diarist, Poprishchin, from the very beginning are mad or teetering on the brink
         of madness. Dostoyevsky’s Certain Person, even before he goes to the cemetery for ‘diversion’, observes that something strange
         is happening to him and that he is ‘beginning to see and hear certain strange things. Not exactly voices, but it’s as if someone
         were right beside me, saying: “Bobok, bobok, bobok!” ’ This clearly echoes Gogol’s Poprishchin: ‘To be frank, quite recently I’ve started hearing and seeing things that I’d
         never heard or seen before.’14 Finally, there’s the matter of style. A friend of the Certain Person remarks: ‘Your style is changing … it’s choppy.’ Indeed,
         he clearly holds up Poprishchin’s ‘jerky’ style as a model for his own. The Certain Person is a failed writer. His feuilletons15 go unpublished and he seems to make a living on hack work, translations, advertisement copy, obituaries and risqué compendiums.
         (Note that none of these genres is what would be called ‘high’ literature.)


      
      The Certain Person ‘end[s] up’ at the funeral of a distant relative, but in keeping with the preamble to the story, he shows
         no reverence for the deceased, but instead gloats that the surviving family with its many daughters will not be able to make
         ends meet. In other words, his behaviour continues to be inappropriate. He performs a naturalistic survey of the graveyard
         (for example, the smiling corpses, open graves filled with green water, the stench) as befits the same sort of realism that
         captured the warts in his portrait. Although he is one of the pallbearers, he does not attend the service, but instead stretches
         out on a gravestone and begins to listen to the voices coming from the graves.


      
      At first, what is most striking about the conversation of these corpses is the utter banality of their preoccupations, for
         example, cards, money, social status. As the Certain Person observed during his survey of the graveyard, the plots are assigned
         by ability to pay; most of the corpses speaking here belong to the upper levels of society, the exception being a ‘man of
         the common people’, contemptuously dismissed as a ‘shopkeeper’. And it is only he who seems to recognize the importance of
         the hereafter – he asks whether he’s in the torments (in the Russian Orthodox Church the trials the soul must undergo for
         the first forty days after death) and refers to the prayers that his widow and children will say for him. The other members
         of this graveyard community continue to be concerned with the petty details of everyday ‘life’. When Baron Klinevich, the
         self-described ‘scoundrel from pseudo-high society’, chimes in, the conversation takes a decided turn for the worse: counterfeit
         money, swindling, brides not yet sixteen, brothels and robbing funds for widows and orphans. Klinevich’s major contribution,
         however, is his suggestion to spend these last two or three months as pleasantly as possible, and to that end proposes that
         they should cast off all shame, that they should be naked and, finally, that they should cease lying; the latter is seen as
         a particularly indispensable part of their previous life. They will tell their life stories to entertain themselves. Since they have vowed to be without shame,
         the stories will indeed represent the ‘most shameless truth!’


      
      The Certain Person sneezes and all becomes as quiet as the grave. The narrator is incensed by the depravity he has witnessed
         ‘in such a place’, that is, the corpses are not respecting the sacredness of the environs. But this merely complements the
         beginning of the story, where Ivan Ivanych, making himself comfortable on a gravestone, sees a half-eaten sandwich on the
         adjacent grave. Or is the narrator incensed that he will miss the salacious stories that the corpses will be telling each
         other? In any event, Ivan Ivanych says he will write this up and take it to the Citizen, to Dostoyevsky’s journal.


      
      The initial run of A Writer’s Diary came to an end in 1873; Dostoyevsky stepped down as editor of the Citizen the following year. It resumed publication in 1876 as an immensely popular, independent, monthly journal ‘written by a single
         pen’. The subscription announcement promised the reader a ‘diary in the literal sense … an account of what was seen, heard
         and read’, which ‘might include stories and novellas, but would primarily be about real events’.16 The October 1876 issue, for example, carried this commentary towards the end of a piece entitled ‘Two Suicides’:


      
      
         About a month ago, all the Petersburg newspapers ran a few short lines in small print about a Petersburg suicide: a poor,
            young girl, a seamstress, had thrown herself out of a fourth-floor window – ‘because she was absolutely unable to find enough
            work to support herself’. It was noted as well that she jumped and fell to the ground, holding an icon in her hands. This holding an icon is a strange and unprecedented detail in suicides! This is some sort of meek, humble suicide. There
            evidently had been no grumbling or reproaches: it had merely become impossible to live, ‘God didn’t wish it’ – and she died,
            after saying her prayers. There are some things that you don’t stop thinking about for a long time, no matter how simple they seem, they haunt you and you even feel as if you were to blame. You can’t help but be tormented by the thought of this meek soul who destroyed herself.17



      
      Clearly, Dostoyevsky was haunted by the image of the young seamstress, identified by the newspapers as Marya Borisova. The
         next issue of A Writer’s Diary was taken up entirely with what many regard as Dostoyevsky’s finest story, ‘The Meek One’, an extended monologue in which
         the speaker, a pawnbroker, attempts to ‘make sense’ of the suicide of his young wife.


      
      This juxtaposition of report and fictional treatment of the same event was unusual to say the least. Dostoyevsky links the
         two accounts through the adjective ‘meek’, twice repeated in the short account above, which reappears in the story on several
         occasions as epithet for the unnamed female protagonist and in the title. Moreover, he incorporates a detail, not mentioned
         in ‘Two Suicides’, namely that the icon was the Mother of God. ‘The Meek One’, however, is not merely the fictionalization
         of an event from everyday life – the girl’s history, her marriage and the reasons for her suicide are all Dostoyevsky’s invention:
         an imagined, plausible chain of events that could lead a young woman, a believer, to say her last prayers and leap to her
         death.


      
      ‘The Meek One’ is subtitled a ‘Fantastic Story’, but as the author’s preface makes plain, the label has nothing to do with
         the supernatural; in fact, the story is painfully realistic. What the author considers to be ‘fantastic’ is the narrative
         premise of a stenographic recording of the Pawnbroker’s monologue, which begins a mere six hours after her death. The reconstruction
         of the narrator’s thoughts, contradictions, self-justifications, questions, accusations and pleading inexorably leads him
         to the grim realization that he is to blame, that he tormented her to death. But this realization comes only after many false
         starts, as he constantly gauges the reaction of his imagined listener.


      
      The Meek One, a sixteen-year-old orphan, living on the charity of two hateful aunts, comes to the Pawnbroker’s shop out of
         desperation. He senses her despair and decides to make use of it – he proposes marriage, knowing that the alternative she
         faces is even more frightening. From the very beginning, he relishes the inequality of their positions, his domination over her. His byword is ‘strictness’; he subjects her to a regimen of silence;
         there is never a moment of tenderness. As he tells the story of his marriage, he recounts his personal history: by birth a
         member of the hereditary nobility, he was formerly an officer in an elite regiment, who had been forced by his fellow officers
         to resign his commission, because they deemed him to be a coward. He blames the world for all his woes, taking no responsibility
         himself whatsoever. He falls on truly hard times, until he receives a small inheritance – the figure of 3,000 roubles appears
         once again!18 – and sets up his pawnshop. As Dostoyevsky knew only too well from his experience in Russia and abroad, pawnshops are a site
         of misery. Of course, the Pawnbroker defends his right to make a living, but we see as well that he enjoys the power of the
         situation, he relishes his ‘triumph over her’ even before they are married.


      
      After an incident with his revolver, he declares that she has been defeated, and she falls ill. They spend the winter in vague
         expectation. He calls himself a ‘dreamer’, but unlike the sublime, Romantic dreams of the narrator in ‘White Nights’ the ‘pictures
         and material’ for the Pawnbroker’s dreams are based on his wife’s submission. The couple seems to work out a routine where
         they live together in uneasy silence, when suddenly one April evening the Pawnbroker hears her singing, which causes him to
         experience ‘bewilderment and terrible surprise’, because the singing seems to indicate that she has forgotten about him for
         the moment. His entire attitude towards her changes, he falls at her feet and begins making plans to sell the pawnshop, to
         travel to Boulogne. This sudden turnabout unnerves her and she blurts out that she had thought that ‘you were going to leave me like that’, in other words, that they would remain forever as they had been that winter. As he recounts these events, he points to
         a number of his mistakes, for example, the sudden gesture of making her a ‘friend’ or looking at her with rapture – not the
         months of silent torture.


      
      The title of the final chapter, ‘Only Five Minutes Too Late’, encapsulates his last attempt to place the blame for her death
         elsewhere: ‘it’s a pity that it all comes down to chance – simple, barbaric inertia, chance.’ In other words, had he arrived
         earlier, the whole tragedy could have been avoided forever. When he at last acknowledges his responsibility for her death,
         he comes to see that people are alone in a world enveloped by death and, significantly, silence. He suddenly remembers Christ’s
         injunction ‘People, love one another’, but is unable to place it. Of course, it is love that keeps people from being alone.
         The story ends with a variation on the question that begins his monologue: ‘No, seriously, when they take her away tomorrow,
         what will become of me?’


      
      When telling the story of how he was asked to resign his commission, the Pawnbroker says that he had always been disliked
         by his comrades on account of his difficult and ‘ridiculous’ character, and that nobody had ever liked him, not even in school;
         the same sentiments are expressed by the ridiculous loner in the last work of fiction in A Writer’s Diary, ‘The Dream of a Ridiculous Man’ (1877). Like his predecessors in ‘White Nights’ and ‘The Meek One’, the Ridiculous Man,
         another dreamer, has shut himself off from society and is acutely self-conscious. The first-person narrator conveys his story
         in his own words, although they may betray a lack of awareness or candour – the reader may come away with a quite different
         interpretation of events. Furthermore, in all three stories an encounter with a young girl in distress sets the plot in motion
         – whether he answers her appeal and how he does so will determine his fate.19 Finally, the Ridiculous Man raises once again the problem of the growing incidence of suicide in Russia.


      
      The narrator in ‘The Dream of a Ridiculous Man’ professes to be convinced that nothing makes any difference and consequently
         has resolved to take the dreadful step of suicide, not to prove a point, but simply because it makes no difference. He has
         bought a revolver in preparation, but two months have passed and it still lies in the drawer. Meanwhile, he visits a friend
         and gives a detailed account of his disreputable neighbour – a retired captain, whom he accuses of begging on Nevsky Prospekt
         and who entertains his drunken friends at all hours, frightening the landlady and a lady lodger and her three children. In
         other words, for someone who has made a philosophy based on apathy, the dreamer seems to take an inordinate interest in the
         goings-on of complete strangers.


      
      The story begins one November night in darkness, as he returns home from visiting a friend some time after eleven o’clock.
         He emphasizes the darkness by commenting on the gaslight, which ‘makes the heart sadder’, and then the ‘terribly dark’ sky
         in which he could ‘distinguish the ragged clouds, and in their midst bottomless black patches’. Suddenly he espies a little
         star and begins to watch it. Just as suddenly a little eight-year-old girl appears out of nowhere, tugging at his sleeve.
         Soaked to the skin in only a dress and kerchief, she calls out to the Ridiculous Man, who continues resolutely on his way,
         without stopping. She continues pleading, crying out for help. He ends up by stamping his feet and shouting at her to go away,
         and she rushes across the street to appeal to another passer-by. When he returns to his room he takes out his revolver, but
         does not shoot himself. The thought of the helpless little girl has saved his life.


      
      Like ‘The Meek One’, ‘Dream of a Ridiculous Man’ bears the subtitle ‘Fantastic Story’, but whereas for the earlier story this
         was limited to its mode of narration, the Ridiculous Man does indeed experience fantastic events in his dream, for example,
         resurrection from the dead and flying through space. Significantly, he dreams that he shoots himself in the heart, not in
         the head as he had originally planned. That is, he had originally intended to kill himself out of rational thought (head),
         but is saved by his feelings (heart). The story continues in darkness as he imagines himself buried in his grave. Now he is
         truly alone. He calls out to ‘Whoever you may be’ to be delivered from his fate, and the grave opens and he finds himself
         with some sort of companion, hurtling through space, still in darkness. After catching sight of the same little star that
         he saw on his walk home, he is eventually delivered to a duplicate earth, a veritable prelapsarian Garden of Eden, populated
         by people of the sun. The description here of the Greek archipelago, luxuriant nature and emerald-green sea recalls similar
         evocations of a Golden Age in Dostoyevsky’s other works, for example, Stavrogin’s confession in Demons. The darkness that has dominated the story from the very beginning gives way to light, but the Ridiculous Man has brought darkness
         with him into this land of sunlight and corrupts them. We, therefore, witness a second fall of humankind. The children of
         the sun, who until the dreamer’s arrival had lived in absolute harmony with nature, now exalt science over feeling, having
         adopted the motto: ‘Knowledge is higher than feeling, consciousness of life is higher than life. Science will give us wisdom.’
         In other words, he has corrupted them with the very rationality that had originally set him on the road to suicide.


      
      The following morning he wakes up in his room. His conversion is complete – he now vows to dedicate his life to preaching
         the Truth that he has seen: ‘The main thing is to love others as yourself, that’s the main thing, and that’s all, absolutely
         nothing else is necessary.’ The simple truth of Christ’s commandment has vanquished the darkness of rational positivism that
         enveloped the Ridiculous Man at the beginning of his tale. As he writes in the very last line of the story, he has found that
         little girl.
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      A Note on the Text and the Translation

      
      
      The translations of the works in this volume were all made from the standard, authoritative text published in the ‘Academy’
         edition of Dostoyevsky’s Complete Collected Works in Thirty Volumes (Polnoe sobranie sochinenii v tridtsati tomakh (Leningrad: Nauka, 1972–90)). During my work on the translations and notes I benefitted greatly from the extensive and illuminating
         commentary found in this edition and wish to acknowledge my profound debt and gratitude to the editors.


      
      Dostoyevsky’s frequent complaints about not having the luxury of time that the well-born Tolstoy and Turgenev took for granted,
         but instead always writing for a deadline, helped to promote the mistaken idea that he was a careless writer, particularly
         when measured against those same great stylists. However, as his correspondence eloquently attests, Dostoyevsky preferred
         to miss these deadlines rather than submit something that he felt was not ready for publication. The numerous plans, revisions
         and drafts to be found in his notebooks further disprove this notion that Dostoyevsky was a slapdash writer. Constance Garnett,
         who singlehandedly introduced Dostoyevsky to the English-language public by translating twelve volumes of his works (1912–20),
         did nothing to contradict this opinion, when she called him an ‘obscure and careless writer’ who sometimes needed clarification
         to make him understandable (‘Russian Literature in English’, Listener, January 1947). Without in any way wishing to disparage Garnett’s monumental achievement, it is fair to say that now in
         the twenty-first century we are reading a different Dostoyevsky. The contemporary audience, for example, has grown accustomed to the repetitions and lengthy paragraphs that frequently exceed the limit of what was and is
         considered ‘good’ English prose. To take one simple example: Dostoyevsky’s favourite adverb ‘suddenly’ (vdrug) appears nineteen times in quick succession in the short chapter ‘The Scales Suddenly Fall’ in ‘The Meek One’, including
         the title, and another four times in the last paragraph of the preceding chapter. While at first glance it would appear that
         this might indeed be a case of the author’s slackness, this fevered repetition perfectly captures the Pawnbroker’s frantic
         state of mind and the quality of oral speech which Dostoyevsky was at pains to convey. I have reproduced all of the ‘suddenly’s;
         Garnett omits five of them.


      
      A few words about the titles of two stories. The work I have rendered as ‘A Nasty Business’ has been previously translated
         as ‘A Nasty Story’ and ‘A Nasty Anecdote’. The Russian anekdot can indeed be translated as ‘story’ or ‘anecdote’, but I believe that Garnett came closer with her ‘An Unpleasant Predicament’,
         a solution of which she was quite proud (see her ‘Russian Literature in English’), as anekdot can also denote a disagreeable incident or event, precisely the meaning that fits the situation when Ivan IIyich’s coachman
         has disappeared and Shipulenko calls it ‘a nasty business’.


      
      The title of ‘The Meek One’, which Garnett rendered as ‘A Gentle Spirit’, subsequently became better known as ‘A Gentle Creature’
         in the translation of David Magarshack, another key figure in the history of translating Dostoyevsky into English. Both ‘spirit’
         and ‘creature’ add something to the title that is not there in Dostoyevsky’s original – ‘Krotkaya’ in the Russian. The word is an adjectival noun – Russian is extremely flexible in this respect – which literally means ‘meek’,
         but with the added information that the gender of this noun is feminine. Adding ‘spirit’, ‘creature’ or ‘maiden’ to the title
         cannot but change the reader’s perception; ‘one’ seems a neutral solution. Finally, and most importantly for Dostoyevsky’s
         story, the English title ‘The Meek One’ reproduces for the English reader the associations the Russian reader involuntarily
         makes with Christ’s Sermon on the Mount: ‘Blessed are the meek, for they shall inherit the earth.’
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      WHITE NIGHTS

      
    A Sentimental Love Story

      (From the Memoirs of a Dreamer)

      
      
      
         … Or was his destiny from the start

         To be but just one moment

         Near your heart? …

         – Ivan Turgenev1



      
      
      
      THE FIRST NIGHT

      
      
      It was a wonderful night, the kind of night, dear reader, which is only possible when we are young. The sky was so starry,
         it was such a bright sky that looking at it you could not help but ask yourself: is it really possible for bad-tempered and
         capricious people to live under such a sky? That is also a young person’s question, dear reader, a very young person’s question,
         but may the Lord ask it of your heart more often! … Speaking of capricious and sundry bad-tempered gentlemen, I could not
         help but recall my own commendable conduct throughout the whole day. From early morning an astonishing melancholy had started
         to torment me. It suddenly seemed that I, so alone, was being abandoned by everyone – that everyone was deserting me. Well,
         of course, anyone is entitled to ask: who is ‘everyone’? Because I’ve been living in Petersburg eight years now and I’ve hardly
         been able to make a single acquaintance. But what do I need acquaintances for? I’m acquainted with all of Petersburg as it
         is; that’s why it seemed to me that everyone was abandoning me when all of Petersburg suddenly up and left for their dachas.2 I was terrified of being left alone, and for three whole days I wandered about the city in a state of deep melancholy, not
         understanding in the least what was happening to me. No matter whether I went to Nevsky Prospekt,3 or the park, or wandered along the embankment – there wasn’t a single person of those whom I have been accustomed to meet for a year now in the same place, at a certain time. Of course, they don’t know me, but
         I know them. I know them intimately; I have practically learned their faces by heart – and I admire them when they are cheerful,
         and I’m crestfallen when they grow sad. I almost struck up a friendship with a certain little old man, whom I meet every blessed
         day, at a certain hour on the Fontanka.4 His face is so dignified and thoughtful; he’s always whispering under his breath and gesticulating with his left hand, while
         in his right hand he holds a long gnarled walking-stick with a golden knob. He’s even noticed me and shows a cordial concern
         for me. Should it happen that I’m not at the same place on the Fontanka at a certain hour, I’m positive that he would be crestfallen.
         That’s why we sometimes almost greet each other, particularly when we’re both in a good mood. The other day, when we had not
         seen each other for two whole days and met on the third day, we almost reached for our hats, but, thank goodness, we came
         to our senses in time, lowered our hands and passed each other by in sympathy. I also have houses that are my acquaintances.
         As I walk, it’s as if each one I come to runs out into the street in front of me, looks out at me with its windows wide open
         and almost says: ‘Hello, how do you do? And I, thank God, am well, but in May they’re going to add a floor to me.’ Or: ‘How
         do you do? And I’m having some repairs done tomorrow.’ Or: ‘I almost burned down and I was so scared’, and so forth. I have
         favourites among them, some are intimate friends; one of them intends to be treated by an architect this summer. I’ll make
         it a point to drop by every day so that, God forbid, they don’t kill it in the process! … But I will never forget what happened
         to a certain very pretty, light-pink little house. It was such a sweet little stone house; it looked at me so cordially, and
         so haughtily at its ungainly neighbours, that my heart would rejoice when I chanced to walk past. Suddenly, last week, I was
         walking down the street and upon turning to look at my friend – I heard a plaintive cry: ‘But they’re going to paint me yellow!’
         The scoundrels! Barbarians! They spared nothing: neither the columns, nor the cornices, and my friend had turned as yellow
         as a canary. I almost had an attack of jaundice myself, and to this day I do not have the strength to see my poor disfigured friend who was painted the colour of the Celestial Empire.5

      
      So now you understand, reader, how I am acquainted with all of Petersburg.

      
      I have already said that for three whole days I was tormented with anxiety until I guessed the reason for it. And on the street
         I was in a bad way (this one’s gone, that one’s gone, where’s so-and-so got to?) – and I wasn’t myself at home either. For
         two evenings I tried to put a finger on what it was I found wanting in my room. Why was I so uncomfortable staying there?
         And with bewilderment I examined my green, sooty walls, and the ceiling from which hung a cobweb that Matryona had been cultivating
         with such resounding success; I looked over all my furniture, examined every chair, wondering if that was the problem (because
         I’m not myself if even one chair isn’t in the same place as it was the day before); I looked out the window, but it was all
         in vain … I didn’t feel any better. I even took it into my head to summon Matryona and give her there and then a fatherly
         reprimand for the cobweb and for her slovenliness in general; but she merely looked at me in amazement and walked away without
         a word in response, so that the cobweb hangs there safe and sound to this day. It was only this morning that I finally guessed
         what the matter was! Oh! Why, they’re all making off to their dachas and leaving me behind! Forgive the trivial style, but
         I’m not up to lofty turns of speech … because, you see, everybody in Petersburg had either moved or is moving to their dacha;
         because after hiring a cab, every venerable gentleman of a solid appearance was immediately transformed before my eyes into
         a venerable father of a family, who after his daily official duties sets off without luggage to the bosom of his family, at
         the dacha; because every passer-by now has a quite special air about him, which all but says to every person he meets: ‘Gentlemen,
         I’m only here in passing, but in two hours I’m leaving for my dacha.’ If a window opens, upon which slender fingers as white
         as sugar had just drummed, and out leans the head of a pretty girl, who calls to a pedlar with jugs of flowers – I immediately,
         there and then, imagine that these flowers are being bought not simply so as to take pleasure in the spring and flowers in a stuffy city apartment, but because everybody is moving to their dacha and they’ll be taking the flowers with
         them. Moreover, I had already made such strides in my new, special sort of discovery that I could already unerringly identify
         on the basis of appearance alone where their dacha was located. The residents of Kamenny and Aptekarsky islands or the Peterhof
         Road were distinguished by the studied elegance of their movements, their foppish summer suits and the handsome carriages
         that brought them to the city. The inhabitants of Pargolovo and further out at first glance ‘inspired’ one with their prudence
         and respectability; the visitor to Krestovsky Island6 was distinguished by his unruffled, cheerful air. Whether I managed to run into a long procession of carters holding the
         reins as they lazily walked alongside their carts, loaded with whole mountains of furniture of every description – tables,
         chairs, couches both Turkish and non-Turkish – and other household goods and chattels, on which, on top of everything, frequently
         would be sitting at the very summit of the load, the wizened cook, keeping watch over her master’s goods as the apple of her
         eye; whether I looked at the boats, heavily laden with household utensils, as they glided down the Neva or Fontanka to Chernaya
         River7 or the islands – the carts and boats increased tenfold, a hundredfold before my very eyes, it seemed as though everything
         had up and left, that whole caravans had moved to the dacha; it seemed that all of Petersburg threatened to turn into a desert,
         so that in the end I became ashamed, hurt and sad: I had absolutely nowhere to go and no reason to go to a dacha. I was ready
         to leave with every cart, to drive off with every gentleman of venerable appearance who was hiring a cabbie, but no one, absolutely
         no one invited me; it was as if I indeed was a stranger to them!


      
      I had been walking a lot and for a long time, and I had already completely succeeded, as was my wont, in forgetting where
         I was, when I suddenly found myself at the city gates. I cheered up in an instant, and stepped to the other side of the barrier,
         walked between the sown fields and the meadows, oblivious of any fatigue, but sensing with all my being that some burden was
         being lifted from my soul. All the passers-by looked at me so cordially that we practically bowed to one another; everybody
         was so happy about something, every last one was smoking a cigar. And I was happy as I had never been before. It was as if
         I had suddenly found myself in Italy – nature had so strongly affected me, a semi-invalid city dweller who had almost died
         of suffocation within the city’s walls.


      
      There is something inexplicably touching in our Petersburg nature, when with the advent of spring she suddenly displays all
         her might, all the powers granted her by heaven, when she bursts into leaves, dresses herself up and decks herself out in
         colourful flowers … Somehow I can’t help but be reminded of that weak and sickly girl, at whom you sometimes look with pity,
         sometimes with a compassionate love, and sometimes you simply do not notice her, but then suddenly, for a moment, she somehow,
         unexpectedly, becomes inexplicably, wonderfully beautiful, and you, startled and intoxicated, unwittingly ask yourself: What
         power caused those sad, thoughtful eyes to shine with such fire? What summoned the blood to those pale, sunken cheeks? What
         has suffused those tender features of her face with passion? Why does that breast heave so? What was it that so suddenly summoned
         strength, life and beauty to the poor girl’s face that it began to shine with such a smile, came to life with such a sparkling,
         effervescent laugh? You look around, you search for someone, you hazard a guess … But the moment passes and perhaps tomorrow
         you will once again meet the same thoughtful and distracted gaze as before, the same pale face, the same submissive and timid
         movements, and even repentance, even traces of some sort of deadening melancholy and annoyance at the short-lived exhilaration
         … And you regret that the momentary beauty faded so quickly, so irretrievably, that it flashed before you so deceptively
         and in vain – you regret this because there was not time for you even to fall in love with her … 


      
      But nevertheless my night was better than my day! Here’s what happened:

      
      I arrived back in the city very late, and it had already struck ten o’clock as I approached my apartment. My path ran along
         the embankment of the canal,8 where at that hour you will not find a living soul. True, I live in a very remote part of the city. I was walking and singing, because when I am happy I am sure to hum something to myself, like every other happy man who has
         neither friends nor good acquaintances and who in a joyful moment has nobody with whom he can share his joy. Suddenly the
         most unexpected adventure happened to me.


      
      Somewhat to the side, leaning against the railing of the canal, stood a woman. With her elbows resting on the railing, she
         seemed to be looking very attentively at the canal’s turbid water. She was wearing a very pretty yellow hat and a bewitching
         black mantilla. ‘She’s a young girl, she just has to be a brunette,’ I thought. It seems she had not heard my steps; she didn’t
         even stir when I walked past, with bated breath, and with my heart beating violently. ‘Strange!’ I thought, ‘she must be completely
         absorbed by something’, and suddenly I stopped, rooted to the ground. I had heard a muffled sob. Yes! I hadn’t been deceived:
         the girl was crying and a minute later there was another whimper and then another. My God! My heart sank. And no matter how
         great my timidness with women, this was hardly the time! … I turned around, took a step in her direction and would certainly
         have uttered the word ‘Madam’, but for the fact that I knew that this exclamation had already been uttered a thousand times
         in all our Russian society novels. That was the only thing that stopped me. But while I was searching for a word, the girl
         came to her senses, glanced back, recollected where she was, cast her eyes down and slipped past me along the embankment.
         I set off after her at once, but when she realized this, she quit the embankment, crossed the street and set out walking down
         the pavement. My heart was fluttering, like a captured little bird. Suddenly a certain incident came to my aid.


      
      On the sidewalk across the street, not far from my unknown girl, there suddenly appeared a gentleman in evening dress, a man
         with a solid number of years behind him, but whose gait was anything but solid. He walked, reeling, and carefully leaning
         against the wall. The girl meanwhile walked as straight as an arrow, hurriedly and timidly, as girls generally do when they
         don’t want someone to offer to see them home at night, and of course, the teetering gentleman would never have caught up with
         her if my good fortune had not given him the idea of looking to unnatural methods. Suddenly, without saying a word to anyone, my gentleman darts off and flies as fast as his legs
         will carry him; and running, he catches up with my unknown girl. She was moving along like the wind, but the staggering gentleman
         was overtaking her, he had overtaken her, the girl cried out – and … I thank my good fortune for my excellent knotty walking-stick,
         which just happened to be in my right hand on this occasion. In an instant I found myself on the sidewalk across the street;
         in an instant the uninvited gentleman understood what was what, took into account my incontrovertible reasoning, fell silent
         and dropped behind, and only when we were already quite far away did he reproach me in rather energetic terms. But his words
         scarcely reached us.


      
      ‘Give me your hand,’ I said to my unknown girl, ‘and he won’t dare bother us anymore.’

      
      In silence she gave me her hand, which was still trembling from nervousness and fright. Oh, unbidden gentleman! How grateful
         I was to you at that moment! I cast a cursory glance at her: she was very pretty and a brunette – I had guessed right; on
         her black eyelashes still shone the tears of her recent fright or former sorrow – I don’t know which. But on her lips a smile
         already sparkled. She also cast a furtive glance at me, blushed and looked down.


      
      ‘Now then, you see, why did you drive me away? If I’d been there, nothing would have happened …’

      
      ‘But I didn’t know you: I thought that you too …’

      
      ‘But do you really know me now?’

      
      ‘A little bit. Now then, for example, why are you trembling?’

      
      ‘Oh, you guessed right from the very first!’ I answered, delighted that my girl was clever: that is never a bad thing where
         beauty is concerned. ‘Yes, you guessed from the very first glance the sort of person you’re dealing with. Yes, it’s true,
         it’s true, I’m timid with women, I’m nervous, I won’t deny it – no less than you were a moment ago when that gentleman frightened
         you … I’m frightened now. It’s like a dream, but even in my dreams I never guessed that I would ever talk with a woman.’


      
      ‘What? Really? …’

      
      ‘Yes, if my hand is trembling, then it’s because such a pretty small hand like yours has never clasped it before. I’ve grown quite unused to women; that is, I never became used to them;
         you see, I’m alone … I don’t even know how to talk to them. Even now I don’t know whether I’ve said something stupid to you.
         Tell me frankly; I should tell you that I don’t take offence easily …’


      
      ‘No, nothing, nothing; on the contrary. And since you’re already asking me to be candid, then I will tell you that women like
         such timidity; and if you want to know more, then I like it as well, and I won’t send you away until we reach my house.’


      
      ‘You’ll make it so,’ I began, gasping with delight, ‘that at once I’ll stop being my timid self, and then – farewell, all
         my methods! …’


      
      ‘Methods? What sort of methods, for what? Now that’s not very nice.’

      
      ‘Guilty, I won’t do it anymore, it was a slip of the tongue; but how do you expect me at a moment like this to have no desire
         …’


      
      ‘To be liked, is that it?’

      
      ‘Well, yes; yes, for God’s sake, be kind. Consider who I am! You see, I’m already twenty-six years old, but I don’t ever see
         anyone. So then, how can I speak well, cleverly and to the point? It will be to your advantage if everything comes out in
         the open … I don’t know how to keep quiet when my heart is speaking inside me. Well, it doesn’t matter … Believe it or not,
         not a single woman, ever, ever! No acquaintances at all! And all I dream of every day is that at long last I will finally
         meet someone. Oh, if only you knew how many times I’ve fallen in love like that! …’


      
      ‘But how, with whom? …’

      
      ‘Why with nobody, with an ideal, with the one I see in my dreams. I create entire love stories in my dreams. Oh, you don’t
         know me! It’s true, of course, I couldn’t help meeting two or three women, but what sort of women were they? They were all
         landladies or something like that. But I’ll make you laugh, when I tell you that several times I have thought of striking
         up a conversation just like that, without ceremony, with some aristocratic lady on the street, when she is alone, it goes
         without saying; to speak, of course, timidly, respectfully, deferentially, ardently; to say that I am perishing all alone, so that
         she wouldn’t drive me away, that I don’t have the means to get to know any woman; to suggest to her that a woman is duty-bound
         not to spurn the timid entreaty of such an unfortunate man as I. That in the end all that I’m asking her for is merely to
         say a few brotherly words to me, with sympathy, not to drive me away at the very first moment, to take me at my word, to listen
         to what I have to say, to laugh at me if she likes, to give me hope, to say a few words to me, just a few words, even if we
         never meet again afterwards! … You’re laughing … But then that’s why I’m telling you …’


      
      ‘Don’t be annoyed; I’m laughing at the fact that you are your own worst enemy, and if you had tried, perhaps you might have
         succeeded, even though it was all taking place on the street; the simpler, the better … Not a single kind-hearted woman, provided
         she wasn’t silly or particularly angry about something at that moment, could have brought herself to send you away without
         those few words that you pleaded for so timidly … But what am I saying! Of course, she would have taken you for a madman.
         You see, I was judging by myself. But I know a lot about how people on this earth live!’


      
      ‘Oh, thank you!’ I cried out, ‘you don’t know what you’ve done for me today!’

      
      ‘Very well, very well! But tell me, how did you recognize me to be the sort of woman, with whom … well, whom you considered
         worthy … of attention and friendship … in a word, not a landlady, as you put it. Why did you make up your mind to approach
         me?’


      
      ‘Why? Why? But you were alone, that gentleman was too brazen, it’s night now: you must agree that it was my duty …’

      
      ‘No, no, even earlier, there, on the other side. You wanted to approach me then, didn’t you?’

      
      ‘There, on the other side? But I truly don’t know how to answer; I’m afraid … Do you know, today I was happy; I was walking,
         singing; I’d been on the outskirts of the city; I’d never experienced such happy moments before. You … it seemed to me, perhaps
         … Well, forgive me for reminding you: it seemed to me that you were crying, and I … I couldn’t bear to hear it … it made my heart ache … Oh, my God! Surely I might feel pangs
         of anguish for you? Surely it was not a sin to experience brotherly compassion for you! … Forgive me, I said compassion …
         Well, yes, in a word, could I really have offended you by impulsively taking it into my head to approach you? …’


      
      ‘Stop, enough, don’t speak …’ the girl said, having cast her eyes downward and squeezing my hand. ‘I’m the one who’s guilty
         for bringing it up; but I’m glad that I wasn’t mistaken about you … But here, I’m already home; I need to go that way, down
         the lane, it’s only a stone’s throw away … Goodbye, thank you …’


      
      ‘But is it possible, is it really possible that we shall never see each other again? … Is it possible it will end like this?’

      
      ‘There, you see,’ the girl said, laughing, ‘at first you wanted just two words, and now … However, I won’t say anything …
         Perhaps we’ll meet …’


      
      ‘I’ll come here tomorrow,’ I said. ‘Oh, forgive me, I’m already making demands …’

      
      ‘Yes, you’re impatient … you are practically demanding …’

      
      ‘Listen, listen!’ I interrupted her. ‘Forgive me if I again say something not quite … But here it is: I can’t help coming
         here tomorrow. I’m a dreamer; I have so little real life that I regard such moments as this one, now, to be so rare that I
         can’t help repeating these moments in my dreams. I will dream of you all night, for an entire week, all year long. I will
         come here tomorrow without fail, exactly here, to this very spot, exactly at this time, and I’ll be happy as I recall what
         happened yesterday. This place is already dear to me. I already have two or three such places in Petersburg. Once I even shed
         tears, because of a memory, like you … Who knows, perhaps ten minutes ago you, too, were crying because of a memory … But
         forgive me, I’ve forgotten myself again; perhaps at one time you were particularly happy here …’


      
      ‘Very well,’ the girl said, ‘perhaps I will come here tomorrow, also at ten o’clock. I see that I can’t forbid you … The fact
         of the matter is that I have to be here; don’t think that I’m arranging a meeting with you; I’m warning you in advance that I need to be here for myself. But, you see … Well, I’ll tell you frankly:
         it would be nice if you did come; in the first place, there might be some more unpleasantness like today, but that’s beside
         the point … in a word, I’d simply like to see you … so I could say a few words to you. Only please don’t think ill of me now.
         Don’t think that I arrange meetings so casually … I would have made one, if … But let that be my secret! Only we must make
         an agreement in advance …’


      
      ‘An agreement! Speak, tell me, tell me all beforehand; I’ll agree to everything, I’m ready for anything,’ I exclaimed in delight,
         ‘I’ll answer for myself – I will be obedient, respectful … you know me …’


      
      ‘It’s precisely because I do know you that I’m inviting you to come tomorrow,’ the girl said, laughing. ‘I know you completely.
         But see that you come on the following condition: first (only be so kind as to do what I ask – you see, I’m speaking candidly),
         don’t fall in love with me … That’s impossible, I assure you. I’m prepared to be your friend, here’s my hand … But falling
         in love is impossible, I beg you!’


      
      ‘I swear,’ I cried, as I clasped her hand …

      
      ‘Come, come, don’t swear, you see, I know that you’re capable of flaring up like gunpowder. Don’t condemn me for speaking
         like this. If you only knew … I also have no one to whom I can say a word, from whom I can ask advice. Of course, the street
         is not the place to look for advisers, but you’re an exception. I know you so well, as if we had been friends for twenty years
         … You won’t betray me, will you? …’


      
      ‘You’ll see … Only I don’t know how I’m going to survive the next twenty-four hours.’

      
      ‘Sleep well; good night – and remember that I have already put myself into your hands. But your exclamation just now put it
         so nicely: must one really account for every feeling, even for brotherly sympathy! Do you know, that was put so nicely that
         I suddenly thought I might confide in you …’


      
      ‘By all means, but about what? What’s it about?’

      
      ‘Until tomorrow. Let it be a secret in the meantime. It will be better for you that way; although from a distance it will
         look like a love story. Maybe I’ll tell you tomorrow and maybe not … I’ll talk with you a bit more first, we’ll get to know each
         other better …’


      
      ‘Oh, and tomorrow I’ll tell you everything about myself! But what is this? It’s as though a miracle were happening to me …
         My God, where am I? Well, tell me, aren’t you glad that you didn’t get angry as another woman would have done and drive me
         away from the very beginning? Two minutes and you have made me happy forever. Yes! happy; who knows, perhaps you have reconciled
         me with myself, resolved my doubts … Perhaps such moments overwhelm me … Well, I’ll tell you everything tomorrow, you’ll learn
         everything about me, everything …’


      
      ‘Very well, I accept; and you’ll start first …’

      
      ‘Agreed.’

      
      ‘Goodbye!’

      
      ‘Goodbye!’

      
      And we parted. I walked all night long; I couldn’t make up my mind to go home. I was so happy … until tomorrow!

      
      
      
      
      THE SECOND NIGHT

      
      
      ‘Well, so you survived!’ she said to me, laughing and taking hold of both my hands.

      
      ‘I’ve been here for two hours already; you have no idea what I’ve been through today!’

      
      ‘I know, I know … But now to the matter at hand. Do you know why I’ve come? Not to talk nonsense like yesterday, you know.
         Here’s why: we need to act more sensibly from now on. I thought about all this for a long time last night.’


      
      ‘But how, how are we to be more sensible? For my part, I’m ready; but really nothing more sensible has ever happened to me
         in all my life than what is happening now.’


      
      ‘Is that so? First of all, please don’t squeeze my hands like that; and second, I want to tell you that I thought about you
         long and hard today.’


      
      ‘Well, and what conclusion did you reach?’

      
      ‘Conclusion? I concluded that we must begin all over again, because today I came to the conclusion that I don’t know you at
         all, that yesterday I acted like a child, like a little girl, and it goes without saying that it turned out that my kind heart
         was to blame for it all; that is, I praised myself, which is how it always ends when we start examining our actions. And that’s
         why, in order to correct this mistake, I’ve decided to find out everything I can about you in the most detailed manner. But
         since there’s no one from whom I can find out anything about you, you must tell me everything yourself, everything that there
         is to know. Well, what sort of person are you? Quickly – begin, tell me the story of your life.’


      
      ‘The story of my life!’ I cried out, frightened. ‘My story! But who told you that I have a story to tell? I don’t have a story
         …’


      
      ‘But how have you lived if there’s no story?’ she interrupted, smiling.

      
      ‘Absolutely without stories of any kind! I lived, as they say, on my own, that is, absolutely alone – alone, completely alone
         – do you understand what it means to be alone?’


      
      ‘But what do you mean by alone? Do you mean you never see anyone?’

      
      ‘Oh, no, of course I see people, but nevertheless I am alone.’

      
      ‘But can it really be that you don’t talk to anyone?’

      
      ‘Strictly speaking, to nobody.’

      
      ‘So who are you, then, explain yourself! Wait, I’ll hazard a guess: you probably have a grandmother, like I do. She’s blind,
         and for as long as I can remember she has never let me go anywhere, so that I’ve practically forgotten how to talk. A couple
         of years ago I got into a lot of mischief and she saw that she couldn’t control me, so she called me over and pinned my dress
         to hers with a safety pin – and ever since we sit like that for days on end; she knits a stocking, even though she’s blind;
         and I sit beside her, sewing or reading a book to her out loud – it’s such a strange way to live, and I’ve been pinned to
         her like that now for two years already …’


      
      ‘Oh, my God, how dreadful! But no, I don’t have a grandmother like that.’

      
      ‘But if you don’t, then how is it that you stay at home? …’

      
      ‘Listen, do you want to know what sort of person I am?’

      
      ‘Well, yes, yes!’

      
      ‘In the strict sense of the word?’

      
      ‘In the very strictest sense of the word!’

      
      ‘Well, then, I’m a type.’

      
      ‘Type, type! What sort of type?’ the girl cried out, laughing as if she had not had a chance to laugh for a whole year. ‘You’re
         certainly very amusing company! Look: there’s a bench here; let’s sit down! No one walks by here, no one will hear us, and
         – you can begin your story! Because you won’t succeed in persuading me otherwise, you do have a story, only you’re concealing
         it. First of all, what is a type?’


      
      ‘A type? A type is an eccentric, a ridiculous person!’ I answered, and burst out laughing myself in response to her childish
         laughter. ‘He’s a real character. Listen: do you know what a dreamer is?’


      
      ‘A dreamer? Excuse me, but of course I do! I’m a dreamer myself! What doesn’t enter my head sometimes when I’m sitting beside
         my grandmother. Well, then you begin to dream, and you become so lost in your thoughts that before you know it you’re marrying
         a Chinese prince … But sometimes dreaming is a good thing! But then, God only knows! Particularly if there’s something to
         think about without dreaming,’ the girl added, quite serious now.


      
      ‘Excellent! If you’ve been married to a Chinese emperor, that means you’ll understand me perfectly then. Well, listen … But
         excuse me; I don’t even know your name.’


      
      ‘At last! You certainly took your time about it!’

      
      ‘Oh, my goodness! It never entered my head – I was so happy as it was …’

      
      ‘My name is Nastenka.’

      
      ‘Nastenka! And that’s all?’

      
      ‘That’s all! Is that really not enough for you? What an insatiable fellow you are!’

      
      ‘Not enough? On the contrary, it’s a great deal, a very great deal indeed, Nastenka – you’re a kind girl if you’re Nastenka
         to me right away!’


      
      ‘So, there you are!’

      
      ‘So then, Nastenka, listen to what a ridiculous story this turns out to be.’

      
      I sat down next to her, assumed a pedantically serious pose and began as though I were reading something that had been written
         down.


      
      ‘There are, Nastenka, in case you don’t know, there are rather strange little corners in Petersburg. It’s as if the same sun
         that shines for all of Petersburg’s people doesn’t even peek into these places, but there is another different, new sun, as
         if specially ordered for these corners, and it shines on everything with a different, special light. In these corners, dear
         Nastenka, it’s as if a completely different kind of life is lived, one that doesn’t resemble that which seethes around us,
         but the kind that might exist in a faraway kingdom, and not among us in our serious, oh so serious times. And it is this life
         which is a mixture of something purely fantastic, fervently ideal, and at the same time (alas, Nastenka) dully prosaic and
         ordinary, not to say – incredibly vulgar.’


      
      ‘Ugh! Good heavens! What an introduction! Whatever will I hear next?’

      
      ‘You’ll hear, Nastenka (it seems that I shall never tire of calling you Nastenka), you’ll hear that in these corners live
         strange people – dreamers. A dreamer – if you require a precise definition – is not a man, but some sort of sexless being,
         you see. For the most part, he makes his home somewhere in an inaccessible corner, as if he were hiding there even from the
         light of day, and once he goes into hiding, he sticks to his corner, like a snail, or at any rate, he very much resembles
         in this regard that entertaining animal, both animal and house at the same time, which is called a tortoise. What do you think,
         why does he so love his own four walls, which are certain to be painted green, covered with soot, wretched and unforgivably
         grimy from tobacco smoke? Why does this ridiculous gentleman, when one of his few acquaintances comes to visit him (and he
         ends up losing all his acquaintances), why does this ridiculous person greet him with such embarrassment, such a changed countenance
         and such confusion, as though he had just committed a crime within his four walls, as though he had been forging counterfeit notes or some little poems to be sent
         to a journal with an anonymous letter in which it is revealed that a true poet has died and that his friend considers it his
         sacred duty to publish his ditties. Why, tell me, Nastenka, does the conversation between these two interlocutors never get
         going? Why does neither laughter nor some lively remark fly from the tongue of the completely unexpected and perplexed friend,
         who in different circumstances likes to laugh a great deal, as well as engage in lively banter, and conversations about the
         fair sex, and other cheerful subjects? And why, finally, does this friend, probably a recent acquaintance making his first
         visit – because in this case there will not be a second and the friend won’t come again – why does this friend become so embarrassed,
         so stiff, all his wit notwithstanding (if indeed he has any) as he looks at the crestfallen face of his host, who in turn
         has already managed to become completely flustered and utterly muddled after gigantic but futile efforts to smooth over and
         keep the conversation going, to show his knowledge of the ways of the world, to talk, too, about the fair sex and, at the
         very least, by such deference to please the poor person who has turned up at the wrong place and mistakenly come to visit
         him. Why, finally, does the guest suddenly grab his hat and quickly leave, having remembered all of a sudden some very urgent
         business, which never existed, and somehow or other extricate his hand from the warm handshake of his host, who in every way
         possible was trying to show his regret and set right that which had been lost? Why does the departing friend chortle as he
         goes out the door, there and then vowing never to visit this crackpot, even though this crackpot is truly a most excellent
         fellow; at the same time why can he not deny his imagination the passing fancy of comparing, if only remotely, the physiognomy
         of his recent interlocutor throughout the entire time of their meeting with the look of an unhappy little kitten, treacherously
         captured by children who have mauled, frightened and tormented it in every way possible, and which has finally taken refuge
         from them under a chair, in the dark, and there for an entire hour at its leisure bristles, hisses and washes its aggrieved face with both paws, and for a long time afterwards looks with enmity at nature and life and even at
         the scraps from his master’s dinner which the compassionate housekeeper had saved for him.’


      
      ‘Listen,’ interrupted Nastenka, who all this time had been listening to me in amazement, with her eyes and little mouth wide
         open. ‘Listen: I absolutely do not know why all this happened and why you are putting such ridiculous questions to me; but
         what I do know for certain is that all these adventures certainly happened to you, word for word.’


      
      ‘Without a doubt,’ I answered with the most serious expression.

      
      ‘Well, as there’s no doubt, then continue,’ Nastenka answered, ‘because I very much want to know how it all ends.’

      
      ‘You want to know, Nastenka, what our hero was doing in his corner – or rather, what I was doing, for the hero of this whole
         affair is myself – my own humble person; you want to know why I became so alarmed and was flustered for an entire day by the
         unexpected visit of a friend? You want to know why I was so startled, why I blushed so when the door to my room opened, why
         I didn’t know how to receive my guest and why I floundered so shamefully under the weight of my own hospitality?’


      
      ‘Well, yes, yes!’ Nastenka answered. ‘That’s the whole point. Listen: you tell it splendidly, but could you tell it somehow
         less splendidly? Otherwise, you talk as though you were reading from a book.’


      
      ‘Nastenka!’ I answered in a dignified and stern voice, scarcely holding back my laughter, ‘dear Nastenka, I know that I am
         telling it splendidly; I plead guilty – but I don’t know how to tell it differently. Now, dear Nastenka, now I’m like King
         Solomon’s genie9 trapped in an earthenware urn for a thousand years, under seven seals, and from which these seven seals were at last removed.
         Now, dear Nastenka, when we have come together again after such a lengthy separation – because I have known you for a long
         time, Nastenka, because I have long been searching for someone, and that is a sign that I was looking precisely for you and
         that we were fated to meet now – now in my head thousands of valves have opened and I must set loose this river of words, or I will choke to death. So then, I ask
         that you not interrupt me, Nastenka, but listen obediently and dutifully; otherwise – I’ll keep my silence.’


      
      ‘No-no-no! By no means! Speak! I won’t say another word.’

      
      ‘To continue: there is, my friend Nastenka, in my day one hour that I like exceedingly. It is the hour when almost all business,
         duties and engagements are coming to an end, and everybody is hurrying home to dinner, to lie down and rest, and there and
         then, as they’re making their way home, they concoct other cheerful schemes pertaining to the evening, the night and all the
         rest of their free time. At this hour our hero, too – for allow me, Nastenka, to tell the story in the third person, because
         it’s terribly embarrassing to tell all this in the first person – so then, at this hour our hero, too, who has also not been
         idle, walks along behind the others. But a strange sense of pleasure plays on his pale, somewhat rumpled face. With feeling
         he looks at the sunset, which slowly fades away in the cold Petersburg sky. When I say he looks, I’m lying: he doesn’t look,
         but he contemplates it somehow without thinking, as if he were tired or preoccupied at the same time with some other more
         interesting object, so that he can only cursorily, almost involuntarily, spare time for everything around him. He is pleased,
         because he has finished until tomorrow with the business that he finds irksome, and he is as happy as a schoolboy who has been dismissed from the classroom to his favourite games
         and mischief. Look at him in profile, Nastenka: you’ll see at once that the joyful feeling fortunately has already begun to
         have an effect on his weak nerves and morbidly excited imagination. He’s fallen deep in thought about something … Do you think
         it’s about dinner? About this evening? What is he looking at like that? At that respectable-looking gentleman who bowed so
         picturesquely to the lady riding past him in a glittering carriage drawn by those frisky horses? No, Nastenka, what does he
         care now about such trifles? His own particular life has already made him rich; he somehow suddenly became rich, and not in vain did the farewell ray of the dying sun so
         gaily sparkle before him and call forth an entire swarm of impressions from his warmed heart. Now he scarcely notices the path on which even the most petty trifle
         would have struck him earlier. Now the “Goddess of Fantasy” (if you have read Zhukovsky,10 dear Nastenka) has already spun her golden warp and begun to fashion before his eyes patterns of a fantastic, marvellous
         life – and who knows, perhaps with her whimsical hand she has transported him to the seventh crystal heaven11 from the excellent granite sidewalk on which he was walking home. Try stopping him now, and ask him suddenly where he’s standing
         now, along which streets has he walked. He probably will remember nothing, neither where he was walking, nor where he is now
         standing, and after blushing with vexation he will certainly tell some lie in order to save face. That’s why he was so taken
         aback, almost crying out and looking all around in alarm, when a very respectable old woman who had lost her way politely
         stopped him in the middle of the sidewalk and began to ask him for directions. Frowning with vexation, he carries on walking,
         scarcely noticing that he has caused more than one passer-by to smile and turn round to look at him as he walked away, and
         that some little girl, as she timidly made way for him, began to laugh loudly, as she looked wide-eyed at his broad, contemplative
         smile and gesturing hands. But the same fantasy caught up in its playful flight the old woman, and the curious passers-by,
         and the laughing girl, and the peasants who were spending their night right there on the barges that crowded the Fontanka
         (let’s suppose that at this moment our hero was walking along there), and mischievously wove everybody and everything into
         its canvas, like a fly in a spider’s web, and with this new acquisition the eccentric had entered his comforting lair, sat
         down to dinner, finished his dinner long ago and only came to when the pensive and eternally doleful Matryona who waits on
         him had already cleared everything from the table and given him his pipe; he came to and recalled with surprise that he had
         already had his dinner, but had taken no notice whatsoever how that was accomplished. It had grown dark in the room; his heart
         feels empty and forlorn; the whole kingdom of dream has collapsed around him, collapsed without a trace, without a sound or
         fuss – it flew past like a vision, and he himself doesn’t remember what he was dreaming about. But some vague sensation faintly disturbs
         his breast and causes it to ache, some new desire seductively tickles and excites his fancy and imperceptibly summons a whole
         swarm of new phantoms. Quiet reigns in the little room; solitude and indolence caress the imagination; it faintly catches
         fire, it is faintly brought to the boil, like the water in the coffeepot of old Matryona, who placidly potters about next
         door in the kitchen, as she makes her cook’s coffee. Now it’s already gently breaking through in bursts; now the book, picked
         up without purpose and at random, is already falling from my dreamer’s hand, without his even getting to the third page. His
         imagination is once again incited, excited, and suddenly again a new world, a new enchanting life with its glistening vistas
         flashes before him. A new dream is new happiness! A new dose of exquisite, voluptuous poison! Oh, what does real life have
         to offer him! In his misdirected view, you and I, Nastenka, live so idly, slowly, sluggishly; in his view, we are all so dissatisfied
         with our fate, so worn down by our life! And really, as a matter of fact, look how everything at first glance among us is
         cold, gloomy, indeed wrathful … “The poor things,” my dreamer thinks. And it’s no wonder that he should think so! Look at
         these magical phantoms that so enchantingly, so whimsically, so boundlessly and broadly take shape before him in such a magical,
         animated picture, in which the most important figure in the foreground, of course, is he himself, our dreamer, his own dear
         person. Look, what diverse adventures, what an endless swarm of ecstatic daydreams. You will ask, perhaps, what does he dream
         about? Why ask that? About everything … about the role of the poet, who at first goes unrecognized, but is later crowned with
         success; about friendship with Hoffmann; St Bartholomew’s Night, Diana Vernon, the heroic role of Ivan Vasilyevich in the
         taking of Kazan, Clara Mowbray, Effie Deans, the Council of the Prelates and Huss before them, the rising of the dead in Robert (do you remember the music? It smells of the graveyard!), Minna and Brenda, the battle of Beryozina, the reading of a poem
         at Countess V.D.’s, Danton, Cleopatra ei suoi amanti, the little house in Kolomna;12 his own little corner, with a dear creature at his side who listens on a winter’s evening, with her little mouth and eyes open, just as you’re listening
         to me now, my little angel … No, Nastenka, what need has he, this voluptuous sluggard, of this life that you and I desire
         so? He thinks that this is a poor, pitiful life, not anticipating that perhaps some day the sad hour will strike for him as
         well, when for a single day of this pitiful life he would give up all of his fantastic years, and give them up not for joy,
         or for happiness, and without wishing to choose in this hour of sadness, repentance and boundless sorrow. But this terrible
         time has yet to come – he desires nothing, because he is above desire, because he has everything, because he is sated, because
         he himself is the artist of his life and he creates it for himself every hour to suit his latest whim. And, you see, this
         fairy-tale, fantastic world is created so easily, so naturally! As though all this were truly not a phantom! Indeed, he is
         prepared to believe at certain moments that all of this life is not the excitement of feelings, not a mirage, not a delusion
         of the imagination, but that it is, indeed, authentic, genuine, real! Why, tell me, Nastenka, oh why, at such moments does
         one’s breathing become laboured? Why, by what magic, by what mysterious caprice does the pulse quicken, do tears gush forth
         from the dreamer’s eyes, his pale, moist cheeks burn as his entire being fills with such irresistible delight? Why do whole
         sleepless nights pass by like a single instant in inexhaustible merriment and happiness, and when the dawn’s rosy ray shines
         through the windows and the daybreak illumines the gloomy room with its dubious fantastic light, such as we have in Petersburg,
         why does our dreamer, exhausted and weary, throw himself on his bed and fall asleep, his tormented and overwhelmed spirit
         trembling with ecstasy, while his heart aches with a sweet agony? Yes, Nastenka, you deceive yourself, and unwittingly and
         dispassionately believe that it is a genuine, true passion that disturbs his soul, you unwittingly believe that there is something
         alive and tangible in his incorporeal daydreams! But, you see, it’s all a delusion – take, for example, the love that has
         pierced his breast with all its inexhaustible joy, with all its wearisome torments … Just look at him and you’ll be convinced! Would you believe, when you look at him, dear Nastenka, that indeed he has never known her whom he loves
         so in his frenzied daydreams? Can it be that he has only seen her in certain captivating phantoms and only dreamed this passion?
         Can it really be that they have not spent so many years of their lives together hand in hand – alone, just the two of them,
         having forsaken the entire world and each uniting their life, their world, with the life of their friend? Can it really be
         that at this late hour, when the time had come to part, did not she lay there, sobbing and grieving on his breast, not hearing
         the storm, which was breaking under the bleak sky, or the wind, which plucked and carried away the tears from her black lashes?
         Can this really all have been a dream – this garden, cheerless, desolate and wild, with paths overgrown with moss, secluded,
         and gloomy, where they so often would walk together, where they hoped, grieved, loved, loved each other for such a long time,
         “so long and tenderly”!13 And this strange, ancestral home, in which she had lived for such a long time, secluded and melancholy, with her sullen,
         old husband, always silent and peevish, who frightened them, while they, timid as children, dolefully and timorously concealed
         their love from each other? How they suffered, how fearful they were, and how innocent and pure was their love and how (it
         goes without saying, Nastenka) malicious people were! And, my God, was it really not she he met later, far from the shores
         of their homeland, under an alien sky, in the torrid South, in the marvellous Eternal City,14 in the brilliance of a ball, to the thunder of music, in a palazzo (it absolutely must be a palazzo), drowned in a sea of
         lights, on this balcony, wreathed with myrtle and roses, where she, upon recognizing him, so hastily took off her mask and
         whispered: “I am free”, and trembling, threw herself into his arms, and with a cry of rapture, they embraced, and in an instant
         they forgot sorrow, separation, all their torments, the gloomy house, the old man, the dismal garden in their distant homeland,
         the bench on which, with one last passionate kiss, she had torn herself away from his arms, numb from torments of despair
         … Oh, you must agree, Nastenka, that you would be startled, feel embarrassed and blush like a schoolboy who had just crammed into his pocket an apple stolen from the neighbour’s orchard, if some lanky, hearty lad, a merry fellow and
         a joker, your uninvited friend, opened your door and shouted out, as if nothing had happened: “And I, my dear fellow, just
         got back from Pavlovsk!”15 My goodness! The old count has died, ineffable happiness is close at hand – and here people are coming from Pavlovsk!’


      
      I pathetically fell silent, upon concluding my pathetic exclamations. I remember that I wanted terribly somehow to force myself
         to burst out laughing, because I already sensed that a hostile little demon had begun to stir inside me, that I was about
         to choke, that my chin was beginning to quiver and that my eyes were watering more and more … I expected Nastenka, who was
         listening to me with her intelligent eyes wide open, to burst into her childish, irrepressibly merry laughter, and was already
         regretting that I had gone too far, that I had been wrong to tell her about what had long seethed in my heart, about which
         I could talk as though I were reading a written text, because I had long ago passed sentence on myself and now could not resist
         reading it, to confess, without expecting that I should be understood; but to my surprise, she kept silent; after waiting
         a little bit she gently pressed my hand and with a timid concern asked:


      
      ‘Can you really have lived your whole life like that?’

      
      ‘My whole life, Nastenka,’ I replied, ‘my whole life and I believe that’s how I’ll end my days!’

      
      ‘No, that’s impossible,’ she said uneasily, ‘it won’t be like that – that would mean I would likely live out my whole life
         by Grandmother’s side. Listen, you do know that it’s bad for you to live like that?’


      
      ‘I know, Nastenka, I know!’ I exclaimed, no longer holding my feelings in check. ‘And now I know more than ever that I’ve
         wasted all my best years for nothing! I know this now, and I feel it all the more painfully now that I see that God himself
         has sent you, my good angel, to me, in order to tell me this and prove it to me. As I sit beside you and talk to you now,
         I’m terrified even to think about the future, because the future is once again loneliness, once again this stagnant, useless
         life; and what will there be for me to dream about when I have already been so happy in real life beside you! Oh, bless you, dear girl, for not turning me away from the very first, for making it possible
         that I can now say that I have lived at least two evenings in my life!’


      
      ‘Oh, no, no!’ Nastenka cried out, and little tears began to glisten in her eyes. ‘No, it won’t be like that any more; we won’t
         part like that! What are two evenings!’


      
      ‘Oh, Nastenka, Nastenka! Do you know you have reconciled me with myself for a good long time? Do you know that now I will
         not think so badly of myself as I sometimes have done? Do you know that now, perhaps, I will no longer suffer anguish for
         having committed a crime and sin in my life, because a life like that is a crime and sin? And don’t think that I have been
         exaggerating anything to you, for God’s sake, Nastenka, don’t think that, because sometimes I am overcome by moments of such
         anguish, such anguish … Because at those moments it begins to seem that I will never be able to begin living a real life;
         because it already seems that I have lost all sense, all feeling for the genuine, the real; because, in the end, I curse myself;
         because after my fantastic nights I am visited by sobering moments that are horrible! Meanwhile, you hear all around you how
         the throng of humanity thunders and spins in the whirlwind of life; you hear, you see how people live – they live in reality;
         you see that life for them is not forbidden, that their life doesn’t vanish like a dream, like a vision, that their life is
         eternally renewing, eternally young, and not a single hour of it resembles any other; whereas how cheerless and monotonously
         banal is the timorous fantasy, the slave of a shadow, of an idea, the slave of the first cloud that suddenly obscures the
         sun and fills with anguish the heart of every true Petersburger, which holds its sun so dear – but what sort of fantasy is
         there to be found in anguish! You sense that this inexhaustible fantasy is finally growing tired, that it is becoming exhausted under constant strain; because, you see, you are growing into manhood,
         you are outgrowing your former ideals: they are being smashed to dust, to bits and pieces; and if there is no other life,
         then you must build it from these bits and pieces. But meanwhile your soul yearns and pleads for something else! And in vain
         does the dreamer rake through his old dreams, as if they were ashes, searching in these ashes for at least some little spark,
         in order to fan it into flames, and with this rekindled fire warm his heart, which has grown cold, and resurrect in himself
         once again everything that he had held dear, that had touched his soul, that had made his blood boil, that had brought tears
         to his eyes and had so splendidly deceived him! Do you know, Nastenka, how low I have fallen? Do you know that I’m compelled
         now to celebrate the anniversary of my own sensations, the anniversary of that which was formerly so dear, of that which in
         essence never took place – because this anniversary is celebrated in honour of those same foolish, phantom dreams – and to
         do it because even those foolish dreams are no more, because I have nothing with which to replenish them: you see, even dreams
         need to be replenished! Do you know that I now like to recall and visit at certain times places where I was once happy in
         my own way, I like to fashion my present so that it’s in harmony with the irrevocable past, and I often wander like a shadow,
         without need or purpose, downcast and sad, through the alleys and streets of Petersburg. And what memories! You recall, for
         instance, that exactly a year ago now, exactly at this very same time, at this very same hour, you wandered along this very
         sidewalk just as lonely, just as downcast as you are now! And you recall that your dreams were sad then as well, and even
         though it was not better then, nevertheless, you somehow feel that it was easier, that you lived more comfortably, that there
         wasn’t this black brooding that troubles you now; that you didn’t have these pangs of conscience, these gloomy, dismal pangs
         that now give you no peace night or day. And you ask yourself: Where are your dreams? And you shake your head and say: How
         quickly do the years fly by! And again you ask yourself: What have you done with your years? Where have you buried your best
         days? Did you live or not? Look, you say to yourself, look how cold the world is becoming. More years will pass, followed
         by gloomy solitude, and then doddering old age will come on a walking-stick, to be followed by anguish and despondency. Your
         fantastic world will grow pale, your dreams will wither, die and scatter like yellow leaves from the trees … Oh, Nastenka! It will be sad, you know, to be left alone, quite alone, and not even have something to regret – nothing,
         absolutely nothing … because all that I have lost, all this, it was all nothing, a stupid, round zero – it was merely a dream!’


      
      ‘Now, stop trying to make me feel sorry for you!’ Nastenka said, wiping away a tear which had rolled down from her eye. ‘That’s
         all over now! The two of us will be together now; now, no matter what happens to me, we will never part. Listen. I’m a simple
         girl, without much education, although my grandmother did hire a teacher for me; but I truly do understand you, because everything
         that you’ve told me just now, I experienced myself when Grandmother pinned me to her dress. Of course, I couldn’t have told
         it so well as you have done; I’m not educated,’ she added timidly, because she was still feeling some sort of respect for
         my pathetic speech and my lofty style, ‘but I’m very happy that you have confided in me so completely. Now I know you, through
         and through, I know everything about you. And do you know what? I want to tell you my story now, all of it, frankly, and afterwards
         you’ll give me your advice. You’re a very sensible man; do you promise to give me your advice?’


      
      ‘Ah, Nastenka,’ I replied, ‘although I’ve never been an adviser, much less a sensible adviser, I see now that it would somehow
         be very sensible if we were to always live like this, and we would give each other a lot of sensible advice! Well, my pretty
         Nastenka, what advice should I give you? Tell me frankly; I’m so cheerful, happy, bold and sensible now that I won’t be at
         a loss for words.’


      
      ‘No, no,’ Nastenka interrupted, laughing, ‘it’s not only sensible advice that I need; I need advice that is heartfelt and
         brotherly, as though you had loved me all your life!’


      
      ‘All right, Nastenka, all right!’ I cried out in delight, ‘and if I’d already loved you for twenty years, I still couldn’t
         have loved you more than I do right now!’


      
      ‘Give me your hand!’ Nastenka said.

      
      ‘Here it is!’ I answered, as I gave her my hand.

      
      ‘And so, let’s begin my story!’

      
      
      
      
      NASTENKA’S STORY

      
      
      ‘Half of my story you already know, that is, you know that I have an old grandmother …’

      
      ‘If the other half is as short as this one …’ I interrupted, laughing.

      
      ‘Keep quiet and listen. First of all, a condition: you’re not to interrupt me, or else I’ll very likely get muddled. Now,
         listen quietly.


      
      ‘I have an old grandmother. I found myself with her when I was still a very little girl, because my mother and father had
         died. It’s fair to suppose that Grandmother had been richer at one time, because even now she recalls better days. It was
         she who taught me French and then later hired a teacher for me. When I was fifteen years old (I’m seventeen now), the lessons
         stopped. And it was at this time that I got into a lot of mischief; but I won’t tell you what I did; it’s enough to say that
         my misdeed was minor. But Grandmother called me one morning and said that since she was blind she couldn’t keep an eye on
         me, so she took a pin and fastened my dress to hers, and then she said that we would sit like that for the rest of our lives
         if, of course, I didn’t behave better. In a word, at first it was quite impossible to get away: I did all my work, reading
         and studying right beside Grandmother. I once tried to trick her and talked Fyokla into sitting in my place. Fyokla is our
         maid, she’s deaf. Fyokla sat down instead of me; Grandmother had fallen asleep in her armchair at the time, and I set off
         for my girlfriend’s not far away. Well, it ended badly. Grandmother woke up when I was away and asked about something, thinking
         that I was still sitting quietly in my place. Fyokla could see that Grandmother was asking for something, but she couldn’t
         hear what it was, she thought and thought about what she should do, undid the pin, and took to her heels …’


      
      Here Nastenka paused and laughed. I started to laugh with her. She stopped at once.

      
      ‘Now listen, don’t you laugh at my grandmother. I’m laughing, because it’s funny … What can I do when Grandmother really is like that, but I love her all the same. Well, that time I certainly got what for: I was sat down in my place at
         once and wasn’t allowed to budge an inch.


      
      ‘Oh, yes, I also forgot to tell you that we have, that is, Grandmother has her own house, that is, a tiny little house, with
         only three windows, all made of wood and as old as Grandmother herself; and there’s an attic upstairs; and so a new lodger
         moved into our attic …’


      
      ‘Consequently, there must have been an old lodger?’ I noted in passing.

      
      ‘Well, of course there was,’ Nastenka replied, ‘and one who knew how to keep quiet better than you do. True, he could barely
         move his tongue. He was a little old man, withered, mute, blind, lame, so that it finally became impossible for him to live
         in this world, and he died; then we needed a new lodger, because we can’t live without a lodger: that together with Grandmother’s
         pension is practically our entire income. The new lodger, as luck would have it, was a young man, not from around here, from
         out of town. Since he didn’t try to bargain with her, Grandmother took him in, but later she asked: “So, Nastenka, is our
         lodger young or not?” I didn’t want to lie: “Now,” I say, “Grandmother, it’s not as though he’s very young, but then he’s
         not an old man.” “Well, and is he good-looking?” Grandmother asks.


      
      ‘Again, I don’t wish to lie. “Yes,” I say, “he’s good-looking, Grandmother!” And Grandmother says: “Oh, what a nuisance, what
         a nuisance! I’m saying this, Granddaughter, so that you don’t get carried away by him. Oh, what times we live in! Who would
         have thought it possible, such a piddling lodger – and he has to be good-looking as well: things were different in the old
         days!”


      
      ‘It’s always the old days with Grandmother! She was younger in the old days, and the sun was warmer in the old days, and cream
         didn’t go sour so quickly in the old days – it’s always the old days! And so I sit and keep quiet, and think to myself: why
         is Grandmother filling my head with ideas and asking whether our lodger is handsome or whether he’s young? But that was all
         there was to it; I just gave it a thought and there and then began counting my stitches again – I was knitting stockings –
         and then completely forgot about it.


      
      ‘And then one morning the lodger came to ask about his room being wallpapered as he had been promised. One thing led to another,
         Grandmother is talkative, you see, and she says: “Go to my bedroom, Nastenka, and bring me my accounts.” I immediately jumped
         up, blushing, I don’t know why, and I’d forgotten that I was sitting there pinned to Grandmother; I didn’t quietly unpin myself
         so that the lodger wouldn’t see, no – I dashed off so that Grandmother’s chair went flying. When I saw that the lodger now
         knew everything about me, I blushed, stood there as if I were rooted to the ground and burst into tears – I became so ashamed
         and miserable at that moment that life didn’t seem worth living! Grandmother shouts: “Why are you just standing there?” –
         which made me cry even more … When the lodger saw this, when he saw that I was embarrassed on account of him, he took his
         leave and went away at once!


      
      ‘From that moment on I would practically die at the slightest sound in the entrance hall. There goes the lodger, I’d say to
         myself, and quietly undo the pin just in case. Only it was never him, he never came. Two weeks passed; the lodger sent word
         through Fyokla that he had a lot of French books and that they were all good books, suitable for me to read; wouldn’t Grandmother
         like me to read them to her, so that we wouldn’t be bored? Grandmother accepted with gratitude, but she kept asking if the
         books were moral or not, because if the books were immoral, then you, Nastenka, she says, mustn’t read them under any circumstances,
         you’ll learn bad things.


      
      ‘ “And what would I learn, Grandmother? What’s written in them?”

      
      ‘ “Oh!” she says, “they describe how young men lead well-behaved girls astray; how under the pretence of wanting to marry
         them, they carry them off from their parents’ house; how they later abandon these unfortunate girls to the whims of fate;
         and how they then perish in the most lamentable manner. I,” Grandmother says, “have read a lot of books like that and everything,”
         she says, “is so wonderfully described that you sit up all night, quietly reading. So you, Nastenka,” she says, “see that
         you don’t read them. What kind of books,” she asks, “has he sent?”


      
      ‘ “They’re all novels by Walter Scott, Grandmother.”

      
      ‘ “Novels by Walter Scott! But wait just a minute, there must be some sort of shenanigans going on here. Take a good look
         to see if he slipped a little love note in one of them.”


      
      ‘ “No, I say, Grandmother, there isn’t a note.”

      
      ‘ “And look under the binding as well; sometimes they stuff it into the binding, the rascals! …”

      
      ‘ “No, Grandmother, there isn’t anything under the binding either.”

      
      ‘ “Well, what did I tell you!”

      
      ‘And so we began to read Walter Scott and in a month or so we had read almost half. Then he sent us some more and some more.
         He sent Pushkin; in the end I couldn’t be without a book and stopped thinking about marrying a Chinese prince.


      
      ‘That’s how things stood when I chanced to meet our lodger on the staircase. Grandmother had sent me for something. He stopped,
         I blushed and he blushed; he laughed though, said hello, asked after Grandmother’s health and says: “So have you read the
         books?” I answered: “Yes.” “Which one,” he asks, “did you like the most?” And I say: “I liked Ivanhoe16 and Pushkin best of all.” And that was the end of it that time.


      
      ‘A week later I ran into him again on the staircase. This time Grandmother hadn’t sent me, I had needed to get something for
         myself. It was after two, which was when the lodger would come home. “Hello!” he says. I answer: “Hello!”


      
      ‘ “Don’t you get bored,” he asks, “sitting with your grandmother all day long?”

      
      ‘As soon as he asked me that, I blushed, I don’t know why; I became embarrassed, and once again my feelings were hurt, evidently
         because now others had begun asking questions about this. I wanted to walk away without answering, but I didn’t have the strength.


      
      ‘ “Listen,” he says, “you’re a good girl! Forgive me for talking with you like this, but I assure you I wish you well more
         than your grandmother does. Don’t you have any girlfriends whom you can go and visit?”


      
      ‘I say that I don’t have any, that there was one, Mashenka, but that she’s gone away to Pskov.

      
      ‘ “Listen,” he says, “would you like to go to the theatre with me?”

      
      ‘ “To the theatre? But what about Grandmother?”

      
      ‘ “Well,” he says, “you can go without telling her …”

      
      ‘ “No,” I say, “I don’t want to deceive Grandmother. Good-bye!”

      
      ‘ “Well, goodbye,” he says, and he didn’t say another word.

      
      ‘Only after dinner he comes to see us; he sat down, talked with Grandmother for a long time, asked whether she goes out anywhere,
         whether she has any friends – and suddenly he says: “I took a box at the opera today; they’re putting on The Barber of Seville,17 friends wanted to go and then cancelled, so I’m left with the tickets.”


      
      ‘ “The Barber of Seville!” Grandmother exclaimed, “is that the same Barber they used to put on in the old days?”


      
      ‘ “Yes,” he says, “it’s the very same Barber”, and he cast a glance at me. And then I understood everything, blushed and my heart began to thump in expectation!


      
      ‘ “But of course I know it!” Grandmother says. “In the old days I even sang Rosina in amateur theatricals.”

      
      ‘ “So, would you like to go today?” said the lodger. “My tickets will go to waste.”

      
      ‘ “Yes, I suppose we could go,” Grandmother says, “why shouldn’t we go? After all, my Nastenka has never been to the theatre.”

      
      ‘My goodness, what joy! We at once pulled ourselves together, got ready and set off. Even though Grandmother is blind, she
         still wanted to hear the music, and besides she’s a kind old woman: more than anything she wanted me to enjoy myself; we should
         never have gone on our own. I won’t tell you my impressions of The Barber of Seville, except to say that all that evening our lodger looked at me so nicely, and spoke so nicely that I saw at once that he had
         wanted to test me in the morning by proposing that I go with him alone. Well, what joy! I went to bed so proud, so happy;
         my heart was pounding so that I became slightly feverish and I raved on about The Barber of Seville all night long.


      
      ‘I thought that he would stop by more and more often after that – but that wasn’t the case. He almost stopped coming altogether. And so, he would drop by once a month, and then only
         to invite us to the theatre. We went with him again a couple of times. Only I wasn’t at all happy with this. I saw that he
         simply felt sorry for me, because I was kept under Grandmother’s thumb so, and there wasn’t anything else to it. And then
         as time went on something came over me: I couldn’t sit still, and I couldn’t read, and I couldn’t work; sometimes I would
         laugh and do something to Grandmother out of spite, while at other times I would simply cry. In the end, I grew thin and almost
         became ill. The opera season was over and the lodger stopped dropping by altogether; whenever we would meet – always on that
         same staircase, it goes without saying – he would bow so silently, so seriously, as though he didn’t wish to speak, and then
         walk down all the way to the front door, while I was still standing halfway up the stairs, as red as a cherry, because all
         my blood would rush to my head whenever we met.


      
      ‘Now we’re coming to the end. Exactly a year ago, in May, the lodger comes to us and tells Grandmother that he has finished
         all his business and that he must return to Moscow for a year. When I heard this I turned white and collapsed on to the chair
         half dead. Grandmother didn’t notice anything, and after announcing that he was going away, he took his leave and left.


      
      ‘What was I to do? I thought and thought, I became more and more miserable, and finally I came to a decision. He was to leave
         the next day, and I decided that I would bring everything to a conclusion that evening after Grandmother had gone to bed.
         And that’s what happened. I gathered into a bundle all my dresses, as many underclothes as was necessary, and with the bundle
         in hand, neither dead nor alive, I set off to our lodger’s room in the attic. I think I spent an entire hour walking up that
         staircase. When I opened his door, he cried out upon seeing me. He thought that I was a ghost, and rushed to get me some water,
         because I could scarcely stand on my own feet. My heart was pounding so that my head ached and my thinking had become confused.
         When I came to my senses, I began straightaway by placing my bundle on his bed, sat down next to it, buried my face in my hands and let loose floods of tears. He seemed to
         understand everything in an instant and stood before me pale, looking at me with such sadness that it broke my heart.


      
      ‘ “Listen,” he began, “listen, Nastenka, I can’t do anything; I’m a poor man; I don’t have anything yet, not even a decent
         job; how would we live if I were to marry you?”


      
      ‘We talked for a long time, but in the end I worked myself into such a state that I said I couldn’t live with Grandmother,
         that I would run away from her, that I didn’t want to be pinned to her and that if he liked, I would go with him to Moscow,
         because I couldn’t live without him. Shame, and love, and pride spoke in me all at once, and I collapsed on his bed almost
         in convulsions. I was so afraid of a refusal!


      
      ‘He sat in silence for several minutes, then got up, walked over to me and took me by the hand.

      
      ‘ “Listen, my dear, my sweet Nastenka!” he began, also through tears, “Listen, I swear to you that if ever I am in the position
         to marry, then you will certainly be the one to make me happy; I assure you that now only you alone can make me happy. Listen:
         I am going to Moscow and will stay there for exactly one year. I hope to put my affairs in order. When I return, and if you
         have not stopped loving me, then I swear to you that we will be happy. But this is impossible now; I can’t, I don’t even have
         the right to promise something. But, I repeat, if this doesn’t happen in a year’s time, then it certainly will some day; it
         goes without saying – but only in the event that you don’t prefer somebody else to me, because I cannot and dare not bind
         you by any sort of promise.”


      
      ‘That’s what he told me and the next day he went away. We both agreed not to say a word about this to Grandmother. That was
         how he wanted it. Well, now my story is almost finished. Exactly a year has passed. He has arrived, he has been here already
         three whole days and, and …’


      
      ‘And what?’ I cried out, impatient to hear the end.

      
      ‘And he still hasn’t shown himself!’ Nastenka answered, as if summoning up all her strength. ‘There has been neither hide
         nor hair of him …’


      
      Here she stopped, fell silent for a bit, bent her head and suddenly, having covered her face with her hands, began to sob
         so hard that it broke my heart.


      
      I wasn’t at all expecting an ending like that.

      
      ‘Nastenka!’ I began in a timid and ingratiating voice, ‘Nastenka! For goodness’ sake, don’t cry! How do you know? Maybe he
         hasn’t arrived yet …’


      
      ‘He’s here, he’s here!’ Nastenka rejoined. ‘He’s here, I know it. We made an agreement back then, on that evening before his
         departure: when we had already said everything that I’ve told you, and we had come to an agreement, we came out here for a
         stroll, right on this very embankment. It was ten o’clock; we were sitting on this bench; I had stopped crying, and I was
         enjoying listening to him talk … He said that upon his arrival he would come to us at once and if I didn’t refuse him, then
         we would tell Grandmother about everything. Now he’s arrived, I know it, and he hasn’t come, he hasn’t!’


      
      And once again she broke down in tears.

      
      ‘Good heavens! Is there really nothing I can do to ease your sorrow?’ I cried out, jumping up from the bench in despair. ‘Tell
         me, Nastenka, couldn’t I at least go and see him?’


      
      ‘Would that really be possible?’ she said, suddenly raising her head.

      
      ‘No, of course not, no!’ I said, after giving it some thought. ‘But here’s what you could do – write a letter.’

      
      ‘No, that’s impossible, I couldn’t do that,’ she answered resolutely, but she had already lowered her head and wasn’t looking
         at me.


      
      ‘How is it that you can’t? Why can’t you?’ I continued, taking up my idea. ‘But you know, Nastenka, you need a certain kind
         of letter! There are letters and then there are letters and … Oh, Nastenka, it’s true! Believe me, believe me! I wouldn’t
         give you bad advice. All this can be arranged! It was you who took the first step – then why can’t you now …’


      
      ‘I can’t, I can’t! It would seem that I was forcing myself on him …’

      
      ‘Oh, my dear little Nastenka!’ I interrupted, not concealing a smile, ‘not at all, no; you, of course, have a right to, because
         he promised you. And everything tells me that he’s a delicate person, that he conducted himself properly,’ I continued, becoming
         more and more enraptured with the logic of my own arguments and convictions. ‘How did he conduct himself? He bound himself
         with a promise. He said that he would not marry anyone but you, if he does marry; he left you completely free to refuse him
         even now … Under such circumstances, you may take the first step, you have the right, you have the advantage over him, if,
         for example, you should wish to release him from his promise …’


      
      ‘Listen, how would you write it?’

      
      ‘What?’

      
      ‘Why, this letter.’

      
      ‘I would write it like this: “Dear Sir …” ’

      
      ‘Is this “Dear Sir” absolutely necessary?’

      
      ‘Absolutely! But then again, why should it be? I suppose …’

      
      ‘Well, well! Go on!’

      
      ‘ “Dear Sir! Forgive me for …” But no, we don’t need any forgiveness! Here the fact itself justifies everything; write simply:

      
      
         I am writing you. Forgive my impatience; but for a whole year hope alone has made me happy; am I to blame that I cannot now
            bear even a day of doubt? Now, when you have come back, perhaps you have changed your intentions. Then this letter will tell
            you that I do not complain, nor do I blame you. I do not blame you that I have no power over your heart; such, then, is my
            fate!


         You are a noble person. You will not laugh and will not be annoyed at my impatient lines. Remember that they are written by
            a poor girl, that she is alone, that she has no one to teach her or to advise her and that she has never been able to control
            her heart. But forgive me that doubt should have crept into my heart for even a single moment. You are not capable of insulting,
            even in thought, the one who loved you so and who still loves you.’




      
      ‘Yes, yes! That’s exactly what I was thinking!’ Nastenka cried out, and joy began to shine in her eyes. ‘Oh, you have resolved
         my doubts, God himself has sent you to me! Thank you, thank you!’


      
      ‘For what? For God sending me?’ I answered, gazing in delight at her happy little face.

      
      ‘Yes, for	 that as well.’

      
      ‘Oh, Nastenka! You know, we thank some people for merely living at the same time as we do. I thank you for the fact that I
         met you, that I will remember you for all my life!’


      
      ‘Well, enough, enough! And now look here, listen closely: we agreed then that as soon as he arrived, he would immediately
         let me know, that he would leave a letter for me at a certain place, with some acquaintances of mine, good and simple people
         who know nothing about this; or that if he couldn’t write me a letter, because you can’t always say everything in a letter,
         then the very same day that he arrived he would be here at exactly ten o’clock, where we arranged to meet. I know that he’s
         arrived; but it’s now the third day and there’s been no letter, and he hasn’t come. It’s quite impossible for me to get away
         from my grandmother in the morning. Tomorrow, give my letter to these same good people, about whom I just told you: they
         will forward it; and if there’s an answer, then you bring it yourself in the evening at ten o’clock.’


      
      ‘But the letter, the letter! After all, you need to write the letter! So this will all probably be the day after tomorrow.’

      
      ‘The letter …’ Nastenka answered, a bit confused, ‘the letter … but …’

      
      But she didn’t complete her thought. At first she turned her little face away from me, blushed, like a rose, and suddenly
         I felt in my hand a letter that had evidently been written long ago, sealed and all ready to go. Some familiar, sweet, graceful
         recollection passed through my mind!18

      
      ‘R, o–Ro, s, i–si, n, a–na,’ I began.

      
      ‘Rosina!’ we both began singing – I, almost embracing her in delight, and she, having blushed as only she could blush, laughing
         through her tears, which trembled like pearls on her black eyelashes.


      
      ‘Well, enough, enough! Goodbye now!’ she said in a rush. ‘Here’s the letter for you, and here’s the address to take it to.
         Goodbye! Until we meet! Until tomorrow!’


      
      She firmly clasped both my hands, nodded her head and flew away like an arrow down the lane. I stood there for a long time,
         following her with my eyes.


      
      ‘Until tomorrow! Until tomorrow!’ flashed through my head, as she disappeared from sight.

      
      
      
      
      THE THIRD NIGHT

      
      
      Today was a sad, rainy day, without a ray of hope, just like my future old age. I am besieged by such strange thoughts, such
         dark sensations, such obscure questions, which still crowd my mind – and somehow I have neither the strength nor the desire
         to resolve them. It is not for me to resolve all this!


      
      Today we will not see each other. Yesterday, when we were saying goodbye, clouds began to gather in the sky and a mist was
         rising. I said that tomorrow the weather would be bad; she didn’t answer, she didn’t want to say anything that would go contrary
         to her wishes; for her this day was to be both bright and clear, and there wasn’t to be a single cloud to darken her happiness.


      
      ‘If it rains, then we won’t see each other!’ she said. ‘I won’t come.’

      
      I thought that she wouldn’t notice the rain today, but she didn’t come.

      
      Yesterday was our third meeting, our third white night …

      
      But how fine joy and happiness make a person! How the heart seethes with love! It seems that you want to pour out all your
         heart into another’s heart, you want everything to be gay, laughter everywhere. And how infectious is this joy! Yesterday
         in her words there was such tenderness, so much heartfelt kindness towards me … How she flattered me, how she treated me with
         affection, how she cheered and pampered my heart! Oh, how much coquetry springs forth from happiness! And I … I took everything
         for the genuine article; I thought that she … 


      
      But, my goodness! How could I have thought that? How could I have been so blind, when everything had already been taken by another, when everything was not mine, when, in the
         end, even this very tenderness of hers, her attentions, her love … yes, her love for me – was nothing more than joy at the
         impending meeting with someone else, the desire to thrust her happiness on me? … When he didn’t come, when we waited in vain,
         she frowned, lost heart and became frightened. All her movements, all her words were no longer so light, playful and gay.
         And, strangely enough, she doubled her attentions to me as if instinctively wishing to lavish upon me all that she wished
         for herself, and that she feared might not come to pass. My Nastenka was so timid, so afraid, that it seems she understood
         at last that I loved her, and she took pity on my poor love. And so it is that when we are unhappy we more strongly feel the
         unhappiness of others; feeling is not shattered, but becomes concentrated … 


      
      I had come to her with a full heart, scarcely able to wait for our meeting. I had no presentiment of how I would feel now,
         no presentiment it would all end differently. She was beaming with joy, she was waiting for her answer. He himself was the
         answer. He was supposed to come, to come running at her summons. She came a whole hour earlier than I. At first she shrieked
         with laughter at everything, laughed at my every word. I was just about to speak and fell silent.


      
      ‘Do you know why I’m so happy?’ she said, ‘so happy to look at you? Why I love you so today?’

      
      ‘Well?’ I asked, and my heart began to tremble.

      
      ‘I love you because you didn’t fall in love with me. Why, someone else in your place would have started bothering me, pestering
         me, sighing, falling ill, but you’re such a dear!’


      
      And then she squeezed my hand so that I almost cried out. She laughed.

      
      ‘My goodness! What a friend you are!’ she began a minute later very seriously. ‘Yes, God himself sent you to me! Well, what
         would have happened to me if you had not been with me now? You’re so unselfish! You love me so! When I’m married, we will
         be great friends, more than if we had been brothers. I will love you almost as much as I love him …’


      
      I began to feel somehow terribly sad at that moment; however, something very much like laughter was beginning to stir in my
         soul.


      
      ‘You’re nervous,’ I said, ‘you’re afraid; you think that he won’t come.’

      
      ‘Good heavens!’ she answered, ‘if I were any less happy, I should probably burst into tears on account of your lack of faith,
         your reproaches. However, you’ve given me an idea and a lot to think about; but I’ll think about it later, and now I’ll confess
         to you that you spoke the truth! Yes, I’m somehow not myself; I’m somehow all wrapped up in expectations and somehow feel
         everything too lightly. But enough, let’s not talk about feelings! …’


      
      At that moment steps could be heard, and in the darkness appeared a passer-by who was walking in our direction. We both began
         to tremble; she almost cried out. I let go of her hand and made a gesture as though I wanted to walk away. But we were both
         mistaken: it was not he.


      
      ‘What are you afraid of? Why did you stop holding my hand?’ she said as she gave it to me again. ‘Well, what’s the matter?
         We’ll meet him together. I want him to see that we love each other.’


      
      ‘That we love each other!’ I cried.

      
      ‘Oh, Nastenka, Nastenka!’ I thought to myself, ‘How much you’ve said with that one word. Such a love, Nastenka, at certain moments can make the heart grow cold and make one miserable. Your hand is cold, mine is as hot as fire. How blind you are,
         Nastenka! … Oh, how unbearable is the happy person at certain moments! But I couldn’t be angry with you! …’


      
      Finally, my heart was overflowing.

      
      ‘Listen, Nastenka!’ I cried, ‘do you know what I’ve been through today?’

      
      ‘Well, what, what is it? Tell me quickly! Why have you been silent all this time!’

      
      ‘First of all, Nastenka, when I had carried out all your commissions, delivered the letter, visited your good people, then
         … then I returned home and went to bed.’


      
      ‘Is that all?’ she interrupted, laughing.

      
      ‘Yes, almost all,’ I answered reluctantly, because foolish tears were already welling up in my eyes. ‘I woke up an hour before
         our meeting, but it was as if I hadn’t slept. I don’t know what was wrong with me. I was coming, so that I could tell you
         all this, as if time had stopped for me, as if a certain sensation, a certain feeling were going to remain with me forever
         from this time forward, as if a single minute would continue for a whole eternity and all life would come to a halt for me
         … When I woke up, it seemed to me that some sort of musical melody, long familiar, heard somewhere before, forgotten and sweet,
         was coming back to me. It seemed to me that all my life it had been begging to be released from my soul, and only now …’


      
      ‘Ah, my goodness, my goodness!’ Nastenka interrupted, ‘What is all this about? I don’t understand a single word.’

      
      ‘Ah, Nastenka! I wanted somehow to convey this strange impression to you …’ I began in a plaintive voice, which still harboured
         hope, albeit a very remote one.


      
      ‘Enough, stop, enough!’ she said, and in a single instant she figured out everything, the imp!

      
      Suddenly she became somehow unusually talkative, gay and mischievous. She took me by the hand, laughing, she wanted me to
         laugh as well and each word of mine uttered in embarrassment was met with such ringing, such prolonged laughter … I began
         to get angry, she had suddenly started playing the coquette.


      
      ‘Listen,’ she began, ‘I’m a bit disappointed, you know, that you didn’t fall in love with me. Just try and understand human
         nature after that! But still and all, Mr Inflexible, you cannot but praise me for being such a simple girl. I tell you everything,
         everything, no matter what sort of foolishness comes into my head.’


      
      ‘Listen! That’s eleven o’clock, isn’t it?’ I said, when the measured sound of the bell began to ring in the distant city tower.
         She suddenly stopped, left off laughing and began to count.


      
      ‘Yes, eleven,’ she said at last in a timid, hesitant voice.

      
      I at once regretted that I had frightened her, that I had made her count the hours, and I cursed myself for the fit of spite.
         I felt sorry for her and I didn’t know how to atone for my transgression. I began to comfort her, to seek out reasons for his absence,
         to advance various arguments, proofs. Nobody could have been easier to deceive than she was at that moment, and indeed at
         such a time anyone would be happy to hear any sort of consolation whatsoever and is made ever so happy by even the shadow
         of an excuse.


      
      ‘And the whole thing’s ridiculous,’ I began, becoming more and more excited, and admiring the unusual clarity of my own arguments,
         ‘and he couldn’t have come; you’ve misled me and bewitched me, Nastenka, so that I’ve lost track of the time … Now just think:
         he’s only just got the letter; let’s suppose that he can’t come, let’s suppose that he’ll send an answer, then the letter
         couldn’t come before tomorrow. I’ll go as soon as it’s light tomorrow and let you know at once. Consider, finally, that there
         are a thousand possibilities: well, he wasn’t home when the letter arrived, and perhaps he still hasn’t read it. You know,
         anything might have happened.’


      
      ‘Yes, yes!’ Nastenka answered, ‘I didn’t think of that; of course, anything might have happened,’ she continued in her most
         compliant voice, in which, however, one could hear some other remote thought, like an annoying dissonance. ‘Here’s what you’ll
         do,’ she continued, ‘you go as early as possible tomorrow and if you get anything, you’ll let me know at once. You do know
         where I live, don’t you?’ And she began to repeat her address for me.


      
      Then she suddenly became so tender, so timid with me … She seemed to be listening attentively to what I was saying to her;
         but when I addressed a question to her, she remained silent, got confused and turned her head away from me. I looked her in
         the eyes – I was right: she was crying.


      
      ‘Now, how can you, how can you? Ah, you’re such a child! What childishness! … Enough!’

      
      She made an attempt to laugh, to calm herself, but her chin was trembling and her chest was still heaving.

      
      ‘I was thinking about you,’ she said to me after a minute’s silence, ‘you’re so kind that I would have to be made of stone
         not to feel it. Do you know what just occurred to me? I was comparing the two of you. Why isn’t he – you? Why isn’t he like you? He’s not as good as you, even though I love him more
         than you.’


      
      I didn’t say anything in reply. She seemed to be waiting for me to say something.

      
      ‘Of course, perhaps I don’t fully understand him yet, don’t fully know him yet. You know, I was always a bit afraid of him;
         he was always so serious, he seemed so proud. Of course, I know that he only looks like that, that there is more tenderness
         in his heart than there is in mine … I remember how he looked at me then, when I, you remember, came to him with my bundle;
         but all the same I respect him too much, and doesn’t that mean that we’re not equals?’


      
      ‘No, Nastenka, no,’ I answered, ‘that means that you love him more than anything in the world, and a good deal more than you
         love yourself.’


      
      ‘Yes, I suppose that’s so,’ answered naive little Nastenka, ‘but do you know what just occurred to me? Only I’m not going
         to talk about him now, but just in general; all of this occurred to me long ago. Listen, why is it that we aren’t all like
         brothers to one another? Why is it that the very best person is always hiding something from other people and is quiet about
         it? Why not say frankly and immediately what’s in your heart, if you know that you’re not speaking idly? As it is, everyone
         looks more severe than they actually are, as though they’re all afraid their feelings will be hurt if they reveal them too
         soon …’


      
      ‘Ah, Nastenka! What you say is true; and, you see, there are many reasons for it,’ I interrupted, reining in my feelings at
         that moment more than I had ever done before.


      
      ‘No, no!’ she answered with deep feeling. ‘Now you, for example, aren’t like other people! I really don’t know how to tell
         you what I’m feeling; but it seems to me that you, for example … even now … it seems that you’re sacrificing something for
         me,’ she added timidly, with a fleeting glance at me. ‘You’ll forgive me for putting it like that: you see, I’m a simple girl;
         you see, I’ve seen very little of the world so far, and really at times I don’t know how to talk,’ she added in a voice that
         was trembling with some sort of hidden feeling, and meanwhile trying to smile, ‘but I only wanted to tell you that I am grateful, that I feel all this as well … O, may God grant
         you happiness for this! Now then, everything that you told me then about your dreamer is absolutely untrue, that is, I wish
         to say that it doesn’t have anything to do with you. You’re getting better, you really are a completely different person from
         the one you described. If you ever fall in love, then may God grant you happiness with her! But I won’t wish her anything,
         because she will be happy with you. I know, I’m a woman myself, and you must believe me, when I tell you …’


      
      She fell silent and firmly squeezed my hand. I couldn’t say anything either because of the emotion. Several minutes passed.

      
      ‘Yes, clearly he won’t come today!’ she said finally, raising her head. ‘It’s late! …’

      
      ‘He’ll come tomorrow,’ I said in a most convincing and firm voice.

      
      ‘Yes,’ she added, having cheered up some, ‘I now see myself that he won’t come until tomorrow. Well then, goodbye! Until tomorrow!
         If it rains, then I might not come. But the day after tomorrow I’ll come, I’ll come without fail, no matter what; you be here
         without fail; I want to see you, I’ll tell you everything.’


      
      And later, as we were saying goodbye, she gave me her hand and said, looking at me brightly:

      
      ‘You see, now we’ll always be together, isn’t that so?’

      
      Oh, Nastenka, Nastenka! If only you knew how lonely I am now!

      
      When it struck nine o’clock, I couldn’t stay put in my room, I got dressed and went out, despite the foul weather. I was there,
         sitting on our bench. I started to walk down their lane, but I felt ashamed, and I turned back without having a look at their
         windows, when I was just a few steps away from their house. I came home more depressed than I had ever been. What a damp,
         boring time! If the weather had been fine, I would have walked about there all night long … 


      
      But until tomorrow! Until tomorrow! Tomorrow she will tell me everything.

      
      However, there was no letter today. But that was to be expected. They’re together by now …

      
      
      
      
      THE FOURTH NIGHT

      
      
      My God! How it has all come to an end! What an ending to all of this!

      
      I arrived at nine o’clock. She was already there. I caught sight of her when I was still quite a distance away; she was standing
         like she had been then, that first time, with her elbows leaning on the railing of the embankment, and didn’t hear me approach.


      
      ‘Nastenka!’ I called out to her, making a tremendous effort to suppress my agitation.

      
      She quickly turned around towards me.

      
      ‘Well!’ she said, ‘well, quickly now!’

      
      I looked at her in bewilderment.

      
      ‘Well, where’s the letter? Did you bring the letter?’ she repeated, clutching the railing with her hand.

      
      ‘No, I don’t have a letter,’ I said finally, ‘has he really not come to see you yet?’

      
      She turned terribly pale and for a long time looked at me without moving. I had shattered her last hope.

      
      ‘Well, good luck to him!’ she uttered finally in a breaking voice. ‘Good luck to him – if he’s going to leave me like that.’

      
      She lowered her eyes, then wanted to look at me, but she couldn’t. For several more minutes she kept her agitation in check,
         but suddenly she turned away, leaned her elbows on the balustrade of the embankment and burst into tears.


      
      ‘Enough, enough!’ I began, but as I looked at her I didn’t have the strength to continue, and what could I have said?

      
      ‘Don’t try to comfort me,’ she said, weeping, ‘don’t talk about him, don’t say that he will come, that he wouldn’t abandon
         me so cruelly, so inhumanly, as he has done. What for, what for? Can it really be that there was something in my letter, in
         that wretched letter? …’


      
      Here her voice was broken by sobs; my heart was breaking as I looked at her.

      
      ‘Oh, how cruelly inhuman it is!’ she began again. ‘And not a line, not a line! He could at least have answered that he didn’t
         need me, that he was rejecting me; but not a single line in three whole days! How easy it is for him to wound, to insult a poor defenceless girl, whose only fault is that she loves him! Oh,
         what I’ve endured these three days! My God! My God! When I recall that I went to him the first time myself, that I humbled
         myself before him, wept, that I begged him for just the tiniest smidgen of love … And after that! … Listen,’ she began, as
         she turned to me, and her black eyes began to flash, ‘this cannot be! It simply cannot be like this; it’s unnatural! Either
         you or I have been deceived; maybe he didn’t get the letter? Perhaps he still doesn’t know anything? How is it possible, judge
         for yourself, how is it possible to behave so barbarously and so coarsely as he has towards me! Not a single word! But the
         lowliest man on earth is treated with more compassion. Perhaps he heard something, perhaps somebody said something about me?’
         she cried out, turning to me with a question. ‘What, what do you think?’


      
      ‘Listen, Nastenka, tomorrow I’ll go and see him in your name.’

      
      ‘Yes?’

      
      ‘I’ll ask him about everything, I’ll tell him everything.’

      
      ‘Yes, yes?’

      
      ‘You write a letter. Don’t say no, Nastenka, don’t say no! I’ll make him respect your action, he’ll learn everything, and
         if …’


      
      ‘No, my friend, no,’ she interrupted. ‘Enough! Not another word, not another word from me, not a line, enough! I don’t know
         him, I don’t love him any more, I will for … get him …’


      
      She didn’t finish.

      
      ‘Calm yourself, calm yourself! Sit here, Nastenka,’ I said, as I seated her on the bench.

      
      ‘But I am calm. Enough! It’s nothing. Just tears, they’ll dry! Do you think that I’ll do away with myself, that I’ll drown
         myself? …’


      
      My heart was full; I wanted to say something, but couldn’t.

      
      ‘Listen!’ she continued, taking me by the hand, ‘Tell me, would you have acted like this? Would you have abandoned a girl
         who came to you on her own, would you have thrown in her face a shameless jeer at her weak, foolish heart? Would you have
         looked after her? Would you have understood that she was all alone, that she didn’t know how to take care of herself, that she didn’t know how to protect herself from loving you, that
         it wasn’t her fault, that, finally, it wasn’t her fault … that she had done nothing! … Oh, my God, my God! …’


      
      ‘Nastenka,’ I cried out finally, unable to control my agitation. ‘Nastenka! You’re tearing me apart! You’re breaking my heart,
         you’re killing me, Nastenka! I cannot be silent! I must finally speak, and tell you what has been welling up here, in my heart
         …’


      
      As I said this, I got up from the bench. She took me by the hand and looked at me in surprise.

      
      ‘What is it?’ she uttered finally.

      
      ‘Listen!’ I said resolutely. ‘Listen to me, Nastenka! What I am about to say is all nonsense, all impossible, all silly! I
         know that it can never happen, but I cannot remain silent. In the name of all that you are suffering now, I beg of you beforehand
         to forgive me! …’


      
      ‘Well, what, what is it?’ she said, having stopped crying and looking at me intently, while a strange curiosity shone in her
         astonished eyes. ‘What is it?’


      
      ‘It’s impossible, but I love you, Nastenka! That’s what it is! Well, now everything has been said!’ I said with a wave of
         my hand. ‘Now you will see whether you can talk with me as you were just talking, whether, finally, you can listen to what
         I’m going to say …’


      
      ‘Well, what of it? What of it?’ Nastenka interrupted, ‘what of it? Well, I knew long ago that you loved me, only it always
         seemed to me that you loved me simply, in a different way … Oh, my God, my God!’


      
      ‘In the beginning it was simple, Nastenka, but now, now … I’m in exactly the same position as you were when you went to him
         with your bundle. Worse than you, Nastenka, because he didn’t love someone then, but you do.’


      
      ‘What is it you’re saying to me! I truly don’t understand you at all. But listen here, why ever, that is, not why, but what
         reason do you have for so suddenly … My God! I’m talking nonsense! But you …’


      
      And Nastenka became thoroughly confused. Her cheeks were flushed; she lowered her eyes.

      
      ‘What’s to be done, Nastenka, what am I to do? I am to blame, I abused your … But no, no, I’m not to blame, Nastenka; I know
         it, I feel it, because my heart tells me that I’m right, because I cannot hurt you, I cannot offend you! I was your friend;
         well, and that is what I am now; I have betrayed nothing. You see, now it’s me whose tears are streaming down, Nastenka. Let
         them stream, let them stream – they won’t bother anybody. They will dry, Nastenka …’


      
      ‘But sit down, do sit down,’ she said, as she was seating me on the bench, ‘oh, my God!’

      
      ‘No, Nastenka, I won’t sit down; I can’t stay here any longer, you won’t see me any more; I’ll say everything and leave. I
         only want to say that you would never have learned that I love you. I would have buried my secret. I would not have tormented
         you, at this moment, with my egoism. No! But I couldn’t bear it any longer now; you spoke of it yourself, you are to blame,
         you are to blame for all this, not me. You can’t drive me away from you …’


      
      ‘No, of course not, no, I’m not driving you off, no!’ Nastenka said, concealing, as best she could, her embarrassment, the
         poor thing.


      
      ‘You’re not driving me away? No! But I was going to run away from you myself. And I will leave, as soon as I tell you everything
         from the beginning, because when you were talking just now, I couldn’t sit still, when you were crying just now, when you
         were suffering because, well because (I’ll say it, Nastenka), because you were rejected, because your love had been spurned,
         I sensed, I felt in my heart that there was so much love for you, Nastenka, so much love! … And I was so sorry that I couldn’t
         help you with this love … that my heart was breaking, and I, I – could not be silent, I had to speak, Nastenka, I had to speak!
         …’


      
      ‘Yes, yes! Speak to me, speak to me like that!’ Nastenka said with an inexplicable gesture. ‘It might seem strange to you
         that I’m speaking to you like this, but … speak! I’ll tell you later! I’ll tell you everything!’


      
      ‘You feel sorry for me, Nastenka; you simply feel sorry for me, my little friend! What’s done is done! What’s said can’t be
         taken back! Isn’t that so? Well, now you know everything. Well, that’s a starting point. Well, all right! Everything’s fine
         now; only listen. When you were sitting and crying, I was thinking to myself (oh, let me tell you what I was thinking!), I
         was thinking that (well, of course, this could never be, Nastenka), I was thinking that you … I was thinking that you somehow
         … well, that you quite on your own had stopped loving him. Then – I was thinking this yesterday and the day before yesterday,
         Nastenka – then I would have made you, I would certainly have made you fall in love with me; you said, you know, you were
         saying yourself, Nastenka, that you had almost fallen in love with me. Well, what else? Well, that’s almost everything that
         I wanted to say; it remains only to say what it would have been like if you had fallen in love with me, only that, nothing
         more! Listen then, my friend – because you are still my friend – of course, I’m a simple person, poor and insignificant, only
         that’s not the point (I somehow keep talking about the wrong things, that’s because I’m embarrassed, Nastenka), but only I
         would love you so, I would love you so, that even if you still loved him and continued to love this person whom I don’t know,
         you still would not find my love to be a burden to you in any way. You would only feel, you would only sense at every moment
         that next to you beats a grateful, grateful heart, an ardent heart, which for your sake … Oh, Nastenka, Nastenka! What have
         you done to me! …’


      
      ‘Now, don’t cry, I don’t want you to cry,’ Nastenka said, quickly getting up from the bench, ‘come along, get up, come with
         me, don’t cry, don’t cry,’ she kept saying, as she wiped away my tears with her handkerchief, ‘well, come along now; perhaps
         I’ll tell you something … Yes, if he has abandoned me now, if he has forgotten me, even though I still love him (I don’t wish
         to deceive you) … but, listen, answer me. If, for example, I were to love you, that is, if only I … Oh, my friend, my friend!
         When I think, when I think how I insulted you then when I laughed at your love, when I praised you for not falling in love!
         … Oh, my God! How did I not foresee it, how did I not foresee this, how could I have been so stupid, but … Well, well, I’ve
         made up my mind, I’ll tell you everything …’


      
      ‘Listen, Nastenka, do you know what? I’ll go away, that’s what! I’m simply tormenting you. Now you have pangs of remorse because
         you made fun of me, but I don’t want, yes, I don’t want you, in addition to your sorrow … Of course, I’m to blame, Nastenka,
         but goodbye!’


      
      ‘Stop, hear me out: can you wait?’

      
      ‘Wait for what, why?’

      
      ‘I love him; but that will pass, it must pass, it cannot but pass; it’s already passing, I can sense it … Who knows, perhaps
         it will even end today, because I hate him, because he’s had a good laugh at my expense, while you were crying here with me,
         because you didn’t reject me, like he did, because you love me, and he didn’t love me, because finally I love you myself …
         yes, I love! I love as you love me; you know, I myself even said so to you, you heard it yourself – because I love that you
         are better than he is, because you are nobler than he is, because, because he …’


      
      The poor girl’s agitation was so intense that she didn’t finish, she put her head on my shoulder, then on my chest and burst
         into bitter tears. I comforted her, tried to bring her round, but she couldn’t stop; she kept squeezing my hand and saying
         between sobs: ‘Wait, wait, I’ll stop in just a minute! I want to tell you … don’t think that these tears – it’s just weakness,
         wait until it passes …’ Finally, she stopped, wiped away her tears and we set off walking once again. I wanted to speak,
         but for a long time yet she kept asking me to wait. We fell silent … Finally, she plucked up her courage and began to speak.


      
      ‘Now listen to me,’ she began in a weak and trembling voice, but one in which there was a ring of something that pierced right
         through my heart and began to ache there sweetly, ‘don’t think that I am so fickle and flighty, don’t think that I can so
         easily and quickly forget and be untrue … I loved him for a whole year and I swear to God that never, never was I unfaithful
         to him even in thought. He disdained this; he had a good laugh at my expense – good luck to him! But he wounded me and insulted
         my heart. I – I do not love him, because I can love only that which is magnanimous, which understands me, which is noble;
         because I am like that myself, and he is not worthy of me – well, good luck to him! It’s better that he disappoint me now
         than for me to learn what he’s like later on … Well, of course! But who knows, my dear friend,’ she continued, squeezing my
         hand, ‘who knows, perhaps all my love amounted to nothing more than my feelings and imagination, just my imagination, perhaps
         it began as a prank or foolishness, all because I was under Grandmother’s watch. Perhaps I ought to love someone else, another,
         and not him, not a man like him, but someone who would take pity on me and, and … Well, let’s leave it at that, let’s leave
         it at that,’ Nastenka broke off, choked with emotion, ‘I only wanted to say to you … I wanted to say that if, despite the
         fact that I love him (no, loved him), if, despite that, you will still say … if you feel that your love is so great that it
         may in the end drive out from my heart the former … if you wish to take pity on me, if you don’t wish to leave me alone to
         my fate, without consolation, without hope, if you wish to love me always as you now love me, then I swear that gratitude
         … that my love will in the end be worthy of your love … Will you take my hand now?’


      
      ‘Nastenka,’ I cried out, choking with sobs, ‘Nastenka! … Oh, Nastenka! …’

      
      ‘Well, enough, enough! Well, now that’s certainly enough!’ she said, hardly able to control herself, ‘well, now everything
         has been said; isn’t that right? Isn’t that so? Well, and you’re happy, and I’m happy; not another word more about this; wait
         – spare me … Talk about something else, for God’s sake! …’


      
      ‘Yes, Nastenka, yes! Enough about that, now I am happy, I … Well, Nastenka, well, let’s talk about something else, quickly;
         yes, quickly, let’s talk about something else; yes! I’m ready …’


      
      And we didn’t know what to say, we laughed, we cried, we said thousands of words without rhyme or reason; we first walked
         along the sidewalk, then suddenly we turned back and crossed the street; then we stopped and began to cross over to the embankment;
         we were like children … 


      
      ‘I live alone now, Nastenka,’ I said, ‘but tomorrow … Well, of course, I’m poor, you know, Nastenka, I only have twelve hundred
         roubles, but that doesn’t matter …’


      
      ‘Of course not, and Grandmother has her pension; so she won’t be a burden to us. We must take Grandmother.’

      
      ‘Of course, we must take Grandmother … Only there’s Matryona …’

      
      ‘Oh, and we have Fyokla as well!’

      
      ‘Matryona is a good woman, only she has one fault: she doesn’t have any imagination, Nastenka, absolutely no imagination whatsoever;
         but that doesn’t matter! …’


      
      ‘It doesn’t make any difference; they can both live together; only you must move to our house tomorrow.’

      
      ‘What did you say? To your house? Fine, I’m ready …’

      
      ‘Yes, you’ll rent from us. We have an attic upstairs, it’s empty; there was a lodger, an old woman, a noblewoman, she’s moved
         out, and Grandmother, I know, wants to rent it to a young man; I said: “Why exactly a young man?” And she says: “Just because,
         I’m old now, but just don’t you start thinking, Nastenka, that I want to marry you off to him.” So I guessed that it was for
         that very reason …’


      
      ‘Oh, Nastenka! …’

      
      And we both laughed.

      
      ‘Well, enough of that, enough. But where is it that you live? I’ve forgotten.’

      
      ‘Over there, by —sky Bridge, in Barannikov’s building.’

      
      ‘Is it that big house?’

      
      ‘Yes, the big house.’

      
      ‘Oh, I know it, it’s a good house; only you must leave it, you know, and move in with us as soon as possible …’

      
      ‘Tomorrow, then, Nastenka, tomorrow; I owe a bit for my apartment, but that doesn’t matter … I’ll receive my salary soon …’

      
      ‘And you know, perhaps I can give lessons; I’ll learn something myself and then I’ll give lessons …’

      
      ‘Well, now that’s wonderful … and I’ll get my bonus soon, Nastenka …’

      
      ‘So, then, tomorrow you’ll be my lodger …’

      
      ‘Yes, and we’ll go see The Barber of Seville, because they’re going to put it on again soon.’


      
      ‘Yes, let’s go,’ Nastenka said, smiling, ‘no, it would be better to see something else and not the Barber …’


      
      ‘Well, fine, something else; of course, that would be better, what was I thinking …’

      
      As we said this, we were both walking in some kind of stupor, in a haze, as if we didn’t know ourselves what was happening
         to us. One moment we would stop and talk for a long time without moving, then we would start walking again and God only knows
         where we ended up, and then laughter again, and then tears … Then Nastenka would suddenly want to go home, and I didn’t dare
         keep her and wanted to see her home; we would set off and a quarter of an hour later we would find ourselves on the embankment
         by our bench. Then she would sigh, and once again her eyes would well up with tears; I would turn timid, and then feel a chill
         … But she would immediately squeeze my hand and drag me off to walk, to chatter, to talk … 


      
      ‘It’s time now, it’s time for me to go home; I think it must be quite late,’ Nastenka said at last, ‘we’ve been behaving like
         children long enough!’


      
      ‘Yes, Nastenka, only I won’t fall asleep now; I won’t go home.’

      
      ‘I don’t think I’ll sleep either; just see me home …’

      
      ‘Absolutely!’

      
      ‘Only this time we absolutely must walk all the way to the apartment.’

      
      ‘Absolutely, absolutely …’

      
      ‘Word of honour? … Because, you see, I must return home at some point!’

      
      ‘Word of honour,’ I answered, laughing …

      
      ‘Well, let’s go!’

      
      ‘Let’s go! Look at the sky, Nastenka, look! Tomorrow will be a wonderful day; what a blue sky, what a moon! Look: see how
         that yellow cloud is beginning to hide it from view, look, look! … No, it’s passed by. Look now, look! …’


      
      But Nastenka wasn’t looking at the cloud, she stood speechless, rooted to the ground; a minute later she began somewhat timidly
         clinging to me tightly. Her hand began to tremble in my hand; I glanced at her … She pressed against me more tightly still
         … 


      
      At that moment a young man walked past us. He suddenly stopped, looked at us intently and then took several steps. My heart began to quiver …

      
      ‘Nastenka,’ I said in a hushed voice, ‘who is that, Nastenka?’

      
      ‘It’s him!’ she answered in a whisper, clinging to me even more tightly and more timidly … I could barely keep standing on
         my own two feet.


      
      ‘Nastenka! Nastenka! It’s you!’ we heard a voice behind us, and at that moment the young man took several steps towards us.

      
      My God, what a cry! How she shuddered! How she tore herself from my arms and flew to meet him! … I stood and watched them,
         crushed. But she had scarcely given him her hand, had scarcely thrown herself into his embrace, when she suddenly turned to
         me again, and was at my side in a flash, like the wind, and before I had a chance to collect myself, she flung both arms around
         my neck and kissed me firmly, ardently. Then, without saying a word to me, she rushed to him again, took him by the hand and
         led him away.


      
      I stood for a long time and watched them walk away … Finally, both of them vanished from sight.

      
      
      
      
      MORNING

      
      
      My nights ended with the morning. It was a dreadful day. The rain beat down on my windows cheerlessly; it was dark in the
         room, it was overcast outside. My head ached and was spinning; fever was stealing its way through my limbs.


      
      ‘A letter for you, sir, it came by the city post, the postman brought it,’ Matryona said, hovering over me.

      
      ‘A letter! From whom?’ I cried out, jumping up from my chair.

      
      ‘That I wouldn’t know, sir, have a look; maybe it’s written down there who it’s from.’

      
      I broke the seal. It was from her!

      
      
         Oh, forgive, forgive me! (Nastenka wrote me) I beg you on my knees to forgive me! I deceived both you and myself. It was a
            dream, a phantom … I have suffered torments about you today; forgive me, forgive me! … 


         Don’t blame me, because I haven’t changed in the least towards you; I said that I would love you, and I love you now, I more
            than love you. Oh, my God! If only I could love you both at the same time! Oh, if only you were he!




      
      ‘Oh, if only he were you!’ flashed through my mind. I remembered your words, Nastenka!

      
      
         God knows what I would do for you now! I know that you’re miserable and sad. I have hurt you, but you know – when one loves,
            an injury is soon forgotten. And you love me!


         Thank you! Yes, thank you for that love! Because it is stamped on my memory like a sweet dream that you remember long after
            waking up; because I will forever remember that moment when you opened up your heart to me like a brother and so generously
            accepted the gift of my shattered heart to protect, cherish and heal it … If you forgive me, then the memory of you will be
            exalted in me by a feeling of eternal gratitude to you that will never quit my heart … I will keep that memory alive, I will
            be true to it, I will not betray it, I will not betray my heart: it is too constant. It returned so quickly yesterday to him
            to whom it had always belonged.


         We will meet, you will visit us, you will not abandon us, you will always be a friend, my brother … And when you see me, you
            will give me your hand … won’t you? You will give it to me, you have forgiven me, isn’t that so? Do you love me as you did
            before?


         Oh, love me, don’t leave me, because I love you so at this moment, because I am worthy of your love, because I will deserve
            it … my dear friend! Next week I am to be married to him. He returned in love with me, he never forgot me … You won’t be angry
            that I have written about him. But I want to come and see you with him; you will love him, won’t you? … 


         Forgive me, remember and love your –

         Nastenka



      
      I read that letter over and over again for a long time; the tears welled up in my eyes. At last it fell out of my hands, and
         I covered my face with my hands.


      
      ‘Dearie! Come now, dearie!’ Matryona began.

      
      ‘What is it, old woman?’

      
      ‘I got all the cobwebs off the ceiling; now you can get married, or invite some guests, it’s just the time for it …’

      
      I looked at Matryona … She was still a hale and hearty, young old woman, but I don’t know why, suddenly I pictured her with a vacant stare, wrinkled face, stooped, decrepit. I don’t know
         why but I suddenly pictured that my room had aged as much as the old woman. The walls and floors were faded, everything had
         become dingy; and the cobwebs had multiplied so there were more than ever before. I don’t know why, when I glanced out the
         window, it seemed to me that the house opposite had also become decrepit and dingy, that the plasterwork on the columns was
         peeling and crumbling, that the cornices had turned black and were cracked, and that the walls which had been painted a bright,
         deep yellow had become patchy … 


      
      Either a ray of sunshine, after suddenly peeping out from behind a cloud, had again hidden behind a rain cloud, and everything
         had darkened again before my eyes; or perhaps the whole vista of my future had flashed before me so bleakly and so sadly,
         and I saw myself just as I am now exactly fifteen years later, only older, in the same room, just as lonely, with the same
         Matryona, who hasn’t grown any wiser in all those years.


      
      But that I should nurse a grudge, Nastenka! That I should cast a dark cloud over your bright, serene happiness; that I, with
         bitter reproaches, should cast pangs of anguish on your heart, wound it with secret remorse and force it to beat with anguish
         at the moment of bliss; that I would crush even one of those delicate flowers that you plaited into your black curls when
         you walked together with him to the altar … Oh, never, never! May your sky be clear, may your sweet smile be bright and serene,
         may you be blessed for that moment of bliss and happiness that you gave to another lonely, grateful heart!


      
      My God! A whole minute of bliss! Is that really so little for the whole of a man’s life?

      
      1848

      
      

      
            
      
      A CHRISTMAS PARTY AND A WEDDING

      
      (From the Notes of an Unknown Person)

      
      
      The other day I saw a wedding … but no! I’d better tell you about the Christmas party. The wedding was nice; I liked it very
         much, but the other event was better. I don’t know how it was that I recalled that Christmas party as I watched the wedding.
         This is what happened. Exactly five years ago, on New Year’s Eve, I was invited to a children’s party. The person who invited
         me was a certain well-known businessman with connections, a circle of acquaintance and intrigues, so that one might think
         that the children’s party was a pretext for the parents to get together and talk about some interesting matters in an innocent,
         casual and extemporaneous way. I was an outsider; I didn’t have any business matters whatsoever, and therefore I spent the
         evening rather left to my own devices. There was another gentleman as well who seemed to be neither kith nor kin, but who,
         like me, had chanced upon this bit of family happiness … He was the first to catch my eye. He was a tall, thin man, quite
         serious, and quite decently dressed. But it was obvious that he was in no mood for celebrations and family happiness: he would
         walk over to some corner, immediately stop smiling and knit his bushy black brows. Apart from the host, he didn’t know a single
         soul at the party. It was obvious that he was terribly bored, but that he was valiantly playing the part of the thoroughly
         entertained and happy man to the very end. I learned afterwards that this was a certain gentleman from the provinces who had
         some sort of crucial, puzzling business in the capital, who had brought a letter of recommendation to our host, and whom our
         host was patronizing by no means con amore1 and who had been invited to the children’s party as a courtesy. They didn’t play cards with him, they didn’t offer him cigars, no one struck up a conversation with him, recognizing from afar, perhaps,
         the bird by its feathers and, therefore, my gentleman was forced to stroke his side whiskers all evening just so he had something
         to do with his hands. The side whiskers indeed were quite handsome. But he stroked them so very zealously that looking at
         him, one might very well think that first just the side whiskers had been brought into the world, and then later the gentleman
         was attached to them in order to stroke them.


      
      Apart from this figure, who was taking part in the family happiness of our host (who had five chubby boys), I liked one other
         gentleman. But he was a completely different sort of character. This was a personage. His name was Yulian Mastakovich.2 Just one glance was enough to see that he was an honoured guest and that he was on the same terms with the host as the host
         was with the gentleman stroking his side whiskers. The host and hostess showered him with compliments, waited on him, made
         sure he had something to drink, pampered him, brought their guests to him to be introduced, but didn’t take him to be introduced
         to anybody. I noticed that our host’s eyes began to sparkle with tears when Yulian Mastakovich observed in regard to the evening
         that rarely did he spend his time in such a delightful fashion. I became somewhat terrified in the presence of such a personage
         and therefore, after admiring the children for a bit, I left for the small drawing room, which was completely empty, and sat
         down in the hostess’s flowery arbour that took up almost half of the whole room.


      
      The children were all unbelievably sweet and flatly refused to behave like grown-ups, despite the exhortations of their governesses and doting mothers. They stripped bare the entire Christmas tree in a flash,
         down to the last candy, and had already managed to break half of the toys before they found out which one was meant for whom.
         Particularly winsome was one boy, with dark eyes and curly hair, who kept wanting to shoot me with his wooden gun. But his
         sister attracted more attention than anyone, a girl about eleven years old, charming as a little cherub, quiet, thoughtful,
         pale, with big, pensive, prominent eyes. The children had somehow hurt her feelings, and so she had come into the same drawing room where I was sitting and busied herself in the corner – with her doll. The guests were
         respectfully pointing out a certain rich tax-farmer,3 her father, and somebody remarked in a whisper that 300,000 roubles had already been set aside for her dowry. I turned around
         to cast a glance at those who were intrigued by this circumstance, and my glance fell on Yulian Mastakovich, who, with his
         hands clasped behind his back and his head inclined a bit to one side, seemed to be listening with special attention to the
         idle chatter of these gentlemen. Afterwards I could not but marvel at the wisdom of our hosts in distributing the children’s
         presents. The little girl who already possessed a dowry of 300,000 roubles received the most expensive doll. Then came the
         presents which decreased in value in accordance with the decrease in rank of the parents of these happy children. Finally,
         the last child, a boy of about ten years old, a skinny, little, freckled redhead, received only a little book of stories that
         expounded on the grandeur of nature, the tears of emotion, and so forth, without pictures and even without a single vignette.
         He was the son of a poor widow, the governess of our hosts’ children, a boy who was extremely cowed and frightened. He was
         dressed in a jacket made out of some cheap nankeen.4 After receiving his book, he hovered for a long time near the other toys; he wanted terribly to play with the other children,
         but he didn’t dare; it was clear that he sensed and understood his position. I like to observe children very much. Their first
         manifestation of independence is extremely interesting. I noticed that the little red-haired boy was so tempted by the other
         children’s expensive toys, in particular the theatre in which he very definitely wanted to play a part, that he made up his
         mind to wheedle his way in. He smiled and started to play with the other children, he gave away his apple to a pudgy little
         boy who already had a lot of presents tied up in his handkerchief, and he had even undertaken giving a ride on his back to
         another boy, just so he wouldn’t be chased away from the theatre. But a minute later some troublemaker thrashed him good.
         The child didn’t dare cry. Then the governess, his mother, appeared and ordered him not to bother the other children who were
         playing. The child went into the same drawing room as the girl. She welcomed him and the two of them quite diligently set about dressing the expensive doll.


      
      I had already been sitting for half an hour in the ivy arbour and had almost dozed off listening to the faint murmur of the
         red-haired boy and the beauty with a dowry of 300,000 as they busied themselves with the doll, when suddenly Yulian Mastakovich
         entered the room. He had taken advantage of a deplorable episode of the children quarrelling to leave the room quietly. I
         noticed that a minute earlier he had been talking quite ardently with the papa of the future wealthy bride, with whom he had
         just become acquainted, about the advantages of one line of work over another. Now he was standing lost in contemplation and
         seemed to be counting something on his fingers.


      
      ‘Three hundred … three hundred,’ he whispered. ‘Eleven … twelve … thirteen and so forth. Sixteen – five years. Let’s say four
         per cent interest – 12 times 5 equals 60, and on that 60 … well, let’s say, for five years in all – four hundred. Yes! That’s
         it … But he won’t settle for four per cent, the swindler! He might get eight or even ten per cent. Well, let’s say five hundred,
         five hundred thousand, at the very least, that’s for certain; well, and what’s left over can go towards the glad rags for
         the trousseau, hmm …’


      
      His contemplation concluded, he blew his nose and was about to leave the room, when he suddenly glanced at the little girl
         and came to a stop. He didn’t see me behind the pots of greenery. He seemed to be extremely agitated. Either his calculations
         were having their effect on him, or something else, but he rubbed his hands and couldn’t stand still. This agitation increased
         to nec plus ultra,5 when he came to a stop and cast another, decisive glance at the future bride. He was on the verge of moving forward, but
         had a look around first. Then, on tiptoe, as though he were feeling guilty, he started to approach the child. He walked up
         with a little smile, bent down and kissed her on the head. Not expecting an assault, she cried out in fear.


      
      ‘And what are you doing here, dear child?’ he asked in a whisper, looking around and patting her on the cheek.

      
      ‘We’re playing …’

      
      ‘What, with him?’ Yulian Mastakovich looked askance at the boy.

      
      ‘And you, my dear boy, should go into the ballroom,’ he said to him.

      
      The boy kept silent and looked at him with his eyes wideopen. Yulian Mastakovich again took a look around and again bent down
         towards the girl.


      
      ‘And what is that you have, a dolly, dear child?’ he asked.

      
      ‘A dolly,’ the girl answered, knitting her brow and quailing a bit.

      
      ‘A dolly … And do you know, dear child, what your dolly is made of?’

      
      ‘No, I don’t …’ the girl answered in a whisper, looking down at the ground.

      
      ‘Why, it’s made out of rags, my darling. My dear boy, you should go to the ballroom and be with your playmates,’ Yulian Mastakovich
         said, after casting a stern look at the child. The girl and boy knitted their brows and grabbed hold of each other. They didn’t
         want to be separated.


      
      ‘And do you know why they gave you this dolly?’ Yulian Mastakovich asked, lowering his voice more and more.

      
      ‘No, I don’t.’

      
      ‘Because you were a sweet and well-behaved child all week long.’

      
      Then Yulian Mastakovich, unable to contain his agitation, took a look around and, lowering his voice more and more, asked
         finally in an inaudible voice that faltered with agitation and impatience:


      
      ‘And will you love me, my dear girl, when I come to visit your parents?’

      
      Having said this Yulian Mastakovich wanted to kiss the sweet girl one more time, but the red-haired boy, seeing that she was
         on the verge of tears, clasped her by the hands and started to whimper in complete sympathy with her. Yulian Mastakovich became
         angry in earnest.


      
      ‘Get out, get out of here, get out!’ he said to the little boy. ‘Go to the ballroom! Run along to your playmates!’

      
      ‘No, don’t, don’t! You get out of here,’ the girl said, ‘leave him alone, leave him alone!’ she said, almost bursting into tears.

      
      Someone made a noise at the door, Yulian Mastakovich took fright and immediately raised his majestic body. But the red-haired
         boy was even more frightened than Yulian Mastakovich; he abandoned the girl and quietly, hugging the wall, passed from the
         drawing room into the dining room. So as not to arouse suspicion, Yulian Mastakovich went to the dining room as well. He was
         as red as a crayfish, and after taking a look at himself in the mirror, he apparently became ashamed of himself. Perhaps he
         had become annoyed at his impetuousness and his impatience. Perhaps he was so struck by the calculation he’d made on his fingers,
         so tempted and inspired that, despite all his respectability and importance, he had decided to act like a little boy and take
         his object by storm, despite the fact that this object could not become a real object for at least another five years. I followed
         the estimable gentleman into the dining room and witnessed a strange sight. Yulian Mastakovich, all red with vexation and
         fury, was threatening the red-haired boy, who kept moving further and further away – he didn’t know where to run to in his
         fear.


      
      ‘Get out, what are you doing here, get out, you ne’er-do-well, get out! You’re filching fruit here, are you? Filching fruit,
         are you? Get out, you ne’er-do-well, get out, you sniveller, get out, run along to your playmates.’


      
      The frightened boy, having resolved on a desperate measure, tried crawling under the table. Then his persecutor, exasperated
         to the utmost, took out his long cambric handkerchief and started to flick it under the table at the child, who had become
         as quiet as quiet can be. It should be noted that Yulian Mastakovich was a bit on the heavy side. This was a man who was somewhat
         portly, ruddy, thickset, with a paunch, with fat thighs, in a word, as they say, a hearty fellow, as round as a little nut.
         He broke out into a sweat, was panting and became terribly flushed. In the end, he became almost frenzied, so great was his
         feeling of indignation and, perhaps (who knows?), jealousy. I doubled over with laughter. Yulian Mastakovich turned around
         and, all his importance notwithstanding, became thoroughly flustered. At this moment the host entered through the door opposite. The little boy crawled out from under the table and
         brushed off his knees and elbows. Yulian Mastakovich hurried to raise to his nose the handkerchief that he was holding by
         one end.


      
      The host looked at the three of us in some bewilderment; but, as a person who knows life and looks upon it with some seriousness,
         he immediately made use of the fact that he had caught his guest alone.


      
      ‘That’s the boy, sir,’ he said, after pointing out the redhead, ‘about whom I had the honour to request …’

      
      ‘What was that?’ Yulian Mastakovich answered, still not fully recovered.

      
      ‘The son of my children’s governess,’ the host continued in a tone befitting a request, ‘a poor woman, a widow, the wife of
         an honest official; and therefore … Yulian Mastakovich, if it were possible …’


      
      ‘Oh no, no,’ Yulian Mastakovich hurriedly cried out, ‘no, forgive me, Filipp Alexeyevich, that’s quite impossible, sir. I’ve
         made enquiries: there aren’t any vacancies, and if there were, there would already be ten candidates a great deal more entitled
         to it than he … What a pity, what a pity …’


      
      ‘A pity, sir,’ the host repeated, ‘the boy is modest, quiet …’

      
      ‘A big mischief-maker, from what I’ve seen,’ Yulian Mastakovich answered, hysterically curling his lip, ‘off with you, boy,
         why are you standing there, run along to your playmates!’ he said, addressing the child.


      
      Here, it seems, he couldn’t restrain himself and he shot a glance at me with one eye. I also could not restrain myself and
         began to laugh right in his face. Yulian Mastakovich turned around at once and asked the host rather distinctly so that I
         should hear it, who that strange young man was. They started to converse in whispers and left the room. I then saw how Yulian
         Mastakovich shook his head warily as he listened to the host.


      
      Having laughed my fill, I returned to the ballroom. There the great man, surrounded by the fathers and mothers of families,
         by the hostess and host, was heatedly explaining something to a lady to whom he had just been introduced. The lady was holding by the hand the little girl with whom, ten minutes ago, Yulian Mastakovich had had the scene in the drawing room.
         Now he was singing the praises of and going into raptures over the beauty, talents, grace and good manners of the dear little
         child. He was conspicuously playing up to the mother. The mother was listening to him practically with tears of rapture. The
         father’s lips had a smile on them. The host rejoiced in the outpouring of universal joy. Even all the guests sympathized,
         even the children’s games were stopped so as not to interfere with the conversation. The very air was suffused with reverence.
         I then heard how the mother of the interesting little girl, touched to the bottom of her heart, requested in the most elegant
         language that Yulian Mastakovich do her the particular honour of favouring their home with his precious acquaintance; I heard
         the genuine rapture with which Yulian Mastakovich accepted the invitation and later how the guests as they were breaking up
         to go their separate ways, as dictated by decorum, sang the heart-swelling praises of the tax-farmer, the tax-farmer’s wife,
         the little girl and Yulian Mastakovich in particular.


      
      ‘Is that gentleman married?’ I asked, almost aloud, one of my acquaintances who was standing closest to Yulian Mastakovich.

      
      Yulian Mastakovich threw me a searching and spiteful glance.

      
      ‘No!’ answered my acquaintance, who was distressed to the very depths of his being by the blunder that I had intentionally
         committed … 


      
      Not long ago I was walking past —skaya Church; I was struck by the crowd and the throng of carriages. All around there was
         talk of a wedding. The day was overcast, it had started to drizzle; I fought my way through the crowd into the church and
         saw the groom. He was a small, roundish, portly little man with a paunch, decked out to the hilt. He was running around, bustling
         about and giving orders. At last, word spread that the bride had arrived. I elbowed my way through the crowd and saw the marvellous
         beauty for whom the first spring had scarcely begun. But the beauty was pale and sad. She looked about absentmindedly; it
         even seemed that her eyes were red with recent tears. The classical severity of every feature of her face imparted a certain gravity and solemnity to her beauty.
         But through this severity and gravity, through this sadness still shined the first childish look of innocence; one sensed
         something utterly naive, unformed, youthful, which seemed to be silently begging for mercy.


      
      People were saying that she had just turned sixteen. After taking a careful look at the groom, I suddenly recognized him as
         Yulian Mastakovich, whom I had not seen in exactly five years. I took another look at her … My God! I started to elbow my
         way out of the church as quickly as I could. In the crowd they were saying that the bride was rich, that the bride had a dowry
         of 500,000 … plus so much for glad rags for her trousseau.


      
      ‘All the same, a fine bit of calculation!’ I thought to myself, as I elbowed my way to the street …

      
      1848

      

      
          
      
      A NASTY BUSINESS

      
      A Story

      
      
      This nasty business took place just at the time when the renaissance of our beloved fatherland1 was beginning with such irrepressible force and with such touchingly naive fervour, when all its valiant sons were seeking
         new destinies and hopes. Then, one winter, on a clear and frosty night, even though it was already past eleven, three extremely
         respectable gentlemen were sitting in a comfortable and even elegantly appointed room, in a handsome two-storey house on the
         Petersburg Side,2 and they were engaged in a solid and superior conversation on quite an interesting subject. All three of these gentlemen
         held the rank of general.3 They were sitting around a little table, each in a fine, soft armchair, quietly and comfortably sipping champagne as they
         talked. The bottle stood on the table in a silver bucket filled with ice. The fact of the matter was that the host, Privy
         Councillor Stepan Nikiforovich Nikiforov, an old bachelor of about sixty-five, was celebrating moving into his recently purchased
         house and, incidentally, his birthday, which fell at the same time and which he had never celebrated before. However, the
         celebration was nothing special; as we have seen, there were only two guests, both of them former colleagues and former subordinates
         of Mr Nikiforov, to wit: Actual State Councillor4 Semyon Ivanovich Shipulenko and the other, also an actual state councillor, Ivan Ilyich Pralinsky. They had arrived at about
         nine o’clock, had tea, then switched to wine, and they knew that at exactly half past eleven they would need to start for
         home. The host had loved regularity all his life. A couple of words about him: he had begun his career as a petty civil servant
         without means, quietly performed his drudgery for some forty-five years, knew very well what rank he would have when he finished his service, could not bear it when people tried to reach for the
         stars, even though he already had two,5 and particularly disliked voicing his own personal opinion on any subject whatsoever. He was honest as well, that is, he
         had never had to do anything particularly dishonest; he was a bachelor because he was an egoist; he was far from stupid but
         couldn’t bear displaying his intelligence; he particularly disliked slovenliness and enthusiasm – believing it to be moral
         slovenliness – and towards the end of his life he had completely sunk into some sort of sweet, lazy comfort and systematic
         solitude. Although he did sometimes visit people of the better sort, ever since he was a young man he couldn’t bear having
         guests at his place, and lately if he didn’t lay out a game of grand-patience,6 he would content himself with the society of his mantel clock and for whole evenings on end would placidly listen to it tick
         under its glass shade on the fireplace, while dozing in his armchair. He was clean-shaven and quite respectable in appearance,
         looked younger than his years, was well preserved, promised to live for a long time yet and adhered to the strictest gentlemanliness.
         He had a rather comfortable position: he sat on some commission and signed some things. In a word, he was considered a most
         outstanding man. He had only one passion or, rather, one burning desire: to have his own house, and precisely one built like
         a manor house and not an apartment block. This desire at last was fulfilled: he had found and bought a house on the Petersburg
         Side; true, it was rather far away,7 but the house had a garden and, moreover, was elegant. The new owner judged that it was just as well that it was a bit further
         out: he didn’t like receiving guests, and for visiting somebody or going to the office he had a handsome, chocolate-coloured
         two-seat carriage, Mikhey the coachman and a pair of small, but strong and handsome horses. All this had been acquired by
         forty years of fastidious economy, so that his heart rejoiced at it all. That is why after acquiring the house and moving
         into it, Stepan Nikiforovich felt such contentment in his tranquil heart that he even invited guests on his birthday, which
         before he had scrupulously kept secret from his closest acquaintances. He even had special designs on one of those he had invited. He himself occupied the top floor of the house, while the lower floor, which was built and laid out identically,
         required a tenant. Stepan Nikiforovich was counting on Semyon Ivanovich Shipulenko and that evening had even brought up the
         subject twice. But Semyon Ivanovich had kept silent on that matter. He was also a man who had made his way with difficulty
         and over a long period, with black hair and side whiskers and with the complexion of one who has constant bilious attacks.
         He was married, was a morose stay-at-home, kept his household in a state of fear, performed his duties with self-confidence;
         he, too, knew very well how far he would go, and what’s even better – that he would go no further; he held a good position
         and held it firmly. Even though he regarded the incipient new order not without bile, he wasn’t particularly alarmed: he was
         very sure of himself and listened to Ivan Ilyich Pralinsky’s lofty words on the new ideas not without derisive malice. However,
         all of them were a bit tipsy, so much so that even Stepan Nikiforovich himself condescended to engage in a small debate with
         Mr Pralinsky about the new order. But a few words about His Excellency Mr Pralinsky, all the more so as it is he who is the
         main character of the forthcoming story.


      
      Actual State Councillor Ivan Ilyich Pralinsky had been called His Excellency for all of four months, in a word, he was a young
         general. He was still young in years as well, about forty-three and certainly no more than that, and he looked and liked looking
         even younger than he was. He was a handsome man, tall, flaunted his clothes and the refined respectability of his choice in
         clothes, wore a significant order on his neck with great skill, and from childhood had known how to acquire some high-society
         ways and, being a bachelor, dreamed of a wealthy and even high-society wife. He dreamed about a great deal besides, though
         he was far from stupid. At times he talked big and even liked to assume parliamentary poses. He came from a good family, was
         the son of a general and never had to dirty his hands with physical work; in his tender childhood he wore velvet and cambric,
         was educated in an aristocratic institution; and although he didn’t carry much knowledge away with him, he had enjoyed success
         in his career and was made a general. His superiors considered him to be a capable man and even pinned their hopes on him. Stepan Nikiforovich, under whose command
         he had begun and then continued his service almost until he was made a general, never considered him a very businesslike man
         and pinned no hopes on him whatsoever. But he liked the fact that he was from a good family, had a fortune – that is, a large
         apartment house with a manager – was related to some of the best people and, on top of that, possessed a certain bearing.
         Stepan Nikiforovich silently criticized him for excess imagination and flippancy. Ivan Ilyich himself sometimes felt that
         he was too proud and even testy. Strangely enough, at times he had morbid attacks of conscientiousness and even some slight
         regret for something. With bitterness and a secret nagging in his heart, he sometimes admitted to himself that he had not
         flown as high as he had thought he would. At moments like these he would even sink into some sort of despondency, particularly
         when his haemorrhoids played up, and call his life une existence manquée, stop believing even in his parliamentary abilities – silently it goes without saying – and call himself a parleur, a phraseur,8 and although all this, of course, was much to his credit, it in no way prevented him from raising his head again half an
         hour later and even more obstinately and more arrogantly taking heart, and assuring himself that he would still manage to
         prove himself and that he would not only be a high official but even a statesman whom Russia would long remember. At times
         he even imagined monuments. From this one can see that Ivan Ilyich aimed high, although he hid his vague dreams and hopes
         deep within himself, even with a certain amount of fear. In a word, he was a good man and even had the soul of a poet. In
         recent years, painful moments of disappointment had begun to visit him more frequently. He had become somehow particularly
         irritable, suspicious and quick to view any objection as an insult. But the revitalization of Russia had suddenly given him
         high hopes. Making general had been the finishing touch. He took heart; he raised his head. He suddenly began to speak eloquently
         and a great deal, to talk on the newest subjects, which he extremely quickly and unexpectedly mastered until they became a
         passion. He sought out opportunities to speak, travelled all over the city and in many places succeeded in being accorded the reputation of a desperate liberal, which gratified him a
         great deal. On this evening, having drunk some four glasses, he was particularly expansive. He wanted to persuade Stepan Nikiforovich,
         whom he had not seen for a long time and whom he had hitherto always respected and even obeyed, to change his mind about everything.
         For some reason he considered him a retrograde and attacked him with uncommon ardour. Stepan Nikiforovich raised almost no
         objections, merely listened slyly, even though the subject interested him. Ivan Ilyich got excited and in the heat of the
         imaginary argument sipped from his glass more frequently than he should have. Then Stepan Nikiforovich would take the bottle
         and at once fill his glass, which for some unknown reason, suddenly began to offend Ivan Ilyich, all the more so because Semyon
         Ivanych Shipulenko, whom he particularly despised and moreover even feared for his cynicism and malice, sat there right beside
         him keeping his silence most insidiously, and smiling more often than he should have. ‘It seems they take me for a little
         boy,’ flashed in Ivan Ilyich’s head.


      
      ‘No, sir, it’s time, it’s already high time,’ he continued with fervour. ‘It’s long overdue, sir, and in my opinion humaneness
         is the first thing, humaneness towards one’s subordinates, remembering that they, too, are people. Humaneness will save everything
         and set everything on the right path …’


      
      ‘He-he-he-he!’ could be heard from Semyon Ivanovich’s direction.

      
      ‘But why is it that you’re giving us such a tongue-lashing?’ Stepan Nikiforovich finally objected, smiling amiably. ‘I confess,
         Ivan Ilyich, that I still don’t grasp what it is that you wish to explain. You advocate humaneness. Does that mean love of
         your fellow man?’


      
      ‘Yes, if you will, even love for your fellow man. I …’

      
      ‘Excuse me, sir. As far as I’m able to judge, there’s more to it than that. Love of one’s fellow man has always been called
         for. The reforms aren’t confined to that. Questions have been raised about the peasantry, the courts, agriculture, tax-farming,9 morality and … and … and there is no end to them, these questions, and all of them taken together, all of them at once might give rise to large-scale, so to speak, instability. That’s what we’re afraid of, it’s not just a matter of humaneness
         …’


      
      ‘Yes, sir, the matter is a bit deeper, sir,’ Semyon Ivanovich observed.

      
      ‘I quite understand, sir, and allow me to observe, Semyon Ivanovich, that I by no means consent to lag behind you in the deepness
         of my understanding of things,’ Ivan Ilyich observed sarcastically and much too harshly, ‘but, then, I will nevertheless take
         the liberty of observing to you as well, Stepan Nikiforovich, that you have failed to understand me at all …’


      
      ‘No, I haven’t.’

      
      ‘Meanwhile, I precisely hold to and advance the idea that humaneness, and precisely humaneness to one’s subordinates, from
         official to scribe, from scribe to household servant, from servant to peasant – humaneness, I say, might serve, so to speak,
         as the cornerstone of the impending reforms and in general for the revitalization of things. Why? Because. Take the syllogism:
         I am humane, consequently, they love me. They love me, therefore, they trust me. They trust me, therefore, they believe me;
         they believe me, therefore, they love me … that is, no, I mean to say that if they believe, then they will believe in reform,
         they will understand, so to speak, the very essence of the matter, so to speak, they will embrace one another morally and
         decide the entire matter amicably, thoroughly. What are you laughing at, Semyon Ivanovich? Isn’t it clear?’


      
      Stepan Nikiforovich silently raised his eyebrows; he was surprised.

      
      ‘It seems that I’ve had a bit too much to drink,’ Semyon Ivanych observed venomously, ‘and therefore I’m having difficulty
         grasping it. My mind’s somewhat clouded.’


      
      Ivan Ilyich winced.

      
      ‘We won’t bear it,’ Stepan Nikiforovich uttered suddenly, after a slight hesitation.

      
      ‘What do you mean “we won’t bear it”?’ Ivan Ilyich asked, surprised at Stepan Nikiforovich’s sudden and scrappy remark.

      
      ‘Just that, we won’t bear it,’ Stepan Nikiforovich clearly had no wish to elaborate any further.

      
      ‘You’re not thinking about the new wine in new wineskins,10 are you?’ Ivan Ilyich objected not without irony. ‘No, no, sir; I can answer for myself.’


      
      At that moment the clock struck half past eleven.

      
      ‘It’s time for us to be going,’ Semyon Ivanych said, as he made to get up from his seat. But Ivan Ilyich anticipated him,
         stood up from the table at once and took his sable hat from the mantel-piece. He looked aggrieved.


      
      ‘So then, Semyon Ivanych, you’ll give it some thought?’ Stepan Nikiforovich said, as he was seeing his guests out.

      
      ‘About the apartment, sir? Yes, I’ll think about it, sir.’

      
      ‘Let me know as soon as you can, when you have made up your mind.’

      
      ‘Still talking about business,’ Mr Pralinsky observed amiably with a certain ingratiating air as he played with his hat. He
         thought that they had forgotten about him.


      
      Stepan Nikiforovich raised his eyebrows and kept silent, as a sign that he was not detaining his guests. Semyon Ivanych hurriedly
         took his leave.


      
      ‘Oh … well … as you wish … if you don’t understand common courtesy,’ Mr Pralinsky decided to himself, and he somehow with
         a particularly independent manner held out his hand to Stepan Nikiforovich.


      
      In the entryway Ivan Ilyich wrapped himself up in his light, expensive fur coat, for some reason trying not to notice Semyon
         Ivanych’s worn-out raccoon coat, and they both started to make their way down the stairs.


      
      ‘Our old man seemed offended,’ Ivan Ilyich said to the silent Semyon Ivanych.

      
      ‘No, why should he?’ the other answered quietly and coldly.

      
      ‘Lackey!’ Ivan Ilyich thought to himself.

      
      They came out on to the porch, and up drove Semyon Ivanych’s sledge with its unprepossessing grey horse.

      
      ‘What the devil! Where has Trifon gone with my carriage!’ Ivan Ilyich cried, when he didn’t see his trap.

      
      There was no carriage to be seen, neither this way nor that. Stepan Nikiforovich’s man knew nothing about it. They turned
         to Varlam, Semyon Ivanych’s coachman, and received the answer that he had been there the whole time and that the carriage had been there as well, but now it was nowhere to be seen.


      
      ‘A nasty business!’ Mr Shipulenko uttered, ‘would you like me to give you a lift?’

      
      ‘The common folk are scoundrels!’ Mr Pralinsky cried out in fury. ‘He asked me, the rascal, if he could go to a wedding, here
         on the Petersburg Side, some godmother or other was getting married, the devil take her. I strictly forbade him to absent
         himself. And now I’ll bet that’s where he’s gone!’


      
      ‘He actually did go there, sir,’ Varlam observed, ‘and he promised to be back in a minute, that is, right on time.’

      
      ‘Well, then! I just knew it! Wait till I get hold of him!’

      
      ‘You’d be better off having him whipped a few times at the police station, then he’ll carry out his orders,’ Semyon Ivanych
         said, as he covered himself with a rug.


      
      ‘Please, don’t trouble yourself, Semyon Ivanych!’

      
      ‘So you don’t want a lift?’

      
      ‘Have a pleasant journey, merci.’11

      
      Semyon Ivanych drove off, while Ivan Ilyich walked along the little wooden footway, intensely irritated.

      
      ‘No, wait till I get hold of you, you rascal! I’m deliberately going on foot so that you’ll understand, so that you’ll be
         frightened! He’ll come back and find out that the master left on foot … the swine!’


      
      Ivan Ilyich had never cursed like that before, but he was so very infuriated, and to top it off his head was pounding. He
         was not a drinking man, and so he quickly felt the effects of those five or six glasses. But the night was delightful. It
         was frosty, but unusually quiet and still. The sky was clear, starry. The full moon flooded the earth with a suffused silver
         brilliance. It was so nice that Ivan Ilyich, after walking some fifty paces, had almost forgotten about his misfortune. He
         was beginning to feel somehow particularly contended. Besides, when people are a bit tipsy they’re very impressionable. He
         even began to like the homely little wooden houses on the empty street.


      
      ‘You know, it’s marvellous that I left on foot,’ he thought to himself. ‘It’s a lesson for Trifon and a pleasure for me. Really,
         I should walk more often. What’s the big deal? I’ll find a cab right away on Bolshoy Prospekt.12 It’s a marvellous night. Look at the little houses here. Must be the small fry that live here, officials … merchants, maybe
         … that Stepan Nikiforovich! And what retrogrades they all are, those old simpletons! Precisely simpletons, c’est le mot. But he’s an intelligent man, he’s got that bon sens,13 a sober, practical understanding of things. But then, these old men, old men! They don’t have that … what’s it called now!
         Well, they don’t have something … We won’t bear it! What did he mean by that? He even became lost in his thoughts when he
         said it. However, he didn’t understand me at all. But how could he not? It’s more difficult not to understand than to understand.
         The main thing is that I’m convinced, convinced with all my heart. Humaneness … love of one’s fellow man. To return man to
         himself … to revive his self-respect and then … Get down to business with this ready material. Seems clear enough! Yes, sir!
         Allow me, Your Excellency, now take this syllogism: we meet, for example, a clerk, a poor, downtrodden clerk. “Well … who
         are you?” Answer: “A clerk.” Fine, a clerk; further: “What kind of clerk are you?” Answer: “I’m such and such,” he says, “kind
         of clerk.” “Are you employed?” “I am!” “Do you want to be happy?” “I do.” “What do you need to be happy?” Such and such. “Why?”
         Because … And you see the man understands me right from the start: my man is a man who has been caught, so to speak, in the
         net and I can do anything with him that I wish, that is, for his own good. That Semyon Ivanych is a nasty man! And what a
         nasty mug he has … Whip him at the police station – he said that on purpose. No, it’s all lies – whip him yourself, I’m not
         going to whip anyone; I’ll wear down Trifon with words, I’ll wear him down with reproaches – and then he’ll feel it. As for
         birch rods, hm … it’s a question that has yet to be settled, hm … But maybe I should drop in on Emerans? Ugh! The devil take
         it! These damned footways!’ he cried out, after suddenly taking a wrong step. ‘And this is the capital! Enlightenment! You
         could break your leg! Hm. I hate that Semyon Ivanych; a most disgusting mug. It was he who was sniggering when I said: they
         will embrace one another morally. Well, let them embrace, what business is it of yours? But I’m not going to embrace you; I’d rather embrace a peasant … If
         I meet a peasant, I’ll have a talk with him. However, I was drunk and maybe I didn’t express myself properly. And maybe even
         now I’m not expressing myself properly … Hm. I’m never going to drink. You talk a lot of nonsense in the evening, and the
         next day you repent. Now then, you see I’m not staggering, I’m walking … But all the same they’re all crooks!’


      
      So Ivan Ilyich reasoned, in fragments and incoherently, as he continued to walk down the sidewalk. The fresh air was having
         an effect on him and arousing him, so to speak. Five minutes more and he would have calmed down and wanted to go to bed. But
         suddenly, just a stone’s throw away from Bolshoy Prospekt, he heard music. He looked around. On the other side of the street
         in a ramshackle wooden house, which was only one-storeyed but long, a sumptuous feast was being given, the violins hummed,
         the double bass squeaked and the flute shrilly broke out into a very merry quadrille14 tune. An audience was standing under the windows, mainly women in quilted coats and with kerchiefs on their heads; they were
         straining with all their might to catch a glimpse of something through the cracks in the shutters. Clearly, the merrymakers
         were enjoying themselves. The din from the dancers’ stomping reached the other side of the street. Ivan Ilyich noticed that
         there was a policeman nearby and walked over to him.


      
      ‘Whose house is that, my good fellow?’ he asked, as he threw open his expensive fur coat a bit, just enough so that the policeman
         could notice the important decoration on his neck.


      
      ‘It belongs to the clerk Pseldonimov, the legistrator,’15 the policeman answered, drawing himself up to his full height, after making out the decoration in a flash.


      
      ‘Pseldonimov? Bah! Pseldonimov! … What’s he doing? Getting married?’

      
      ‘Getting married, Your Honour, to the titular councillor’s daughter. Titular Councillor Mlekopitayev … He used to serve in
         the local authority. The house comes with the bride, sir.’


      
      ‘So now it belongs to Pseldonimov, it’s no longer Mlekopitayev’s house?’

      
      ‘Pseldonimov’s, Your Honour. It was Mlekopitayev’s and now it’s Pseldonimov’s.’

      
      ‘Hmm. I’m asking you, my good man, because I’m his superior. I am the general in the very place where Pseldonimov works.’

      
      ‘Just so, Your Excellency.’ The policeman drew himself up even more, while Ivan Ilyich fell deep in thought, as it were. He
         stood and pondered … 


      
      Yes, Pseldonimov really was in his department, in his own office; he recalled that. He was a petty clerk, with a salary of
         about ten roubles a month. Since Mr Pralinsky had only quite recently assumed charge of his office, he might not remember
         all of his subordinates in great detail, but he remembered Pseldonimov, precisely on account of his surname.16 It had caught his attention the very first time, so that right away his curiosity had been piqued to have a closer look at
         the owner of such a surname. He recalled now that the man who was still quite young, with a long hooked nose, a shaggy towhead,
         gaunt and malnourished, wearing an impossible uniform and unmentionables that were even impossibly indecent. He recalled that
         the idea had occurred to him then to give the poor fellow ten roubles towards the holiday so that he might put himself right.
         But since the face of this poor fellow was so glum and there was quite an unpleasant, even repellent, look about him, the
         kind thought somehow vanished of its own accord, so that Pseldonimov remained without a bonus. Less than a week ago this same
         Pseldonimov amazed him all the more with his request to marry. Ivan Ilyich recalled that for some reason he hadn’t had time
         to deal with this matter more thoroughly, so that the matter about the wedding was decided lightly, hastily. But nevertheless
         he remembered with exactitude that Pseldonimov’s bride came with a wooden house and four hundred roubles in cash; this circumstance
         had surprised him then; he recalled that he had even lightly made a joke about the conjunction of the names Pseldonimov and
         Mlekopitayev. He remembered it all clearly.


      
      He was remembering and became more and more lost in his thoughts. We know that entire discourses sometimes take place in our
         heads in an instant, in the form of some sensations, without translation into human language, much less literary language. But we shall attempt to translate all our hero’s sensations
         and present to the reader at the very least the essence of these sensations, so to speak, what was most indispensable and
         plausible in them. Because, you see, many of our sensations, when translated into ordinary language, seem highly unlikely.
         That’s why they are never brought out into the world, but everybody has them. It goes without saying that Ivan Ilyich’s sensations
         and thoughts were a bit disjointed. But then you know the reason for that.


      
      ‘All right!’ flashed through his head, ‘here we all talk and talk, but when it comes to action, then damned all happens. Take,
         for example, this same Pseldonimov: he’s just come from his wedding, excited and hopeful, anticipating the taste of … It’s
         one of the most blessed days of his life … Now he’s busy with his guests, throwing a feast – modest, poor, but cheerful, joyful,
         sincere … What if he were to learn that at this very moment I, I, his superior, his chief superior, were standing right here
         outside his house and listening to his music! But really what would he think? No, what would he think if I suddenly up and
         walked in now? Hmm … It goes without saying that at first he would be frightened, become speechless from embarrassment. I
         might put him out … I might upset everything … Yes, that’s what would happen if any other general were to walk in, but not
         me … But that’s just it, any other general, but not me … 


      
      ‘Yes, Stepan Nikiforovich! You didn’t understand me earlier, but here’s a ready example for you now.

      
      ‘Yes, sir. We keep clamouring about humaneness, but we’re incapable of heroism, of performing a great feat.

      
      ‘What sort of heroism? This sort. Just think: given the present relations between all members of society, for me, for me to
         walk in after midnight on the wedding of a subordinate of mine, a registrator, who earns ten roubles a month, well that’s
         an embarrassment, that’s a transposition of ideas, the last day of Pompeii,17 chaos! Nobody will understand it. Stepan Nikiforovich will die without understanding it. After all, it was he who said: we
         won’t bear it. Yes, but that’s you, you old people, you people with your paralysis and inertia,18 but I will bear it! I will turn the last day of Pompeii into the sweetest day of my subordinate’s life, and a wild act into a normal, patriarchal,
         lofty and moral one. How? Like this. Kindly be so good as to lend an ear … 


      
      ‘Well … now let’s assume that I walk in: they’re astounded, stop the dancing, look about wildly, back away. All right, sir,
         but here’s where I show what I’m made of: I walk right up to the frightened Pseldonimov and with the gentlest smile, I say
         in the simplest words possible: “And so then,” I say, “I was visiting His Excellency Stepan Nikiforovich. I suppose you know
         he lives here, in this neighbourhood …” Well, and then lightly, in a somewhat comic vein, I’ll tell them about my adventure
         with Trifon. From Trifon I’ll move on to how I set out on foot … “Well, I hear the music, I satisfy my curiosity by asking
         a policeman and I learn, brother, that you’re getting married. And so I think to myself, why don’t I drop in on my subordinate
         and see how my clerks enjoy themselves and … get married. After all, I don’t suppose you’ll throw me out!” Throw me out! What
         fine words for a subordinate. What the devil do I mean – throw me out! I think he’ll lose his mind, rush as fast as his legs
         will carry him to sit me down in an armchair, tremble with delight and at first he won’t even grasp what’s happening! … 


      
      ‘Well, what could be simpler, more graceful than conducting oneself like that! Why did I come? That’s another question! That
         now is the moral side of the matter, so to speak. Now that’s the very essence!


      
      ‘Hm … Now what was I thinking about? Yes!

      
      ‘Well, of course, they’ll seat me with the most important guest, some titular councillor or a relative, a retired staff-captain
         with a red nose … Gogol19 described these originals marvellously. Well, I’ll be introduced to the young bride, it goes without saying, I’ll praise
         her, put the guests at their ease. I’ll ask them not to be shy, to enjoy themselves, to go on with their dancing, I’ll be
         witty, I’ll laugh, in a word – I’ll be amiable and kind. I’m always amiable and kind, when I’m pleased with myself … Hm …
         It’s just that I still seem to be a bit … that is, I’m not drunk, but just … 


      
      ‘… It goes without saying that I, as a gentleman, am on an equal footing with them and by no means require any particular
         signs of … But morally, morally it’s a different thing altogether: they’ll understand and appreciate that … My conduct will
         resurrect all the nobility in them … Well, I’ll sit for a half an hour. Even an hour. I’ll leave, it goes without saying,
         before the supper itself, or they’ll start bustling about, baking, roasting, they’ll bow down ever so low, but I’ll only drink
         a glass, wish them well and decline supper. I’ll say: business. And as soon as I utter this “business”, everyone’s face will
         become respectfully solemn all at once. In this way I’ll delicately remind them that they and I are different, gentlemen.
         Earth and sky. It’s not that I want to bring it up, but one needs to … it’s necessary even in the moral sense, no matter what
         you say. However, I’ll smile right away, I’ll even laugh a bit, perhaps, and everyone will cheer up in a flash … I’ll joke
         a bit more with the bride; hm … You know, I’ll even hint that I’ll come again in exactly nine months on the dot to stand godfather,
         he-he! She’ll certainly give birth by then. After all, they breed like rabbits. Well, and everybody will burst out laughing,
         the bride will blush; I’ll kiss her on the forehead with feeling, I’ll even give her my blessing and … and tomorrow my deed
         will be known in the office. Tomorrow once again I am stern, tomorrow once again I am exacting, even implacable, but everybody
         will know what sort of person I am. They will know my soul, they will know my essence: “As a boss he’s stern, but as a person
         – he’s an angel!” And then I’ve won; I’ve caught them with one small little deed, which would not even occur to you; they’re
         already mine; I am the father, they’re the children … Well then, Your Excellency, Stepan Nikiforovich, you just try doing
         something like that … 


      
      ‘… And do you know, do you understand that Pseldonimov will tell his children how the General himself feasted and even drank
         at his wedding! And, you know, these children will tell their children, and they will tell their grandchildren, as a most
         sacred story about how a high official, a statesman (and I’ll be all that by then) favoured them … and so on and so forth.
         And you see, I’ll morally raise up the humiliated, I’ll restore him to himself … You see, he has a salary of ten roubles a
         month! And you see, if I repeat this or something else like it, five times, or ten times, then I’ll acquire popularity everywhere
         … I will be imprinted on everybody’s heart, and the devil only knows what might come of it later, this popularity! …’


      
      This or something like it was how Ivan Ilyich reasoned (gentlemen, what doesn’t a person say to himself sometimes, moreover
         when he’s in a somewhat unconventional condition). All these debates flashed through his head in about half a minute, and
         of course he might have limited himself to these dreams and after shaming Stepan Nikiforovich in his thoughts, he might have
         quietly set out for home and gone to bed. And it would have been splendid if he had done just that! But the whole misfortune
         stemmed from the fact that the moment was an unconventional one.


      
      As if on purpose, suddenly, at that very moment, the smug faces of Stepan Nikiforovich and Semyon Ivanovich appeared in his
         excited imagination.


      
      ‘We won’t bear it!’ Stepan Nikiforovich repeated, laughing condescendingly.

      
      ‘He-he-he!’ Semyon Ivanovich echoed him with his nastiest smile.

      
      ‘Well, let’s just see how we won’t bear it!’ Ivan Ilyich said decisively, and his face even became flushed. He stepped down
         from the footway and with firm steps made straight for the house across the street that belonged to his subordinate, the registrar
         Pseldonimov.


      
      His star carried him along. He boldly walked in the open gate and disdainfully brushed aside with his foot the gruff, shaggy
         little dog, which more for appearance’s sake than any other concern had rushed at his feet with a wheezy bark. He walked along
         the wooden plankway to the covered porch, which looked out on to the yard like a sentry box, and walked up the three ramshackle
         wooden steps to the tiny entrance-way. Even though somewhere in the corner the end of a tallow candle or something in the
         way of a lampion20 was burning, but this did not prevent Ivan Ilyich just as he was, wearing galoshes, from putting his left foot into the galantine,
         which had been set out to cool. Ivan Ilyich bent down and, after having a look round to satisfy his curiosity, he saw that
         there were two other dishes with some sort of jelly, and another two moulds, evidently of blancmange.21 The trampled galantine put him in an embarrassing position, and for just a moment the idea flashed through his head: Shouldn’t
         I slip away at once? But he considered this to be too base. After reasoning that no one had seen it and that they would certainly
         not think it was he, he quickly wiped off his galosh in order to hide the traces, groped for the door upholstered in felt,
         opened it and found himself in the tiniest entrance-hall. One half of it was literally crammed full of overcoats, greatcoats,
         cloaks, bonnets, scarves and galoshes. The other half had been taken over by the musicians: two violins, flute and double
         bass; all four men, it goes without saying, brought in right off the street. They sat behind a little unpainted wooden table,
         with a single tallow candle, and were sawing away with all their might at the final figure of a quadrille. From the opened
         door one could just make out in the drawing room the dancers in the dust, smoke and fumes. It was somehow deliriously gay.
         One could hear laughter, shouts and women’s screams. The men stomped like a squadron of horses. Over all this hullabaloo resounded
         the commands of the man calling the dances, probably an extremely free-and-easy and even unbuttoned person: ‘Gentlemen, step
         forward, chaîne de dames, balancez!’22 and so on, and so forth. Ivan Ilyich in some agitation threw off his fur coat and galoshes and with his hat in his hands
         entered the room. However, he was no longer capable of reasoning.


      
      For the first minute nobody noticed him: everybody was dancing the last steps of the number that was coming to an end. Ivan
         Ilyich stood as though he were stunned and couldn’t make out anything in this bedlam. Women’s dresses, gentlemen with cigarettes
         clenched in their teeth flashed past … Some lady’s light-blue scarf, which brushed against his nose, flashed by. After her
         in mad rapture a medical student tore past, his hair swept by the whirl of the dance, and shoved him hard as he went by. An
         officer of some detachment who seemed as tall as a signpost flashed by. Somebody in an unnaturally shrill voice shouted out:
         ‘Eh-h-h, Pseldonimushka!’ There was something sticky under Ivan Ilyich’s feet: evidently the floor had been polished with
         wax. In the room, which was quite large, by the way, there were some thirty guests.


      
      But a minute later the quadrille came to an end, and almost at once took place exactly what Ivan Ilyich had pictured to himself
         when he was still daydreaming on the footway. Some sort of rumbling, some sort of odd whispering made the rounds of the guests
         and dancers, who had not yet had a chance to catch their breath and wipe the sweat from their faces. All eyes, all faces quickly
         began to turn in the direction of the guest who had just entered. Then everybody at once began little by little to fall back
         and retreat. Those who hadn’t noticed were tugged by their clothes and brought to their senses. They looked around and at
         once beat a retreat with the others. Ivan Ilyich was still standing in the doorway, not taking a single step forward, and
         the open space between him and the guests, strewn with innumerable sweet wrappers, tickets and cigarette butts, kept growing
         and growing. Suddenly into this space timidly stepped a young man, wearing a uniform, with wispy flaxen hair and a hooked
         nose. He moved forward, stooping, and looked at the unexpected guest with the exact same expression as a dog looks at his
         master, who has called it to give it a kick.


      
      ‘Hello, Pseldonimov, don’t you recognize me?’ Ivan Ilyich said, at once sensing that he had put it awkwardly; he also sensed
         at that moment that perhaps he was committing a most terrible act of foolishness.


      
      ‘Y-y-y-our-r-r Ex-cel-len-cy!’ Pseldonimov mumbled.

      
      ‘Well, that’s right. Brother, I’ve dropped in on you utterly by chance, as you yourself can probably imagine …’

      
      But Pseldonimov apparently couldn’t imagine anything. He stood, with his eyes wide open, in terrified bewilderment.

      
      ‘Well, I don’t suppose that you’re going to throw me out … Happy or not, you must make the guest feel at home! …’ Ivan Ilyich
         continued, feeling that he was becoming unbearably embarrassed, and wishing to smile, but unable to do so; the humorous story
         about Stepan Nikiforovich and Trifon was becoming more and more impossible. But Pseldonimov, as if on purpose, didn’t come
         out of his stupor and continued to look on with an utterly foolish expression. Ivan Ilyich winced; he felt that one more minute like this and unbelievable chaos would break out.


      
      ‘I hope I’m not disturbing anything … I’ll go!’ he just barely got out, and a nerve in the right corner of his mouth began
         to twitch … 


      
      But Pseldonimov was already coming to his senses …

      
      ‘Your Excellency, excuse me, sir … The honour …’ he mumbled, bowing hurriedly, ‘be so kind as to sit down, sir …’ And after
         coming to his senses even more, he pointed with both hands to the sofa, which they had moved for the dancing … 


      
      His mind at rest, Ivan Ilyich sank down on to the sofa; somebody at once rushed to move over a table. He took a fleeting look
         around and noticed that he was the only one sitting, while all the others were standing, even the ladies. A bad omen. But
         it wasn’t time yet to remind and encourage. The guests were still backing away, and Pseldonimov, still understanding nothing
         and far from smiling, still stood alone in front of them, bent over. In short, it was nasty: at this moment our hero endured
         such anguish that indeed the invasion of his subordinate in the manner of Harun-al-Rashid,23 for the sake of principle, might be considered an heroic deed. But suddenly another little figure turned up alongside Pseldonimov
         and began to bow. To his inexpressible satisfaction and even happiness, Ivan Ilyich at once recognized his chief desk officer,
         Akim Petrovich Zubikov, with whom, of course, he was not acquainted, but whom he knew to be an efficient and quiet official.
         He immediately stood up and offered his hand – his entire hand and not just two fingers – to Akim Petrovich. The latter embraced
         it with both his palms with the most profound respect. The General was triumphant; all had been saved.


      
      And indeed, now Pseldonimov was, so to speak, not the second, but the third person. Ivan Ilyich could address his story directly
         to the desk officer, whom out of necessity he could welcome as an acquaintance, and a close one at that; Pseldonimov meanwhile
         could just keep silent and quake with reverence. Consequently, the proprieties were being observed. But a story was essential;
         Ivan Ilyich sensed that; he saw that all the guests were expecting something, that even all the household were crowding both doorways and were practically climbing on top of one another in order to see and hear him. But it was nasty
         how the desk officer, owing to his stupidity, still wouldn’t sit down.


      
      ‘Come now!’ Ivan Ilyich said, awkwardly indicating the place next to him on the sofa.

      
      ‘For goodness’ sake, sir … I’ll be fine here, sir …’ and Akim Petrovich quickly sat down on the chair, which had been placed
         under him almost on the fly by Pseldonimov who stubbornly remained standing.


      
      ‘Can you imagine what I’ve been through,’ Ivan Ilyich began, addressing himself exclusively to Akim Petrovich in a somewhat
         trembling voice that had already become unduly familiar. He was even drawling and separating his words, stressing each syllable,
         and he began pronouncing the letter ‘a’ somewhat like ‘eh’;24 in a word, he sensed and was aware that he was behaving affectedly, but he could no longer control himself; some external
         force was having its way. At that moment he was excruciatingly aware of a great many things.


      
      ‘Can you imagine, I’ve just come from Stepan Nikiforovich’s, maybe you’ve heard of him, the privy councillor. Well … he’s
         on that commission …’


      
      Akim Petrovich respectfully leaned forward with his whole body as if to say: ‘How could I not have heard, sir.’

      
      ‘He’s your neighbour now,’ Ivan Ilyich continued, addressing Pseldonimov for a moment for the sake of propriety and to put
         him at ease, but he quickly turned away, upon seeing at once from Pseldonimov’s eyes that it made absolutely no difference
         to him.


      
      ‘The old man, as you know, has been mad about buying a house his whole life … Well, and he’s bought one. And it’s a nice little
         house. Yes … And then it was his birthday today, and he had never celebrated it before, you see, he had even kept it a secret
         from us, didn’t let on about it on account of his stinginess, he-he! But now he’s so happy with his new house that he invited
         me and Semyon Ivanovich. You know – Shipulenko.’


      
      Akim Petrovich leaned forward again. He leaned forward with zeal! Ivan Ilyich took some comfort. It had already occurred to him that the desk officer might suspect that at that moment he was an essential point of support for His Excellency. That
         would have been nastiest of all.


      
      ‘Well, the three of us sat there for a bit, champagne was served, we talked about business … Well, about this and that … about
         is-sues … We even ar-gued a bit … He-he!’


      
      Akim Petrovich respectfully raised his eyebrows.

      
      ‘Only that’s not the point. I was finally saying goodbye to him, he’s a punctilious old man, goes to bed early, you know,
         he’s getting old. I go out … and my Trifon’s not there! I become alarmed, and I ask: “Where did Trifon go with my carriage?”
         It comes to light that he was hoping that I’d stay late and had gone off to the wedding of some godmother or cousin … God
         only knows. Right here somewhere on the Petersburg Side. And happened to take the carriage with him.’ The General again for
         propriety’s sake cast a glance at Pseldonimov. The latter immediately bent over double, but not at all as one needs to do
         for a general. ‘No sympathy, no heart,’ flashed through his head.


      
      ‘Well, I never!’ Akim Petrovich said, profoundly astonished. A slight rumble of surprise spread through the whole crowd.

      
      ‘Can you imagine my situation …’ (Ivan Ilyich cast a glance at all of them.) ‘There was nothing to be done, I set off on
         foot. I thought, I’ll make my way to Bolshoy Prospekt, and then I’ll find some cabby … He-he!’


      
      ‘Hee-hee-hee!’ Akim Petrovich respectfully rejoined. Again a rumble, but now in a cheerful register, spread through the crowd.
         At that moment the glass chimney of a wall lamp shattered with a loud crack. Somebody zealously rushed over to take care of
         it. Pseldonimov roused himself and grimly looked at the lamp, but the general didn’t even notice and everything calmed down.


      
      ‘I’m walking … and it’s such a beautiful night, so still. Suddenly I hear music, stomping feet, dancing. A policeman satisfies
         my curiosity – Pseldonimov is getting married. And you, my good man, you’re throwing a party for the whole of the Petersburg
         Side? Ha-ha,’ he suddenly addressed Pseldonimov once again.


      
      ‘Hee-hee-hee! Yes, sir,’ Akim Petrovich rejoined; the guests again stirred a bit, but the stupidest thing of all was that Pseldonimov even though he made another bow, now he didn’t even
         smile, as though he were made of wood. ‘What a fool!’ Ivan Ilyich thought, ‘even an ass would smile now, and everything would
         have gone along swimmingly.’ Impatience raged in his heart. ‘I think, let’s drop in on my subordinate. After all, he won’t
         throw me out … whether you are happy about it or not, you must make a guest welcome. Please forgive me, my good man. If I’ve
         disturbed you, I’ll go … You see, I only wanted to drop in and have a look …’


      
      But little by little a general movement was beginning. Akim Petrovich looked on with a sweet expression, as if to say, ‘How
         could you be a disturbance, Your Excellency?’ All of the guests began to stir and started to show the first signs of being
         at ease. Almost all of the ladies were sitting now. A good and positive sign. The bolder of them were fanning themselves with
         their kerchiefs. One of them, wearing a shabby velvet dress, was saying something in a deliberately loud voice. The officer,
         whom she had addressed, wanted to answer her even more loudly, but since the two of them were the only ones being loud, he
         shrank from doing so. The men, most of whom were clerks with two or three students, exchanged glances as if urging one another
         to become more at ease; they coughed and even began to take a few steps in different directions. However, nobody was particularly
         timid: they were all merely shy and almost all of them silently regarded with hostility the personage who had burst in upon
         them and disturbed their merrymaking. The officer, ashamed of his faint-heartedness, began to approach the table little by
         little.


      
      ‘Now listen, my good fellow, allow me to ask, what is your name and patronymic,’ Ivan Ilyich asked Pseldonimov.

      
      ‘Porfiry Petrov,25 Your Excellency,’ the latter answered, wide-eyed, as if he were on review.


      
      ‘So, introduce me, to your young bride, Porfiry Petrovich … Take me … I …’

      
      And he manifested a desire to get up. But Pseldonimov had rushed off as fast as his legs would carry him to the drawing room.
         The young bride, however, had been standing right there in the doorway, but she hid herself as soon as she heard that they were talking about her. A minute later Pseldonimov led
         her out by the hand. Everyone stepped aside to make way for them. Ivan Ilyich solemnly rose to his feet and turned to her
         with the most amiable smile.


      
      ‘Very, very pleased to make your acquaintance,’ he said with the worldliest of half-bows, ‘particularly on such a day …’

      
      He gave a most calculating smile. The ladies became pleasantly excited.

      
      ‘Charmé,’26 the lady in the velvet dress uttered almost aloud.


      
      The bride stood next to Pseldonimov. She was a skinny little thing, all of seventeen years old, pale, with a very small face
         and a sharp little nose. Her small eyes, quick and furtive, were not bashful in the least; on the contrary, their staring
         gaze even had a hint of some sort of menace about them. Evidently, Pseldonimov had not married her for her beauty. She was
         dressed in a white muslin dress over a pink chemise. Her neck was skinny, her body was like a chicken’s with the bones all
         sticking out. To the general’s greeting she managed to say absolutely nothing.


      
      ‘My, what a pretty thing she is,’ he continued in a low voice, as if he were addressing Pseldonimov alone, but deliberately
         so that the bride could hear as well. But Pseldonimov replied absolutely nothing to this, and didn’t even lurch forward this
         time. It even seemed to Ivan Ilyich that there was something cold in his eyes, suppressed, wily, peculiar, malignant. And
         yet come what may Ivan Ilyich must strive for sensitivity. After all that’s why he had come.


      
      ‘But what a pair!’ he thought. ‘However …’

      
      And once again he addressed the young bride who had taken a seat next to him on the sofa, but to his two or three questions
         he had not received more than ‘yes’ and ‘no’, and even those, to tell the truth, came grudgingly.


      
      ‘If only she’d turn bashful,’ he continued to himself. ‘Then I could start joking. Otherwise, my position is hopeless, isn’t
         it?’ And Akim Petrovich kept silent as well, as if on purpose, and even though it was out of stupidity, it was still unforgivable.


      
      ‘Ladies and gentlemen! I’m afraid I’ve interrupted your party,’ he addressed everybody in general. He sensed that his palms were even sweating.

      
      ‘No, sir … Don’t worry, Your Excellency, we’ll start again right away, but for now … we’ll take it easy,’ the officer replied.
         The bride looked at him with pleasure: the officer was still young and was wearing some sort of regimental uniform. Pseldonimov
         was standing right there, hunched forward, and seemed to be brandishing his hooked nose even more than earlier. He listened
         and watched, like a lackey who stands holding a fur coat, waiting for his masters to finish their farewells. Ivan Ilyich made
         that comparison himself; he had become flustered, he felt he was being awkward, terribly awkward, that the ground was slipping
         out from under his feet, that he had gone somewhere and couldn’t get out, as if he were in the dark.


      
      Suddenly everybody stepped aside and a short, stout woman appeared, already up in years, simply dressed, although she had
         dolled herself up, with a large shawl around her shoulders that was pinned at the throat, and wearing a bonnet, which clearly
         she was not in the habit of doing. She was holding a small, round tray on which there stood a bottle of champagne that was
         untouched but already uncorked and two glasses, no more and no less. The bottle evidently was intended for only two guests.


      
      The elderly woman made straight for the general.

      
      ‘Please forgive me, Your Excellency,’ she said, bowing, ‘but since you did not disdain us, and have done us the honour of
         coming to my son’s wedding, then would you please be so kind as to drink to the young couple’s health. Don’t disdain us, do
         us the honour.’


      
      Ivan Ilyich latched on to her as his salvation. She was not an old woman at all, about forty-five or forty-six, no more. But
         she had such a kind, ruddy, such an open, round, Russian face, she was smiling so good-naturedly, she bowed so simply that
         Ivan Ilyich almost took comfort and began to hope.


      
      ‘So you are the mother of your son?’ he said, getting up from the sofa.


      
      ‘The mother, Your Excellency,’ Pseldonimov muttered, stretching his long neck and once again brandishing his nose.

      
      ‘Ah! Very glad, very glad to make your acquaintance.’


      
      ‘Then you won’t refuse, Your Excellency.’

      
      ‘With the greatest pleasure.’

      
      The tray was set down, Pseldonimov ran up and poured the wine. Ivan Ilyich, still standing, took a glass.

      
      ‘I am particularly, particularly happy on this occasion that I can …’ he began, ‘that I can … bear witness … In a word, as
         your superior, I wish you, madam’ (he turned to the young bride) ‘and you, Porfiry, my friend – I wish you complete, prosperous
         and lasting happiness.’


      
      And it was even with some feeling that he drank his glass, the seventh that evening. Pseldonimov was looking serious and even
         morose. The General was beginning to feel an excruciating hatred for him.


      
      ‘And that towering fellow’ (he cast a glance at the officer) ‘just hangs about. At least he could shout “Hurrah!” And then
         someone else would, and then someone else …’


      
      ‘And you too, Akim Petrovich, have a drink and congratulate them,’ the old woman added, turning to the desk officer. ‘You’re
         his superior, he’s your subordinate. Look after my little son, I ask you as a mother. And don’t forget us in the future, my
         dear Akim Petrovich, you’re a good man.’


      
      ‘How nice these old Russian women are!’ Ivan Ilyich thought. ‘She’s livened them all up. I’ve always liked the ways of the
         common folk …’


      
      At that moment another tray was brought to the table. It was carried by a girl wearing a rustling calico-print dress, which
         was so new it had yet to be laundered, and a crinoline. She could barely get her arms around the tray it was so large. On
         it were countless little plates with apples, sweets, meringues, marmalade, walnuts and so on and so forth. The tray until
         now had been in the drawing room for the enjoyment of all the guests. But now it was carried over to the general alone.


      
      ‘Please don’t turn up your nose at our victuals, Your Excellency. You’re welcome to whatever we have,’ the old woman repeated,
         bowing.


      
      ‘How kind …’ Ivan Ilyich said, and with evident pleasure he took a walnut and cracked it between his fingers. He had already
         made up his mind to be popular to the end.


      
      Meanwhile, the young bride suddenly began to giggle.

      
      ‘What is it, madam?’ Ivan Ilyich asked with a smile, happy to see signs of life.

      
      ‘It’s Ivan Kostenkinych, sir, he’s making me laugh,’ she replied, casting her eyes downwards.

      
      The General indeed did discern a fair-haired youth, not at all bad looking, who was hiding on a chair on the other side of
         the sofa and who was whispering something to Madame Pseldonimov. The youth got to his feet. He, to all appearances, was very
         bashful and very young.


      
      ‘I was talking about the “dream-book” Your Excellency,’ he mumbled, as if he were apologizing.

      
      ‘And which dream-book is that?’ Ivan Ilyich asked indulgently.

      
      ‘There’s a new dream-book, sir, a literary one, sir. I was telling them, sir, that if you see Mr Panayev27 in your dreams that means you’ll spill coffee on your shirt front, sir.’


      
      ‘What innocence,’ Ivan Ilyich thought, even with malice. The young man, though he became very flushed from saying this, was
         incredibly happy to have spoken about Mr Panayev.


      
      ‘Well, yes, yes, I’ve heard …’ His Excellency rejoined.

      
      ‘No, here’s something even better,’ another voice said right beside Ivan Ilyich. ‘A new lexicon is being published and they
         say that Mr Krayevsky will write the articles on Alferaki … and eksposé literature …’28

      
      This was said by a young man, not the bashful one, but a rather unceremonious one. He was wearing gloves and a white waistcoat
         and was holding his hat in his hands. He had not been dancing, had an arrogant look about him, because he was one of the contributors
         to the satirical journal the Brand,29 was used to setting the tone and had ended up at the wedding by accident, invited as an honoured guest of Pseldonimov, with
         whom he was on familiar terms and with whom just last year he had lived together in poverty in a ‘corner’ they rented from
         a certain German woman. He did, however, drink vodka and he had already repeatedly absented himself to a cosy back room, to which all knew the way. The general took an awful dislike to him.


      
      ‘And that’s funny, sir, because,’ suddenly broke in cheerfully the fair-haired youth who had been telling the story about
         the shirt front and whom the contributor in the white waistcoat looked upon with hatred as a result. ‘It’s funny, Your Excellency,
         because the author supposes that Mr Krayevsky doesn’t know how to spell and thinks that “exposé literature” should be written
         “eksposé literature” …’


      
      But the poor youth was scarcely able to finish. He could see by the general’s eyes that he had understood long before, because
         the general himself was also embarrassed, as it were, evidently because he had understood it. The young man became incredibly
         ashamed. He managed to retire to the background somewhere and for the rest of the evening he was very sad. In lieu of him
         the unceremonious contributor to the Brand came even closer, and it seemed as though he intended to sit somewhere nearby. Such lack of ceremony seemed somewhat ticklish
         to Ivan Ilyich.


      
      ‘Yes! Tell me, please, Porfiry,’ he began, just so as to say something, ‘why – I keep meaning to ask you about this personally,
         why is your surname Pseldonimov and not Pseudonymov? After all, you’re probably Pseudonymov, right?’


      
      ‘I can’t say with any certainty, Your Excellency,’ Pseldonimov answered.

      
      ‘It probably got mixed up on his father’s papers when he entered the service, sir, and so he remains Pseldonimov even now,’
         Akim Petrovich rejoined. ‘That happens, sir.’


      
      ‘Cer-tain-ly,’ the general picked up with great feeling, ‘cer-tain-ly, because, just judge for yourself: Pseudonymov, you
         see, comes from the literary word “pseudonym”. Well, but Pseldonimov doesn’t mean anything.’


      
      ‘It’s just stupidity, sir,’ Akim Petrovich added.

      
      ‘But what exactly is just stupidity?’

      
      ‘The Russian folk, sir; it’s just stupidity that they sometimes change the letters, sir, and sometimes they pronounce things
         their own way as well, sir. For example, they say imvalid when you ought to say invalid.’


      
      ‘Well, yes … imvalid, he-he-he …’


      
      ‘They also say mumber, Your Excellency,’ the tall officer blurted out, who had felt an itch for a long time now to distinguish himself somehow.


      
      ‘But what does mumber mean?’

      
      ‘Mumber instead of number, Your Excellency.’

      
      ‘Ah, yes, mumber … instead of number … Well, yes, yes … he-he-he! …’ Ivan Ilyich was obliged to titter for the officer as
         well.


      
      The officer straightened his tie.

      
      ‘And here’s something else they say: aboot,’ the contributor to the Brand interjected. But His Excellency tried not to hear that. He wasn’t going to titter for everybody.


      
      ‘Aboot instead of about,’ pestered the ‘contributor’, visibly irritated.


      
      Ivan Ilyich looked at him sternly.

      
      ‘Now why are you pestering him?’ Pseldonimov whispered to the contributor.

      
      ‘But what do you mean, I’m making conversation. Talking’s not allowed, is that it?’ the latter began to argue in a whisper,
         but then he fell silent and walked out of the room, barely concealing his rage.


      
      He stole straight to the tempting little back room, where early in the evening for the dancing gentlemen there had been set
         out on a little table, covered with a Yaroslavl30 tablecloth, two kinds of vodka, herring, slices of pressed caviar and a bottle of very strong domestic sherry. With fury
         in his heart, he was about to pour himself some vodka, when suddenly the medical student with the tousled hair, the premier
         dancer and exponent of the cancan at Pseldonimov’s party, ran in. He rushed to the decanter with greedy haste.


      
      ‘They’re going to start now!’ he said, quickly helping himself. ‘Come and watch: I’ll do a solo with my legs in the air, and
         after supper I’ll risk doing the “fish”.31 That’s just the thing for a wedding. A friendly hint to Pseldonimov, so to speak. That Kleopatra Semyonovna is a splendid
         woman, you can risk anything you like with her.’


      
      ‘He’s a retrograde,’ the contributor answered darkly, as he drank off his glass.

      
      ‘Who’s a retrograde?’

      
      ‘That one, the person over there by the bonbons. He’s a retrograde, I tell you!’

      
      ‘Well, come on now!’ the student mumbled and rushed out of the room upon hearing the ritornello32 of the quadrille.


      
      The contributor, left on his own, poured himself another glass for fortitude and independence, drank it off, had a bite; never
         before had Actual State Councillor Ivan Ilyich acquired a more fierce enemy and more implacable avenger than the scorned contributor
         to the Brand, particularly after two glasses of vodka. Alas! Ivan Ilyich didn’t suspect anything of the kind. Nor did he suspect yet another
         most important circumstance, which would have an effect on all further mutual relations between the guests and His Excellency.
         The fact of the matter is that even though he had for his part given a decent and even detailed explanation of how he came
         to be present at the wedding of his subordinate, this explanation really and truly didn’t satisfy anybody, and the guests
         continued to feel embarrassed. But suddenly everything changed, like magic; everyone calmed down and was ready to enjoy themselves,
         laugh, scream and dance, just as if there were no unexpected guest in the room. The reason for this was the rumour, whispering
         and news that suddenly began to circulate, no one knew how, that the guest, it seems … was under the influence. And although
         at first glance this appeared to be the most awful slander, little by little it seemed to be justified, so that suddenly everything
         became clear. Besides, they suddenly became unusually relaxed. And then at that very same moment the quadrille began, the
         last one before supper, the one the medical student had been in such a hurry for.


      
      And just as Ivan Ilyich was about to address the new bride once again, this time trying to engage her with some pun, the tall
         officer suddenly came running up to her and with a sweeping gesture got down on one knee. She at once jumped up from the sofa
         and flew away with him to get into line for the quadrille. The officer didn’t even excuse himself, while she didn’t even look
         at the general as she was leaving, even as if she were happy that she had escaped.


      
      ‘However, she’s really within her rights,’ Ivan Ilyich thought, ‘and besides they don’t know the niceties.’

      
      ‘Hm … you shouldn’t stand on ceremony, Porfiry, my good man,’ he turned to Pseldonimov. ‘Perhaps you have something … in the
         way of things to see to … or something there … please, don’t be shy.’ ‘Is he standing guard over me, or what?’ he added to
         himself.


      
      Pseldonimov with his long neck and eyes intently fixed on him was becoming unbearable. In a word, this was all wrong, quite
         wrong, but Ivan Ilyich was still far from wanting to admit it.


      
      The quadrille began.

      
      ‘May I, Your Excellency?’ Akim Petrovich asked, respectfully holding the bottle in his hands and getting ready to pour a glass
         for His Excellency.


      
      ‘I … I don’t really know if …’

      
      But Akim Petrovich with a reverential, beaming face was already pouring the champagne. Having filled the glass, he also poured
         himself one as well, almost surreptitiously, almost furtively, cowering and pulling faces, but with this difference – he gave
         himself an entire finger less, which seemed somehow more respectful. He was like a woman in labour, sitting next to his immediate
         superior. Indeed, what was he going to talk about? And yet he was obliged to entertain His Excellency, since he had the pleasure
         of his company. The champagne was a way out, and His Excellency found it pleasing that he had been poured a glass – not on
         account of the champagne, which was warm and the most ordinary rubbish, but he found it morally pleasing.


      
      ‘The old man wants a drink himself,’ Ivan Ilyich thought, ‘but he doesn’t dare have one without me. I shouldn’t hold him back
         … And it’s ridiculous for the bottle to just stand there between us.’


      
      He took a sip, and at any rate it did seem better than just sitting there.

      
      ‘I’m here, you see,’ he began with pauses and emphases, ‘You see, I’m here, so to speak, by chance and of course perhaps some
         might find … that it was, so to speak … im-prop-er for me to be present at such a … gathering.’


      
      Akim Petrovich kept his silence and listened with timid curiosity.

      
      ‘But I hope that you will understand why I’m here … You see, I didn’t as a matter of fact come here to drink wine. He-he!’

      
      Akim Petrovich was about to follow His Excellency’s example and have a titter, but he somehow stopped short and again said
         absolutely nothing comforting in reply.


      
      ‘I’m here … in order, so to speak, to encourage … to show, so to speak, the moral, so to speak, purpose,’ Ivan Ilyich continued,
         annoyed at Akim Petrovich’s obtuseness, but suddenly he fell silent as well. He saw that poor Akim Petrovich had even lowered
         his eyes, as if he were guilty of something. Feeling a certain embarrassment, the general hurried to take another sip from
         his glass, while Akim Petrovich, as if his entire salvation depended upon it, grabbed the bottle and topped it up again.


      
      ‘You certainly don’t have much in the way of resources,’ Ivan Ilyich thought, looking sternly at poor Akim Petrovich. The
         latter, sensing the general’s stern gaze on him, decided to keep completely silent and not raise his eyes. And they sat facing
         each other like that for about two minutes, two painful minutes for Akim Petrovich.


      
      A couple of words about Akim Petrovich. He was as submissive as a hen, one of the old school, nurtured on servility, and for
         all that a good man and even a noble one. His people were Petersburg Russians, that is, both his father and his father’s father
         were born, grew up and served in Petersburg without ever leaving Petersburg even once. This is a quite special type of Russian
         people. They don’t have even the slightest understanding of Russia, which doesn’t bother them in the least. Their entire interest
         is confined to Petersburg, and chiefly their place of work. All their cares are centred on preference33 for kopeck stakes, the shops and their monthly salary. They don’t know a single Russian custom, nor a single Russian song,
         except ‘Luchinushka’,34 and they only know that one because the organ-grinders play it. However, there are two significant and reliable signs by
         which you can immediately distinguish a real Russian from a Petersburg Russian. The first sign is that all Petersburg Russians,
         without exception, never say Petersburg News, but Academic News.35 The second, equally significant sign is that a Petersburg Russian never uses the word ‘breakfast’, but always says Früstück,36 with particular emphasis on the sound frü. By these two fundamental and distinctive signs you can always distinguish them; in a word, this is a humble type that has
         become fully developed over the last thirty-five years. However, Akim Petrovich was no fool. If the general had asked him
         about something suitable, he would have answered and kept up the conversation, but otherwise, you see, it was improper for
         a subordinate to answer such questions, even though Akim Petrovich was dying from curiosity to find out something in more
         detail about His Excellency’s real intentions … 


      
      But meanwhile Ivan Ilyich was sinking deeper and deeper into thought and into a sort of whorl of ideas; with a preoccupied
         air, he was sipping from his glass imperceptibly, but constantly. Akim Petrovich repeatedly and most diligently would fill
         up his glass. Both were silent. Ivan Ilyich began to watch the dancing and soon it had somewhat engaged his attention. Suddenly,
         a certain circumstance even surprised him … 


      
      The dancing indeed was merry. They danced in the simplicity of their hearts to be merry and even go wild. There were very
         few nimble dancers; but those who were not stamped about so loudly that one might have taken them for nimble ones. The first
         to distinguish himself was the officer: he particularly liked the figures in which he danced alone, as in a solo. Here he
         would bend himself in an amazing manner, to wit: he would be as straight as a post and then suddenly bend to one side so that
         you would think that he would fall down, but with the next step he would suddenly bend in the opposite direction, at the same
         sharp angle to the floor. The expression on his face was most serious and he danced with the full conviction that everybody
         was amazed by him. Another gentleman, having imbibed quite a bit before the quadrille had begun, had fallen asleep beside
         his partner during the second figure, so that his partner was forced to dance alone. A young registrator, who had danced with his partner in the blue scarf, had played the same trick in all the figures of each quadrille, namely, he would fall
         behind his partner somewhat, snatch the end of her scarf, and when they passed one another as they changed positions, he would
         manage to brush this end of the scarf with a couple dozen kisses. And his partner would sail on in front of him as if she
         hadn’t noticed anything. The medical student indeed performed his solo with his legs in the air, inciting frenzied delight,
         stomping of feet and shrieks of pleasure. In a word, there was an extraordinary lack of constraint. Ivan Ilyich, who was feeling
         the effects of the wine, had started to smile, but little by little a sort of bitter doubt started to creep into his heart:
         of course, he very much liked relaxed manners and lack of constraint; he had desired them, he had even sincerely invited them,
         these relaxed manners, when they were all backing away from him; but now these relaxed manners were already exceeding all
         bounds. One lady, for example, wearing a shabby blue velvet dress, bought fourth-hand, in the sixth figure had pinned up her
         dress in such a way that it looked like she was wearing bloomers. This was that same Kleopatra Semyonovna, with whom it was
         possible to risk everything, in the words of her partner, the medical student. And what can be said about the medical student?
         He was simply Fokine.37 How had this happened? First, they backed away, and then all of a sudden they had become completely emancipated! It would
         seem to be nothing, but this transition was somehow strange: it portended something. It was as if they had all quite forgotten
         that there was such a one as Ivan Ilyich on this earth. It goes without saying that he was the first to laugh and even ventured
         to applaud. Akim Petrovich respectfully tittered with him in unison, although with visible pleasure and not suspecting that
         His Excellency was already beginning to nourish new doubts in his heart.


      
      ‘You dance splendidly, young man,’ Ivan Ilyich was obliged to say to the student, who walked past – the quadrille had just
         ended.


      
      The student turned sharply towards him, pulled some sort of face, and bringing his face indecently close to His Excellency’s,
         he crowed like a rooster for all he was worth. This was really too much now. Ivan Ilyich rose from the table. Despite this, a volley of unrestrained laughter followed, because the rooster’s
         crow was amazingly natural, and his pulling the face so unexpected. Ivan Ilyich was still standing in bewilderment, when suddenly
         Pseldonimov himself appeared and, bowing, asked him to come to supper. His mother followed him.


      
      ‘Your Excellency, sir,’ she said, bowing, ‘please do us the honour, don’t disdain our poverty …’

      
      ‘I … I truly don’t know …’ Ivan Ilyich began, ‘you see, I didn’t come for that … I … was already getting ready to go …’

      
      Indeed, he was holding his hat in his hands. Besides, just then, at that very moment, he had promised himself that he would
         definitely leave, right away, no matter what, and wouldn’t stay for anything and … and he stayed. A minute later he was leading
         the procession to the table. Pseldonimov and his mother walked in front of him, clearing the way for him. He was seated in
         the place of honour and once again an untouched bottle of champagne appeared before him. There were zakuski:38 herring and vodka. He reached out his hand, poured himself an enormous glass of vodka and drank it. He had never drunk vodka
         before. He felt like he was sledding down a hill, flying, flying, flying, that he needed to hold on to something, to grab
         on to something, but that was impossible.


      
      Indeed, his position was becoming more and more peculiar. More than that – it was some sort of mockery of fate. God only knows
         what had happened to him in something on the order of an hour. When he came in, he had held out his hands, so to speak, to
         embrace all of mankind and all of his subordinates; and now, not even an hour later, he sensed and knew with all his aching
         heart that he hated Pseldonimov, that he cursed him, his wife and his wedding. More than that: he could see by his face and
         by his eyes that Pseldonimov hated him, that his look practically said: ‘I wish you’d get lost, damn you! Foisting yourself
         on me! …’ All this he had read a long time ago in his look.


      
      Of course, Ivan Ilyich even now, as he was sitting down at the table, would sooner have had his hand cut off than sincerely acknowledge, not only aloud, but even to himself, that
         all this was really the case. That moment had not yet quite come; now there was still some sort of moral balance. But his
         heart, his heart … it ached! It begged for freedom, for air, for rest. You see, Ivan Ilyich was much too good a person.


      
      He knew, you see, he knew very well that he should have left a long time ago, or not merely leave but save himself. That all
         this had suddenly gone awry, that it had not turned out at all like he had imagined just now on the footway.


      
      ‘Why did I come after all? Did I really come to eat and drink here?’ he asked himself, as he was having a bite of herring.
         He even experienced denial. At moments irony occasioned by his exploit stirred in his soul. He was even beginning not to be
         able to understand himself why, as a matter of fact, he had come.


      
      But how could he leave? To leave like that, without seeing it to the end, was impossible. ‘What will people say? They’ll say
         that I hang about indecent places. As a matter of fact, it will turn out just like that if I don’t see it through to the end.
         What will they be saying tomorrow (because the word will get around everywhere); for example, what will Stepan Nikiforovich
         or Semyon Ivanych say; or what about at the offices, at the Shembels or the Shubins? No, I must leave so that they all understand
         why I came, I must bring out into the open the moral purpose …’ But meanwhile, this pathetic moment just would not come.
         ‘They don’t even respect me,’ he continued. ‘Why are they laughing? They’re so casual, it’s as if they didn’t have feelings!
         Yes, I have long suspected that the entire younger generation has no feelings! I must stay no matter what happens! … Just
         now they were dancing, and now they’ll gather round the table … I’ll talk about issues, about the reforms, about Russia’s
         greatness … I’ll win them over yet! Yes! Perhaps nothing is completely lost yet … Perhaps that’s how it always is in reality.
         But just what should I start with, to engage them? What method should I devise? I’m at my wits’ end, my wits’ end … And what
         do they need, what do they want? … I see that they’re smiling to one another over there … I hope it’s not about me, good heavens!
         But what is it I want … why am I here, why don’t I leave, what am I trying to achieve? …’ He was thinking this, and some sort of shame, some deep, unbearable shame was tearing
         at his heart more and more.


      
      But everything kept going on in the same way, one thing leading to another.

      
      Exactly two minutes after he sat down at the table, a certain terrifying idea took hold of his whole being. He suddenly felt
         that he was horribly drunk – that is, not like he had been earlier, but completely drunk. The reason for this was the glass
         of vodka, drunk after the champagne and which had an immediate effect. He felt, he sensed with his whole being that he was
         becoming completely weak. Of course, his courage had grown stronger, but his conscience did not abandon him, rather it cried
         out to him: ‘This is bad, this is very bad, and even quite indecent!’ Of course, his unsteady drunken thoughts could not settle
         on one point: suddenly there appeared within himself, even palpably, two sides, as it were. In one there was courage, the
         desire for victory, the overthrow of obstacles and a desperate certainty that he would achieve his goal. The other side let
         itself be known through an agonizing ache in his soul and some sort of gnawing pain in his heart. ‘What will people say? How
         will it end? What will tomorrow bring, tomorrow, tomorrow! …’


      
      Earlier he had somehow dimly sensed that he had enemies among the guests. ‘That’s probably because I was drunk before, too,’
         he thought with agonizing doubt. Imagine his horror now, when he really became convinced by unmistakable signs that he really
         did have enemies at the table and that there could no longer be any doubt about that.


      
      ‘And for what! For what!’ he thought.

      
      Seated at this table were all of the thirty or so guests, some of whom were already completely plastered. The others behaved
         with a certain offhand, malignant independence – they shouted, all talked loudly, proposing premature toasts, trading volleys
         of bread bullets with the ladies. One fellow, an unprepossessing person in a soiled frock coat, fell off his chair as soon
         as he sat down at the table and remained there until supper was over. Another wanted without fail to climb on to the table
         and propose a toast, and it was only the officer, grabbing him by his coat-tails, who restrained his premature rapture. The supper was
         quite a mishmash, even though they had hired a cook, the serf of some general: there were galantine, tongue with potatoes,
         cutlets with green peas, and finally, there was a goose, and blancmange to end it all. To drink there was beer, vodka and
         sherry. Only the general had a bottle of champagne standing before him, which prompted him to pour some for himself and Akim
         Petrovich; the latter would not have dared allow himself such liberties at the supper table. The rest of the guests were supposed
         to drink their toasts with wine from the Caucasus or whatever there happened to be. The table itself was comprised of several
         tables that had been pushed together, among which there was even a card table. It was covered with several tablecloths, among
         which there was a coloured one from Yaroslavl. The guests were seated with ladies and gentlemen alternating. Pseldonimov’s
         mother did not wish to sit at the table; she was too busy fussing and giving orders. But then there appeared a malignant female
         figure, who had not shown herself earlier, in some sort of reddish silk dress, wearing a bandage on account of a toothache
         and a very tall bonnet. It turned out that this was the bride’s mother, who had finally agreed to come out of the back room
         for supper. Until now she had not come out on account of her irreconcilable hostility for Pseldonimov’s mother; but we shall
         make mention of this later. This lady was looking at the general spitefully, even mockingly, and clearly did not wish to be
         introduced to him. Ivan Ilyich thought this figure to be extremely suspect. But apart from her there were some other people
         who were suspect as well and inspired involuntary misgivings and unease. They even seemed to be in some sort of plot together,
         and one precisely against Ivan Ilyich. At least it seemed so to him, and during the course of the whole supper he became more
         and more convinced of it. To wit: one gentleman, with a beard, some sort of free artist, was malignant; he even looked at
         Ivan Ilyich several times and then, after turning to his neighbour, whispered something to him. Another, one of the students,
         who it was true was already quite drunk, but all the same, judging by certain signs, was suspect. Nor did the medical student
         bode well. Even the officer himself was not altogether trustworthy. But the contributor to the Brand shone with special and visible hatred: he was sprawled out so in his chair, had such a proud and arrogant look, and chortled
         with such self-assurance! And although the other guests paid no particular attention to the contributor (who had written only
         four little poems for the Brand, thus becoming a liberal), and it was even clear that they didn’t like him, when suddenly a little bread bullet fell near
         Ivan Ilyich, obviously intended for him, he was prepared to stake his life that the culprit was none other than the contributor
         to the Brand.

      
      All this, of course, had the most deplorable effect on him.

      
      Particularly unpleasant was yet another observation: Ivan Ilyich was absolutely convinced that he was beginning to articulate
         his words unclearly and with difficulty, that he wanted to say a lot, but that his tongue wasn’t moving. Then, that he suddenly
         began to forget himself, as it were, and the main thing, that he would begin snorting and laughing out of the blue, when there
         was nothing at all to laugh at. This mood quickly passed after another glass of champagne, which even though Ivan Ilyich had
         poured it himself, he didn’t wish to drink, and then suddenly drank it somehow, completely by accident. After this glass he
         suddenly almost wanted to burst into tears. He sensed that he was sinking into the most eccentric sentimentality; once again
         he began to love everybody, even Pseldonimov, even the contributor to the Brand. He suddenly wanted to embrace them all, to forget everything and be reconciled. And more than that: to tell them everything
         frankly, everything, everything, namely, what a good and splendid person he was, with what excellent abilities. How he will
         be of use to the fatherland, how he knew how to make the fair sex laugh, and, the main thing, what a progressive he was, how
         humanely he was prepared to condescend to everyone, to the most lowly, and, finally, in conclusion, to tell them frankly of
         the motives that prompted him to come uninvited to Pseldonimov’s, to drink two bottles of his champagne and to grace him with
         his presence.


      
      ‘The truth, the sacred truth above all, and frankness! I’ll bring them around with frankness. They’ll believe me, I see it
         clearly; they even look hostile now, but when I reveal everything to them, I’ll win them over incontrovertibly. They’ll fill their glasses and with a cheer drink to my health. The officer, I’m sure,
         will break his glass on his spur. They might even shout “Hurrah!” I wouldn’t resist even if they got it into their heads to
         toss me up into the air hussar fashion,39 it would be quite a good thing even. I’d kiss the bride on the forehead; she’s a sweet girl. Akim Petrovich is also a very
         good man. Pseldonimov, of course, will improve with time. He lacks that genteel lustre, so to speak … And although, of course,
         the whole new generation is found wanting when it comes to this delicacy of the heart, but … but I’ll tell them about Russia’s
         mission today among the other European powers. I’ll mention the peasant question, and … and they’ll all love me, and I’ll
         leave in glory! …’


      
      These dreams, of course, were very pleasant, but it was unpleasant that among all these rosy hopes Ivan Ilyich suddenly discovered
         in himself an unexpected ability: namely, to spit. At least saliva began to suddenly spring from his mouth quite against his
         will. He noticed this on Akim Petrovich, whose cheek he had showered and who sat not daring to wipe it off right away out
         of respect. Ivan Ilyich took a napkin and suddenly wiped it himself. But right away this seemed so absurd, so outside the
         bounds of what is sensible that he fell silent and began to wonder at himself. Akim Petrovich, though he had been drinking,
         nevertheless sat there as if he’d been scalded. Ivan Ilyich realized now that he had been talking for almost a quarter of
         an hour to him about some very interesting topic, but that Akim Petrovich, while listening to him, seemed not only embarrassed,
         but even frightened. Pseldonimov, sitting a chair away from him, had also craned his neck towards him and, with his head cocked
         to the side, was listening to him with a most unpleasant look. He really seemed to be keeping watch over him. As he glanced
         round at the guests, he saw that many were looking straight at him and chortling. But the strangest thing of all was that
         despite all that he wasn’t in the least embarrassed; on the contrary, he took another sip from his glass and suddenly, for
         all to hear, began to speak.


      
      ‘I’ve already said!’ he began as loudly as he could, ‘I’ve already said, ladies and gentlemen, to Akim Petrovich just now
         that Russia … yes, precisely Russia … in a word, you understand that I want to say … Russia is experiencing, in my considered opinion, hu-humaneness …’


      
      ‘Hu-humaneness!’ resounded from the other end of the table.

      
      ‘Hu-hu!’

      
      ‘Phooey, phooey!’

      
      Ivan Ilyich faltered. Pseldonimov got up from his chair and began to look to see who had shouted. Akim Petrovich began furtively
         to shake his head as if he were reprimanding the guests. Ivan Ilyich observed this only too well, but suffered torments in
         silence.


      
      ‘Humaneness!’ he stubbornly continued. ‘And just this evening … and just this very evening I was telling Stepan Niki-ki-for-o-vich
         … yes … that … that the renewal, so to speak, of things …’


      
      ‘Your Excellency!’ a voice loudly resounded from the other end of the table.

      
      ‘What can I do for you?’ Ivan Ilyich answered, as he tried to make out who had interrupted him with his shouting.

      
      ‘Absolutely nothing, Your Excellency, I got carried away, continue! Con-tin-ue!’ the voice called out again.

      
      Ivan Ilyich winced.

      
      ‘The renewal, so to speak, of these very things …’

      
      ‘Your Excellency!’ the voice shouted again.

      
      ‘What can I do for you?’

      
      ‘Hello!’

      
      This time Ivan Ilyich couldn’t bear it. He interrupted his speech and turned to the offender and transgressor of order. It
         was a student who was still very young, quite drunk and who had already aroused enormous suspicions in him. He had been yelling
         for some time and had even broken a glass and two plates, maintaining that this was what was done at weddings. At that moment,
         when Ivan Ilyich turned towards him, the officer sternly began to berate the shouting youth.


      
      ‘What’s wrong with you, why are you shouting? You should be thrown out, that’s what!’

      
      ‘It’s not about you, Your Excellency, it’s not about you! Continue!’ the high-spirited schoolboy shouted, sprawled out on his chair. ‘Continue, I’m listening, and am very, ver-ry,
         ver-ry pleased with you! Com-mend-able! Com-mend-able!’


      
      ‘The boy’s drunk!’ Pseldonimov suggested in a whisper.

      
      ‘I can see that he’s drunk, but …’

      
      ‘I was just telling an amusing story, Your Excellency!’ the officer began, ‘about a certain lieutenant in our company who
         spoke with his superiors in exactly the same way; so now he’s imitating him. He kept repeating after his superior’s every
         word: Com-mend-able, com-mend-able! It’s been ten years now since he was discharged from the service on account of this.’


      
      ‘Who is this lieutenant, then?’

      
      ‘In our company, Your Excellency, he lost his mind with this “commendable”. At first they admonished him mildly, then he was
         put under arrest … The superior appealed to his conscience like a father, but all he got was “Com-mend-able, com-mend-able!”
         And the strange thing about it is that the officer was a manly sort, six feet tall. They were going to bring him to trial,
         but then they realized he was mad.’


      
      ‘Well then … he’s a schoolboy. One doesn’t have to be so severe over schoolboy pranks … I, for my part, am prepared to forgive
         …’


      
      ‘There was a medical examination, Your Excellency.’

      
      ‘What! They dissected him?’

      
      ‘For goodness’ sake, he was quite alive, you see, sir.’

      
      A loud volley of laughter rang out from practically all the guests, who in the beginning had been behaving themselves with
         decorum. Ivan Ilyich became furious.


      
      ‘Gentlemen, gentlemen!’ he cried out, at first without even stammering, ‘I’m perfectly able to apprehend that they don’t dissect
         a man while he’s alive. I had supposed that in his madness he was no longer alive … that is, that he had died … that is, I
         wish to say … that you don’t love me … While I love all of you … Yes, and I love Por … Porfiry … I am humiliating myself by
         saying so …’


      
      At that moment an enormous wad of saliva flew out of Ivan Ilyich’s mouth and splattered the tablecloth in the most conspicuous place. Pseldonimov rushed to wipe it up with a napkin. This last misfortune had crushed him completely.

      
      ‘Gentlemen, this is too much!’ he cried out in despair.

      
      ‘The man’s drunk, Your Excellency,’ Pseldonimov suggested once again.

      
      ‘Porfiry! I see that you … all … yes! I was saying that I hope … Yes, I challenge all of you to tell me: how have I humiliated
         myself?’


      
      Ivan Ilyich was practically in tears.

      
      ‘Your Excellency, for goodness’ sake!’

      
      ‘Porfiry, I appeal to you … Tell me, for heaven’s sake, if I came … yes … yes, to your wedding, I had a purpose. I wanted
         to morally raise … I wanted you to feel. I appeal to all of you: am I very humiliated in your eyes or not?’


      
      Deathly silence. And that was precisely the problem, that there was deathly silence, and in answer to such a categorical question.
         ‘Well, why don’t they, why don’t they at least give a shout at a moment like this?’ flashed through His Excellency’s head.
         But the guests merely exchanged glances. Akim Petrovich sat neither dead nor alive, while Pseldonimov, dumb with fear, kept
         repeating to himself the horrible question that had occurred to him long before: ‘And what will happen to me tomorrow for
         all this?’


      
      Suddenly the contributor to the Brand, already very much in his cups but who until now had been sitting in morose silence, turned to face Ivan Ilyich and with
         eyes ablaze made his reply in the name of all those gathered there.


      
      ‘Yes, sir!’ he cried out in a thundering voice. ‘Yes, sir, you have humiliated yourself, yes, sir, you are a retrograde …
         A retrograde!’


      
      ‘Come to your senses, young man! Remember who you’re speaking to!’ Ivan Ilyich shouted furiously, once again jumping up from
         his seat.


      
      ‘To you, and, in the second place, I’m not a young man … You have come to put on airs and seek popularity.’

      
      ‘Pseldonimov, what is this!’ Ivan Ilyich exclaimed.

      
      But Pseldonimov had jumped up in such horror that he stood stock-still and had absolutely no idea what he should do. The guests sat there, petrified with fear, but the artist and the student were applauding, shouting, ‘Bravo, bravo!’

      
      The contributor continued to shout with irrepressible fury.

      
      ‘Yes, you came to boast of your humaneness! You’ve interfered with everybody’s merriment. You drank champagne without realizing
         that it’s too expensive for a civil servant who makes ten roubles a month, and I suspect that you are one of those superiors
         who are fond of the young wives of his subordinates! Besides, I’m certain that you’re in favour of tax-farming … Yes, yes,
         yes!’


      
      ‘Pseldonimov, Pseldonimov!’ Ivan Ilyich cried with his arms outstretched. He felt that the contributor’s every word was like
         a new dagger in his heart.


      
      ‘Right away, Your Excellency, please don’t worry!’ Pseldonimov energetically cried out, as he ran over to the contributor,
         grabbed him by the scruff of the neck and dragged him away from the table. One would not have expected such physical force
         from puny Pseldonimov. But the contributor was very drunk, and Pseldonimov was completely sober. Then he punched him in the
         back several times and threw him out the door.


      
      ‘You’re all scoundrels!’ the contributor shouted. ‘I’ll publish caricatures of the whole lot of you tomorrow in the Brand!’


      
      They all jumped up from their seats.

      
      ‘Your Excellency! Your Excellency!’ cried Pseldonimov, his mother and several of the guests, as they crowded round the general.
         ‘Your Excellency, stay calm!’


      
      ‘No, no!’ the general cried, ‘I’m crushed … I came … I wanted, so to speak, to bless. And here’s what I get, this is what
         I get for everything!’


      
      He sank down on to his chair, as if he were unconscious, placed both hands on the table and lowered his head on them, right
         into the plate with the blancmange. The general horror cannot be described. A minute later he got up, evidently wishing to
         leave, lurched, tripped on a leg of his chair, and fell flat on the floor and started snoring … 


      
      This sometimes happens to people who aren’t drinkers when they get drunk by accident. They remain conscious until the bitter
         end, and then suddenly fall as if they had been cut down. Ivan Ilyich lay on the floor, having completely lost consciousness. Pseldonimov was pulling his hair and froze stock still
         in that position. The guests began to hurriedly disperse, each with his own interpretation of the events. It was already around
         three o’clock in the morning.


      
      The main thing was that Pseldonimov’s circumstances were really much worse than might have been imagined, the very unattractiveness
         of the present situation notwithstanding. And while Ivan Ilyich is lying on the floor, and Pseldonimov is standing over him,
         pulling his hair in despair, we will interrupt the narrative flow of our story and say a few explanatory words about Porfiry
         Petrovich Pseldonimov.


      
      No more than a month prior to his wedding he was perishing utterly and irrevocably. He came from the provinces, where his
         father had at one time served in some capacity and had died while he was on trial. Five months before his wedding, Pseldonimov,
         who had been perishing in Petersburg for a whole year already, received his ten-rouble-a-month position; it was as if he had
         been resurrected, in both body and spirit, but he was again soon humbled by his circumstances. In the whole wide world, there
         remained only two Pseldonimovs, himself and his mother, who had left the provinces after her husband’s death. Mother and son
         were perishing together in the freezing cold and living on food made from dubious materials. There were days when Pseldonimov
         would go to the Fontanka for water with a cup in hand so that he could slake his thirst. After receiving his position, he
         and his mother settled down somewhat in a corner somewhere. She began taking in laundry, while he scraped together his savings
         of four months to get himself somehow a pair of boots and the semblance of an overcoat. And the misfortunes he had to endure
         in the office: his superiors would approach him to ask whether it had been a long time since he had been to the bathhouse.
         A rumour circulated about him that there were nests of bedbugs beneath the collar of his uniform. But Pseldonimov was a man
         of firm character. In appearance he was submissive and quiet; he had very little education, he was almost never heard to take
         part in conversation. I don’t know positively: whether he thought, whether he made plans and systems, whether he dreamed about anything. But to compensate for
         that he had developed some sort of instinctive, unshakeable, unconscious resolve to make his way out of his nasty situation.
         He had the stubbornness of an ant: if you destroy an anthill, they’ll build it all over again at once, destroy it again –
         and they’ll begin again, and so on tirelessly. This was a being, who was methodical and thrifty. It was written on his face
         that he would make his way, build his nest and perhaps even save up enough for an emergency. In the whole world only his mother
         loved him and she loved him to death. She was a firm woman, tireless, hard-working and yet kind. And they would have lived
         like that in their corner perhaps for another five or six years until their circumstances had changed if they hadn’t crossed
         paths with retired Titular Councillor Mlekopitayev, formerly a paymaster who had served at one time in their province, and
         had recently come to Petersburg where he and his family had settled. He knew Pseldonimov and had been somehow obliged to his
         father for something. He had some money, of course, not very much, but still he had some; nobody knew how much he really had,
         not his wife, or his elder daughter, or his relatives. He had two daughters, and since he was a terrible bully, a drunkard,
         domestic tyrant and, moreover, a sickly man, he suddenly took it into his head to marry off one of his daughters to Pseldonimov:
         ‘I know him,’ he said, ‘his father was a good man, and the son will be a good man.’ Whatever Mlekopitayev wanted, he did;
         it was no sooner said than done. He was a very strange sort of bully. He spent most of his time sitting in an armchair, since
         he had lost the use of his legs with some illness, which didn’t prevent him, however, from drinking vodka. For days on end
         he would drink and curse. He was a malicious man; he needed without fail to have somebody to torment non-stop. For this purpose
         he kept under his roof several distant relatives: his own sister, who was sick and a shrew; his wife’s two sisters, who were
         malicious chatterboxes; and then there was his old aunt who had somehow managed to break a rib. He kept on another sponger,
         a Russified German woman, on account of her talent for telling him stories from the One Thousand and One Nights. All his pleasure consisted in needling these unfortunate hangers-on, to abuse them day and night for all he was worth, even
         though not one of them, including his wife, who was born with toothache, dared to so much as squeak in his presence. He would
         get them to fight among themselves, make up, and spread rumours and dissent among them, and then rejoice when he saw that
         they almost came to blows. He was quite delighted when his elder daughter, who had lived in poverty for ten years with her
         husband, some officer, and who had finally been widowed, came to live with him with her three sickly children. He couldn’t
         stand her children, but since their appearance increased the material upon which he could conduct his daily experiments, the
         old man was quite pleased. This whole heap of malicious women and sickly children along with their tormentor were crowded
         together in a wooden house on the Petersburg Side, not getting enough to eat because the old man was stingy and doled out
         money kopecks at a time, though he didn’t begrudge himself vodka; they didn’t get enough sleep because the old man suffered
         from insomnia and demanded to be entertained. In a word, they all lived in poverty and cursed their fate. It was at this time
         that Mlekopitayev happened upon Pseldonimov. He was struck by his long nose and submissive air. His frail and plain younger
         daughter had just turned seventeen. Even though she at one time had attended some sort of German Schule,40 she didn’t get much out of it beyond her abc’s. Then she grew up, scrofulous and emaciated under the crutch of her lame and
         drunken parent and amidst the squall of domestic gossip, spying and slander. She had never had any girlfriends, or any brains.
         She had been wanting to get married for a long time now. In company she was taciturn, but at home together with her mama and
         the hangers-on she was malicious and a shrill nag. She particularly liked to pinch and punch her sister’s children, sneaking
         up on them for sugar and bread they had made off with, which was the cause of an endless and unquenchable quarrel with her
         older sister. The old man himself offered her to Pseldonimov. Poor though he was, the latter nevertheless asked for some time
         to think it over. He and his mother pondered on it for quite a while. But the house was to be registered in the bride’s name, and even though it was wooden, and even though it was only one storey and a bit foul, it was still worth something.
         On top of that there was the 400 roubles – when could you ever save up that much yourself! ‘After all, why am I taking a man
         into my house,’ the drunken bully would shout. ‘In the first place, because you’re all women and I’m sick of having only women.
         I want Pseldonimov to dance to my tune as well, because I am his benefactor. In the second place, I’m taking him in because
         none of you wants it and you’re all angry. So I’ll do it to spite you. And I’ll do what I’ve said! And you, Porfirka, beat
         her when she’s your wife; she’s had seven demons sitting inside her since birth. Drive them out, and I’ll get the stick ready
         for you …’


      
      Pseldonimov kept silent, but he had already made up his mind. He and his mother were received into the house before the wedding,
         washed up, dressed, shod, given money for the wedding. The old man was their protector, perhaps because the entire household
         had it in for them. He even liked old lady Pseldonimov, so he refrained from needling her. However, a week before the wedding
         he made Pseldonimov dance the kazachok.41 ‘Well, that’s enough, I merely wanted to see that you didn’t forget yourself with me,’ he said when the dance had come to
         an end. He gave them only just enough money for the wedding and invited all his relatives and acquaintances. On Pseldonimov’s
         side there was only the contributor to the Brand and Akim Petrovich, the guest of honour. Pseldonimov knew only too well that his bride loathed him and that she really wanted
         to marry the officer, and not him. But he bore it all, because that was the agreement with his mother. The entire wedding
         day and all evening the old man had been getting drunk and cursed using the nastiest words. On the occasion of the wedding,
         the entire family took shelter in the back rooms and were crowded together so that it stank. The front rooms were reserved
         for the party and supper. At last, when the old man fell asleep, completely drunk, at about eleven o’clock in the evening,
         the bride’s mother, who had particularly been angry with Pseldonimov’s mother that day, made up her mind to exchange her wrath
         for kindness and go out to the party and supper. The appearance of Ivan Ilyich upset everything. Mrs Mlekopitayev became embarrassed,
         got offended and began cursing them for not informing her that the general himself had been invited. They assured her that
         he had come on his own, uninvited – she was so stupid that she wouldn’t believe them. The situation called for champagne.
         Pseldonimov’s mother had only one rouble, Pseldonimov didn’t have a single kopeck. They had to humble themselves before the
         malevolent old Mlekopitayev woman, beg for money first for one bottle, then another. They portrayed for her the future of
         his relationships in the office, his career; they appealed to her conscience. In the end she gave some of her own money, but
         she made Pseldonimov drink such a cup of gall and vinegar42 that he had already repeatedly run into the little room, where the bridal bed was prepared, pulled his hair in silence and
         threw himself head first on to the bed intended for heavenly delights, trembling all over with impotent rage. Yes! Ivan Ilyich
         did not know what those two bottles of Jackson had cost, which he had drunk that night. What then was Pseldonimov’s horror,
         anguish and even despair, when the episode with Ivan Ilyich ended in such an unexpected way. He again foresaw trouble and
         maybe a whole night of screams and tears from the capricious new bride, and reproaches from the bride’s dim-witted kin. His
         head was already aching without that, and the fumes and darkness had already clouded his eyes. And now Ivan Ilyich required
         help: he’d need to find, at three o’clock in the morning, a doctor or carriage to take him home, and it must be a carriage,
         because they couldn’t send a person like him home in a droshky43 in a state like that. But where was he to get money for a carriage? Mrs Mlekopitayev, infuriated that the general had not
         said two words to her and hadn’t even looked at her during supper, announced that she didn’t have a single kopeck. Perhaps
         she really didn’t have a single kopeck. Where was he to get it? What was he to do? Yes, he had plenty of reasons for pulling
         his hair.


      
      Meanwhile, for the time being they carried Ivan Ilyich to the small leather sofa that stood right there in the dining room.
         While they cleared the tables and put them back, Pseldonimov rushed about from corner to corner trying to borrow some money – he even tried to borrow from the servant girl – but nobody had any. He even risked bothering Akim Petrovich, who had
         stayed longer than the others. But he, though he was a kind man, upon hearing the word ‘money’ became so perplexed and so
         frightened, that he talked the most unexpected rubbish.


      
      ‘Another time I would be delighted,’ he mumbled, ‘but now … really, excuse me …’

      
      And, after picking up his hat, he ran out of the house as quickly as he could. Only the kind-hearted youth, who had been telling
         the story about the dream-book, proved to be of any use, and inopportunely at that. He had also stayed longer than the rest,
         taking a sincere interest in Pseldonimov’s misfortunes. In the end, Pseldonimov, his mother and the youth decided in general
         council not to send for a doctor, rather to send for a carriage and have the patient taken home, and for the time being, until
         the carriage arrived, to try some home remedies, such as daubing his temples and head with cold water, applying ice to the
         top of his head, and so forth. Pseldonimov’s mother took this upon herself. The youth flew off in search of a carriage. Since
         at that hour there wasn’t even a droshky on the Petersburg Side, he had to go some distance for the cabbies at the coaching
         inn and wake up the drivers. They began bargaining, saying that at this hour even five roubles was too little. They agreed,
         however, on three. But it was almost four o’clock when the youth arrived in the hired carriage at Pseldonimov’s, where they
         had changed their minds long before. It turned out that Ivan Ilyich, who was still unconscious, had become so ill, was moaning
         and tossing about so that it had become absolutely impossible and even risky to move him or to have him taken home in this
         condition. ‘What will happen next?’ said the absolutely disheartened Pseldonimov. What was he to do? A new question arose.
         If they were to keep the sick man in their house, then where would they move him to and where could they put him? There were
         only two beds in the whole house: one was enormous, a double bed on which old man Mlekopitayev slept with his spouse, and
         the other one was a new purchase, imitation walnut, also a double bed, and intended for the newlyweds. All of the other inhabitants,
         or, rather, ladies who inhabited the house, slept on the floor, side by side, mostly on feather beds, already somewhat dilapidated and foul-smelling, that is,
         altogether unseemly, and those were in limited supply; there weren’t even enough to go around. Where could they put the sick
         man? A feather bed perhaps might be found – one could be dragged out from under somebody if worse comes to worst, but where
         and on what could they make up the bed? It turned out that the bed would need to be in the drawing room, since that room was
         the most removed from the bowels of the family and had its own exit. But what could it be made up on? Surely not chairs. Everybody
         knows that beds are made up on chairs only for schoolboys when they come home for a Saturday, but for such a person as Ivan
         Ilyich that would be disrespectful. What would he say tomorrow when he saw that he had been sleeping on chairs? Pseldonimov
         wouldn’t even hear of it. Only one thing remained: to have him taken to the bridal bed. This bridal bed, as we said earlier,
         was set up in the small room, right off the dining room. On the bed there was a newly purchased, brand-new double mattress,
         clean sheets, four pink calico pillows in muslin pillowcases with frilled trim. The blanket was pink satin with a quilted
         pattern. Muslin curtains hung from a golden ring above. In a word, all was as it should be, and the guests, almost all of
         whom had visited the bedroom, praised the appointments. The bride, even though she couldn’t stand Pseldonimov, during the
         course of the evening had popped in here furtively several times to see it. What was her indignation, her fury when she learned
         that they wanted to move to her bridal bed the sick man who had come down with what looked like cholerine!44 The mother of the bride took her part, cursing and promising to complain to her husband tomorrow; but Pseldonimov showed
         what he was worth and stood his ground: Ivan Ilyich was moved and a bed for the newlyweds was made on the chairs. The bride
         whined and was all set to pinch, but she didn’t dare disobey: her papa had a crutch with which she was all too familiar, and
         she knew that her papa would be certain to demand a detailed accounting tomorrow. As consolation the pink blanket and pillows
         in their muslin cases were brought to the dining room. At this moment the youth arrived with the carriage; upon learning that the carriage was no longer required, he became terribly frightened. That meant paying for it himself, and he
         had never had so much as a ten-kopeck piece. Pseldonimov announced his complete bankruptcy. They tried persuading the cabbie,
         but he began making a row and even knocked on the shutters. I don’t know the details of how it all ended. It seems that the
         youth set off in this carriage as a hostage to Peski, to Fourth Rozhdestvensky Street,45 where he hoped to rouse a student who was spending the night with friends, and see if he had any money. It was well past
         four o’clock in the morning when the young people were left alone and the door to the drawing room was locked. Pseldonimov’s
         mother stayed by the sufferer’s bedside all night long. She retired on the floor, on a little rug, and covered herself with
         a fur coat, but she couldn’t sleep, because she kept having to get up: Ivan Ilyich had a terribly upset stomach. Mrs Pseldonimov,
         a woman who was steadfast and magnanimous, undressed him herself, took off all his clothes and looked after him as if he were
         her own son, carrying out the necessary crockery from the bedroom through the hallway and back again all night long. And still
         the misfortunes of this night were far from over.


      
      Not ten minutes had passed since the young couple had been locked up in the drawing room alone when suddenly a bloodcurdling
         cry was heard, not a comforting cry, but of the most malignant sort. The cries were followed by a noise, a crash, as if some
         chairs had fallen, and in a flash a whole crowd of clamouring and frightened women in all manner of dishabille burst into
         the room, which was still dark. These women were: the mother of the bride, her older sister, who for the time being had abandoned
         her sick children, her three aunts, even the one with the broken rib had dragged herself along. Even the cook was there on
         the spot, and the German hanger-on, who told fairy tales and from under whom they had dragged by force her own feather bed
         for the newlyweds, the best one in the house and which comprised all she owned, even she dragged herself along with the others.
         All these estimable and perspicacious women had stolen out of the kitchen through the hallway on tiptoe a quarter of an hour ago and were eavesdropping in the anteroom, devoured by the most inexplicable curiosity. Now,
         somebody hastily lit a candle and everyone was presented with the most unexpected sight. The chairs, which had propped up
         the feather bed only at the edges and which couldn’t support the double weight, had moved apart and the feather bed fell in
         between them on to the floor. The bride whimpered with fury; this time she was offended to the bottom of her heart. Pseldonimov,
         morally crushed, stood there like a criminal, whose villainy had been exposed. He didn’t even try to justify himself. Exclamations
         and screams could be heard from all sides. Pseldonimov’s mother came running at the noise, but this time the bride’s mama
         had gained the upper hand. She began by showering Pseldonimov with strange and for the most part unjust reproaches on the
         theme: ‘What sort of husband are you after this, my dear? What are you good for, my dear, after such shame?’ – and so on and,
         finally, after taking her daughter by the hand, she led her away from her husband, to her own room, after personally taking
         responsibility for explaining to her stern father who would be demanding his accounting tomorrow. Everybody cleared off after
         her, oohing and aahing and shaking their heads. Only his mother remained with Pseldonimov and tried to console him. But he
         immediately drove her away.


      
      He wasn’t in the mood for consolation. He made his way to the sofa and sat down, lost in the gloomiest meditation, just as
         he was, barefoot and wearing only the most essential bits of underwear. His thoughts crossed and got muddled in his head.
         From time to time he would automatically, as it were, take a look around the room, where only recently the dancers had been
         going at it furiously and where cigarette smoke still hung in the air. Cigarette butts and sweet wrappers still littered the
         splattered and soiled floor. The ruins of the marriage bed and the overturned chairs bore witness to the transitory nature
         of the best and surest of earthly hopes and dreams. Thus he sat for almost an hour. Distressing questions kept occurring to
         him, for example: What awaited him at the office now? He was painfully aware that he needed to change his place of work no
         matter what, that remaining at his present position was impossible, precisely as a consequence of everything that had happened this evening. He also recalled Mlekopitayev, who tomorrow might make him dance
         the kazachok again, in order to test his meekness. He realized as well that even though Mlekopitayev had given him fifty roubles for the
         wedding day, which had been spent down to the last kopeck, he hadn’t even suggested giving him the dowry of 400 roubles, nor
         had there been any mention of it. And the house itself had still not been formally registered. He recalled as well his wife,
         who had forsaken him at the most critical moment of his life, and the tall officer who had got down on one knee before his
         wife. He had managed to notice that; and he thought about the seven demons, who were sitting inside his wife, according to
         the testimony of her own parent, and about the stick prepared for their expulsion … Of course, he felt that he was strong
         enough to bear a good deal, but fate had dealt him such surprises that, in the end, he might doubt his own strength.


      
      Thus Pseldonimov grieved. Meanwhile, the candle end was going out. Its flickering light, which fell directly on Pseldonimov’s
         profile, reflected him in colossal proportions on the wall, with his long neck, hooked nose and the two tufts of hair that
         stood up on his forehead and on the back of his head. Finally, when he got a whiff of the morning freshness, he got up, chilled
         to the bone and spiritually benumbed, made his way to the feather bed that was lying between the two chairs, and without tidying
         it, without putting out the candle end and without even putting a pillow under his head, he crawled on all fours on to the
         bed and fell into that leaden, dead sleep, the likes of which is slept by those sentenced to be flogged to death on the square46 the next day.


      
      On the other hand, what could compare with the agonizing night that Ivan Ilyich spent on the unfortunate Pseldonimov’s bridal
         bed! For some time the headache, vomiting and other most unpleasant attacks did not leave him for a minute. It was the torments
         of hell. Consciousness, although barely more than a flickering in his head, illumined such multitudes of horrors, such gloomy
         and disgusting pictures, that it would have been better had he not regained consciousness. However, everything was still confused in his head. He recognized, for example, Pseldonimov’s
         mother – he heard her forgiving admonitions, such as: ‘Be patient, my darling, be patient, my dear sir, you’ll like it when
         you get used to it’; he recognized her but couldn’t, however, logically account for her being near him. Disgusting apparitions
         appeared before him: most often Semyon Ivanych would appear, but as he peered more intently he noticed that it wasn’t Semyon
         Ivanych at all, but Pseldonimov’s nose. He also caught fleeting glimpses of the free artist, and the officer, and the old
         woman with the bandaged cheek. More than anything he was intrigued by the golden ring hanging above his head from which the
         curtains hung. He could discern it clearly by the dim light of the candle end that illuminated the room, and he kept trying
         to fathom it mentally: What purpose does this ring serve? Why is it here? What does it signify? He asked the old woman about
         it several times, but he obviously couldn’t say what he wanted to say, and she evidently didn’t understand him, no matter
         how hard he tried to explain. Finally, when it was almost morning, the attacks stopped and he fell asleep; he slept soundly,
         without any dreams. He slept for about an hour and when he woke up he had almost fully regained consciousness, his head ached
         unbearably and he had the nastiest taste in his mouth and on his tongue, which had turned into a piece of flannel. He sat
         up in the bed, looked around and started thinking. The pale light of the dawning day, which had stolen through the cracks
         in the shutters, trembled on the wall in narrow stripes. It was about seven o’clock in the morning. But when Ivan Ilyich suddenly
         realized and remembered everything that had happened to him since last evening; when he remembered all the adventures at the
         supper table, his stillborn heroic deed, his speech at the table; when he imagined all at once with horrible clarity everything
         that might now come of this, everything they would now say about him and what they would think; when he looked around and
         saw, finally, to what a sad and sorry state he had reduced the peaceful bridal bed of his subordinate – oh, then such terrible
         shame, such torments filled his heart that he cried out, covered his face with his hands and in despair threw himself down
         on the pillow. A minute later he jumped up from the bed, saw his clothes there on the chair, neatly folded and already cleaned,
         grabbed them and quickly, frantically, began pulling them on, all the while looking over his shoulder and horribly afraid
         of something. Right there on another chair lay his fur coat, his hat, and his yellow gloves were in his hat. He wanted to
         slip away quietly. But suddenly the door opened and old lady Pseldonimov walked in, carrying an earthenware basin and a jug.
         A towel hung from her shoulder. She put down the jug and without further ado announced that he most definitely must wash.


      
      ‘Come now, my dear sir, wash yourself, you can’t go without washing …’

      
      And at that instant Ivan Ilyich realized that if there was one being in this whole world, with whom he could now be without
         shame or fear, it was precisely this old woman. He washed. And for a long time afterwards, at difficult moments in his life,
         he would remember, among other pangs of conscience, all the particulars of this awakening: the earthenware basin and the faience
         jug, filled with cold water in which little bits of ice still floated, and the soap in the pink wrapper, oval shaped and stamped
         with some letters, which cost fifteen kopecks and was obviously bought for the newlyweds, but which Ivan Ilyich now would
         be the first to use; and the old woman with the damask towel over her left shoulder. The cold water refreshed him; he dried
         himself and, without saying a word, without even thanking his sister of mercy, he grabbed his hat, threw over his shoulders
         the fur coat that was held out to him by Mrs Pseldonimov, and through the hallway, through the kitchen, in which the cat was
         meowing and where the cook, raising herself up on her bedding, followed him with her eyes with greedy curiosity, as he ran
         out into the courtyard, to the street and rushed to catch a passing cab. The morning was frosty; frozen yellow fog still hid
         from view the houses and all objects. Ivan Ilyich turned up his collar. He thought that everybody was looking at him, that
         they all knew him, that they would all find out … 


      
      For eight days he did not leave the house nor did he report to the office. He was ill, agonizingly ill, but more morally than
         physically. During these eight days he had lived through a whole hell, and it most likely was taken into account for him in
         the other world. There were moments when he would start thinking about becoming a monk. There really were. Then his imagination
         would ramble far and wide. He pictured quiet subterranean singing, an open coffin, living in an isolated cell, the forests
         and caves; but after coming to his senses, he would almost immediately acknowledge that this was all the most horrible nonsense
         and exaggeration and he would be ashamed of it. Then began the moral attacks concerning his existence manquée. Then shame once again would flare up in his heart, taking possession of it all at once and burning and aggravating everything.
         He would shudder, when he imagined various scenes. What would they say about him, what would they think when he walked into
         the office, what whispering would haunt him for a whole year, ten years, his whole life? The story about him would be handed
         down to posterity. He even sank at times into such faintheartedness that he was ready to go at once to Semyon Ivanych and
         ask for his forgiveness and friendship. He didn’t even try to justify himself, he blamed himself completely: he could find
         no excuse and was ashamed even to look for one.


      
      He also thought about immediately submitting his resignation and thus, simply, in solitude devote himself to the happiness
         of mankind. In any event, it was absolutely necessary to change all his acquaintances and in such a way as to eradicate all
         memory of him. Then he would think that this was nonsense as well and that increased sternness with his subordinates might
         still set the matter right. Then he began to have hope and cheer up. Finally, after eight whole days of doubts and torments,
         he felt that he could no longer bear the uncertainty, and un beau matin47 he made up his mind to go to the office.


      
      Before, when he was still staying home in anguish, he had pictured to himself a thousand times how he would enter his office.
         With horror he had convinced himself that he would be certain to hear ambiguous whispering behind his back, see ambiguous
         faces, reap a harvest of the most malignant smiles. What was his amazement when in fact none of this took place. He was greeted
         respectfully; they bowed; everybody was serious; everybody was busy. His heart was filled with joy as he made his way to his own room.


      
      He at once and very seriously got down to work, heard several reports and clarifications and proposed solutions. He felt that
         he had never before reasoned and come to a decision so intelligently, so efficiently as that morning. He saw that they were
         pleased with him, that they esteemed him, that they regarded him with respect. The most acute sense of suspicion would have
         been unable to detect anything. Things were going splendidly.


      
      Finally, Akim Petrovich appeared with some papers. Upon his appearance something stabbed Ivan Ilyich right in the heart, as
         it were, but only for a moment. He attended to Akim Petrovich, expounded gravely, showed him how it should be done and explained
         it. He noticed only that he seemed to be avoiding looking at Akim Petrovich for too long, or rather that Akim Petrovich was
         afraid of looking at him. But now Akim Petrovich had finished and began to gather up his papers.


      
      ‘And there’s one more request,’ he began as drily as possible, ‘from the clerk Pseldonimov about his transfer to the department
         … His Excellency Semyon Ivanovich Shipulenko has promised him a position. He requests your gracious assistance, Your Excellency.’


      
      ‘Ah, so he’s getting a transfer,’ Ivan Ilyich said and he felt that an enormous weight had been lifted from his heart. He
         cast a glance at Akim Petrovich and at that moment their eyes met.


      
      ‘All right, for my part … I will use,’ Ivan Ilyich replied. ‘I am prepared to help.’

      
      Akim Petrovich clearly wanted to slip away as quickly as possible. But Ivan Ilyich suddenly, in a burst of nobility, made
         up his mind to have his say once and for all. Evidently he was once again visited by inspiration.


      
      ‘Tell him,’ he began, directing on Akim Petrovich a look that was clear and full of deep significance, ‘tell Pseldonimov that
         I don’t wish him ill; no, I don’t! … That, on the contrary, I am prepared to even forget everything that took place, to forget
         everything, everything …’


      
      But suddenly Ivan Ilyich stopped short, as he looked on in amazement at the strange behaviour of Akim Petrovich, who, for reasons unknown, instead of being a sensible man, suddenly
         turned out to be the most terrible fool. Instead of listening, and listening to the end, he suddenly turned an utterly foolish
         red, began somehow hurriedly and even indecently making some sort of little bows and at the same time backing away towards
         the door. His whole look expressed a desire to disappear, or rather to get back to his desk as quickly as possible. Left alone,
         Ivan Ilyich rose from his chair in confusion. He looked in the mirror and didn’t recognize his own face.


      
      ‘No, sternness, only sternness, nothing but sternness!’48 he whispered almost unconsciously to himself, and suddenly his whole face turned bright red. He suddenly felt so ashamed,
         so miserable, more than he had been during the most unbearable moments of his eight-day illness. ‘I couldn’t bear it!’ he
         said to himself and, overcome by weakness, sank into his chair.
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      CHAPTER 1

      
      
      I’ve finally returned from my fortnight absence. Our party has already been in Roulettenburg1 for three days. I thought that they would be waiting for me God only knows how eagerly; however, I was mistaken. The general
         had a confident air about him, spoke to me condescendingly and sent me to see his sister. It was clear that they had borrowed
         money from somewhere. I even thought that the general was a bit ashamed to look at me. Marya Filippovna was extremely busy
         and hardly spoke to me; however, she took the money, counted it and listened to my whole report. Mezentsov, the little Frenchman
         and some Englishman were expected for dinner: as usual, as soon as there’s money, there’s a Moscow-style dinner party. Upon
         seeing me, Polina Alexandrovna asked me why I had been away so long, and without waiting for my reply, walked off somewhere.
         It goes without saying, she did this on purpose. However, we need to have a talk. A lot of things have built up.


I’ve been given a small room on the fourth floor of the hotel. They know here that I belong to the General’s suite, which one can see has managed, somehow, to make an impression. Everybody here thinks that the general is a very wealthy
         Russian grandee. Even before dinner he found time, along with other commissions, to give me two thousand-franc notes to be
         changed. I changed them in the hotel bureau. Now they’ll think we’re millionaires, for a whole week at the very least. I wanted
         to take Misha and Nadya out for a walk, but on the stairs I was summoned to the general; he had thought it fit to enquire
         where I was taking them. This man absolutely cannot look me straight in the eyes; he would like to, but every time I answer him
         with such an intent – that is, disrespectful – look that he becomes embarrassed, as it were. In a highly bombastic speech,
         in which he piled up phrase upon phrase until finally he became thoroughly muddled, I was given to understand that I should
         walk with the children somewhere in the park, as far away as possible from the casino. In the end, he became thoroughly angry
         and added sharply:


‘Otherwise, you might take them to the casino, to the roulette tables. You must excuse me,’ he added, ‘but I know that you
         are still rather frivolous and are capable, perhaps, of gambling. In any event, although I am not your mentor and do not wish
         to take on such a role, at the very least I have the right to desire that you, so to speak, do not compromise me …’


‘But I don’t even have any money,’ I answered calmly, ‘you need to have some money in order to lose it.’

‘You’ll have some immediately,’ the General answered, flushing a bit, he rooted around in his bureau, consulted his accounts
         book, and it turned out that he owed me approximately 120 roubles.


‘How shall we go about figuring the amount?’ he began, ‘it has to be converted to thalers.2 Here, take a hundred thalers, a round sum – the rest, of course, won’t go missing.’


I took the money in silence.

‘Please, don’t you be offended by my words, you’re so quick to take offence … If I made an observation, it was only, so to
         speak, to warn you, and I do, of course, have a certain right to do so …’


As the children and I were returning home before dinner, I met a whole cavalcade. Our party had gone to have a look at some
         ruins. Two splendid carriages, magnificent horses! Mlle Blanche in one carriage with Marya Filippovna and Polina; the little
         Frenchman, the Englishman and our general were on horseback. The passers-by stopped and stared; they made an impression, but
         it does not bode well for the general. I figure that with the 4,000 francs that I brought, plus whatever they evidently had
         managed to borrow, that they now had seven or eight thousand francs; that’s much too little for Mlle Blanche.


Mlle Blanche is also staying in our hotel, together with her mother; and our little Frenchman is somewhere here as well. The
         footmen call him ‘Monsieur le Comte’, and Mlle Blanche’s mother is called ‘Madame la Comtesse’; who knows, perhaps they really
         are comte et comtesse.3

I just knew that Monsieur le Comte would ignore me when we gathered for dinner. The general, of course, would not even think
         of introducing us or even recommending me to him; and Monsieur le Comte has spent time in Russia and knows the insignificance
         of this thing called outchitel.4 He, however, knows me only too well. But I confess that I made my appearance at dinner uninvited; it seems the general forgot
         to make any arrangement; otherwise, he would certainly have sent me to dine at the table d’hôte.5 I came of my own accord, so the general looked at me with displeasure. Kind-hearted Marya Filippovna at once found me a seat;
         but it was my meeting with Mr Astley that came to my aid and willy-nilly I found myself a part of their party.


I first met this strange Englishman in Prussia, in a railway car, in which we were seated opposite each other, when I was
         travelling to meet our party; then I ran into him as I was entering France, and finally in Switzerland; two times in the course
         of this fortnight, and now I suddenly meet him here in Roulettenburg. Never in my life have I encountered a person who is
         shyer than he; he’s shy to the point of seeming stupid, and he realizes this himself, because he’s not at all stupid. He is
         very nice and gentle, however. I managed to get him to talk at our first meeting in Prussia. He said that he had spent the
         summer at North Cape and that he very much wanted to go to the fair in Nizhny Novgorod.6 I don’t know how he became acquainted with the general, but he seems to be boundlessly in love with Polina. When she entered,
         he flushed crimson. He was very glad that I sat next to him at the table and seems to consider me his bosom friend.


At the table the little Frenchman set a peculiar tone; he was offhand and pompous with everybody. But in Moscow, I recall,
         he would talk a lot of twaddle. He’d go on an awful lot about finance and Russian politics. The general would sometimes venture to contradict him, but modestly, only as much as was possible
         without doing real injury to his own self-importance.


I was in a strange mood; it goes without saying that even before the dinner was half over I had managed to ask myself my usual
         and unchanging question: Why was I hanging around with this general, and why hadn’t I left them long, long ago? From time
         to time I would steal a glance at Polina Alexandrovna; she didn’t notice me at all. It ended with me getting angry and making
         up my mind to be rude.


It all began with me suddenly, for no apparent reason, butting into their conversation loudly and without asking their leave.
         Most of all I wanted to pick a quarrel with the little Frenchman. I turned to the general and suddenly made the observation,
         rather loudly and distinctly, and I think, interrupting him as well, that it was almost utterly impossible for Russians to
         dine in hotels at table d’hôte this summer. The general directed a look of astonishment at me.


‘If you are a self-respecting man,’ I continued, ‘then you’ll certainly be inviting abuse and must endure the most extraordinary
         insults. In Paris and on the Rhine, even in Switzerland, there are so many wretched little Poles, and their little French
         sympathizers, at these tables d’hôte that it’s impossible to get a word in if you’re a mere Russian.’


I said this in French.7 The general looked at me in bewilderment, not knowing whether he should get angry or merely be astonished that I had so
         forgotten myself.


‘So somebody somewhere gave you a good lesson,’ said the little Frenchman, carelessly and scornfully.

‘In Paris I first fell out with a certain Pole,’ I replied, ‘then with a certain French officer, who was defending the Pole.
         Then later a group of Frenchmen came over to my side, when I told them that I wanted to spit in the monseigneur’s coffee.’


‘Spit?’ the general asked with pompous bewilderment, and even looked around. The little Frenchman examined me mistrustfully.

‘Just so, sir,’ I replied. ‘Since I was convinced for two whole days that it might be necessary to make a short trip to Rome
         in connection with our business, I went to the office of the Embassy of the Holy Father in Paris in order to get a visa for my
         passport. There I was met by a little abbé, a dried-up man of about fifty with a frosty expression on his face, who after
         hearing me out respectfully but extremely coldly, asked me to wait. Although I was in a hurry, I of course sat down to wait,
         took out my Opinion nationale8 and began to read the most terrible diatribe about Russia. Meanwhile, I heard somebody pass through the adjacent room to
         see the monseigneur; I saw my abbé bow to him. I repeated my previous request to him; he even more coldly asked me again to
         wait. A bit later somebody else came in, also a stranger on business – some Austrian – he was given a hearing and immediately
         escorted upstairs. Then I became very annoyed; I got up, walked over to the abbé and told him in no uncertain terms that since
         the monseigneur was receiving, then he could deal with me as well. Suddenly the abbé drew away from me in extraordinary surprise.
         He found it simply incomprehensible that a lowly Russian could presume to put himself on the same level as the monseigneur’s
         guests. As if delighted that he might have the opportunity to insult me, he looked me up and down and shouted in the most
         impudent tone: “Surely you cannot suppose that the monseigneur will put aside his coffee on your account?” Then I, too, began
         to shout, but even more loudly: “You should know that I would spit in your monseigneur’s coffee! If you don’t finish with
         my passport this very minute, I’ll go see him myself.”


‘ “What! When he has the cardinal with him!” the little abbé shouted, and moving away from me in horror, he rushed to the
         door and spread out his arms as if he were on the cross, assuming the attitude that he would rather die than let me pass.


‘Then I answered him that I was a heretic and barbarian, “que je suis hérétique et barbare” ’, and that I cared nothing for all these archbishops, cardinals, monseigneurs and so forth and so on. In a word, I assumed
         the attitude that I would not back down. The abbé looked at me with boundless malice, then snatched my passport and took it
         upstairs. A minute later the visa was ready. Here, gentlemen, would you like to see it?’ I took out the passport and showed
         the Roman visa.


‘You, however,’ the general began …

‘What saved you is that you declared yourself to be a barbarian and a heretic,’ observed the little Frenchman, grinning. ‘Cela n’était pas si bête.’9

‘But must I really follow the example of our Russians? They sit here – not daring to utter a word and are likely ready to
         deny that they are Russian. At least in my hotel in Paris they began to treat me more attentively when I had told everybody
         about my fight with the abbé. The fat Polish pan,10 the person most hostile to me at the table d’hôte, retired into the background. The Frenchmen even bore with me, when I told them that two years ago I had seen a man whom
         a French chasseur11 had shot in 1812 simply because he wanted to unload his rifle. This man was then a ten-year-old child and his family had
         not managed to get out of Moscow.’


‘That cannot be,’ the little Frenchman flew into a rage, ‘a French soldier would not shoot a child!’

‘Nevertheless, that’s what happened,’ I answered. ‘A respectable retired captain told me, and I myself saw the scar on his
         cheek from the bullet.’


The Frenchman began talking a lot and speaking quickly. The general started to back him up, but I suggested that he read,
         for example, at least excerpts from the Notes of General Perovsky, who had been taken prisoner by the French in 1812. Finally, Marya Filippovna began talking about something
         else in order to cut the conversation short. The general was very unhappy with me, because the Frenchman and I had almost
         begun shouting at each other. But Mr Astley seemed to enjoy my argument with the Frenchman; as he was getting up from the
         table, he invited me to drink a glass of wine with him. In the evening, I duly succeeded in talking with Polina Alexandrovna
         for a quarter of an hour. Our conversation took place while we were out for a stroll. Everybody had gone to the park by the
         casino. Polina sat down on a bench across from the fountain, and let Nadenka12 go play with some children not far away. I also let Misha go play by the fountain, and we were finally alone.


We began, of course, with business first of all. Polina simply became angry when all I had to give her was 700 gulden. She was certain that I would bring her back from Paris at least 2,000
         gulden, if not more, after pawning her diamonds.


‘I must have money, no matter what,’ she said, ‘I must get it; otherwise, I’m simply lost.’

I began to question her about what had happened in my absence.

‘Nothing except that we received two pieces of news from Petersburg: first, that Grandmother was very poorly, and two days
         later that apparently she had died. This news was from Timofey Petrovich,’ Polina added, ‘and he’s a very reliable man. We’re
         waiting for final confirmation.’


‘And so, everybody here is in a state of anticipation?’ I asked.

‘Of course: everybody and everything; for six whole months they’ve been hoping for nothing else.’

‘And do you hope, too?’ I asked.

‘You see, I’m not related to her in any way, I’m only the general’s stepdaughter. But I do know for a fact that she will remember
         me in her will.’


‘I imagine that you’ll get a great deal,’ I said earnestly.

‘Yes, she loved me; but why do you imagine this?’


‘Tell me,’ I answered with a question, ‘our marquis, it seems, is also privy to all the family secrets?’

‘But why does that interest you?’ Polina asked, looking at me sternly and coldly.

‘It would be surprising if it didn’t; if I’m not mistaken, the general has already managed to borrow some money from him.’

‘You have guessed quite correctly.’

‘Well, would he have given him money if he didn’t know about Granny? Did you notice that at dinner on three occasions when
         speaking of Grandmother he called her Granny: “la baboulinka”.13 Such close and such friendly relations!’


‘Yes, you’re right. As soon as he finds out that I’m going to get something from the will as well, he’ll start courting me
         at once. Is that what you wanted to know?’


‘What do you mean start courting? I thought that he’d been courting you for a long time now.’

‘You know very well that he hasn’t!’ Polina said crossly. ‘Where did you meet that Englishman?’ she added after a minute’s
         silence.


‘I just knew that you would ask about him now.’

I told her about my previous meetings with Mr Astley on my travels.

‘He’s shy and amorous and of course he’s fallen in love with you already, hasn’t he?’

‘Yes, he’s fallen in love with me,’ Polina replied.

‘And of course, he’s ten times richer than the Frenchman. Why, is it certain that the Frenchman has anything? That’s not subject
         to any doubt?’


‘No, it’s not. He has some sort of château. The general spoke about it to me yesterday as a matter of fact. Well, is that
         enough for you?’


‘In your place I would certainly marry the Englishman.’

‘Why?’ Polina asked.

‘The Frenchman is handsomer, but he’s viler; while the Englishman, apart from the fact that he’s honest, is also ten times
         richer,’ I snapped.


‘Yes, but on the other hand, the Frenchman is a marquis and cleverer,’ she replied very coolly.

‘Is that so?’ I went on in the same manner.

‘Absolutely.’

Polina took a terrible dislike to my questions, and I saw that she wanted to make me angry by the tone and the absurdity of
         her reply; and I told her so straight away.


‘Well now, it really amuses me to see you get so upset. You ought to be made to pay, if for no other reason than that I allow
         you to ask such questions and make such conjectures.’


‘I really do consider myself entitled to ask you all sorts of questions,’ I replied calmly, ‘precisely because I am prepared
         to pay for them any way you wish, and I don’t set any store whatsoever by my life now.’


Polina burst into laughter.

‘Last time, on the Schlangenberg,14 you told me that you were prepared, as soon as I gave the word, to throw yourself down head first, and it’s a thousand feet
         there, I believe. One day I will say that word if only to see how you’ll pay up, and you can be certain that I will stand firm. You’re hateful to me – precisely
         because I’ve allowed you so many liberties, and you’re even more hateful, because I need you so much. But as long as I need
         you – I must take care of you.’


She started to get up. She had spoken with irritation. Of late she always ended a conversation with me with malice and irritation,
         with genuine malice.


‘Allow me to ask you, what exactly is Mlle Blanche?’ I asked, not wishing to let her go without an explanation.

‘You know yourself what Mlle Blanche is. Nothing more has been added. Mlle Blanche will probably become the general’s wife
         – if, of course, the rumour about Grandmother’s death is confirmed, because Mlle Blanche and her mother and her second cousin
         the marquis – they all know only too well that we are ruined.’


‘And is the general truly in love?’

‘That’s not the point now. Listen and remember: take these 700 florins and go and play, and win me as much as you can at roulette;
         I need money now, no matter what.’


Having said this, she called Nadenka and set off for the casino, where she joined the rest of our party. I, on the other hand,
         turned left at the first path I came upon, deep in thought and marvelling. It was as if I had been hit on the head with her
         order to go and play roulette. It was a strange thing: I had more than enough to ponder, and yet I became completely absorbed
         in analysing my feelings for Polina. Indeed, it was easier for me during the fortnight of my absence than now, on the day
         of my return, although during my journey I had yearned for her like a madman, rushed about like one possessed, and even saw
         her before me constantly in my dreams. Once (this was in Switzerland), having fallen asleep in the train, it seems that I
         began to speak aloud to Polina, which amused all the passengers sitting with me. And once again I now asked myself the question:
         Do I love her? And once again I was unable to answer it; that is, to put it more precisely, I answered myself for the hundredth
         time that I hated her. Yes, she was hateful to me. There were moments (to wit, at the end of every one of our conversations) when I would have given half my life to strangle her! I swear, if it were possible to slowly sink a sharp
         knife into her breast, then I believe that I would have snatched it up with delight. And yet, I swear by all that is holy,
         that if she had indeed said to me on the Schlangenberg, on that fashionable peak: ‘Throw yourself down’, then I would have
         thrown myself at once, and even with delight. I knew that. One way or another, this must be settled. She understands all this
         surprisingly well, and the thought that I recognize altogether unmistakably and certainly the extent of her complete inaccessibility
         to me, and the complete impossibility of fulfilling my fantasies – this thought, I am certain, affords her extraordinary pleasure;
         otherwise, would she, she who is so careful and clever, be on such intimate and frank terms with me? It seems to me that until
         now she has regarded me like that empress of antiquity who would undress in front of her slave, since she did not consider
         him a man. Yes, she has not considered me a man several times … 


However, I had a commission from her – to win at roulette, no matter what. I had no time to ponder why or how soon I must
         win or what new designs had come into being in that perpetually calculating head. Moreover, during this fortnight a multitude
         of new facts about which I still had no idea had evidently come into play as well. All this must be gone into, gotten to the
         bottom of – and as soon as possible. But there was no time now – I needed to set out for the roulette tables.


      
      
      
      
      CHAPTER 2

      
      
      I confess that I found this unpleasant; although I had decided that I would play, I had not at all counted on beginning by
         playing for other people. This had even thrown me off some, and I went to the gaming rooms feeling greatly annoyed. From the
         first glance I disliked everything. I can’t stand the bootlicking one sees in the feuilletons1 the world over and particularly in our Russian newspapers, in which almost every spring our journalists write about two things:
         first, the extraordinary magnificence and splendour of the gaming rooms in the roulette towns on the Rhine, and second, the piles of gold supposedly
         heaped on those tables. It’s not as though they’re paid to do this; they do it out of disinterested obsequiousness. There’s
         absolutely no magnificence to be found in these rubbishy rooms, and not only are there no piles of gold on the tables, there’s
         hardly any ever to be seen. Of course, every once in a while during the course of the season some character turns up, either
         an Englishman or an Asian of some sort – or a Turk, as happened this summer – and he either loses or wins a great deal; but
         the rest play for small stakes, and on average there’s very little money on the table. Once I had entered the gaming room
         (for the first time in my life), I could not make up my mind to play for some time. Moreover, it was crowded. But even if
         I had been alone, even then I think that I would have sooner walked away than started playing. I confess that my heart was
         pounding and I had not pulled myself together; I knew for certain and had decided long ago that I would not leave Roulettenburg
         as I had arrived; something radical and final would take place in my destiny without fail. That is how it must be, and that
         is how it will be. It may seem ridiculous that I should expect so much from roulette, but I find even more ridiculous the
         routine opinion, accepted by all, that it is silly and absurd to expect anything at all from gambling. And why is gambling
         worse than any other means of acquiring money, trade, for instance? It’s true that only one out of a hundred wins. But – what
         does that have to do with me?


In any case, I had planned it so that I would first have a good look around and not begin anything serious this evening. If
         something did happen this evening, then it would be by chance and of no consequence – that’s what I had decided. Moreover,
         I needed to learn the game itself; because notwithstanding the thousands of descriptions of roulette that I had always read
         with such eagerness, I understood absolutely nothing of how it worked until I saw it for myself.


In the first place, it all seemed so filthy – somehow morally sordid and dirty. I’m not at all referring to those greedy and
         anxious faces, which cluster round the gaming tables by the dozens, the hundreds even. I definitely see nothing filthy in the desire to win as quickly as possible and as much as possible;
         I have always found very silly the view of a certain well-fed and well-to-do moralist, who to somebody’s excuse that ‘they
         were playing for small stakes’, replied, ‘So much the worse, because the greed is so petty.’ As if petty greed and massive
         greed weren’t the same thing. It’s a matter of proportion. What is petty for a Rothschild2 is wealth for me, and as far as gains and winnings are concerned, people everywhere, and not only at roulette, are always
         doing somebody out of something or winning something. Whether gains or winnings are vile is another question. But I will not
         solve that here. Since I myself was utterly possessed by the desire to win, all this greed and all this greedy filth, if you
         will, were somehow suitable and familiar to me as I entered the room. It is a most pleasant state of affairs when people don’t
         stand on ceremony, but act in the open and unbuttoned. And what’s the point of deceiving oneself? A most futile and imprudent
         pursuit! At first glance, what was particularly unsightly about this roulette riff-raff was the respect for the pursuit, the
         seriousness, and even the deference with which they crowded round the tables. That’s why there’s a sharp distinction here
         between the kind of game that is called mauvais genre3 and the kind that is appropriate for a respectable person. There are two types of gambling: one is gentlemanly; the other
         is plebeian, greedy, the gambling for all sorts of riff-raff. The sharp distinction is strictly observed here and – how vile,
         in essence, is this distinction! A gentleman, for instance, may stake 5 or 10 louis d’or, rarely more than that; however,
         he may also stake a thousand francs if he is very rich, but simply for the sake of the game itself, simply for the sake of
         amusement, simply to observe the process of winning or losing; he must on no account show any interest in his winnings. When
         he wins he may, for instance, laugh out loud, or make a remark to one of the onlookers, and he may even stake again and then
         double it, but only out of curiosity, in order to observe the workings of chance, to calculate, but not for the plebeian desire
         to win. In a word, he must look upon all these gaming tables, roulette and trente et quarante,4 only as an amusement organized solely for his pleasure. He must not even suspect the greed and traps on which the bank depends. And it would not at all be a bad thing if, for instance, he were of
         the opinion that all the other gamblers, all this scum trembling over a gulden, were precisely the same sort of rich men and
         gentlemen as he, and that they were playing solely for the sake of diversion and amusement. This utter ignorance of reality
         and innocent view of people would, of course, be extraordinarily aristocratic. I have seen how quite a few mamas push forward
         their daughters, innocent and elegant little misses of fifteen and sixteen, and after giving them a few gold coins, teach
         them how to play. The young lady wins or loses, is sure to be smiling and walks away very contented. Our general made his
         way to the table like a respectable and important gentleman; a lackey rushed to proffer him a chair, but he did not notice
         him; he very slowly took out his purse, very slowly took 300 francs in gold from his purse, staked it on black and won. He
         didn’t pick up his winnings but left them on the table. Black came up again; he didn’t pick them up this time either, and
         when it came up red the third time he lost 1,200 francs in one go. He walked away with a smile, retaining his composure. I
         am convinced that he felt torn-up inside and if the stake had been two or three times as much again, he would not have retained
         his composure, but would have let his emotions show. However, I witnessed a Frenchman win and then lose almost 30,000 francs
         cheerfully and without any sign of emotion. A true gentleman, even if he loses his entire fortune, must not show emotion.
         Money is supposed to be so far beneath a gentleman that it’s almost not worth thinking about. Of course, it would have been
         exceedingly aristocratic not even to notice the filth of all this riff-raff and the whole milieu. But then, sometimes the
         opposite stratagem is no less aristocratic: that is, to have a close look, even to examine carefully, for example, all this
         riff-raff through a lorgnette; but only so as to view all this crowd and all this filth as an entertainment of some sort,
         as a performance arranged for gentlemen’s amusement. Although you may be jostled in this crowd, you still look around with
         the absolute conviction that you are merely an observer and in no way a part of it. But then again, it wouldn’t do to look
         too closely: that would not be gentlemanly, because this spectacle in any case does not merit great or too close observation. And in general, there are few spectacles worthy of a gentleman’s
         very close attention. And yet it seemed to me personally that all this very much merited close attention, particularly for
         the person who had come not merely to watch, but who sincerely and conscientiously counted himself a member of all this riff-raff.
         As far as my most secret moral convictions are concerned, there is no place for them in my present deliberations. Be that
         as it may; I am speaking to clear my conscience. But I will make this observation: for some time now I have found it terribly
         repugnant to judge my actions and thoughts by any moral standard whatsoever. Something else was guiding me … 


The riff-raff indeed play a very dirty game. I even would not object to the suggestion that the most ordinary sort of thievery
         takes place there at the table. The croupiers, who sit at the ends of the table, keep track of the stakes and settle up –
         it’s a terrible lot of work. And what riff-raff they are as well – for the most part Frenchmen. However, I was watching and
         noting everything not so that I could describe roulette; I was acclimatizing myself so that I would know how to conduct myself
         in the future. I noticed, for example, that there is nothing more commonplace than when somebody’s hand stretches out suddenly
         from the other side of the table and takes your winnings for himself. An argument ensues, sometimes shouting and – then just
         imagine finding witnesses and proving that the stake was yours.


At first this was all double Dutch to me; by guessing I had just somehow determined that the bets were placed on numbers,
         both odd and even, and on colours. I made up my mind to try my luck this evening with a hundred gulden of Polina Alexandrovna’s
         money. The thought that I was about to begin gambling not for myself somehow threw me off track. It was an extraordinarily
         unpleasant sensation, and I wanted to have done with it as soon as possible. I kept thinking that by playing for Polina I
         was undermining my own luck. Is it really impossible to come into contact with the gaming table without at once becoming infected
         with superstition? I began by taking out five friedrichs d’or, that is, fifty gulden, and staked them on even. The wheel turned
         round and came up thirteen – I had lost. With a sickening sensation, solely somehow to have done with it and leave, I staked another five friedrichs d’or on red. And it
         came up red. I staked all ten friedrichs d’or – and it came up red again. I staked all one more time, and it came up red again.
         After receiving forty friedrichs d’or, I staked twenty on the twelve middle numbers, not knowing what would come of it. They
         paid out three times my stake. Thus from ten friedrichs d’or I suddenly had eighty. I was overcome by an unusual and strange
         sensation, which I found so unbearable that I decided to leave. It seemed to me that I would not have played at all like that
         if I had been playing for myself. However, I staked all eighty friedrichs d’or once more on even. This time it came up four;
         they counted out another eighty friedrichs d’or, and after gathering up the whole pile of 160 friedrichs d’or, I set off to
         find Polina Alexandrovna.


They were all out for a stroll somewhere in the park and I didn’t manage to see her until dinner. This time the Frenchman
         wasn’t there and the general was in an expansive mood: among other things, he thought it necessary to remark to me once again
         that he didn’t wish to see me at the gaming tables. In his opinion, he would be greatly compromised if I were somehow to lose
         too much; ‘but even if you were to win a great deal, even then I would be compromised too,’ he added significantly. ‘Of course,
         I do not have the right to dictate your actions, but you yourself must agree …’ As was his wont, he didn’t finish what he
         was saying. I answered him drily that I had very little money and that consequently I couldn’t lose too noticeably even if
         I did play. As I was going upstairs to my room, I managed to deliver her winnings to Polina and informed her that I would
         not play for her another time.


‘But why not?’ she asked, alarmed.

‘Because I want to play for myself,’ I answered, scrutinizing her with surprise, ‘and it holds me back.’

‘So you absolutely continue to be convinced that roulette is your only way out and your salvation?’ she asked sarcastically.
         I answered again very seriously that yes, I did; and as far as my certainty of winning without fail, though I agreed that
         it might be ridiculous, ‘I wished to be left in peace.’


Polina Alexandrovna insisted that we divide today’s winnings fifty–fifty, and she gave me eighty friedrichs d’or, suggesting
         that we continue playing on these terms in future. I refused the half share absolutely and finally, and informed her that
         I could not play for other people, not because I didn’t wish to do so, but because I would certainly lose.


‘And yet, no matter how silly it seems, I too have put almost all my hopes on roulette,’ she said, deep in thought. ‘And so
         you must without fail continue playing for me and go halves, and – it goes without saying – that you will do so.’ At this
         point she walked away from me, without listening to my further objections.


      
      
      
      
      CHAPTER 3

      
      
      And yet, yesterday she did not say a word to me about gambling all day long. And in general she avoided talking to me yesterday.
         Her former manner with me had not changed. There was the same utter indifference in her treatment of me when we met, and even
         something scornful and hateful. In general, she makes no secret of her revulsion for me; I can see this. Nevertheless, she
         also makes no secret of the fact that she needs me for something and that she is saving me for something. A strange sort of
         relationship has developed between us, which in many ways I find incomprehensible – if one takes into consideration her pride
         and arrogance towards everyone. She knows, for example, that I love her to distraction, she even allows me to speak of my
         passion – and of course she could not have better expressed her scorn to me than this permission to speak of my love freely
         and unchecked. It is as if she were saying, ‘You see, I take so little notice of your feelings that it’s absolutely all the
         same to me what you talk about with me and what your feelings are towards me.’ She had spoken to me about her own affairs
         before as well, but she had never been completely candid. Moreover, in her contempt for me there were, for example, such refinements
         as these: she knows, let’s say, that I am aware of some circumstance in her life or something of the sort that worries her a great deal; she even tells me herself something of her circumstances if she needs to use me somehow for her
         purposes, like a slave, or to run some errand; but she always tells me only as much as a person who is being used to run an
         errand needs to know, and if I am still unaware of the entire chain of events, if she herself sees how I am tormented and
         worried by her torments and worries, she never deigns to reassure me with friendly candour, even though by frequently employing
         me for commissions that are not only bothersome but also dangerous, in my opinion she was obliged to be candid with me. But
         is it worth troubling about my feelings, about whether I am also worried, and perhaps am three times as concerned and tormented
         by her cares and failures as she is herself!


I knew about her intention to play roulette three weeks ago. She had even warned me that I must play in her stead, because
         it would be unseemly for her to do so herself. I had noticed then by her tone of voice that she had some serious concern,
         not merely a desire to win some money. What is money to her in and of itself! There must be a purpose, there must be some
         circumstances, which I might guess, but which so far I do not know. It goes without saying that the humiliation and the slavery
         in which she keeps me might have given me (it very often does) the opportunity to question her myself rudely and directly.
         Since I am her slave and so insignificant in her eyes, she has no reason to take offence at my rude curiosity. But the fact
         of the matter is that, while she allows me to ask questions, she doesn’t answer them. Sometimes she doesn’t even notice them
         at all. That’s how it is between us!


Yesterday there was a lot of talk among us about the telegram that had been sent to Petersburg four days ago and to which
         there had been no reply. The general is visibly worried and glum. It has to do with Grandmother, of course. The Frenchman
         is worried, too. Yesterday, for example, after dinner the two men had a long and serious talk. The Frenchman’s tone with all
         of us was unusually arrogant and offhand. Just like in the proverb: ‘Seat a pig at the table and he’ll put his feet on it.’
         He was even offhand with Polina to the point of rudeness; however, he was happy to take part in the walks to the casino and
         in the cavalcades and rides into the country. I have known for a long time something of the circumstances that bind the Frenchman to the general:
         in Russia they were going to start up a factory together; I don’t know whether their project went bust or whether there’s
         still talk of it. Besides, by chance I came to know part of a family secret: last year the Frenchman did indeed come to the
         general’s rescue and gave him 30,000 roubles to make up a deficit in the government funds when he retired from his post. And
         it goes without saying that the general is in his clutches; but now, right now, the main role in all this is nevertheless
         being played by Mlle Blanche, and I am certain that I am not mistaken in this.


Who is Mlle Blanche? They say that she’s a French noble-woman, here with her mother, and that she has a colossal fortune.
         It is also known that she is somehow related to our marquis, only very distantly, some sort of cousin or second cousin. People
         say that before my trip to Paris relations between the Frenchman and Mlle Blanche were much more formal; they seemed to be
         on a more refined and delicate footing; but now their acquaintance, friendship and family ties appear somehow coarser, somehow
         more intimate. Perhaps our affairs appear to be in such a poor state that they don’t consider it necessary to stand on ceremony
         with us or dissemble. The day before yesterday I had taken note of how Mr Astley would scrutinize Mlle Blanche and her mother.
         It seemed that he knew them. It even seemed that our Frenchman had met Mr Astley before as well. However, Mr Astley is so
         reserved, bashful and taciturn that one can almost certainly rely on him not to wash any dirty linen in public. In any case,
         the Frenchman barely speaks to him and almost never looks at him, which must mean that he’s not afraid of him. That’s understandable;
         but why does Mlle Blanche almost never look at him either? Particularly since the marquis let something slip yesterday: he
         suddenly said in the course of the general conversation, I don’t remember in what connection, that Mr Astley was colossally
         rich and that he knew this for a fact; at this point Mlle Blanche might well have looked at Mr Astley! On the whole, the general
         is anxious. One can appreciate what a telegram about his aunt’s death would mean to him now!


Although it seemed certain to me that Polina was avoiding conversation with me, to make some point, as it were, I assumed
         a cold and indifferent air myself; I kept thinking that she was about to come to me of herself. But then yesterday and today
         I turned all my attention, for the most part, to Mlle Blanche. The poor general, he’s completely done for! To fall in love
         at the age of fifty-five with such strong passion, of course, is a misfortune. Additionally you need to take into account
         that he’s a widower, his children, his utterly ruined estate, debts, and, finally, the woman with whom he happened to fall
         in love. Mlle Blanche is beautiful. But I don’t know whether I’ll be understood if I say that she has one of those faces that
         can be frightening. At least I’ve always been afraid of such women. She’s probably about twenty-five years old. She’s tall
         with sloping shoulders; her neck and bosom are magnificent; her skin is a dusky yellow colour, her hair is as black as India
         ink, and she has an awful lot of hair, enough for two coiffures. Her eyes are black, the whites of her eyes are yellowish,
         she has an insolent look, her teeth are very white, and her lips are always painted; she smells of musk. She dresses strikingly,
         richly, with chic, but with great taste. Her feet and hands are marvellous. Her voice is a husky contralto. She sometimes bursts into laughter
         and then she’ll show all her teeth, but usually she looks on silently and insolently – at least when she’s in the presence
         of Polina and Marya Filippovna. (A strange rumour: Marya Filippovna is leaving for Russia.) Mlle Blanche seems not to have
         had any education, perhaps she’s not even very intelligent, but she is suspicious and cunning. Her life seems not to have
         been without its adventures. If one were to tell the whole truth, then perhaps the marquis is not related to her at all, and
         the mother is not her mother. But there is information that in Berlin, where we met them, she and her mother had some respectable
         acquaintances. As far as the marquis himself is concerned, even though I still have doubts that he is a marquis, the fact
         that he belongs to respectable society among us, for example, in Moscow and in some places in Germany, does not seem subject
         to doubt. I wonder what his standing is in France? They say he has a château. I thought that during these two weeks a lot
         of water would flow under the bridge, and yet I still don’t know for certain whether anything definite has been said between Mlle Blanche and the general. On the whole, everything now
         depends on our fortune, that is, on whether the general can show them a lot of money. If, for instance, news comes that Grandmother
         is not dead, then I’m certain that Mlle Blanche will immediately disappear. I find it surprising and funny, however, what
         a gossip I’ve become. Oh, how it all disgusts me! What pleasure it would give me to wash my hands of everybody and everything!
         But can I really leave Polina, can I really quit spying on her? Spying, of course, is vile, but – what do I care!


Yesterday and today I’ve also been curious about Mr Astley. Yes, I’m convinced that he’s in love with Polina! It’s curious
         and ridiculous how much can sometimes be expressed in the look of a bashful and painfully chaste man, who has been touched
         by love, and precisely just when that man would rather vanish into thin air than say or express anything with a word or a
         look. Mr Astley quite often meets us on our walks. He takes off his hat and passes by, it goes without saying, dying with
         the desire to join us. If he’s invited, then he immediately declines. Whenever we stop to rest at the casino, at a concert
         or by the fountain, he without fail is to be found not far from our bench, and no matter where we are – in the park, in the
         forest or on the Schlangenberg – you need only raise your eyes, look around and without fail somewhere, either on a nearby
         path or behind a bush, a little piece of Mr Astley comes into view. It seems that he’s looking for an opportunity to talk
         with me in private. This morning we met and exchanged a few words. At times he speaks extremely curtly. Without even a ‘good
         morning’, he began by saying: ‘Ah, Mlle Blanche! … I’ve seen a great many women like Mlle Blanche!’


He fell silent, looking at me significantly. I don’t know what he wanted to say by this, because when I asked him what he
         meant, he shook his head with a sly smile and added: ‘So that’s how it is. Is Mlle Pauline very fond of flowers?’


‘I don’t know, I really don’t know,’ I replied.

‘What! You don’t know that either!’ he cried out in great amazement.

‘I don’t know, I’ve never really noticed,’ I repeated, laughing.

‘Hm, that gives me a special idea.’ Then he nodded and walked on. He, however, had a satisfied air about him. He and I speak
         the most wretched French.


      
      
      
      
      CHAPTER 4

      
      
      Today was a ridiculous, outrageous and absurd day. It’s now eleven o’clock at night. I’m sitting in my little closet of a
         room and remembering. It began with having to play roulette for Polina Alexandrovna this morning. I took all her 160 friedrichs
         d’or, but on two conditions: first of all, that I don’t want to play for half, that is, if I win, I won’t take anything for
         myself, and secondly, that this evening Polina will explain to me exactly why she needs to win and exactly how much money
         is necessary. All the same, I can by no means imagine that it’s solely for the sake of the money. Clearly the money is needed
         and as soon as possible for some particular purpose. She promised to explain, and I set off. It was awfully crowded in the
         gaming rooms. They’re all so insolent and so greedy! I elbowed my way through to the middle and stood right next to the croupier;
         then I timidly began to try my hand at the game, staking two or three coins. Meanwhile, I observed and took note; it seemed
         that calculation as such meant very little and did not at all have the importance that players attributed to it. They sit
         with slips of paper ruled into columns, note down the numbers that come up, count, figure their chances, calculate, finally
         place their stake and – lose precisely as much as we mere mortals who play without calculating. But I did draw one conclusion
         that seems to be correct: although there is no system in the course of random chance, there really does appear to be some
         sort of order, which, of course, is very peculiar. For example, it does happen that first the twelve middle numbers come up,
         followed by the twelve last ones; let’s say these twelve last numbers come up twice and then it passes to the twelve first
         numbers. After landing on the twelve first numbers, it passes to the twelve middle numbers, they come up three or four times,
         and it again passes to the twelve last numbers, where again after landing there twice, it passes to the first numbers, and after landing on the first numbers it again lands on the middle numbers three times, and it goes on in
         this way for the course of half the morning or a couple of hours. One, three and two; one, three and two. It’s very amusing.
         Another day or another morning it might, for example, happen that red is followed by black and back again almost without any
         order, constantly, so that it doesn’t land more than two or three times in a row on either the red or the black. The very
         next day or next evening, red comes up time after time; and this might happen, for example, more than twenty-two times in
         a row and will certainly continue like this for some time, for instance, during a whole day. A great deal of this was explained
         to me by Mr Astley, who spent the morning at the gaming tables but who didn’t place a stake himself even once. As for me,
         I lost absolutely everything and very quickly. I straightaway staked twenty friedrichs d’or on even and won, I staked five
         and again I won, and so it went for another two or three times. I think that about 400 friedrichs d’or came into my hands
         in some five minutes. At that point I should have walked away, but some strange sensation arose within me, some sort of challenge
         to fate, some desire to give it a flick on the nose or to stick my tongue out at it. I staked the largest sum allowed, 4,000
         gulden, and lost. Then, flushed with excitement, I took out everything that I had left, staked my money on the same thing
         and lost again, after which I walked away from the table, stunned. I couldn’t even understand what had happened to me and
         didn’t inform Polina Alexandrovna of my losses until just before dinner. In the meantime I had been roaming about in the park.


At dinner I was again in an excited state, just as I had been three days earlier. The Frenchman and Mlle Blanche were again
         dining with us. It turned out that Mlle Blanche had been in the gaming halls that morning and had witnessed my exploits. This
         time she spoke to me somewhat more attentively. The Frenchman went a more direct route and simply asked me whether I had really
         lost my own money. I think he suspects Polina. In a word, there’s something there. I lied and said at once that it was mine.


The general was extremely surprised: where did I get so much money? I explained that I had begun with ten friedrichs d’or,
         that six or seven wins in a row, doubled, had brought me up to five or six thousand gulden, and that I had then squandered
         it all on two plays.


Of course, this was all plausible. As I was explaining it, I looked at Polina, but I couldn’t detect anything in her face.
         However, she had allowed me to lie and didn’t correct me; from this I concluded that I had needed to lie and conceal that
         I was playing for her. In any event, I thought to myself, she owes me an explanation and promised earlier to reveal a few
         things to me.


I thought that the general would make some remark to me, but he kept his silence; I observed agitation and uneasiness in his
         face. Perhaps in his straitened circumstances he simply found it difficult to hear that such a respectable pile of gold had
         come and gone in a quarter of an hour from such an improvident fool as I.


I suspect that he and the Frenchman had a heated falling out yesterday evening. They were talking for a long time and heatedly
         about something, behind closed doors. The Frenchman had walked out as if he were annoyed by something, but early this morning
         he visited the general again – probably to continue yesterday’s conversation.


After hearing of my losses, the Frenchman observed to me caustically and even spitefully that one must be more prudent. I
         don’t know why he added that although many Russians gamble, in his opinion Russians have no talent for gambling.


‘But in my opinion, roulette is simply made for Russians,’ I said, and when the Frenchman grinned contemptuously at my reply,
         I observed to him that of course the truth was on my side, because when I spoke of the Russians as gamblers, I was criticizing
         them a great deal more than I was praising them, and that consequently I could be believed.


‘On what do you base your opinion?’ the Frenchman asked.

‘On the fact that the ability to acquire capital has entered the catechism of virtues and merits of the Western civilized
         man, and is practically the highest one. The Russian not only is incapable of acquiring capital, he even squanders it somehow
         scandalously and to no purpose. Nevertheless, we Russians also need money,’ I added, ‘and consequently, we are very glad of and very susceptible to such methods as roulette, for instance,
         where one can suddenly become wealthy in two hours effortlessly. We find this very attractive; and since we are playing to
         no purpose, without any effort, we lose!’


‘To some extent that’s true,’ the Frenchman observed smugly.

‘No, it’s not true, and you should be ashamed to speak about your fatherland like that,’ the general observed sternly and
         imposingly.


‘I beg your pardon!’ I answered him, ‘really, then, which is more vile: shocking Russian behaviour or the German method of
         accumulating through honest work?’


‘What a shocking idea!’ the general exclaimed.

‘What a Russian idea!’ the Frenchman exclaimed.

I laughed; I wanted terribly much to provoke them.

‘But I would rather spend my whole life roaming about in a Kirghiz1 tent,’ I cried, ‘than bow down to the German idol.’


‘What idol?’ the general cried, now seriously angry.

‘The German method of accumulating wealth. I’ve not been here long, but nevertheless, what I have managed to observe and establish
         rouses the indignation of my Tatar2 blood. My God, I don’t want those virtues! I managed yesterday to cover some ten versts3 around here. Why, it’s exactly the same as in those edifying little German picture books: every house everywhere you go has
         its Vater,4 who is terribly virtuous and unusually honest. In fact, so honest that it’s frightening to approach him. I can’t stand honest
         people whom it’s frightening to approach. Each such Vater has a family, and in the evenings they all read instructive books out loud. Above their little house rustle elms and chestnut
         trees. The setting sun, a stork on the roof,5 and everything is unusually poetic and touching … 


‘Now don’t be angry, General, allow me to tell something even more touching. I remember myself how my late father, also under
         the lime trees in the front garden, in the evenings would read aloud to me and my mother similar little books … So I can well
         and truly judge this. Well, then, every such family here is in complete servitude and obedience to the Vater. They all work like oxen and save up money like Jews.6 Let’s say that the Vater has already saved so many gulden and is counting on giving his trade or little plot of land to his eldest son; in order to
         do this the daughter is not given a dowry and she becomes an old maid. And what’s more, in order to do this the youngest son
         is sold into bondage or into the army, and the money is added to the family capital. Really, that’s what’s done here; I’ve
         asked around. All this is done for no other reason than honesty, from such an acute sense of honesty that the youngest son
         who is sold into servitude believes that he has been sold for no other reason than honesty – and that is the ideal, when the
         victim himself rejoices that he is being led to the slaughter. And what happens next? Next you find that the eldest son is
         none the better for it: he has his Amalchen, with whom his heart is one – but they cannot marry, because not enough gulden
         have been accumulated yet. They are also well behaved and sincere as they wait and then go to the slaughter with a smile.
         Amalchen’s cheeks are already sunken and she’s growing withered. Finally, in twenty years, their well-being has multiplied;
         the gulden have been saved up honestly and virtuously. The Vater blesses his forty-year-old eldest son and the thirty-five-year-old Amalchen, with her withered breasts and red nose … As
         he does so, he weeps, moralizes and dies. The eldest son becomes a virtuous Vater himself, and the whole story begins all over again. In some fifty or seventy years the grandson of the first Vater really does possess considerable capital and leaves it to his son, and he to his, and he to his, and some five or six generations
         later he is a Baron Rothschild or Hoppe & Co.,7 or the devil knows what. Well, sir, isn’t that a majestic spectacle: a century or two of uninterrupted labour, patience,
         intelligence, honesty, character, firmness, calculation, and a stork on the roof! What else could you want, after all there’s
         nothing loftier than this, and it’s from this point of view that they begin to judge the entire world, and the guilty, that
         is, those who differ from them in the slightest respect, are immediately punished. Well, if that’s the case, I’d rather kick
         up a row like a Russian or get rich at roulette. I don’t want to be Hoppe & Co. in five generations. I need money for myself,
         and I don’t consider myself simply to be merely something essential and subordinate to capital. I know that I have got terribly carried away, but so be it. Such are my convictions.’


‘I don’t know whether there’s much truth in what you’ve said,’ the general observed thoughtfully, ‘but I know for certain
         that you begin to show off unbearably as soon as you’re allowed to forget yourself just a little bit …’


As was his wont, he didn’t finish saying what he had to say. If our general started talking about something just somewhat
         more significant than the usual everyday conversation, then he never finished saying what he had to say. The Frenchman was
         listening offhandedly, somewhat wide-eyed. He had understood almost nothing of what I had said. Polina looked at me with haughty
         indifference. It seemed that she hadn’t heard me or anything else that was said at the table this time.


      
      
      
      
      CHAPTER 5

      
      
      She was unusually pensive, but immediately upon leaving the table she ordered me to accompany her on a walk. We took the children
         and set off for the fountain in the park.


Since I was in a particularly excited state, I stupidly and rudely blurted out the question: Why is it that our Marquis des
         Grieux, our Frenchman, not only does not accompany her now, when she goes out somewhere, but does not even speak to her for
         days on end?


‘Because he’s a scoundrel,’ she answered me strangely. I had never heard her voice such an opinion about des Grieux and fell
         silent, afraid to understand her irritability.


‘But did you notice that he’s not on good terms with the general today?’

‘You want to know what’s the matter,’ she answered curtly and irritably. ‘You know that the general has mortgaged everything
         to him, the entire estate is his, and if Grandmother doesn’t die, then the Frenchman will soon take possession of everything
         that has been mortgaged to him.’


‘Ah, so it’s really true that everything has been mortgaged? I had heard that, but didn’t know that it was absolutely everything.’

‘But of course it is.’

‘And if that’s the case, goodbye Mlle Blanche,’ I observed. ‘She won’t be the general’s wife then! Do you know what: I think
         the general is so much in love that he might shoot himself if Mlle Blanche throws him over. It’s dangerous to fall in love
         like that at his age.’


‘I myself think that something will happen to him,’ Polina Alexandrovna observed pensively.

‘And how splendid that would be,’ I cried, ‘it would be impossible to express more coarsely that she had agreed to marry him
         only for his money. They’re not even bothering to observe the niceties; it’s happened without any sense of decorum. It’s marvellous!
         And as for your grandmother, what could be more ridiculous and more sordid than sending telegram after telegram enquiring
         whether she’s dead or not? Well? What do you think, Polina Alexandrovna?’


‘It’s all nonsense,’ she said with disgust, interrupting me. ‘I, on the contrary, am surprised that you’re in such a cheerful
         mood. What are you so happy about? Surely not about losing my money?’


‘Why did you give it to me to lose? I told you that I can’t play for other people, much less for you. I’ll obey you, no matter
         what you order me to do; but the result doesn’t depend on me. You know, I warned you that nothing would come of it. Tell me,
         are you very crushed that you lost so much money? Why do you need so much?’


‘Why these questions?’

‘But after all, you promised to explain to me … Listen, I’m absolutely convinced that when I start playing for myself (and
         I have twelve friedrichs d’or), I’ll win. Then you can take how ever much you need from me.’


A look of contempt crossed her face.

‘Don’t be angry with me,’ I continued, ‘for such a suggestion. I’m so very conscious of the fact that I am nothing before
         you; that is, in your eyes, so you can even accept money from me. You cannot take offence at a present from me. And besides,
         I lost yours.’


She glanced at me quickly and after seeing that I was speaking irritably and sarcastically, she again interrupted the conversation:

‘There’s nothing of interest to you in my circumstances. If you must know, I’m simply in debt. I borrowed some money and I
         want to pay it back. I had the mad, strange idea that I would be certain to win, here, at the gaming tables. Why I had this
         idea – I don’t know, but I believed in it. Who knows, perhaps because I believed that I had no other choice.’


‘Or because it was simply necessary for you to win? That’s exactly like the drowning man who grasps at a straw. You must agree
         that if he weren’t drowning, he wouldn’t look upon a straw as a tree branch.’


Polina was surprised.

‘But then,’ she asked, ‘aren’t you hoping for the same thing? Once two weeks ago you yourself were talking to me, a great
         deal and for a long time, about how you were absolutely certain that you would win at roulette here, and you were trying to
         persuade me not to think you were a madman; or were you only joking then? But I recall that you were talking so seriously
         that it would be impossible to take it for a joke.’


‘That’s true,’ I answered pensively, ‘I am still absolutely certain that I will win. I’ll even confess to you that you have
         just raised a question for me: Why has my senseless and shocking loss today not left me with any doubt whatsoever? I am still
         absolutely certain that I will win without fail as soon as I start playing for myself.’


‘Why are you so very sure?’

‘If you like – I don’t know. I only know that I need to win, that it is also my only way out. And that’s perhaps why I think that I will win without fail.’


‘Therefore, you also need it too much if you are so fanatically certain?’


‘I wager that you doubt that I’m in a position to feel a serious need?’

‘It’s all the same to me,’ Polina answered quietly and indifferently. ‘If you like – yes, I doubt that anything could make you seriously suffer. You may suffer, but not seriously. You are an unsettled and insecure
         person. What do you need money for? I saw nothing serious in any of the reasons that you put forward to me then.’


‘By the way,’ I interrupted, ‘you said that you needed to repay a debt. It must be quite a debt, then! Is it the Frenchman
         you owe?’


‘What questions! You’re particularly impertinent today. You’re not drunk, are you?’

‘You know that I allow myself to say anything, and sometimes ask very blunt questions. I repeat, I am your slave, and one
         is not ashamed before slaves, and a slave cannot give offence.’


‘That’s all nonsense! And I can’t stand this “slave” theory of yours.’

‘Note that I do not speak of my slavery, because I want to be your slave, but I simply speak of it as a fact that in no way
         is dependent upon me.’


‘Speak plainly, why do you need money?’

‘But why do you want to know?’

‘As you like,’ she answered and turned her head away proudly.

‘You can’t stand my “slave” theory, yet you demand slavery: “Answer and don’t argue!” Fine, so be it. Why do I need money,
         you ask? What do you mean, why? Money is everything!’


‘That I understand, but not falling into madness from wanting it! You, too, are approaching a state of frenzy, of fatalism.
         There’s something here, some special purpose. Speak without beating about the bush. I want to know.’


She seemed to be getting angry and I was awfully pleased that she was questioning me so heatedly.

‘Of course, there’s a purpose,’ I said, ‘but I don’t know how to explain it. Nothing more than that money will make me a different
         person even for you, not a slave.’


‘What? How will you achieve that?’

‘How will I achieve it? What, you don’t even understand how I could achieve your looking at me as anything but a slave! Well,
         that’s just what I don’t want, such surprise and bewilderment.’


‘You said that you found this slavery pleasurable. And that’s what I thought myself.’

‘That’s what you thought,’ I cried with a strange sense of pleasure. ‘Ah, such naivety is good coming from you! Well, yes, yes, my slavery to you is a pleasure to me. There is, there
         really is pleasure in the ultimate degree of submission and insignificance,’ I went on, delirious. ‘The devil knows, perhaps
         there is in the knout as well, when the knout is on your back and tears the flesh to shreds … But perhaps I want to experience
         some other pleasures as well. Recently at dinner the general, in your presence, admonished me on account of the 700 roubles
         a year, which I perhaps may even not receive from him. The Marquis des Grieux raises his eyebrows, stares and at the same
         time doesn’t even see me. While perhaps I, for my part, passionately wish, in your presence, to take the Marquis des Grieux
         by the nose.’


‘The talk of a milksop. One can behave with dignity in any situation. If there’s a struggle, then it will elevate, not degrade.’

‘That’s right out of a copybook!1 You simply assume that I might not know how to behave with dignity. That is, though I may be a dignified person, I don’t
         know how to behave as if I were. Do you understand that this may be possible? And all Russians are like that, and do you know
         why: because Russians are too richly endowed and versatile to find an appropriate form for themselves right away. It’s all
         a matter of form. For the most part, we Russians are so richly endowed that genius is needed to find the appropriate form.
         Well, and genius more often than not is lacking, because it is generally seldom to be found. Only among the French and perhaps
         some other Europeans has the form been so well defined that one can look extremely dignified and yet be the most undignified
         person. That’s why form matters so much with them. A Frenchman will suffer insult, a real, serious insult without blinking,
         but he won’t suffer a flick on the nose for anything, because that would be a breach of the accepted and time-honoured form
         of decorum. That’s why our young ladies fall so easily for the French, because their form is so good. In my opinion, however,
         they don’t have any form at all – it’s nothing more than the cockerel – le coq gaulois.2 However, I don’t understand these things, I’m not a woman. Perhaps, cockerels are fine. And besides I’ve been leading you
         up the garden path, but you don’t stop me. Stop me more often; when I talk to you I want to say everything, everything, everything.
         I lose all sense of form. I’ll even agree that not only do I not have form, but I do not have any virtues whatsoever. I declare
         that to you. I won’t even worry about any virtues. Everything within me has now come to a stop. You yourself know why. I don’t
         have a single human thought in my head. For a long time now I have not known what is happening in the world, neither here
         nor in Russia. I’ve just been through Dresden and I don’t remember what Dresden was like. You yourself know what has swallowed
         me up. Since I have no hope and am nothing in your eyes, I can speak my mind: everywhere I look I see only you, nothing else
         matters. Why and how I love you – I don’t know. Do you know, maybe you’re not good at all? Just imagine, I don’t even know
         whether you’re good or not – or even good-looking. Your heart most likely isn’t good; your mind is ignoble; that’s very likely
         the case.’


‘Perhaps that’s why you’re counting on buying me with money,’ she said, ‘because you don’t believe in my nobleness.’

‘When did I count on buying you with money?’ I cried.

‘You’ve been letting your tongue get away from you so that you’ve lost the thread of what you were saying. You were thinking
         of buying my respect with your money, if not me.’


‘Oh, no, that’s not it at all. I told you that I found it difficult to explain myself. You’re overwhelming me. Don’t be angry
         with my chatter. You understand why you can’t be angry with me: I’m simply mad. But then, it’s all the same to me, even if
         you do get angry. All I need to do up there, in my little closet of a room, is remember and imagine merely the rustling of
         your dress, and I’m ready to gnaw my hands off. And why are you angry with me? Because I called myself your slave? Make use
         of my slavery, make use of it! Do you know that some day I will kill you? I won’t kill you because I have stopped loving you
         or because I’m jealous of you, but I’ll kill you simply because sometimes I want to devour you. You laugh …’


‘I’m not laughing at all,’ she said angrily. ‘I order you to be silent.’

She stopped, breathless with anger. My God! I don’t know whether she was pretty or not, but I have always liked looking at her when she would stop like that in front of me, and that
         was why I often liked to provoke her anger. Perhaps she had noticed this and became angry on purpose. I told her this.


‘What filth!’ she exclaimed with disgust.

‘It’s all the same to me,’ I continued. ‘Do you also know that it’s dangerous for the two of us to walk together: many times
         I have been irresistibly tempted to beat you, disfigure you, strangle you. And do you think that it won’t come to that? You’ll
         drive me mad. You can’t think that I’m afraid of a scandal? Or your anger? What’s your anger to me? I love without hope, and
         I know that after this I will love you a thousand times more. If I kill you some day, I’ll have to kill myself as well, you
         know; but I’ll put off killing myself as long as possible so that I can feel the unbearable pain of being without you. Do
         you want to know something incredible? I love you more with every passing day, and that’s all but impossible, you know. And how can I not be a fatalist after that? Do you remember
         the day before yesterday, on the Schlangenberg, I whispered to you, after being provoked by you: “Say the word and I’ll jump
         into the abyss.” If you had said the word, I would have jumped then. Do you really not believe that I would have jumped?’


‘What foolish chatter!’ she cried.

‘I don’t care whether it’s stupid or clever,’ I cried. ‘I know that when I’m with you I need to talk, talk, talk – and I do
         talk. I lose all self-respect when I’m with you – and I don’t care.’


‘Why should I make you jump off the Schlangenberg?’ she said coldly, and in a particularly insulting manner. ‘It would be
         absolutely of no use to me.’


‘Splendid!’ I cried, ‘you uttered that splendid “no use” on purpose, in order to crush me. I can see through you. No use,
         you say? But, you know, pleasure is always useful, and a wild boundless power – even over a fly – is also a pleasure, you
         know, in its own way. Man is a despot by nature and loves to be a tormentor. You like it terribly.’


I remember that she was scrutinizing me particularly intently. My face must have expressed all my incoherent and absurd feelings
         then. I recall that our conversation then really went almost word for word as I have described it here. My eyes had become bloodshot. Foam caked the corners of my mouth. And as
         for the Schlangenberg, I swear on my honour even now: if she had ordered me to throw myself down, I would have done it! If
         she had said it simply as a joke, or with scorn, or if she had said it with a jeer, even then I would have jumped!


‘No, why, I believe you,’ she pronounced, but in a way that only she knows how sometimes to speak, with such scorn and malice,
         with such arrogance that, my God, at that moment I could have killed her. She was taking a chance. I had not lied when I told
         her about that.


‘You’re not a coward?’ she asked me suddenly.

‘I don’t know, perhaps I am a coward. I don’t know … I haven’t thought about that for a long time.’

‘If I were to say to you: kill this man – would you kill him?’

‘Who?’

‘Whomever I want.’

‘The Frenchman?’

‘Don’t ask questions, but answer me – whomever I tell you. I want to know: were you speaking seriously just now?’ She waited
         for her answer so seriously and with such impatience that I started feeling somehow strange.


‘But will you tell me, finally, what’s going on here!’ I cried. ‘What’s wrong, are you afraid of me? I can see for myself
         that everything’s in a muddle here. You’re the stepdaughter of a man who’s ruined and gone mad, poisoned by passion for that
         she-devil – Blanche; then there’s that Frenchman, with his mysterious influence on you and – now you are seriously asking
         me … a question like that. At least let me know; otherwise I’ll go mad here and do something. Or are you ashamed to confer
         upon me such candour? But surely you can’t be ashamed with me?’


‘That isn’t at all what I’m talking to you about. I asked you a question and am waiting for your answer.’

‘It goes without saying, I’d kill,’ I cried, ‘whomever you ordered me to, but surely you can’t … surely you won’t order me
         to do that?’


‘And what do you think, that I’ll spare you? I’ll give the order and remain on the sidelines. Could you bear that? But of
         course not, how could you! You perhaps would kill if ordered to do so, but then you would come and kill me for daring to send
         you.’


It was as if something had hit me on the head when I heard those words. Of course, even then I considered her question to
         be something of a joke, a challenge; but nevertheless she had uttered it too seriously. Nevertheless, I was struck that she
         had spoken out like that, that she maintained such rights over me, that she would consent to wield such power over me, and
         say so frankly: ‘Go to your ruin, while I remain on the sidelines.’ There was something so cynical and candid in these words
         that, in my opinion, it went too far. Was that, then, how she regarded me now? It had already gone beyond slavery and being
         a nonentity. A view like that raises a person to your own level. And however absurd, however improbable our whole conversation
         may have been, my heart was pounding.


Suddenly she burst out laughing. We were sitting on a bench then, the children playing before us, just opposite the place
         where carriages would stop and let people off in the avenue in front of the casino.


‘Do you see that fat baroness?’ she cried. ‘That’s Baroness Wurmerhelm.3 She only arrived the day before yesterday. Do you see her husband: the tall, gaunt Prussian holding a walking stick? Do you
         remember how he looked us over the day before yesterday? Off you go now, walk up to the baroness, take off your hat and say
         something to her in French.’


‘But why?’

‘You swore that you would jump off the Schlangenberg; you swear that you are prepared to kill if I give the order. Instead
         of all these killings and tragedies I just want to have a laugh. Off you go now – no excuses. I want to see the baron beat
         you with his stick.’


‘Are you challenging me: do you think that I won’t do it?’

‘Yes, I’m challenging you; off you go, it’s what I want!’

‘As you wish, I’m going, though it’s a preposterous fancy. There’s only one thing – won’t there be some unpleasantness for the general, and through him for you as well? By God, I’m not worrying about myself, but about you – well and about the
         general too. And what sort of fancy is this to insult a woman for no reason?’


‘No, I can see you’re nothing but a chatterbox,’ she said scornfully. ‘Your eyes just now were bloodshot, but perhaps that
         was from drinking too much wine at dinner. Do you really think that I don’t understand myself that it’s both stupid and vulgar
         and that the general will be furious? I simply want to have a laugh. Well, I want to and that’s all there is to it! And why
         should you insult a woman? So that you get beaten with a stick all the sooner.’


I turned around and set off in silence to carry out her commission. Of course it was stupid and of course I didn’t know how
         to get myself out of it, but when I started walking towards the baroness, I remember, it was as if something were egging me
         on; to wit, the idea of acting like a naughty schoolboy. And I was terribly overwrought, as if I were drunk.


      
      
      
      
      CHAPTER 6

      
      
      Two days have passed now since that stupid day. And what shouts, rows, explanations, rumbles! And what a brouhaha it’s all
         been, what wrangling, stupidity and vulgarity – and I’m the cause of it all. But then again, sometimes it is funny – at least
         to me. I’m unable to comprehend what has happened to me; am I in fact in a state of frenzy or have I simply lost my bearings
         and am I going to wreak havoc until they tie me up? At times it seems that I’m losing my mind. At times it seems that I’m
         not all that far removed from childhood, from the school desk, and that I’m simply behaving like a naughty schoolboy.


It’s Polina, it’s all Polina! Perhaps there wouldn’t be any schoolboy pranks if it weren’t for her. Who knows, perhaps I do
         all this out of despair (no matter how stupid it is to think like that). And I don’t understand, I don’t understand what’s
         good about her! Yes, she’s rather good-looking; I think she’s good-looking. After all, she drives other men out of their mind.
         She’s tall and svelte. Only she’s very thin. I think you could tie her in a knot or bend her double. Her footprint is very
         narrow and long – it’s tormenting. Truly tormenting. Her hair has a reddish tint. Her eyes are real cat’s eyes, but how proudly
         and haughtily she can use them. One evening about four months ago, when I had just come here, she was talking heatedly and
         for a long time in the drawing room with des Grieux. And she looked at him in such a way … that later when I went to my room
         to go to bed, I could imagine that she had given him a slap – that she had just done it to him, and stood there in front of
         him looking at him … It was from that evening that I loved her.


However, to business.

I walked down the path to the avenue, stood in the middle of it and waited for the baroness and baron. At a distance of five
         paces, I took off my hat and made a bow.


I remember that the baroness was dressed in a light-grey silk dress of immense circumference, with flounces, a crinoline and
         a train. She is quite short and exceptionally fat, with a double chin so terribly fat you can’t see her neck at all. Her face
         is crimson. Her eyes are small, malevolent and insolent. She walks as though she were bestowing an honour on everyone. The
         baron is gaunt, tall. His face, as is usual with Germans, is lopsided and covered with a thousand tiny wrinkles; he wears
         glasses; he’s about forty-five years old. His legs begin practically right from his chest; that means he has breeding. He’s
         as proud as a peacock. A bit clumsy. There’s something sheep-like about his face, which in its own way might pass for profundity.


All this flashed before my eyes in a matter of three seconds.

My bow and my hat in my hands at first scarcely caught their attention. Only the baron arched his eyebrows slightly. The baroness
         kept sailing straight at me.


‘Madame la baronne,’ I pronounced loudly and clearly, rapping out each word, ‘j’ai l’honneur d’être votre esclave.’1

Then I made a bow, put on my hat and walked past the baron, politely turning my face to him and smiling.

I had been ordered to take off my hat, but bowing and playing the naughty schoolboy was my own idea. The devil only knows
         what urged me on. It’s as if I was hurtling down from a mountain.


‘Hein!’2 the baron cried, or rather, wheezed, turning towards me with angry surprise.


I turned around and came to a stop in polite expectation, as I continued to look at him and smile. He was evidently perplexed
         and raised his eyebrows nec plus ultra.3 His face grew darker and darker. The baroness also turned in my direction and also looked at me in furious bewilderment.
         Some of the passers-by began to gawk. Some even stopped.


‘Hein!’ the baron wheezed again, with a redoubled wheeze and with redoubled fury.


‘Jawohl,’ I drawled, as I continued to look him straight in the eye.


‘Sind Sie resend?’4 he shouted, waving his stick and, it seems, beginning to cower a bit. Perhaps he was baffled by my clothes. I was very decently,
         even foppishly, dressed, like a man who clearly belongs to the most respectable society.


‘Jawo-o-ohl!’ I shouted suddenly with all my might, drawling out the ‘o’ like Berliners do, who constantly use the word jawohl in conversation, drawling out the letter ‘o’ more or less, to express different nuances of ideas and feelings.


The baron and the baroness quickly turned around and almost ran away from me in fright. Some of the onlookers began to talk,
         while others looked at me in bewilderment. However, I don’t remember it very clearly.


I turned around and started walking at my normal pace towards Polina Alexandrovna. But when I was still about a hundred paces
         from her bench, I saw that she had got up and set off to the hotel with the children.


I caught up with her on the porch.

‘I carried out … your folly,’ I said, as I came up beside her.

‘Well, what of it? Now get yourself out of it,’ she answered, without even a glance in my direction, and went up the stairs.

I spent all that evening walking in the park. I even walked across the park and then through a forest into another principality.
         In a cottage I ate some fried eggs and drank wine – for this idyll they extorted a whole thaler and a half from me.


I didn’t return home until eleven o’clock. I was immediately summoned to the general.

Our party occupies two suites in the hotel; they have four rooms in all. The first, a large room, is the salon and has a piano.
         Adjacent to it is another large room, which is the general’s study. He was waiting for me there, standing in the middle of
         his study in an extremely majestic pose. Des Grieux was sprawled out on the sofa.


‘Allow me to ask you, my dear sir, what have you been up to?’ the general began, addressing me.

‘I would like you to get straight to the point, General,’ I said. ‘You no doubt wish to speak about my encounter today with
         a certain German?’


‘A certain German?! That German is Baron Wurmerhelm and a very important person, sir! You have behaved rudely to him and the
         baroness.’


‘Not at all.’

‘You frightened them, my dear sir,’ the general shouted.

‘Not in the least. When I was in Berlin my ears started ringing with this jawohl that they repeat after every word and which they drawl out so disgustingly. When I came upon them in the avenue, this jawohl suddenly came to mind, I don’t know why, and made me irritable … And besides that the baroness, as she has already done three
         times upon meeting me, has a habit of making straight for me, as if I were some worm that can be trampled underfoot. You must
         agree that I, too, may have my pride. I took off my hat and politely (I assure you that it was politely) said: “Madame, j’ai l’honneur d’être votre esclave.” When the baron turned around and shouted, “Hein!” – suddenly something induced me to also shout “Jawohl!” I shouted it twice: the first time in a normal voice, and the second time I drawled it out with all my might. And that’s
         all there is to it.’


I must confess that I was terribly happy with this extremely childish explanation. I myself was surprised how much I wanted
         to spin out this story with as many absurdities as possible.


And the further along I went, the more I developed a taste for it.

‘Are you making fun of me, is that it?’ the general shouted. He turned to the Frenchman and explained in French that I was definitely asking for a scandal. Des Grieux grinned contemptuously
         and shrugged his shoulders.


‘Oh, don’t think anything of the kind, it wasn’t that at all!’ I exclaimed to the general. ‘Of course, I behaved badly, and
         I admit that to you in all sincerity. My behaviour might even be called a stupid and unseemly schoolboy’s prank, but nothing
         more. And you should know, General, that I very much repent my actions. But there is one circumstance here that in my view
         almost absolves me even from repentance. Recently, for the last two or even three weeks, I have not been feeling well: I’m
         sick, nervous, irritable, fantastic, and on certain occasions I’ve completely lost all self-control. Indeed, sometimes I’ve
         wanted terribly to turn to the Marquis des Grieux suddenly and … However, there’s no point in finishing what I was going to
         say; he might take offence. In a word, these are symptoms of an illness. I don’t know whether Baroness Wurmerhelm will take
         this circumstance into consideration when I apologize to her (because I do intend to apologize). I don’t suppose she will,
         all the more so because as I understand it lawyers have started abusing this circumstance of late in the courts: in criminal
         trials they all too often have begun justifying their clients – the criminals – by the fact that they didn’t remember anything
         at the moment the crime was committed and that it was apparently some kind of illness. “He beat him,” they say, “but he doesn’t
         remember a thing.” And just imagine, General, medicine supports them – our medical men actually attest to the fact that there
         is an illness like this, a temporary insanity, when a person remembers almost nothing, or remembers only half, or a quarter.
         But the baron and baroness are people of the old generation, and Prussian junkers5 and landowners at that. They probably are still unaware of this progress in the legal and medical worlds, and therefore they
         won’t accept my explanation. What do you think, General?’


‘Enough, sir!’ the general uttered sharply and with restrained indignation. ‘Enough! I will try, once and for all, to rid
         myself of your schoolboy pranks. You will not apologize to the baron and baroness. Any dealings with you, even though it were
         to consist solely of your asking their forgiveness, would be too degrading for them. The baron, upon learning that you belong to my household,
         has already had a talk with me in the casino, and I must admit that had it gone a little further he would have demanded satisfaction
         from me. Do you understand what I – I – have been subjected to, my dear sir? I, sir, was forced to apologize to the baron
         and gave him my word that you would immediately, as of today, cease to be a member of my house-hold …’


‘Excuse me, General, excuse me, so it was he who categorically demanded that I cease to be a member of your household, as
         you are pleased to put it?’


‘No, but I considered myself obliged to give him that satisfaction, and, it goes without saying, the baron was gratified.
         We are parting, my dear sir. I still owe you these four friedrichs d’or and three florins in the local money. Here’s the money,
         and here’s the paper with the account; you may check the figures. Goodbye. From this time forth we are strangers. I have had
         nothing from you but bother and unpleasantness. I’ll call the attendant now and inform him that as of tomorrow I am not responsible
         for your hotel expenses. I have the honour to remain your humble servant.’


I took the money and the paper on which the account had been written in pencil, bowed to the general and said to him very
         seriously:


‘General, the matter cannot end like this. I am very sorry that you have been subjected to unpleasantness by the baron, but
         – I beg your pardon – you yourself are to blame. Why did you take it upon yourself to answer for me to the baron? What is
         the meaning of the expression that I belong to your household? I am merely a tutor in your household, and nothing more. I
         am not your son, I am not under your guardianship and you cannot answer for my actions. I am a legally competent person. I
         am twenty-five years old, I am a university graduate, I am a nobleman and I am a complete stranger to you. Only my unbounded
         respect for your merits prevents me from demanding satisfaction from you right now and a further explanation for the fact
         that you took it upon yourself to answer for me.’


The general was so stunned that he flung up his hands, then suddenly turned towards the Frenchman and hurriedly recounted
         to him that I had practically challenged him to a duel just now. The Frenchman roared with laughter.


‘But I do not intend to let the baron off,’ I continued with complete composure, not in the least embarrassed by Monsieur
         des Grieux’s laughter, ‘and since, General, by consenting to listen to the baron’s complaint today and thus entering into
         his interests, you have made yourself a participant, as it were, in this whole affair, then I have the honour of informing
         you that no later than tomorrow morning I will demand from the baron, in my own name, a formal explanation of his reasons
         for addressing another person instead of me, when his business was with me, as if I were unable or unworthy of answering him
         myself.’


My hunch proved right. Upon hearing this new bit of nonsense, the general became terribly frightened.

‘What, do you really intend to continue this damned business!’ he cried. ‘But what are you doing to me, good Lord! Don’t you
         dare, don’t you dare, my dear sir, or I swear! … There are authorities here, too, and I … I … In a word, with my rank … and
         the baron’s, too … In a word, you’ll be arrested and sent away from here under police escort so that you don’t make a row!
         Understand that, sir!’ And although he was choking with rage, nevertheless he was terribly frightened.


‘General,’ I answered with a calmness that he found unbearable, ‘one cannot be arrested for making a row before the row happens.
         I have not yet begun my explanations with the baron, and you are completely in the dark as to how and on what grounds I intend
         to set about the business. I wish only to clear up the offensive assumption that I am under the guardianship of a person who
         supposedly has power over my free will. You are becoming alarmed and worried for no reason.’


‘For God’s sake, for God’s sake, Alexey Ivanovich, abandon this senseless undertaking!’ the general muttered, suddenly changing
         his wrathful tone for a pleading one, and even grabbing me by the hands. ‘Well, just imagine what will come of it. More unpleasantness!
         You will agree that I must behave in a particular way, particularly now! … Particularly now! … Oh, you don’t know, you don’t know all my circumstances! … I am prepared to take you back when we leave this place. It’s only now that,
         well, in a word – after all, you understand the reasons!’ he cried in despair. ‘Alexey Ivanovich, Alexey Ivanovich! …’


As I was making my way to the door, I once more earnestly asked him not to worry; I promised that everything would turn out
         well and properly, and hurried to leave.


Sometimes Russians abroad are too cowardly and are terribly afraid of what people will say, how they will be regarded and
         whether this or that is the proper thing to do – in a word, they behave as if they were wearing a corset, particularly those
         who lay claim to being of some importance. Their favourite thing is some sort of preconceived, established form, which they
         follow slavishly – in hotels, on walks, at meetings, while travelling … But the general had let slip that apart from everything
         else there were some particular circumstances, that he needed ‘to behave particularly’. And that was why he suddenly became
         so faint-hearted and frightened and changed his tone with me. I took this into consideration and made a note of it. And, of
         course, tomorrow he could without thinking what he was doing apply to some authorities, so that indeed I must be careful.


I did not at all wish to make the general himself angry, however; but I did want to make Polina angry now. Polina had treated
         me so cruelly and had pushed me on to such a stupid path that I very much wanted to drive her to the point where she would
         ask me to stop. My schoolboy’s prank, after all, might compromise her, too. Besides, some different feelings and desires were
         taking shape within me; if I, for instance, should disappear of my own accord into nothingness in her presence, that does
         not at all mean that I am a wet chicken in the presence of other people, and of course it’s certainly not for the baron ‘to
         beat me with his stick’. I wanted to have a good laugh at them all, and come out of it a splendid fellow. Let them watch me.
         I dare say that she’ll be frightened of a scandal and call me to her side once more. And if she doesn’t, then she’ll nevertheless
         see that I’m not a wet chicken … 


(An astonishing bit of news: I’ve just heard from our nanny, whom I met on the stairway, that Marya Filippovna left today
         for Karlsbad, all alone on the evening train, to visit her cousin. What does this mean? The nanny says that she had been planning
         it for some time; but how is it that nobody knew? However, perhaps I’m the only one who didn’t know. Nanny let slip to me
         that Marya Filippovna had a talk with the general the day before yesterday. I understand, sir. It’s probably – Mlle Blanche.
         Yes, something decisive is coming.)


      
      
      
      
      CHAPTER 7

      
      
      In the morning I called the attendant and informed him that I wished to be billed separately. My room was not so expensive
         to alarm me and make me leave the hotel altogether. I had sixteen friedrichs d’or, and there … and there perhaps lay wealth!
         Strange as it may seem, I still hadn’t won, but I was acting, feeling and thinking like a wealthy man, and I couldn’t imagine
         myself any other way.


I had intended, despite the early hour, to go at once to see Mr Astley in the Hotel d’Angleterre, which was quite near us,
         when suddenly des Grieux came to see me. This had never happened before, and besides, my relations with this gentleman of
         late had been very aloof and very strained. He clearly hadn’t been bothering to conceal his contempt for me, hadn’t even tried
         to conceal it; while I – I had my own reasons for not regarding him with favour. In a word, I loathed him. His arrival surprised
         me very much. I at once grasped that something special was brewing.


He was very amiable when he entered and even complimented me on my room. Seeing that I had my hat in my hand, he enquired
         whether I was really going out for a walk so early. When he heard that I was going to see Mr Astley on business, he thought
         it over for a moment, reflected and his face assumed an extremely anxious look.


Des Grieux was like all Frenchmen, that is, gay and amiable when necessary and expedient, and unbearably boring when being
         gay and amiable had ceased to be necessary. The Frenchman is rarely naturally amiable; he is always amiable on command, as
         it were, or when it is to his advantage. If, for example, he sees the necessity to be fantastic, original, a bit out of the ordinary, then his fantasy, of the most stupid
         and unnatural kind, is pieced together from earlier accepted forms that have long since become vulgar. The natural Frenchman
         consists of the most plebeian, petty and ordinary positivism – in a word, he’s the most boring being in the world. In my opinion,
         only novices and, in particular, Russian young ladies find Frenchmen attractive. Any respectable being notices at once and
         finds unbearable the conventionalism of the established forms of salon amiability, familiarity and gaiety.


‘I’ve come to see you on business,’ he began extremely unceremoniously, though politely, ‘and I won’t conceal the fact that
         I come to you as an ambassador, or rather, as a mediator from the general. As I know very little Russian, I understood almost
         nothing yesterday; but the general explained it to me in detail, and I confess …’


‘But listen, Monsieur des Grieux,’ I interrupted him, ‘here you’ve undertaken to be a mediator in this business. Of course,
         I am “un outchitel” and have never laid claim to being a close friend of this household or to any other especially intimate relations, and therefore
         I do not know all the circumstances; but explain to me, are you now really a member of this family? Because, in the end, you
         take such an interest in everything, and without fail you are the mediator in everything …’


He didn’t like my question. It was too transparent for him, and he didn’t want to say more than he had to.

‘I am bound to the general in part through business, in part through certain special circumstances,’ he said drily. ‘The general sent me to ask you to abandon your intentions of yesterday. Everything you concocted,
         of course, is very clever; but he particularly asked me to convey to you that you will fail utterly; moreover, the baron won’t
         receive you; and, finally, in any event, he has the means by which to forestall any further unpleasantness from you. You must
         see that. Tell me, what is the purpose of continuing? The general has promised you that he will certainly take you back into
         his household again at the first opportunity and until that time will pay your salary, vos appointements.1 Now that’s rather handsome, don’t you think?’


I very calmly raised the objection that he was somewhat mistaken; that perhaps the baron wouldn’t send me packing, but on
         the contrary, would hear me out, and that he had probably come to try to discover how exactly I intended to pursue the matter.


‘Good heavens! Since the general is so interested, then it goes without saying that he would like to know what you’re going
         to do and how you’re going to do it. That’s only natural!’


I proceeded to explain and he began to listen, sprawled out with his head inclined somewhat towards me and a suggestion of
         overt and unconcealed irony in his face. I tried with all my might to pretend that I was regarding the matter very seriously.
         I explained that since the baron had turned to the general with his complaint about me, as if I were the general’s servant,
         then, first of all, he had deprived me of my post, and secondly, he had slighted me, as though I were a person who was not
         in a position to answer for myself and to whom it was not even worth talking. Of course, I was justified in feeling offended;
         however, considering the difference in our ages, positions in society and so on and so forth (I could hardly keep from laughing
         at this point), I did not want to commit another act of thoughtlessness, that is, by challenging the baron directly or merely
         offering him satisfaction. Nevertheless, I considered myself fully within my rights in offering him, and the baroness in particular,
         my apologies, all the more so because of late I have indeed felt ill, out of sorts and, so to speak, fantastic and so on and
         so forth. However, the baron himself, with his insulting appeal to the general yesterday and his insistence that the general
         dismiss me from my position, had put me in such a position that now I could no longer offer him and the baroness my apologies,
         because both he and the baroness and all of society would certainly think that I had come with my apologies out of fear and
         in order to regain my post. From all this it follows that I now find myself forced to ask the baron that he apologize to me
         first, in the most moderate terms – for example, he might say that he did not wish to offend me in any way. And when the baron
         says this, then I, my hands now untied, will extend to him my heartfelt and sincere apologies. In a word, I concluded, I ask
         only that the baron untie my hands.


‘Ugh! What scruples and what refinement! And why should you apologize? Well, you must admit, monsieur … monsieur … that you are undertaking all this on purpose, in order to annoy the general … but perhaps, you have some ulterior motive
         … mon cher monsieur, pardon, j’ai oublié votre nom, monsieur Alexis? … n’est ce pas?’2

‘But excuse me, mon cher marquis, what business is it of yours?’


‘Mais le général …’3

‘And what of the general? Yesterday he said something, that he needed to maintain a certain footing … and he was so worried
         … but I didn’t understand a thing.’


‘There is here, there exists here a particular circumstance,’ des Grieux picked up in a pleading tone, in which vexation was
         heard more and more. ‘You know Mlle de Cominges?’


‘That is, Mlle Blanche?’

‘Well, yes, Mlle Blanche de Cominges … et madame sa mere4 … You must admit, the general … In a word, the general is in love and even … perhaps the marriage will even take place here.
         And just imagine that at the same time there are all sorts of scandal and talk.’


‘I don’t see any scandal or talk that have any bearing on the marriage.’

‘But le baron est si irascible, un caractère prussien, vous savez, enfin il fera une querelle d’Allemande.’5

‘But that will be with me, and not you, since I no longer belong to the household …’ (I purposely tried to be as thick-headed
         as possible.) ‘But excuse me, so is it settled that Mlle Blanche is marrying the general? What are they waiting for? I mean
         to say – why conceal this, at any rate, from us, the members of the household?’


‘I can’t tell you … however, it’s not yet completely … however … you know that they are waiting for news from Russia; the
         general needs to put his affairs in order …’


‘Ah, yes, la baboulinka!’

Des Grieux looked at me with hatred.

‘In a word,’ he interrupted, ‘I rely completely on your innate kindness, your intelligence, your tact … You, of course, will
         do this for the family in which you have been received as one of their own, in which you have been loved and respected …’


‘Pardon me, I’ve been thrown out! Here you’ve just been claiming that it was all for the sake of appearances; but you must
         admit that if you’re told: “Of course, I don’t want to box your ears, but for the sake of appearances let me box your ears”
         … Isn’t that practically the same thing?’


‘If that’s the way it is, if no entreaties can have any influence over you,’ he began severely and haughtily, ‘then allow
         me to assure you that measures will be taken. There are authorities here, you’ll be sent away today – que diable! un blanc-bec comme vous6 wants to challenge a person like the baron to a duel! And do you think that you’ll be left in peace? Believe me, nobody here
         is afraid of you! If I have made a request, it was more on my own account, because you have caused the general worry. And
         do you really think, do you really think that the baron won’t simply order you thrown out by his lackey?’


‘But, you see, I’m not going myself,’ I answered with extraordinary calm, ‘you are mistaken, Monsieur des Grieux, all this
         will be managed much more properly than you think. I’m going to see Mr Astley now and ask him to be my go-between, in a word,
         to be my second. This man likes me and will certainly not refuse. He will go to the baron and the baron will receive him.
         If I am un outchitel and seem to be some sort of subalterne,7 well and, finally, defenceless – then Mr Astley is the nephew of a lord, a real lord, everybody knows that, Lord Pibroch,
         and that lord is here. Believe me, the baron will be courteous to Mr Astley and will hear him out. And if he doesn’t hear
         him out, then Mr Astley will regard that as a personal offence (you know how persistent the English are) and send a friend
         to the baron, and he has some good friends. Consider now that things might not turn out as you had supposed.’


The Frenchman was definitely frightened; indeed, all this looked very much like the truth and, as a result, it turned out
         that I really was in a position to instigate a scandal.


‘But I beg you,’ he began in an utterly pleading voice, ‘drop all this! It’s as though you are pleased that a scandal will
         come of it! It’s not satisfaction that you require, but a scandal! I said that it all would come out amusing and even clever, which perhaps is what you’re aiming for, but in a word,’ he concluded,
         seeing that I had risen and was taking my hat, ‘I came to you to give you these few words from a certain person; read them
         – I was told to wait for an answer.’


Having said this, he took from his pocket a little note, folded and sealed, and gave it to me.

In Polina’s handwriting was written.

      
      
         I gather that you intend to continue with this business. You’re angry and you’re starting to act like a schoolboy. But there
            are particular circumstances here, which perhaps I will explain to you later; meanwhile, please, stop and calm yourself. How
            stupid it all is! I need you and you promised to obey me. Remember the Schlangenberg. I ask you to be obedient and, if necessary,
            I order it.


         Yours, P.

         PS If you are angry with me about what happened yesterday, then forgive me.



      
      Everything seemed to be swimming before my eyes as I read these lines. My lips turned white and I began to tremble. The damned
         Frenchman looked on with an earnestly reticent pose, having averted his eyes from me, as if to avoid witnessing my embarrassment.
         It would have been better if he had burst out laughing at me.


‘Fine,’ I answered, ‘tell mademoiselle that she may rest easy. Allow me, however, to ask you,’ I added sharply, ‘why is it that you withheld the note for so long?
         Instead of nattering about trifles, it seems you should have begun with that … if you came expressly on that errand.’


‘Oh, I wanted … In general, this is all so strange that you will forgive my natural impatience. I wanted to learn from you
         myself as quickly as possible what your intentions are. However, I do not know what is in the note and thought that there
         would always be opportunity to give it to you.’


‘I understand; you were quite simply ordered to give it to me only as a last resort, but not to do so if everything was settled
         by talking it out. Isn’t that so? Tell me plainly, Monsieur des Grieux!’


‘Peut-être,’8 he said, assuming an air of some particular reserve and regarding me with some sort of particular look.


I took my hat; he nodded and left. I thought I saw a sarcastic smile on his lips. And how could it be otherwise?

‘You and I still have a score to settle, Frenchy; we’ll see how you measure up!’ I muttered as I went down the stairs. I still
         couldn’t take anything in; it was as if I had been hit over the head. The fresh air revived me a bit.


A couple of minutes later, when I was just barely beginning to take things in, two thoughts presented themselves to me clearly:
         first: that such trifles as some schoolboyish pranks and improbable threats uttered by a mere boy in passing yesterday could raise
         such a general alarm! And the second thought: what is the nature of this Frenchman’s influence on Polina? Just a word from him – and she does everything he asks,
         writes a note and even begs me. Of course, their relationship had always been a riddle to me from the very beginning, from the time that I first knew
         them; however, during these past few days I have observed in her a definite loathing and even contempt for him, while he didn’t
         even look at her, was even simply rude to her. I have observed this. Polina herself spoke to me of her loathing; she’s come
         out with some extremely significant admissions … That means he simply has her in his power, he has her in fetters of some
         sort … 


      
      
      
      
      CHAPTER 8

      
      
      On the promenade, as they call it here, that is, the chestnut avenue, I met my Englishman.

‘Oh, oh!’ he began, when he caught sight of me, ‘I was on my way to see you and you’re coming to see me. So, have you already
         parted company from your people?’


‘Tell me, first of all, how is it that you know all about it?’ I asked in astonishment. ‘Does everybody really know all about
         it?’


‘Oh, no, not everybody; and it’s not worth their knowing. Nobody’s talking about it.’

‘Then how is it that you know about it?’

‘I know, that is, I chanced to learn. Now where are you going from here? I like you and that’s why I came to see you.’

‘You’re a good fellow, Mr Astley,’ I said (however, I was terribly surprised: how did he find out?), ‘and since I haven’t
         had my coffee yet and you probably didn’t have a proper cup, let’s go to the cafe in the casino, and we can sit there, have
         a smoke, and I’ll tell you everything, and … you’ll tell me too.’


The cafe was a hundred paces away. They brought us our coffee, we sat down, I lit a cigarette, Mr Astley didn’t smoke but
         having fixed his gaze on me, he prepared to listen.


‘I’m not going anywhere, I’m staying here,’ I began.

‘And I was certain that you would stay,’ Mr Astley replied approvingly.

On my way to see Mr Astley I did not at all intend and particularly did not want to tell him anything about my love for Polina.
         All this time, I had hardly said a single word to him about it. Moreover, he was very shy. I had observed from the first that
         Polina made an extraordinary impression on him, but that he never mentioned her name. But strangely enough, suddenly, now,
         no sooner had he sat down and fixed upon me his intent, lustreless gaze than I felt for no reason at all the desire to tell
         him everything, that is, all about my love in all its particulars. I talked for a full half-hour, and I found it extraordinarily
         pleasant to be talking about it for the first time! Noticing, however, that he would become embarrassed at certain, particularly
         passionate places, I purposely intensified the passion of my story. I regret one thing: perhaps I said a bit more than I should
         have about the Frenchman … 


Mr Astley listened, seated across from me, motionless, not uttering a word or a sound and looking me in the eyes; but when
         I started talking about the Frenchman, he suddenly cut me short and asked severely: Did I have the right to bring up this
         extraneous circumstance? Mr Astley always asked questions very strangely.


‘You’re right, I’m afraid I don’t,’ I answered.

‘You can say nothing definite about this marquis and Miss Polina apart from mere conjectures?’

I again was surprised by such a categorical question from such a shy person as Mr Astley.

‘No, nothing definite,’ I answered, ‘nothing, of course.’

‘If that’s the case, then you have done wrong not only by speaking about it with me, but even by thinking of it yourself.’

‘All right, all right! I admit it, but that’s not the point now,’ I interrupted, keeping my surprise to myself. Then I proceeded
         to tell him all about what happened yesterday, with all the details: Polina’s bit of mischief, my adventure with the baron,
         my dismissal, the general’s unusual cowardice; and, finally, I gave a detailed account of today’s visit by des Grieux, in
         all its particulars; in conclusion I showed him the note.


‘What do you deduce from this?’ I asked. ‘I came precisely to learn your thoughts. As far as I’m concerned, I think I could
         kill that little Frenchy and perhaps I will.’


‘And I as well,’ Mr Astley said. ‘As far as Miss Polina is concerned, then … you know, we enter into relations even with people
         whom we loathe if necessity so dictates. There may be relations here of which you are ignorant, which depend on extenuating
         circumstances. I think that you can set your mind at rest, to a certain extent, of course. As far as her conduct yesterday
         is concerned, of course, it’s strange – not because she wanted to be rid of you and sent you to brave the baron’s cudgel (which
         he didn’t use, I don’t understand why, since he was holding it), but because such an escapade for such a … for such an exceptional
         miss1 is unseemly. It goes without saying that she couldn’t foresee that you would carry out her taunting wish literally …’


‘Do you know what?’ I cried suddenly, as I peered intently at Mr Astley. ‘It’s just occurred to me that you have already heard
         about everything, and I know from whom? – from Miss Polina herself!’


Mr Astley looked at me with surprise.

‘Your eyes are sparkling and I read suspicion in them,’ he said, having at once regained his composure. ‘But you have no right
         whatsoever to divulge your suspicions. I cannot recognize that right and absolutely refuse to answer your question.’


‘Well, enough! There’s no need,’ I cried out, strangely agitated and not understanding where that idea had come from! And
         when, where and how could Mr Astley have been chosen by Polina to be her confidant? Of late, however, I had somewhat lost
         sight of Mr Astley, while Polina had always been something of a mystery for me, so much so that now, for example, having launched
         into the whole story of my love to Mr Astley, I was suddenly struck, as I was telling it, by how I could say almost nothing
         precise and positive about my relationship with her. On the contrary, everything was fantastic, strange, unfounded, and unlike
         anything else.


‘Well, all right, all right; I’ve lost the thread and there’s a great deal that I am unable to grasp right now,’ I answered,
         as if I was out of breath. ‘However, you’re a good man. Now to another piece of business, and I will ask not for your advice,
         but for your opinion.’


I was silent for a moment and began:

‘Why do you think that the general got so scared? Why have they all made such a fuss over my very stupid practical joke? Such
         a fuss that even des Grieux himself found it necessary to get involved (and he gets involved only in the most important matters),
         pay me a visit (and what a visit!), beg, plead with me – he, des Grieux, begs me! Finally, take note, he came at nine o’clock,
         just before nine, and he already had Miss Polina’s note in his hands. So when, one wants to know, was it written? Perhaps
         Miss Polina was roused out of bed for this! Moreover, from this I see that Miss Polina is his slave (because she even asks
         me for my forgiveness!); moreover, what is all this to her, to her personally? Why is she so interested? Why are they so afraid
         of some baron? And what if the general is marrying Mlle Blanche de Cominges? They say that they have to behave in some particular way as a result of this circumstance – but this is all too particular, you must agree! What do you think? I’m convinced by
         your look that you know more than I do here as well!’


Mr Astley grinned and nodded.

‘Indeed, it seems that I do know a great deal more about this than you,’ he said. ‘The whole matter concerns Mlle Blanche
         alone, and I am certain that this is the absolute truth.’


‘Well, what about Mlle Blanche?’ I cried in impatience (I suddenly hoped that now something would be revealed about Mlle Polina).

‘I think that at the present moment Mlle Blanche has a particular interest in avoiding in any way possible an encounter with
         the baron and baroness – even more so an unpleasant encounter, and even worse a scandalous one.’


‘Well! Well!’

‘Mlle Blanche was here in Roulettenburg during the season the year before last. And I was here as well. Mlle Blanche then
         was not called Mlle de Cominges, nor did her mother Madame veuve2 Cominges exist then. At least there was no mention of her. Des Grieux – there was no des Grieux either. I am deeply convinced
         that not only are they not related, but also that they were not even acquainted until quite recently. Des Grieux also became
         a marquis only quite recently – I’m convinced of that by a certain circumstance. One might even presume that he took the name
         des Grieux only recently. I know here a certain individual who has met him under a different name.’


‘But he really does have a respectable circle of acquaintance, doesn’t he?’

‘Oh, that may be. Even Mlle Blanche may have. But the year before last Mlle Blanche, owing to a complaint from this same baroness,
         received an invitation from the local police to quit the city and she did so.’


‘How is that?’

‘She made her first appearance here then with a certain Italian, some sort of prince, with a historic name, something like
         Barberini3 or something of the sort. The man was all rings and diamonds, and not fake ones either. They drove around in a marvellous
         carriage. Mlle Blanche played trente et quarante, at first very well, but then her luck took a sharp turn for the worse, as I recall. I remember that she lost a considerable
         sum one evening. But worst of all, un beau matin4 her prince vanished no one knows where; the horses and carriage vanished as well – everything vanished. The hotel bill was
         frightful. Mlle Zelmá (instead of Barberini she had suddenly become Mlle Zelmá) was in the utmost despair. She wailed and screamed for the whole hotel to hear and rent her clothes in a fit of rage. A certain
         Polish count (all travelling Poles are counts) was staying there in the hotel, and Mlle Zelmá, rending her clothes and scratching
         her face like a cat with her beautiful hands washed in perfume, made something of an impression on him. They talked things
         over and by dinner she had consoled herself. In the evening he appeared with her on his arm in the casino. Mlle Zelmá laughed,
         as was her wont, very loudly, and her manner had become somewhat more composed. She had entered right into the ranks of those
         ladies who, when they play roulette, walk up to the table and elbow for all they’re worth for a place for themselves among
         the gamblers at the table. This is considered particularly chic among these ladies. You have, of course, noticed them?’


‘Oh, yes.’

‘They’re not worth noticing. To the annoyance of the respectable patrons, they are not asked to leave, at least those who
         change thousand-franc notes at the table every day. However, as soon as they stop changing notes, they’re immediately asked
         to move on. Mlle Zelmá still continued to change notes, but her luck was worse than ever. Note that these ladies very often
         are lucky when they gamble; they have marvellous self-control. However, my story is at an end. One day, the count vanished
         just as the prince had done. Mlle Zelmá made her appearance that evening alone; this time nobody presented himself to offer
         his arm. In two days’ time she had lost absolutely everything. After betting her last louis d’or and losing it, she looked
         around and saw next to her Baron Wurmerhelm, who was scrutinizing her very carefully and with profound indignation. But Mlle
         Zelmá didn’t detect his indignation, and turning to the baron with her celebrated smile asked him to stake ten louis d’or
         on red for her. As a result, following a complaint from the baroness, she received an invitation by evening not to make any
         further appearances in the casino. If you’re surprised at my knowing all these petty and utterly indecent details, it’s only
         because I’ve heard them at length from Mr Feeder, a relation of mine, who that very evening drove Mlle Zelmá in his carriage
         from Roulettenburg to Spa.5 Now do you understand? Mlle Blanche wants to become the general’s wife, probably so that in future she will not receive any more invitations like the one she
         did the year before last from the casino police. She no longer plays now; but that’s because now, to all appearances, she
         has capital that she lends at interest to the gamblers here. That’s much shrewder. I even suspect that the unfortunate general
         owes her money, too. Perhaps des Grieux does as well. Perhaps des Grieux is her partner. You must agree that at least until
         the wedding she would not wish to attract the attention of the baroness and baron for any reason. In a word, nothing could
         be less to her advantage than a scandal. And you are connected with their household, and your actions might cause a scandal,
         all the more so since she daily appears in public on the general’s arm or with Miss Polina. Now do you understand?’


‘No, I don’t understand!’ I cried, banging the table so hard that the garçon6 came running in alarm.


‘Tell me, Mr Astley,’ I repeated in a frenzy, ‘if you knew this whole story, and consequently, you know by heart what Mlle
         Blanche de Cominges is, why didn’t you warn me at least, or the general himself, or finally, and most importantly, Miss Polina,
         who has appeared here in public at the casino arm in arm with Mlle Blanche. How could you?’


‘There wasn’t any point in warning you, because you couldn’t have done anything,’ Mr Astley answered calmly. ‘And indeed what
         was there to warn you about? The general perhaps knows even more about Mlle Blanche than I do, and nevertheless he accompanies
         her and Miss Polina on their walks. The general is an unfortunate man. Yesterday I saw Mlle Blanche galloping on a splendid
         horse with Monsieur des Grieux and that little Russian prince, while the general galloped behind them on a chestnut. He had
         said that morning that his feet were aching, but he rode well. And just at that very moment it suddenly occurred to me that
         he is an utterly ruined man. Moreover, all this is none of my business, and I only recently had the honour of getting to know
         Miss Polina. However,’ (Mr Astley remembered suddenly), ‘I’ve already told you that I cannot recognize your right to ask certain
         questions, despite the fact that I sincerely like you …’


‘Enough,’ I said, as I got up, ‘now it’s clear to me as day that Miss Polina also knows everything about Mlle Blanche, but
         that she can’t part with her Frenchman, and therefore she reconciles herself to the idea of taking walks with Mlle Blanche.
         Believe me, no other influence would force her to walk with Mlle Blanche and to implore me in a note not to touch the baron.
         This must be the influence before which everything must bow. And yet it was she herself who set me loose on the baron! The
         devil take it, you can’t make heads or tails of it!’


‘You’re forgetting, first of all, that this Mlle de Cominges is the general’s fiancée and, secondly, that Miss Polina, the
         general’s stepdaughter, has a little brother and a little sister, the general’s own children, who have been completely abandoned
         by this madman and who seem to have been robbed by him as well.’


‘Yes, yes! That’s so. To leave the children would mean to abandon them completely, to remain would mean protecting their interests
         and perhaps saving some scraps of the estate. Yes, yes, all that’s true! But still, still! Oh, I understand now why they all
         take such an interest in Granny!’


‘In whom?’ Mr Astley asked.

‘In that old witch in Moscow, who won’t die and about whom they wait for a telegram, saying that she’s dead.’

‘Well, yes, of course, all their interests are tied to her. It’s all a matter of the inheritance! If the inheritance is announced,
         then the general marries; Miss Polina will also be free, and des Grieux …’


‘Well, and what of des Grieux?’

‘Des Grieux will be paid his money; that’s all he’s waiting for here.’

‘Is that all? Do you think he’s only waiting for that?’

‘I don’t know any more,’ Mr Astley fell into a stubborn silence.

‘But I know, I know!’ I repeated, enraged. ‘He’s also waiting for the inheritance, because Polina will receive a dowry, and
         once she receives the money, she’ll immediately throw herself on his neck. All women are like that! And those that are the
         proudest turn out to be the most pathetic slaves. Polina is capable only of loving passionately and nothing more! That’s my opinion of her! Just take a look at her, particularly when she’s sitting alone, deep in thought: it’s something destined,
         fated, cursed! She’s capable of all the horrors of life and passion … she … she … but who is that calling me?’ I suddenly
         exclaimed. ‘Who’s shouting? I heard someone shout in Russian: “Alexey Ivanovich!” A woman’s voice, listen, listen!’


At this moment we were approaching our hotel. We had left the cafe long ago now, almost without noticing it.

‘I heard a woman shouting, but I don’t know who is being called; it was in Russian; now I see where the shouts are coming
         from,’ Mr Astley was pointing, ‘it’s that woman who’s shouting, the one sitting in the large chair and who has just been carried
         on to the porch by all those lackeys. They’re carrying up suitcases behind her, which means that the train has just arrived.’


‘But why is she calling me? She’s shouting again; look, she’s waving to us.’

‘I can see that she’s waving,’ Mr Astley said.

‘Alexey Ivanovich! Alexey Ivanovich! Oh, my heavens, what a blockhead!’ desperate cries resounded from the hotel porch.

We almost ran to the entrance. I stepped on to the porch and … I stopped dead in my tracks in amazement, my legs rooted to
         the ground.


      
      
      
      
      CHAPTER 9

      
      
      At the top of the steps of the hotel’s wide porch, carried up the stairs in a chair and surrounded by footmen, maidservants
         and numerous obsequious hotel staff, and in the presence of the hotel manager himself, who had come out to greet the exalted
         guest arriving with such fuss and noise, with her own servants and with so many trunks and cases, sat – Grandmother! Yes, it was she herself, the formidable and rich, seventy-five-year-old Antonida Vasilyevna Tarasevichev, landowner and grand
         lady of Moscow, la baboulinka, about whom telegrams had been dispatched and received, who was dying and did not die, and who suddenly, in person, appeared
         among us out of the clear blue sky. Although she had lost the use of her legs and was carried in a chair, as always these last five years, she was her usual animated, quick-tempered, complacent self, sitting
         up straight, loudly and commandingly shouting, scolding everybody – well, she was exactly the same as the couple of times
         I had the honour of seeing her after entering the general’s household as tutor. Naturally, I stood before her dumbstruck with
         amazement. She had made me out with her lynx eyes a hundred paces away, when she was being carried in her chair, and she had
         recognized me and hailed me by name and patronymic,1 which, as was usually the case with her, she had remembered once and for all. ‘And this is the woman they had expected to
         see in her coffin, buried and leaving behind an inheritance,’ flashed through my mind, ‘but she’ll outlive us all and the
         whole hotel! But, my God, what’s going to happen to them now, what’s going to happen to the general! She’ll turn the whole
         hotel upside down!’


‘Well, my dear fellow, why are you standing there, just staring at me with big eyes!’ Grandmother continued to shout at me.
         ‘Don’t you know how to bow and say hello? Or have you become too proud and don’t want to? Or maybe you don’t recognize me?
         Do you hear that, Potapych,’ she turned to a grey old man, in tails with a white tie and a rosy bald spot, her butler, who
         had accompanied her on the journey, ‘do you hear that, he doesn’t recognize me! They’ve buried me! They sent telegram after
         telegram: is she dead or not? I know everything, you see! And, as you see, I am alive and kicking.’


‘For heaven’s sake, Antonida Vasilyevna, why would I wish you any harm?’ I answered gaily, after coming to my senses. ‘I was
         merely surprised … And how could one not be surprised, it’s so unexpected …’


‘And what’s there for you to be so surprised about? I got on the train and off I went. It’s comfortable on the train, there’s
         no jolting. Have you been out for a walk or something?’


‘Yes, I took a walk to the casino.’

‘It’s nice here,’ Grandmother said, as she had a look around, ‘it’s warm and the trees are lush. I like that! Are our people
         at home? Is the general?’


‘Oh, at this hour everybody is certain to be at home.’

‘So they have customary hours and all the ceremonies? They set the tone. I hear that they keep a carriage, les seigneurs russes!2 They fritter away all their money and then go abroad! And is Praskovya3 with them?’


‘And Polina Alexandrova as well.’

‘And the Frenchy? Well, I’ll see them all for myself. Alexey Ivanovich, show me the way, straight to him. So, are you comfortable
         here?’


‘So-so, Antonida Vasilyevna.’

‘And you, Potapych, tell that blockhead of a manager to give me a comfortable suite, a good one, not too high up, and take
         my things there at once. Why are they all crowding round to carry me? Why are they all clambering? What servility! And who
         is that with you?’ she turned to me once again.


‘This is Mr Astley,’ I answered.

‘And who is Mr Astley?’

‘A traveller, a good friend of mine; he’s acquainted with the general.’

‘An Englishman. That’s why he stares at me with his teeth clenched. However, I like the English. Well, haul me upstairs, right
         to their rooms; where are they?’


They carried Grandmother; I led the way up the hotel’s wide staircase. Our procession created quite an effect. Everyone whom
         we met stopped and stared. Our hotel was considered the very best, the most expensive and the most aristocratic at the spa.
         On the staircase and in the corridors one always met magnificent ladies and important Englishmen. A number made enquiries
         downstairs of the manager, who, for his part, was deeply impressed. He, of course, answered all who asked that she was an
         important foreign lady, une russe, une comtesse, grande dame and that she was taking the very same suite that had been occupied a week ago by la grande duchesse de N.4 Grandmother’s commanding and imperious appearance as she was being carried in her chair, was the cause of the great effect.
         Upon meeting any new face she at once took their measure with a curious glance and questioned me loudly about them all. Grandmother
         was a large woman, and although she never got up from her chair, one could sense, by looking at her, that she was quite tall.
         She sat as straight as a board and did not lean against her chair. She held high her large, grey head with its broad and sharp features; she had a somewhat arrogant and even defiant
         look about her; and it was plain to see that her carriage and gestures were completely natural. Despite her seventy-five years,
         her complexion was rather fresh-looking and even her teeth were in fairly good shape. She was dressed in a black silk dress
         and a white cap.


‘I find her extremely interesting,’ Mr Astley whispered to me, as we walked up the stairs together.

‘She knows about the telegrams,’ I thought, ‘and she’s heard about des Grieux, but it seems that she still hasn’t heard much
         about Mlle Blanche.’ I at once communicated this to Mr Astley.


Sinner that I am! My first surprise had just passed and I was terribly delighted by the thunderbolt that we would set off
         now at the general’s. It was as if I was being egged on, and I led the way extremely cheerfully.


Our party had taken rooms on the third floor; I did not announce our arrival and did not even knock on the door, but simply
         threw it open and Grandmother was carried in in triumph. They were all, as if on purpose, gathered together in the general’s
         study. It was twelve o’clock and the entire party seemed to be planning some sort of excursion – they were going together
         as a group, some by carriage, others on horseback; moreover, some of their acquaintances had been invited. In addition to
         the general, Polina and the children and their nanny, there were in the study: des Grieux, Mlle Blanche, again in riding habit,
         her mother Madame veuve Cominges, the little prince as well as some travelling scholar, a German, whom I saw with them for the first time. The chair
         with Grandmother was set down in the middle of the study, three paces away from the general. My goodness, I shall never forget
         the effect this had! Before our entrance the general had been telling some story, and des Grieux was correcting him. It should
         be noted that Mlle Blanche and des Grieux for two or three days now for some reason had been very solicitous of the little
         prince – à la barbe du pauvre general,5 and the tone set by the assembled company, though perhaps artificial, was that of a most cheerful and cordial family. At the sight of Grandmother the general suddenly was struck dumb, gaped and stopped short in mid-sentence. He looked
         at her, wide-eyed, as though he had been bewitched by the gaze of a basilisk. Grandmother also looked at him in silence, without
         stirring – but what a triumphant, defiant and mocking look it was! They looked at each other like that for a full ten seconds,
         amidst the profound silence of all those around them. Des Grieux at first froze, but soon feelings of extraordinary anxiety
         could be glimpsed on his face. Mlle Blanche arched her eyebrows, opened her mouth and stared wildly at Grandmother. The prince
         and the scholar contemplated the whole scene in profound bewilderment. Polina’s face expressed extreme surprise and bewilderment,
         but suddenly she went as white as a sheet; a minute later the blood quickly rushed to her face and coloured her cheeks. Yes,
         it was a catastrophe for everyone! All I could do was turn my eyes from Grandmother to the others and back again. Mr Astley
         stood to the side, as was his wont, calm and proper.


‘Well, here I am! Instead of a telegram!’ Grandmother burst out at last, breaking the silence. ‘What, weren’t you expecting
         me?’


‘Antonida Vasilyevna … Auntie … However in the world …’ muttered the unfortunate general. If Grandmother had waited a few
         seconds longer before speaking, he might have had a stroke.


‘What do you mean, how in the world? I got on the train and off I went. After all, what’s the railroad for? And you all were
         thinking that I had already turned up my toes and left you my inheritance? You see, I know that you’ve been sending telegrams
         from here. I think you must have paid a lot of money for them. It’s not cheap from here. So I threw my legs over my shoulders
         and came. Is that the Frenchman? Monsieur des Grieux, I believe?’


‘Oui, madame,’ des Grieux rejoined, ‘et croyez, je suis si enchanté … votre santé … c’est un miracle … vous voir ici, une
         surprise charmante …’6

‘Charmante, my eye; I know you, you clown; I don’t believe even this little bit of what you say!’ and she showed him her little finger. ‘And who’s this?’ she turned, pointing to Mlle Blanche. She was apparently impressed by the striking Frenchwoman in
         riding habit, holding a whip. ‘Is she from here?’


‘That’s Mlle Blanche de Cominges, and this is her mother, Madame de Cominges; they have taken rooms in this hotel,’ I reported.

‘Is the daughter married?’ Grandmother asked, not standing on ceremony.

‘Mlle de Cominges is not married,’ I answered as respectfully as I could, having purposely lowered my voice.

‘Is she fun to be with?’

At first I didn’t understand her question.

‘You don’t find her company dull? Does she understand Russian? Des Grieux there picked up some bits and pieces when he was
         in Moscow.’


I explained to her that Mlle de Cominges had never been to Russia.

‘Bonjour!’7 Grandmother said, after suddenly turning to Mlle Blanche.


‘Bonjour, madame,’ Mlle Blanche dropped a formal and elegant curtsey, making haste, under the cover of extraordinary modesty and respect,
         to show with all the expression of her face and figure her extreme surprise at such a strange question and mode of address.


‘Oh, she’s lowered her eyes, she’s all hoity-toity and puts on airs; you can see what sort of bird she is; some sort of actress.
         I’m staying here in the hotel downstairs,’ she suddenly turned to the general, ‘I’ll be your neighbour; does that make you
         happy or not?’


‘Oh, Auntie! Do believe in the sincere feeling … of my pleasure,’ the general rejoined. He had already somewhat regained his
         senses, and since when the opportunity presented itself he knew how to speak well, importantly and with pretensions to a certain
         effect, he proceeded to grow expansive now. ‘We were so worried and alarmed by the news of your illness … We have received
         such despairing telegrams, and suddenly …’


‘Well, lies, lies!’ Grandmother interrupted him at once.

‘But how,’ the general also interrupted quickly and raised his voice, trying not to notice that ‘lies’. ‘Nonetheless, how did you decide to undertake such a journey? You must agree, that
         at your age and with your health … at the very least, it’s all so unexpected, so our surprise is understandable. But I’m so
         glad … and we all’ (he began to smile ingratiatingly and with rapture) ‘will try as best we can to make your season here a
         most pleasant stay …’


‘Well, enough idle chatter; a lot of mindless blather, as usual; I’m quite capable of taking care of myself here. However,
         I don’t have anything against you; I don’t bear grudges. How, you ask. But what’s so surprising about it? It was the simplest
         thing imaginable. And why are they all so surprised? How are you, Praskovya. What do you do here?’


‘How do you do, Grandmother,’ Polina said, as she approached her. ‘Was it a long journey?’

‘Well, this one asked something more intelligent than the lot of you – with you it’s all “oh” and “ah”. You see, it was bedrest
         and bedrest, doctors and more doctors, so I chased the doctors away and summoned the sacristan from St Nicholas’s. He had
         cured one old woman of the same illness with hay-dust. Well, he helped me; on the third day I was all in a sweat and I got
         up. Then my Germans gathered round again, put on their spectacles and began to lay down the law: “If you were to go abroad
         now,” they said, “and take the waters, all your obstructions would be eliminated.” And why ever not, I thought. Then those
         fools, the Zazhigins, started with their sighing: “You’ll never make it!” they said. Well, and how do you like that! I got
         ready in a day and on Friday last week I took my maid, and Potapych, and Fyodor the footman, but I sent Fyodor packing in
         Berlin, because I saw that he wasn’t at all necessary, and I could have made the trip all on my own … I took a private carriage,
         and there are porters at every station who will carry you wherever you want for twenty kopecks. My, what a suite you’ve taken!’
         she concluded, taking a look around. ‘Whose money is paying for this, my dear? After all, everything you have is mortgaged.
         What a pile of money you must owe this Frenchy alone. You see, I know everything, everything!’


‘I, Auntie …’ the general began, all embarrassed, ‘I’m surprised, Auntie … I think I can without anybody’s supervision … and moreover, my expenses don’t exceed my means, and we
         are here …’


‘They don’t exceed your means? Listen to him! Then you must have robbed the children of every last kopeck, and you their guardian!’

‘After that, after such words …’ the general began indignantly, ‘I just don’t know …’

‘I dare say, you don’t know! And you most likely don’t ever leave the roulette table? Have you squandered everything?’

The general was so astonished that he nearly choked on the surge of his agitated feelings.

‘Roulette! Me? With my standing … Me? Come to your senses, Auntie, you must still be ill …’

‘Well, lies, lies; most likely they can’t drag you away; it’s all lies! I’ll have a look and see what this roulette is all
         about this very day. You, Praskovya, tell me where to go and what to see, and Alexey Ivanovich here will show me, and you,
         Potapych, write down all the places we should go. What is there to see here?’ she suddenly turned to Polina again.


‘Nearby there are the ruins of a castle, and then there’s the Schlangenberg.’

‘What is this Schlangenberg? A grove or something?’

‘No, it’s not a grove, it’s a mountain; there’s a pointe …’8

‘What sort of pointe?’


‘The highest point on the mountain, it’s an enclosed place. The view from there is superb.’

‘Haul my chair up the mountain? Will they manage it?’

‘Oh, porters can be found,’ I answered.

At this moment Fedosya, the nanny, came up to say hello to Grandmother, and she brought the general’s children.

‘Well, there’s no need to start kissing. I don’t like kissing children: all children have snotty noses. Well, how do you like
         it here, Fedosya?’


‘It’s very, very good, Antonida Vasilyevna, ma’am,’ Fedosya answered. ‘How have you been, ma’am? We’ve been so worried about
         you.’


‘I know, you’re a simple soul. So who are these people here, all guests?’ she turned again to Polina. ‘Who is that shabby little creature, the one with the glasses?’

‘Prince Nilsky, Grandmother,’ Polina whispered to her.

‘A Russian? And here I thought he wouldn’t understand! Perhaps he didn’t hear! Mr Astley I’ve already seen. And here he is
         again,’ Grandmother had caught sight of him again. ‘How do you do?’ she turned to him suddenly.


Mr Astley made a bow to her in silence.

‘Well, have you something nice to say to me? Say something! Translate for him, Polina.’

Polina translated.

‘Only that I look at you with great pleasure and rejoice in your good health,’ Mr Astley answered seriously, but with great
         readiness. It was translated for Grandmother and she evidently liked it.


‘The English always answer so nicely,’ she observed. ‘For some reason I’ve always liked the English, there’s no comparison
         with the little Frenchies! Come and pay me a visit,’ she again turned to Mr Astley. ‘I will try not to trouble you too much.
         Translate that for him, and tell him that I am downstairs, downstairs – do you hear, downstairs,’ she repeated to Mr Astley,
         pointing down with her finger.


Mr Astley was extremely pleased by the invitation.

With an attentive and satisfied gaze Grandmother examined Polina from head to foot.

‘I could love you, Praskovya,’ she said suddenly, ‘you’re a fine girl, better than all of them, and what a temper you have
         – my, my! Well, and I have a temper, too; turn around, please; is that a hairpiece you have in your hair?’


‘No, Grandmother, it’s my own.’

‘Quite right. I don’t like the stupid fashion nowadays. You’re very beautiful. I would fall in love with you if I were a young
         gentleman. Why don’t you get married? However, it’s time for me to be going. I want to get some air, because it’s been nothing
         but the train and the train … Well, are you still angry?’ she turned to the general.


‘Please, Auntie, enough!’ the general took heart as he recollected himself, ‘I understand, at your age …’

‘Cette vielle est tombée en enfance,’9 des Grieux whispered to me.


‘I want to have a look at everything here. Will you let me have Alexey Ivanovich?’ Grandmother continued to the general.

‘Oh, as much as you like, but I myself … and Polina and Monsieur des Grieux … we all, we would all consider it a pleasure
         to accompany you …’


‘Mais, madame, cela sera un plaisir,’10 des Grieux chimed in with a charming smile.


‘Plaisir, I’m sure. I think you’re ridiculous, sir. By the way, I won’t give you any money,’ she added suddenly to the general. ‘Well,
         now, to my room. I must have a look, and then we’ll go round all those places. Well, lift me up.’


They lifted Grandmother up again and a crowd of us all started off, following the chair down the staircase. The general walked,
         stunned, as if he had been hit over the head with a cudgel. Des Grieux was pondering something. Mlle Blanche wanted to remain,
         but for some reason also decided to go with everyone. The prince at once set off right behind her, and up above, in the general’s
         room, only the German and Madame veuve Cominges remained.


      
      
      
      
      CHAPTER 10

      
      
      At spas – and, it seems, throughout Europe – hotel administrators and managers, when assigning rooms to their guests, are
         guided not so much by their guests’ demands and wishes, as by their own personal view of them; and, one should note, they
         are rarely mistaken. But Grandmother, goodness knows why, was assigned such an opulent suite that it even went too far: four
         magnificently appointed rooms, with bath, servants’ quarters, a special room for the lady’s maid and so on and so forth. Indeed,
         a week ago some grande duchesse had stayed in these rooms, which of course was announced at once to the new guests, thus raising the price for the suite.
         Grandmother was carried through, or rather, wheeled through all the rooms, and she examined them attentively and sternly.
         The manager, an elderly man with a bald head, respectfully accompanied her during this first inspection.


I don’t know who they all took Grandmother for, but apparently for some extremely important and, more importantly, incredibly
         wealthy individual. They at once entered into the book: ‘Madame la générale princesse de Tarassevitcheva,’1 though Grandmother had never been a princess. Her own servants, a private compartment on the train and the profusion of unnecessary
         trunks, cases and even chests that arrived with Grandmother probably gave rise to this prestige; while the chair, Grandmother’s
         curt tone and voice, and her eccentric questions asked in the most uninhibited manner that brooked no objections, in a word,
         the sum total of Grandmother’s appearance – erect, curt, imperious – put the finishing touches to the universal reverence
         she commanded. During the inspection Grandmother would suddenly order that they stop pushing her chair, point to something
         in the furnishings and address the most unexpected questions to the respectfully smiling, but already cowering, manager. Grandmother put her questions in French, which, however, she spoke rather poorly, so I would usually translate. By and large,
         she was not pleased by the manager’s answers and found them unsatisfactory. And she kept asking things, which seemed pointless,
         and were about God knows what. Suddenly, for example, she stopped before a painting – a rather bad copy of some well-known
         original with a mythological subject.


‘Whose portrait is that?’

The manager stated that it was probably some countess or other.

‘How is it that you don’t know? You live here, and don’t know. Why is it here? Why is she cross-eyed?’

The manager could not answer all these questions satisfactorily and even became flustered.

‘Oh, what a blockhead!’ Grandmother remarked in Russian.

She was carried further on. The same story repeated itself with a certain Saxon statuette, which Grandmother examined for
         a long time and then ordered that it be taken away, no one knew why. Finally, she badgered the manager about how much the carpets in the bedroom cost and where they had been woven. The manager promised to find out.


‘Oh, what asses!’ Grandmother grumbled and turned all her attention to the bed.

‘What a magnificent canopy! Strip the bed.’

They did so.

‘More, more, strip off everything. Take off the pillows, the pillowcases, lift up the feather bed.’

They turned everything over. Grandmother examined it all attentively.

‘It’s a good thing that they don’t have bedbugs. Take all the bed linen away. Make up the bed with my linen and my pillows.
         However, this is all too magnificent; what do I, an old woman, need with such a suite – it’s boring to be all alone. Alexey
         Ivanovich, you must come and visit me often, after the children have finished their lessons.’


‘As of yesterday I am no longer in the general’s employ,’ I answered, ‘and I’m staying in the hotel quite on my own.’

‘How is that?’

‘A few days ago a certain distinguished German baron and the baroness, his wife, arrived here from Berlin. Yesterday, when
         I was out for a walk, I spoke to him in German without adhering to the Berlin pronunciation.’


‘Well, and so what?’

‘He thought I was being impertinent and complained to the general, and the general dismissed me the same day.’

‘And what, did you swear at this baron? (Although even if you had sworn at him, it wouldn’t matter!)’

‘Oh, no. On the contrary, the baron raised his stick at me.’

‘And you, you snivelling fool, you allowed him to treat your tutor like that,’ she suddenly turned to the general, ‘and even
         sacked him! You simpletons – you’re all simpletons, I can see that.’


‘Don’t worry, Auntie,’ the general replied with a certain note of arrogant familiarity, ‘I know how to conduct my affairs.
         Moreover, Alexey Ivanovich has not told it all to you very accurately.’


‘And so you just put up with it?’ she turned to me.

‘I wanted to challenge the baron to a duel,’ I answered as modestly and calmly as possible, ‘but the general was opposed.’

‘And why were you opposed?’ Grandmother again turned to the general. ‘And you, sir, off with you, come when you’re called,’
         she turned to the manager, ‘there’s no point in you standing there gaping. I can’t abide that Nuremberg mug!’ He bowed and
         left, of course without understanding Grandmother’s compliment.


‘For goodness’ sake, Auntie, are duels really possible?’ the general asked with a grin.

‘But why are they impossible? Men are all cocks; you should have fought. You’re all simpletons, I can see that; you don’t
         know how to stand up for your country. Well, lift me up! Potapych, see to it that two porters are always on hand, hire them
         and settle on the terms. I don’t need more than two. They only need to carry me on the stairs, because on level ground, outside,
         I can be wheeled around, tell them that; and pay them in advance, it’s more respectful. You, of course, will always be at
         my side, and you, Alexey Ivanovich, will point out for me this baron when we go out for our walk – what sort of person is
         this von baron, I want to at least have a look at him. Well, and where’s the roulette?’


I explained that the roulette tables were to be found in the gaming rooms inside the casino. Then came the questions: Were
         there a lot of them? Did many people play? Do they play all day long? How is it set up? I answered finally that it would be
         better to see them with her own eyes, because it’s rather difficult to describe.


‘Well, then take me there straight away! You lead the way, Alexey Ivanovich!’

‘What, Auntie, aren’t you even going to have a rest after your journey?’ the general asked solicitously He was a bit flustered;
         indeed they all seemed somehow embarrassed and began to exchange glances. They probably found it a bit ticklish, even shameful,
         to accompany Grandmother straight to the casino, where, it goes without saying, she might do something eccentric, and in public;
         and yet, they all volunteered to accompany her.


‘But why should I rest? I’m not tired; and I’ve been sitting for almost five days straight. Then we’ll have a look around
         and see what kind of springs and healing waters they have and where they are. And then … what is it you called it, Praskovya –
         pointe, is that it?’


‘Pointe, Grandmother.’


‘Well, pointe it is. But what else is there here?’


‘There’s lots of things, Grandmother,’ Polina said after a moment’s hesitation.

‘Why, you don’t even know yourself! Marfa, you’ll come with me as well,’ she said to her maid.

‘But why ever do you need her, Auntie,’ the general suddenly bestirred himself, ‘and what’s more it’s impossible, and it’s
         unlikely that Potapych will be allowed into the casino itself.’


‘What nonsense! I should abandon her just because she’s a servant! She’s also a living person; it’s already a week that we’ve
         been on the road, and she wants to see something, too. Who can she go with besides me? She wouldn’t dare show her nose on
         the street all by herself.’


‘But, Grandmother …’

‘Are you ashamed to be with me, is that it? Then stay home, nobody’s asking you. My, what a general! I’m a general’s widow
         myself. And really why should you all trail after me? I’ll have a look at everything with Alexey Ivanovich …’


But des Grieux firmly insisted that we all escort her and launched into the most polite phrases regarding the pleasure of
         accompanying her and so forth. Everyone set off.


‘Elle est tombée en enfance,’ des Grieux repeated to the general, ‘seule elle fera des bêtises …’2 I didn’t catch anything else, but he evidently had some sort of plan, and perhaps his hopes had even returned.


The casino was half a verst away. Our route ran through the chestnut avenue to the square, which we skirted and ended up right
         at the entrance to the casino. The general had calmed down somewhat, because even though our procession was rather eccentric,
         it was nevertheless orderly and respectable. And there wasn’t anything surprising in the fact that a person who was ill and
         weak and who did not have the use of her legs should make an appearance at a spa. But the general was clearly afraid of the
         casino: why should an invalid, without the use of her legs, and what’s more an old lady, go to the roulette tables? Polina and Mlle Blanche walked on either side of the chair as it was wheeled
         along. Mlle Blanche laughed, was modestly cheerful and would sometimes even quite kindly dance attendance on Grandmother,
         so that in the end she was praised. Polina, on the other hand, was obliged to answer Grandmother’s constant and innumerable
         questions, such as: Who is that who walked by? Who was that woman who rode by? Is the town large? Are the gardens large? What
         kind of trees are those? What mountains are those? Do eagles fly here? What’s that funny roof? Mr Astley walked beside me
         and whispered to me that he expected a lot from this morning. Potapych and Marfa followed, walking right behind the chair
         – Potapych in his tailcoat and white tie, but wearing a peaked cap, and Marfa, the ruddy-faced, forty-year-old maid, who was
         beginning to turn grey, wearing a bonnet, a cotton dress and squeaky goatskin shoes. Grandmother quite frequently would turn
         around and talk to them. Des Grieux and the general had fallen behind a bit and were talking about something with great fervour.
         The general was very downcast; des Grieux spoke with a look of determination. Perhaps he was bucking the general up; evidently
         he was giving him some advice. But Grandmother had already uttered the fateful phrase: ‘I won’t give you any money.’ Perhaps
         des Grieux found this statement to be incredible, but the general knew his Auntie. I noticed that des Grieux and Mlle Blanche
         continued to wink at each other. I could just make out the prince and the German traveller at the far end of the avenue: they
         had fallen behind and were going somewhere else.


We arrived in the casino in triumph. The porters and lackeys exhibited the same deference as the hotel staff. They looked
         on, however, with curiosity. Grandmother at first ordered that she be carried through all the rooms; some she praised, to
         others she remained absolutely indifferent; she asked questions about everything. Finally, we came to the gaming rooms. The
         lackey standing guard at the closed doors, seemingly taken aback, suddenly flung them wide open.


The appearance of Grandmother at the roulette table created a profound impression on the public. There were perhaps a hundred and fifty or two hundred gamblers, several rows deep, crowding round the roulette tables and at the other end of the
         room where the table for trente et quarante was situated. Those who had managed to push their way through to the table, as was their custom, stood firm and did not cede
         their place until they had lost all their money; it was not allowed to stand there as a mere observer and occupy a place at
         the gambling table for nothing. Although chairs are placed all around the table, only a few of the gamblers sit down, particularly
         when there is a great crush of people, because standing they can crowd in closer together and, consequently, take up less
         space, and it’s more convenient for placing a bet. The second and third rows crowded behind the first, waiting and watching
         for their turn; but sometimes a hand would thrust its way through in impatience, in order to place a large stake. They even
         managed to thrust through in this way from the third row to place bets; as a result not ten minutes would pass, and sometimes
         only five, before some ‘scene’ would ensue over disputed stakes at one end or the other of the table. The casino police, however,
         are quite good. Of course, it’s impossible to avoid crowding; on the contrary, they’re glad of the flood of people, because
         it’s profitable; but the eight croupiers sitting around the table watch the stakes with an eagle eye; it’s they who tally
         up the winnings and settle any disputes that might arise. In extreme cases the police are called in, and the matter is over
         in a minute. Police are stationed right there in the gaming rooms, among the players in plain clothes so that it’s impossible
         to recognize them. They keep a particular look out for petty thieves and professional crooks, who are particularly plentiful
         at the roulette tables, given its unusual suitability to their trade. Indeed, everywhere else you have to steal from pockets
         or a place under lock and key, and in the event of failure this can end in a lot of trouble. But here it’s all very simple:
         you only need to walk up to the roulette table, start playing and then suddenly, plainly for all to see, take somebody else’s
         winnings and put them in your pocket; if a dispute should ensue, the swindler insists loud and clear that the stake was his.
         If the thing is done deftly and the witnesses hesitate, then the thief very often succeeds in keeping the money for himself, if the sum, of course, is not a very considerable one. In the latter instance it most likely would have been
         noticed earlier by the croupiers or one of the other gamblers. But if the sum is not so very considerable, then the real owner,
         embarrassed by the thought of a scene, sometimes even simply declines to engage in a dispute and walks away. But if they succeed
         in exposing the thief, they make a big scene of turning him out at once.


Grandmother looked at all this from a distance, with wild curiosity. She very much liked that the petty thieves were turned
         out. Trente et quarante did not excite much interest in her; she liked roulette more and how the little ball rolled about. She voiced a desire, finally,
         to have a closer look at the game. I don’t understand how it happened, but the lackeys and some other bustling agents (primarily
         little Poles who had lost all their money and who were foisting their services on the fortunate gamblers and all the foreigners)
         at once found and cleared a place for Grandmother, despite the crush, at the very centre of the table, next to the head croupier,
         and they wheeled her chair there. A number of people who were not playing, but observing the play from the sidelines (primarily
         Englishmen and their families), at once crowded closer to the table to watch Grandmother from behind the gamblers. A great
         many lorgnettes were turned in her direction. The croupiers nourished new hopes: such an eccentric player truly seemed to
         promise something unusual. A seventy-year-old woman without the use of her legs and who wished to play, of course, was not
         an everyday occurrence. I also pushed my way through to the table and made a place for myself next to Grandmother. Potapych
         and Marfa remained somewhere far off to the side, among the crowd. The general, Polina, des Grieux and Mlle Blanche also took
         their places to the side, among the spectators.


Grandmother began by first scrutinizing the players. She asked me abrupt, curt questions in a half-whisper: Who’s that man?
         Who’s that woman? She particularly liked a certain very young fellow at the end of the table who was playing for very big
         stakes, betting thousands at a time, and who, as they were whispering all around, had already won as much as 40,000 francs,
         which lay before him in a heap of gold and banknotes. He was pale; his eyes sparkled and his hands were shaking; he was placing
         his bets now without even counting, by the handful, and meanwhile he kept winning and winning, and raking in more and more.
         The attendants were making a fuss over him, they found a chair for him, they cleared a space around him so that he would have
         more room, so that he wouldn’t be crowded – all of this in expectation of a generous reward. Some players will tip from their
         winnings without counting, but just like that, out of sheer delight, taking the money out of their pockets by the handful.
         Next to the young man a little Pole had settled in, who was fussing over him with all his might, and whispering something
         to him politely and continually, more than likely telling him how to place his stake, advising and directing the game – it
         goes without saying, also in expectation of a tip afterwards. But the player hardly looked at him, placed his bets as luck
         would have it and kept raking it in. He had become visibly flustered.


Grandmother observed him for several minutes.

‘Tell him,’ Grandmother suddenly began fussing, poking me, ‘tell him that he should quit, that he should take his money quickly
         and walk away. He’ll lose everything, he’s going to lose everything now!’ she began pleading, almost breathless with emotion.
         ‘Where’s Potapych? Send Potapych over to him! Well, tell him, tell him,’ she nudged me, ‘but really, where can Potapych be!
         Sortez, sortez!’3 she began shouting to the young man. I bent down to her and whispered firmly that shouting like that was not allowed here
         and that even raising one’s voice was not permitted, because it interfered with keeping count and they would throw us out
         immediately.


‘What a shame! The man is done for, it’s his own fault … I can’t look at him, it makes me sick. What a blockhead!’ and Grandmother
         quickly turned to look in the other direction.


There, on the left, on the other side of the table, among the players could be seen a young lady with some sort of dwarf beside
         her. I don’t know who the dwarf was – whether he was a relative or whether she had brought him along for the effect. I had
         noticed this young lady before; she would make her appearance at the gaming table every day at one o’clock in the afternoon and would leave exactly at two; every day she played for an hour. She was already known here and was offered a chair
         at once. She took from her pocket some gold and some thousand-franc notes and began to place her bets quietly, coolly, with
         deliberation, writing down the numbers on a slip of paper with a pencil and trying to work out a system by which chance fell
         into different groups at a given moment. She staked significant sums of money. Every day she would win one, two, at most three
         thousand francs – no more, and she would leave as soon as she had won. Grandmother scrutinized her for a long time.


‘Well, that one won’t lose! That one there won’t lose! What kind of woman is she? Do you know? Who is she?’

‘A Frenchwoman most probably, of a certain kind,’ I whispered.

‘Ah, you can tell a bird by the way it flies. You can see that her claws are sharp. Now explain to me what each turn means
         and how you stake.’


I explained to Grandmother as best I could the innumerable combinations of stakes – rouge et noir, pair et impair, manque et passe4 – and, finally, the various subtleties in the system of numbers. Grandmother listened attentively, remembered them, asked
         me to repeat them and learned them by heart. One could immediately point to an example for each system of staking, so she
         learned a lot and committed it to memory very quickly and easily. Grandmother was quite pleased.


‘But what is this zéro? That croupier there, the one with the curly hair, the head one, I think, just shouted zéro. And why did he rake in everything that was on the table? Such a pile, why did he take it all for himself? What’s the meaning
         of that?’


‘Zéro, Grandmother, means the bank wins all. If the ball falls on zéro, then everything on the table goes to the bank without even counting it. True, you’re given another chance to win your money
         back, but the bank doesn’t pay anything out.’


‘How do you like that! So I get nothing?’

‘No, Grandmother, if you had staked on zéro, then when zéro comes up you’re paid thirty-five times to one.’


‘What, thirty-five times more and does it come up often? Why don’t they stake on it, the fools?’

‘There are thirty-six chances against it, Grandmother.’

‘What nonsense! Potapych! Potapych! Wait, I have some money with me – here!’ She pulled out of her pocket a tightly stuffed
         purse and took from it one friedrich d’or. ‘Here, stake it on zéro right away.’


‘Grandmother, zéro just came up,’ I said, ‘so it stands to reason that it won’t come up now for a long time. You’ll lose your stake; wait just
         a bit.’


‘You’re talking nonsense, now stake!’

‘All right, but it might not come up until evening; you can lose thousands, it has happened.’

‘Well, rubbish, rubbish! Don’t walk in the forest if you’re afraid of wolves. What? We lost? Stake again!’

A second friedrich d’or was lost as well; a third was staked. Grandmother could hardly sit still; she had fixed her burning
         eyes on the ball as it bounced along the spokes of the spinning wheel. The third one lost as well. Grandmother was beside
         herself; she couldn’t sit still, she even banged her fist on the table when the croupier announced ‘trente-six’5 instead of the zéro she was waiting for.


‘For goodness’ sake!’ Grandmother was becoming angry, ‘when will that confounded little zéro come up? For the life of me I’m going to sit here until zéro comes up! It’s that confounded little curly-haired croupier that’s doing it, he never lets it come up! Alexey Ivanovich stake
         two gold pieces at once! Otherwise, you’ve staked so much and lost that when zéro does come up you won’t get anything.’


‘Grandmother!’

‘Stake, stake! It’s not your money.’

I staked two friedrichs d’or. The ball flew around the wheel for a long time, and at last began to bounce along the spokes.
         Grandmother froze and squeezed my hand, and suddenly – bang!


‘Zéro,’ the croupier proclaimed.


‘You see, you see!’ Grandmother quickly turned around towards me, all aglow and pleased. ‘You see, I told you, I told you!
         The Lord himself gave me the idea of staking two gold pieces. Well, how much do I get now? Why aren’t they paying it out? Potapych, Marfa, where in the world are they? Where have all our people gone? Potapych, Potapych!’


‘Grandmother, later,’ I whispered, ‘Potapych is by the door, they won’t let him in here. Look, Grandmother, they’re paying
         out your money, take it!’ They tossed over towards Grandmother a heavy roll of fifty friedrichs d’or wrapped in blue paper
         and counted out another twenty friedrichs d’or that weren’t wrapped. I shovelled all this to Grandmother.


‘Faites le jeu, messieurs! Faites le jeu, messieurs! Rien ne va plus?’6 the croupier cried, inviting stakes and getting ready to spin the wheel.


‘My Lord! We’re too late! He’s going to spin it right now! Stake, stake!’ Grandmother pleaded, ‘and don’t dawdle, be quick
         about it.’ She was beside herself and kept poking me with all her might.


‘But where should I put the stake, Grandmother?’

‘On zéro, on zéro! On zéro again! Stake as much as possible. How much do we have all together? Seventy friedrichs d’or? No reason to spare them, stake
         twenty friedrichs d’or at a time.’


‘Come to your senses, Grandmother! Sometimes it doesn’t come up once in two hundred spins! I assure you, you’ll lose all your
         capital.’


‘Oh, you’re talking nonsense, nonsense! Stake! How he wags his tongue! I know what I’m doing,’ Grandmother was even shaking
         with excitement.


‘According to the rules, you’re not allowed to stake more than twelve friedrichs d’or on zéro, Grandmother – well, and that’s what I’ve staked.’


‘What do you mean, not allowed? You’re not lying, are you? Monsieur! Monsieur,’ she began poking the croupier sitting next
         to her on her left, who was getting ready to spin, ‘Combien zéro? Douze? Douze?’7

I quickly explained the question in French.

‘Oui, madame,’ the croupier politely confirmed, ‘just as, according to the rules, no single stake may exceed 4,000 florins at a time,’
         he added by way of explanation.


‘Well, nothing can be done about it, stake twelve.’
    
    

      
      
      ‘Le jeu est fait!’8 the croupier cried. The wheel began to spin and it came up thirteen. We lost!


      
      ‘Again! Again! Again! Stake again!’ Grandmother shouted. I no longer contradicted her and with a shrug of my shoulders, I
         staked another twelve friedrichs d’or. The wheel spun round and round for a long time. Grandmother simply trembled, as she
         followed the wheel. ‘Does she really think that she’ll win with zéro again?’ I thought to myself, looking at her, surprised. The firm conviction of a win shone on her face, the certain expectation
         that in just a little while they would shout out: zéro! The ball bounced into the slot.


      
      ‘Zéro!’ the croupier cried.


      
      ‘What!!!’ Grandmother turned to me in frenzied triumph.

      
      I was a gambler myself; I sensed it at that very moment. My hands and legs were trembling, my head was pounding. Of course,
         this was a rare occurrence that in some ten turns zéro came up three times; but there was nothing particularly surprising about it. I myself had been a witness the day before yesterday
         when zéro came up three times in a row, and one of the players, who was zealously writing down the numbers on a slip of paper, observed loudly that only yesterday
         this same zéro had come up only once in twenty-four hours.


      
      They settled up with Grandmother particularly deferentially and respectfully, since she had won such an impressive amount.
         She received exactly 420 friedrichs d’or, that is, 4,000 florins and twenty friedrichs d’or. She was given the 20 friedrichs
         d’or in gold, and the 4,000 in banknotes.


      
      But this time Grandmother didn’t call Potapych; she was occupied by something else. She wasn’t poking anyone and wasn’t trembling
         outwardly. If one may put it like this, she was trembling inwardly. Her whole being was concentrated on something, and then
         she took aim:


      
      ‘Alexey Ivanovich! He said that you could only stake 4,000 florins at a time, right? Here, take it, stake this entire 4,000
         on red,’ Grandmother decided.


      
      It was useless trying to talk her out of it. The wheel began spinning.

      
      ‘Rouge!’ the croupier proclaimed.


      
      Again a win of 4,000 florins, that is, eight in all.

      
      ‘Give me four, and stake four on red again,’ Grandmother commanded.

      
      I staked 4,000 again.

      
      ‘Rouge!’ the croupier proclaimed once again.


      
      ‘Twelve in all! Put it all here. Pour the gold here, into the purse, and put away the notes.

      
      ‘Enough! Home! Wheel the chair out!’

            
      CHAPTER 11

      
      
      The chair was wheeled to the door at the other end of the room. Grandmother was beaming. All our party at once crowded around
         her to offer their congratulations. However eccentric Grandmother’s behaviour may have been, her triumph made up for a great
         many things, and the general was no longer afraid of being compromised in public by his family ties with such an odd woman.
         With a condescending and cheerfully familiar smile, he congratulated Grandmother as though he were indulging a child. He was,
         however, clearly impressed, like all the other onlookers. All around people were talking and pointing at Grandmother. Many
         walked past her in order to get a closer look at her. Mr Astley, standing off to the side, was explaining about her to two
         of his English friends. Some majestic spectators, ladies, were examining her with majestic bewilderment as though she were
         some sort of marvel. Des Grieux was profuse with his congratulations and smiles.


      
      ‘Quelle victoire!’ he said.

      
      ‘Mais, madame, c’était du feu!’1 Mlle Blanche added with a flirtatious smile.


      
      ‘Yes, I’ve just gone and won 12,000 florins! What am I saying? Not twelve, what about the gold? With the gold it almost comes
         to thirteen. How much is that in our money? About 6,000 roubles, isn’t it?’


      
      I informed her that it amounted to more than seven, and that at the current exchange rate, it might even be as much as eight.

      
      ‘You must be joking, 8,000! And here you sit, you simpletons, doing nothing! Potapych, Marfa, did you see?’

      
      ‘My dear, how did you do it? Eight thousand roubles,’ Marfa exclaimed, wriggling.

      
      ‘Here you are, there’s five gold pieces for each of you, there!’

      
      Potapych and Marfa rushed to kiss her hands.

      
      ‘And give the porters a friedrich d’or each. Give them a gold piece each, Alexey Ivanovich. Why is that lackey bowing, and
         the other one as well? Are they congratulating me? Give them each a friedrich d’or, too.’


      
      ‘Madame la princesse … un pauvre expatrié … Malheur continuel … les princes russes sont si généreux,’2 someone dressed in a worn frock coat, a florid waistcoat, sporting a moustache, holding a peaked cap in his outstretched
         hand and with a servile smile was hanging around the chair.


      
      ‘Give him a friedrich d’or as well. No, give him two; well, that’s enough, otherwise there’ll be no end to them. Lift me up,
         carry me out! Praskovya,’ she turned to Polina Alexandrovna, ‘tomorrow I’ll buy you a dress, and one for Mlle … what’s her
         name, Mlle Blanche, is that it? I’ll buy her a dress as well. Translate that for her, Praskovya!’


      
      ‘Merci, madame,’ Mlle Blanche dropped an ingratiating curtsey, after distorting her mouth into a mocking smile, which she exchanged with
         des Grieux and the general. The general was somewhat embarrassed and was terribly happy when we reached the avenue.


      
      ‘Fedosya, I was thinking how surprised Fedosya will be,’ Grandmother said, remembering the general’s nanny. ‘I must make her
         a present of a dress as well. Hey, Alexey Ivanovich, give something to this beggar!’


      
      Some hunchbacked ragamuffin was walking down the road and looked at us.

      
      ‘But he might not be a beggar, but some sort of rogue, Grandmother.’

      
      ‘Give! Give! Give him a gulden!’

      
      I walked up to him and gave it to him. He looked at me with wild bewilderment; however, he took the gulden in silence. He
         smelled of spirits.


      
      ‘And you, Alexey Ivanovich, have you tried your luck yet?’

      
      ‘No, Grandmother.’

      
      ‘But your eyes were on fire, I saw them.’

      
      ‘I’ll give it a try, Grandmother, I certainly will, but later.’

      
      ‘And stake on zéro right away! You’ll see! How much capital do you have?’


      
      ‘Only twenty friedrichs d’or in all, Grandmother.’

      
      ‘Not much. I’ll give you fifty friedrichs d’or as a loan, if you like. Here, you can take this roll here, but you, my dear
         sir,’ she suddenly turned to the general, ‘all the same, you should not expect anything, I won’t give you anything!’


      
      The general winced, but kept his silence. Des Grieux frowned.

      
      ‘Que diable, c’est une terrible vieille!’3 he whispered to the general through clenched teeth.


      
      ‘A beggar, a beggar, another beggar!’ Grandmother cried out. ‘Alexey Ivanovich, give this one a gulden, too.’

      
      This time we had met an old grey man with a wooden leg, who was wearing some sort of long-skirted blue frock coat and holding
         a long walking stick. He looked like an old soldier. But when I held out the gulden to him, he took a step back and looked
         me over menacingly.


      
      ‘Was ist’s der Teufel!’4 he cried, following this with another dozen oaths.


      
      ‘What a fool!’ Grandmother cried, with a wave of her hand. ‘Let’s go! I’m famished! We’ll eat now, then I’ll rest a bit, and
         we’ll go back there again.’


      
      ‘You want to play again, Grandmother?’ I cried.

      
      ‘And what did you think? That I would watch you while you all sit here and mope about?’

      
      ‘Mais, madame,’ des Grieux came nearer. ‘Les chances peuvent tourner, une seule mauvaise chance et vous perdrez tout … surtout
       avec votre jeu … c’était terrible!’


      
      ‘Vous perdrez absolument,’5 Mlle Blanche chirped.


      
      ‘And what business is it of yours? I’m not losing your money, it’s mine! But where’s that Mr Astley?’ she asked me.

      
      ‘He stayed behind in the casino, Grandmother.’

      
      ‘Too bad; now there’s a fine man.’

      
      Upon her arrival home, Grandmother was still on the stairs when she met the manager, beckoned to him and bragged of her winnings;
         then she summoned Fedosya, gave her three friedrichs d’or and ordered that dinner be served. During dinner Fedosya and Marfa
         could not say enough good things about her.


      
      ‘I’m watching you, ma’am,’ Marfa chattered, ‘and I say to Potapych, what’s our lady want to do? And there was so much money
         on the table, so much money, goodness gracious! I haven’t seen that much money in all my born days, and gentlefolk all around,
         only gentlefolk sitting there. And wherever do all these gentlefolk come from, Potapych, I say. May the Mother of God herself
         help her, I think. I prayed for you, ma’am, but it was as if my heart had stopped beating, stopped beating, and I’m trembling,
         trembling all over. May the Lord help her, I’m thinking, and then the Lord did help you. I’m still trembling, ma’am, I’m trembling
         all over.’


      
      ‘Alexey Ivanovich, after dinner, at four o’clock, be ready and we’ll go. But goodbye for now, and don’t forget to send for
         some sort of doctor, I need to drink the waters as well. Or else you might forget.’


      
      I left Grandmother’s stupefied. I tried to imagine what would happen now to our people and what turn things would take. I
         clearly saw that they (the general in particular) had still not managed to come round from the first blow even. The fact of
         Grandmother’s appearance instead of the telegram, expected with each passing hour about her death (and consequently about
         the inheritance), had so shattered the entire course of their plans and the decisions they had adopted that they regarded
         the further exploits of Grandmother at the roulette table with absolute bewilderment and a sort of stupor that had befallen
         them all. And yet, this second fact was almost more important than the first: Grandmother had repeated twice that she would
         not give the general any money, but who knows? – all the same, it was too early to lose hope. Even des Grieux, who was involved
         in all the general’s affairs, had not lost hope. I’m certain that Mlle Blanche, who was also very involved (to put it mildly:
         becoming the general’s wife and a considerable inheritance!), would not lose hope and would use all her coquettish seductions
         on Grandmother – in contrast to the stubborn and arrogant Polina who did not know how to play up to anyone. But now, now, when
         Grandmother had performed such feats at the roulette table, now when Grandmother’s personality had shown itself to them so
         clearly and typically (an obstinate, power-loving old woman et tombée en enfance), now, it seemed likely, everything was lost: you see, she was as happy as a child that she had prevailed, and as usually
         happens, she would be utterly ruined. My God! I thought (and with a gloating laugh, may the Lord forgive me), my God, each
         friedrich d’or that Grandmother staked today lay like a sore on the general’s heart, infuriated des Grieux and drove Mlle
         de Cominges into a frenzy as she saw the cup dashed from her lips. And here’s another fact: even with her winnings, beside
         herself with joy, when Grandmother was giving money to everybody and took every passer-by to be a beggar, even then she had
         burst out at the general with: ‘But I still won’t give you anything!’ That means that she had settled on this idea, dug her
         heels in, and made a promise to herself. There was danger! Danger!


      
      All these thoughts were going through my head as I went up the grand staircase from Grandmother’s rooms to the very top floor,
         to my little closet of a room. All this interested me a great deal; although, of course, I had been able even before this
         to guess the thickest of the main threads that connected the actors before me now, nevertheless I still did not know for certain
         all the links and mysteries of this game. Polina had never completely trusted me. Although it did happen, it’s true, that
         at times she would open up her heart to me, unintentionally, as it were, I had observed that often, in fact almost always,
         after these revelations she would either turn everything she had said into a joke or would confuse the issue and try to put
         everything into a false light. Oh, she had concealed a great deal! In any event, I had sensed that the finale of this whole
         mysterious and strained situation was approaching. One more blow – and it would all be over and revealed. I gave scarcely
         any thought to my own fate, which was also tied up in all this. I was in a strange frame of mind: I had all of twenty friedrichs
         d’or in my pocket; I was far away from home in a foreign land, without a job and without the means for existence, without hopes, without plans – and I wasn’t at all worried! If it hadn’t been for the thought of Polina, I’d simply have given
         myself up wholly to the comic interest of the approaching denouement and would have doubled over with laughter. But I’m troubled
         about Polina; her fate is being decided, I had sensed that, but I must confess that it’s not at all her fate that troubles
         me. I want to fathom her secrets; I would like her to come to me and say: ‘I love you’, and if not that, if such madness is
         inconceivable, then … well, what is there for me to wish for? Do I really know what I want? I’m done for; all I want is to
         be in her presence, in her light, in her radiance, for ever, always, my whole life. I don’t know anything else! And can I
         really leave her?


      
      On the third floor, in their corridor, somebody seemed to have nudged me. I turned around and, twenty paces away if not more,
         I saw Polina coming out the door. It was as if she had been waiting and looking for me, and she at once beckoned me to her.


      
      ‘Polina Alexandrovna …’

      
      ‘Quiet!’ she warned.

      
      ‘Just imagine,’ I whispered, ‘it was as if something had just nudged me in the side; I turn around – and it’s you! It’s as
         if some sort of electricity were flowing from you!’


      
      ‘Take this letter,’ Polina said, worried and frowning, probably without hearing what I had said, ‘and deliver it immediately
         to Mr Astley in person. Quickly, I beg you. There’s no need for an answer. He himself …’


      
      She didn’t finish.

      
      ‘Mr Astley?’ I repeated with surprise.

      
      But Polina had already disappeared behind the door.

      
      ‘Aha! So they correspond!’ It goes without saying that I at once ran off in search of Mr Astley, first at his hotel, where
         I didn’t find him, then to the casino, where I ran through all the rooms, and finally, as I was making my way back home, frustrated,
         almost in despair, I met him by chance, in a cavalcade of some English men and women on horseback. I beckoned to him, stopped
         him and handed him the letter. We hadn’t even had time to exchange a glance. But I suspect that Mr Astley deliberately gave
         rein to his horse as quickly as possible.


      
      Was I tormented by jealousy? My spirits were certainly shattered. I didn’t even want to find out what they were writing to
         each other about. So then, he’s her confidant! ‘He may be her friend all right,’ I thought, ‘and that’s clear (but when did
         he manage that), but is it a matter of love?’ Of course not, my reason whispered. But then reason alone counts for so little
         in such situations. In any event, this too would need to be cleared up. The matter was becoming unpleasantly complicated.


      
      But even as I entered the hotel, the porter and the manager, who had just come out of his room, informed me that I was wanted,
         that they were looking for me, that they had already called to enquire of my whereabouts three times – and that it had been
         requested that I make my way to the general’s rooms as quickly as possible. I was in a most foul frame of mind. In the general’s
         study I found, apart from the general himself, des Grieux and Mlle Blanche alone, without her mother. The mother was most
         definitely a blind, used only for show; but when it came to real business, then Mlle Blanche handled it all by herself. And in all likelihood the woman knew nothing about the affairs of her so-called
         daughter.


      
      The three of them were heatedly conferring about something, and the door to the study was even locked, which had never been
         the case before. As I approached the door, I could make out loud voices – the impertinent and caustic speech of des Grieux,
         the brazenly abusive and furious cries of Mlle Blanche and the pitiful voice of the general, who was evidently trying to vindicate
         himself about something. Upon my appearance they all seemed to show more restraint and pulled themselves together. Des Grieux
         smoothed his hair and changed his face from angry to smiling – the sort of nasty, officially courteous French smile that I
         loathe so. The crushed and flustered general assumed a dignified air, but somewhat mechanically. Only Mlle Blanche scarcely
         changed the expression on her face, ablaze with anger, and merely fell silent, fixing her gaze upon me with impatient expectation.
         I will note that up to now she had been unbelievably offhand in her treatment of me, and would not even respond to my bows
         – she simply ignored me.


      
      ‘Alexey Ivanovich,’ the general began in a gently scolding tone of voice, ‘allow me to state that it is strange, exceedingly strange … in a word, your conduct in regard to me and my
         family … is, in a word, exceedingly strange …’


      
      ‘Eh! ce n’est pas ça,’ des Grieux interrupted with annoyance and disdain. (He was definitely the boss here!) ‘Mon cher monsieur, notre cher general se trompe,6 when he adopts such a tone,’ (I will continue his speech in Russian), ‘but he wished to say to you … that is, to warn you,
         or rather, to ask you most persuasively not to ruin him – yes, that’s right, ruin! I use precisely this expression …’


      
      ‘But how, how?’ I cut him short.

      
      ‘Good heavens, you’re undertaking to become the guide (or what shall I call it?) of this old woman, cette pauvre terrible vieille,’7 des Grieux hemmed and hawed, ‘but you know that she’ll gamble away everything; she’ll be ruined! You yourself have seen,
         you were a witness to how she plays! If she begins to lose, she won’t leave the table out of stubbornness, out of fury, and
         she’ll keep playing and playing, and in such cases one never wins back what has been lost, and then … then …’


      
      ‘And then,’ the general took over, ‘then you will have ruined the entire family! My family and I, we are her heirs, she doesn’t
         have any closer relations. I will tell you candidly that my affairs are in shambles, an absolute shambles. You know something
         of this yourself … If she were to lose a significant sum or even the entire fortune (God forbid!), then what will become of
         them, what will become of my children!’ (The general glanced at des Grieux.) ‘And of me!’ (He looked at Mlle Blanche, who
         had turned away from him in disdain.) ‘Alexey Ivanovich, save us, save us! …’


      
      ‘But how, General, tell me, what can I do … What do I matter in all this?’

      
      ‘Refuse to help her, refuse, leave her! …’

      
      ‘Then someone else will be found!’ I cried.

      
      ‘Ce n’est pas ça, ce n’est pas ça,’ des Grieux interrupted again, ‘que diable! No, don’t forsake her, but at the very least appeal to her conscience, persuade her, distract her … Well, in the end, don’t
         let her lose too much, distract her somehow.’


      
      ‘And how am I going to do that? If you were to take it on yourself, Monsieur des Grieux,’ I added as naively as I could.

      
      At this point I noticed the quick, fiery, questioning glance Mlle Blanche gave des Grieux. Something peculiar, something unconcealed
         that he could not hold back was glimpsed fleetingly in des Grieux’s own face.


      
      ‘But that’s just it, she won’t have me now!’ des Grieux cried out, with a wave of his hand. ‘If only! … Later! …’

      
      Des Grieux cast a quick and significant glance at Mlle Blanche.

      
      ‘O mon cher monsieur Alexis, soyez si bon,’8 Mlle Blanche herself stepped towards me with an enchanting smile, took me by both hands and clasped them firmly. The devil take it! That diabolical
         face was capable of changing in a single second. At that moment her face looked so imploring, so sweet, smiling like a child
         and even naughty; when she had finished speaking, she gave me a roguish wink, on the sly from everyone; did she want to knock
         me off my feet all at once, was that it? And it didn’t come off badly – but it was so crudely done, however, terribly so.


      
      The general leapt up, he positively leapt up after her.

      
      ‘Alexey Ivanovich, forgive me for beginning with you like that just now, I didn’t at all mean to say … Forgive me, I implore
         you, I bow down before you in the Russian manner – you alone, you alone can save us! Mlle de Cominges and I implore you –
         you understand, you do understand, don’t you?’ he implored, turning his eyes on Mlle Blanche. He was very pitiful.


      
      At that moment three quiet, polite knocks on the door were heard; it was opened – the servant for that floor had knocked,
         and several steps behind him stood Potapych. The ambassadors were from Grandmother. She had ordered that I be found and delivered
         immediately. ‘She’s angry,’ Potapych declared.


      
      ‘But it’s only half past three!’

      
      ‘She couldn’t fall asleep, she kept tossing and turning, then she suddenly got up, ordered the chair and sent for you. She’s
         already on the porch, sir …’


      
      ‘Quelle mégère!’9 des Grieux cried out.


      
      Indeed, I found Grandmother on the porch, running out of patience because I wasn’t there. She couldn’t wait until four o’clock.

      
      ‘Well, lift me up!’ she cried, and we set off once again for the roulette tables.

      
      
      
      
      CHAPTER 12

      
      
      Grandmother was in an impatient and irritable state of mind; clearly, she had become obsessed with roulette. To everything
         else she paid little attention and in general was extremely absent-minded. For example, as we made our way she didn’t ask
         about anything as she had done earlier. Catching sight of an exceedingly opulent carriage that tore past us, she raised her
         hand and asked, ‘What’s that? Who does it belong to?’ – but didn’t seem to hear my reply; her brooding was constantly interrupted
         by abrupt and impatient movements and outbursts. When I pointed out Baron and Baroness Wurmerhelm in the distance, as we were
         approaching the casino, she absent-mindedly looked and said with complete indifference: ‘Ah!’ – and then quickly turning around
         to Potapych and Marfa, who were walking behind, snapped at them:


      
      ‘Well, why are you dogging my every step? I’m not going to take you every time! Go home! You and I are enough,’ she added
         for my benefit, after they hastily made their bows and turned for home.


      
      They were already expecting Grandmother in the casino. They at once made room for her in the same place, next to the croupier.
         It seems to me that these croupiers, who are always so proper and who make themselves out to be ordinary functionaries, who
         are almost completely indifferent whether the bank wins or loses, are not at all indifferent to the bank’s losses, and of
         course are given some instructions for attracting players and for the overall management of the firm’s interests, for which
         they certainly receive rewards and bonuses. In any event, they looked upon Grandmother as their prey. Then what had been predicted
         did in fact take place.


      
      Here’s how it went.

      
      Grandmother went straight for zéro and at once ordered that twelve friedrichs d’or be staked. We staked it once, twice, three times – zéro never came up.


      
      ‘Stake, stake!’ Grandmother poked me impatiently. I obeyed.

      
      ‘How many times have we staked and lost?’ she asked finally, gnashing her teeth in impatience.

      
      ‘That was the twelfth time, Grandmother. We’ve lost 144 friedrichs d’or. I’m telling you, Grandmother, it might go on like
         this until evening …’


      
      ‘Be quiet!’ Grandmother interrupted. ‘Stake on zéro and stake a thousand gulden on red now. Here’s a banknote, take it.’


      
      Red came up, but zéro lost again; we got back a thousand gulden.


      
      ‘You see, you see!’ Grandmother whispered, ‘we got back almost all that we lost. Stake on zéro again; we’ll stake another ten times and then quit.’


      
      But Grandmother was completely bored by the fifth time.

      
      ‘The devil take that nasty little zéro. Here, stake all 4,000 gulden on red,’ she ordered.


      
      ‘Grandmother! That’s a lot; what if it doesn’t land on red?’ I implored her; but Grandmother almost hit me. (But then she
         was poking me so hard that one might almost say that she was hitting me.) There was nothing to be done, I staked on red all
         4,000 gulden that we had just won. The wheel began to spin. Grandmother sat quietly and proudly bolt upright, not doubting
         that she was certain to win.


      
      ‘Zéro,’ the croupier proclaimed.


      
      At first Grandmother didn’t understand, but when she saw that the croupier had gathered up her 4,000 gulden along with everything
         that was on the table and learned that zéro, which had not come up for so long and on which we had staked and lost almost 200 friedrichs d’or, had just turned up, as
         if on purpose when Grandmother had just been calling it names and given up on it, she exclaimed and threw up her hands for
         the whole room to see. The people around us even started laughing.


      
      ‘Goodness gracious! That confounded thing turns up now!’ Grandmother howled, ‘what an accursed, accursed thing! It’s your
         doing! It’s all your doing!’ she savagely fell to pummelling me. ‘You were the one who talked me out of it.’


      
      ‘Grandmother, I talked sense to you; how can I answer for all the odds?’

      
      ‘I’ll give you odds!’ she whispered menacingly, ‘get out of my sight.’

      
      ‘Goodbye, Grandmother,’ and I turned around to walk away.

      
      ‘Alexey Ivanovich, Alexey Ivanovich, stop! Where are you going? Well, what’s the matter, what’s the matter? Look, he’s angry!
         Fool! Come stay a bit, stay a bit more, come, don’t be angry, I’m the fool! Come, tell me, what I should do now!’


      
      ‘Grandmother, I won’t take it upon myself to suggest anything to you, because you’ll blame me. Play your own game; you tell
         me what to do and I’ll stake for you.’


      
      ‘Well, well! Then stake another 4,000 gulden on red! Here’s my pocketbook, take it.’ She took it from her pocket and gave
         it to me. ‘Come, take it quickly, there’s 20,000 roubles in cash there.’


      
      ‘Grandmother,’ I whispered, ‘such large sums …’

      
      ‘Life’s not worth living if I don’t win it back. Stake!’

      
      We staked and lost.

      
      ‘Stake, stake, stake all eight!’

      
      ‘I can’t, Grandmother, four is the largest sum! …’

      
      ‘Then stake four!’

      
      This time we won. Grandmother cheered up.

      
      ‘You see, you see!’ she began nudging me, ‘stake four again!’

      
      We staked – and lost; and then we lost again and again.

      
      ‘Grandmother, all 12,000 are gone,’ I reported.

      
      ‘I see that it’s all gone,’ she uttered in a state of calm fury, if I may put it that way. ‘I see, my dear fellow, I see,’
         she muttered, with a fixed stare as though she were pondering something. ‘Eh! Life’s not worth living, stake another 4,000
         gulden!’


      
      ‘But there isn’t any money, Grandmother; there’s some of our five per-cent notes in the pocketbook and some sort of money orders,
         but no money.’


      
      ‘What about the purse?’

      
      ‘Only some change, Grandmother.’

      
      ‘Do they have exchange bureaus here? I was told that all our notes can be exchanged,’ Grandmother asked with determination.

      
      ‘Oh, as many as you like! But what you lose in the exchange is so much … that even a Jew would be horrified!’

      
      ‘Nonsense! I’ll win it back! Take me. Call those blockheads!’

      
      I wheeled the chair away, the porters turned up and we left the casino.

      
      ‘Faster, faster, faster!’ Grandmother commanded. ‘Lead the way, Alexey Ivanovich, to the closest one … is it far?’

      
      ‘A stone’s throw, Grandmother.’

      
      But at the turn from the square into the avenue we ran into all our party: the general, des Grieux and Mlle Blanche with her
         mother. Polina Alexandrovna wasn’t with them, nor was Mr Astley.


      
      ‘Well, well, well! Don’t stop!’ Grandmother shouted. ‘Well, what do you want? I don’t have time for you now!’

      
      I was walking behind; des Grieux came running up to me.

      
      ‘She lost all of her earlier winnings and squandered 12,000 gulden of her own. We’re off to exchange some five per-cent notes,’
         I whispered to him hastily.


      
      Des Grieux stamped his foot and rushed to inform the general. We continued wheeling Grandmother.

      
      ‘Stop her, stop her!’ the general whispered to me in a frenzy.

      
      ‘And you just try stopping her,’ I whispered to him.

      
      ‘Auntie!’ the general said as he approached, ‘Auntie … we’re just now … we’re just now …’ (his voice was trembling and failing
         him) ‘we’re going to hire horses and take a ride in the country … There’s a breathtaking view … the pointe … we were coming to invite you.’


      
      ‘Oh, enough of you and your pointe!’ Grandmother waved him away in exasperation.


      
      ‘There’s a village … we’ll have tea there …’ the general continued, now in complete despair.

      
      ‘Nous boirons du lait, sur l’herbe fraîche,’1 des Grieux put in with savage anger.


      
      Du lait, de l’herbe fraîche – it’s just what the Parisian bourgeois finds ideally idyllic; this constitutes, as we know, his view on ‘nature et la vérité’.2

      
      ‘Oh, enough of you and your milk! Go swill it yourself, I get a bellyache from it. And why are you pestering me?!’ Grandmother
         cried out, ‘I told you, I don’t have time!’


      
      ‘Here we are, Grandmother!’ I cried out, ‘here it is!’

      
      We had come to the building that housed the banker’s office. I went in to change the notes; Grandmother remained waiting at
         the entrance; des Grieux, the general and Blanche, not knowing what to do, stood off to the side. Grandmother gave them an
         angry look and they walked down the road to the casino.


      
      They offered me such an awful rate that I couldn’t bring myself to do it and returned to Grandmother to ask for instructions.

      
      ‘Ah, the robbers!’ she cried out, clasping her hands. ‘Well! There’s nothing to be done. Change it!’ she cried out with determination.
         ‘Stop, ask the banker to come and see me!’


      
      ‘Do you mean one of the clerks, Grandmother?’

      
      ‘Yes, a clerk, it doesn’t make any difference. Ah, the robbers!’

      
      The clerk agreed to come out, upon learning that he was being asked by an elderly, frail countess, who could not walk. Grandmother
         angrily and loudly reproached him for a long time for swindling her, and she haggled with him in a mixture of Russian, French
         and German, while I helped with the translation. The serious clerk kept looking at us both and shaking his head in silence.
         He even scrutinized Grandmother with a curiosity that was so intent that it was disrespectful; finally, he began to smile.


      
      ‘Well, clear off!’ Grandmother cried out. ‘May you choke on my money! Change it with him, Alexey Ivanovich; there’s no time,
         otherwise we could go somewhere else.’


      
      ‘The clerk says that others give even less.’

      
      I don’t recall the exact exchange rate, but it was terrible. I exchanged close to 12,000 florins in gold and notes, took the
         receipt and gave it to Grandmother.


      
      ‘Well, well, well! No need to count it,’ she waved her hands. ‘Quick, quick, quick!’

      
      ‘I’ll never stake on that confounded zéro or red either,’ she uttered, as we approached the casino.


      
      This time I tried with all my might to coax her to stake much smaller sums, attempting to persuade her that should her luck
         change there would always be time to stake a large sum. But she was so impatient that even though she did agree at first,
         it was impossible to hold her in check when she was playing. As soon as she began to win stakes of ten, twenty friedrichs
         d’or – ‘Well, there you are! Well, there you are!’ (she began poking me) ‘Well, there you are! We won, you see – if we’d wagered
         4,000 instead of ten, we would have won 4,000, but what do we have now? It’s all your doing, your doing!’


      
      And no matter the vexation I felt as I watched her play, I finally made up my mind to keep quiet and not give her any more
         advice.


      
      Suddenly des Grieux hurried over. The three of them were nearby; I had noticed that Mlle Blanche was standing with her mother
         off to the side, exchanging pleasantries with the little prince. The general was clearly out of favour, almost shunned. Blanche
         wouldn’t even look at him, although he was playing up to her with all his might. The poor general! He would grow pale and
         then turn red, tremble and was no longer even following Grandmother’s game. Blanche and the little prince finally left; the
         general ran after them.


      
      ‘Madame, madame,’ des Grieux whispered to Grandmother in a honeyed voice, having pushed his way through so that he was standing by her ear.
         ‘Madame, a stake like that no work … no, no, no is possible …’ he said in mangled Russian. ‘No!’


      
      ‘But how, then? Well, teach me,’ Grandmother turned towards him.

      
      Des Grieux suddenly began chattering away in French, offering advice, fussing, saying that she needed to wait for the chance,
         starting to make calculations on the basis of some numbers … Grandmother didn’t understand a thing. He was constantly turning
         to me so that I would translate; he kept thumping the table with his finger and pointing; finally, he grabbed a pencil and
         was about to make some calculations on a slip of paper. Grandmother finally lost her patience.


      
      ‘Well, off with you, off with you! You just keep talking nonsense! “Madame, madame,” but he doesn’t understand anything about it himself; off with you!’


      
      ‘Mais, madame,’ des Grieux chirped, and once again he began to nudge and point. He was in quite a state.


      
      ‘Well, stake it once like he says,’ Grandmother instructed me, ‘let’s see, perhaps something really will come of it.’

      
      Des Grieux merely wanted to divert her from staking large sums – he proposed staking on numbers one by one and in combinations. I placed the stakes according to his instructions, one
         friedrich d’or on the odd numbers below twelve and five friedrichs d’or on groups of numbers from twelve to eighteen and from
         eighteen to twenty-four: in all we staked sixteen friedrichs d’or.


      
      The wheel began spinning. ‘Zéro,’ the croupier cried out. We had lost everything.


      
      ‘What a blockhead!’ Grandmother cried out, as she turned to des Grieux. ‘What a disgusting little Frenchman you are! And he
         gives advice, the monster! Off with you, off with you! He doesn’t understand a thing and yet he pokes his nose in!’


      
      Des Grieux, terribly offended, shrugged his shoulders, looked at Grandmother with contempt and walked away. He was ashamed
         that he had gotten involved; he couldn’t help himself.


      
      An hour later, no matter how hard we tried, we had lost everything.

      
      ‘Home!’ Grandmother cried.

      
      She didn’t say a word until we reached the avenue. In the avenue, when we were coming up to the hotel, she began to fulminate:

      
      ‘What a fool! What a little fool! You’re an old, old fool, you are!’

      
      As soon as we entered her suite:

      
      ‘Tea!’ Grandmother shouted. ‘And start packing immediately! We’re leaving!’

      
      ‘And where is it you wish to go, ma’am?’ Marfa began.

      
      ‘And what business is it of yours? The cobbler should stick to his last! Potapych, pack up everything, all the luggage. We’re
         going back, to Moscow! I’m ruined, I lost 15,000 roubles.’


      
      ‘Fifteen thousand, ma’am! My dear God!’ Potapych cried out, after touchingly flinging up his hands, probably supposing that
         was what was expected from him.


      
      ‘Come, come, you fool! And now he’s even started whimpering! Silence! Start packing! Get the bill, quickly, quickly!’

      
      ‘The next train leaves at half past nine, Grandmother,’ I informed her, in order to put a stop to the furore.

      
      ‘And what time is it now?’

      
      ‘Half past seven.’

      
      ‘What a nuisance! Well, never mind! Alexey Ivanovich, I don’t even have a kopeck. Here are two more notes, run over there
         and change these for me. Otherwise, I won’t have anything for the journey.’


      
      I set off. When I returned to the hotel half an hour later, I found all our party with Grandmother. They seemed to be even
         more startled to learn that Grandmother was leaving for Moscow for good than they were by her losses. Even supposing that
         her departure would save her fortune, what would become of the general now? Who would pay des Grieux? Mlle Blanche, it goes
         without saying, wasn’t going to wait for Grandmother to die and most likely would steal away with the little prince or with
         someone else. They stood before her, comforting her, trying to talk her round. Polina again was missing. Grandmother shouted
         at them furiously.


      
      ‘Leave me in peace, you devils! What business is it of yours? Why is that goat’s beard butting into my business?’ she shouted
         at des Grieux, ‘and you, you little pipsqueak, what do you want?’ she turned to Mlle Blanche. ‘What are you making a fuss
         about?’


      
      ‘Diantre!’ Mlle Blanche whispered, her eyes flashing furiously, but then suddenly she burst into laughter and walked out.


      
      ‘Elle vivra cent ans!’3 she cried out to the general as she walked out the door.


      
      ‘Ah, so you were counting on my death?’ Grandmother yelled at the general. ‘Get out! Throw them all out, Alexey Ivanovich!
         It’s none of your business. It was my own money that I squandered, not yours!’


      
      The general shrugged his shoulders, bowed and went out. Des Grieux followed him.

      
      ‘Call Praskovya,’ Grandmother ordered Marfa.

      
      Five minutes later Marfa returned with Polina. All this time Polina had been sitting in her room with the children and, it
         seems, had purposely made up her mind not to go out all day. Her face was serious, sad and anxious.


      
      ‘Praskovya,’ Grandmother began, ‘is it true, what I’ve chanced to learn just now, that your fool of a stepfather wishes to
         marry that silly French flirt – an actress is she, or something worse? Tell me, is it true?’


      
      ‘I don’t know for certain, Grandmother,’ Polina answered, ‘but from the words of Mlle Blanche herself, who does not find it
         necessary to be discreet, I conclude …’


      
      ‘Enough!’ Grandmother broke in energetically, ‘I understand everything! I’ve always thought him capable of this and have always
         thought him a most shallow and frivolous man. He swaggers about because he’s a general (but he was really only a colonel,
         he got the promotion on his retirement), and he puts on airs. I know, my dear, how you sent telegram after telegram to Moscow
         – “Will the old lady turn up her toes soon?” You were waiting for the inheritance; without money that nasty wench – what’s
         her name, de Cominges isn’t it? – wouldn’t take him on as a lackey, what with his false teeth and all. They say that she has
         piles of money, that she loans it on interest and has not done badly for herself. I don’t blame you, Praskovya; you weren’t
         the one sending the telegrams; and I don’t want to bring up the past either. I know that you have a nasty little temper –
         just like a wasp! You sting and then it swells up so, but I feel sorry for you because I loved Katerina, your mother. Well,
         what’s it to be? Drop everything here and come with me. After all, you have nowhere to go; and it’s not decent for you to
         be with them now. Stop!’ Grandmother interrupted Polina who was about to reply, ‘I haven’t finished. I will ask nothing of
         you. I have a house in Moscow, as you know, a mansion, take an entire floor if you like and don’t see me for weeks on end
         if my temper isn’t to your liking. Well, do you want to or not?’


      
      ‘Allow me to ask you first: do you really mean to leave at once?’

      
      ‘Did you think that I was joking, my dear girl? I said I was leaving and I’m leaving. Today I squandered 15,000 roubles on
         that damned roulette of yours. Five years ago I made a promise to rebuild a wooden church in stone on my estate, and instead
         of that I threw it away here. Now, my dear girl, I’m going to go and build that church.’


      
      ‘And what about the waters, Grandmother? After all, you did come to drink the waters, didn’t you?’

      
      ‘Oh, you and your waters! Don’t annoy me, Praskovya; are you doing it on purpose, is that it? Tell me, are you coming or not?’

      
      ‘I am very, very grateful to you, Grandmother,’ Polina began with feeling, ‘for the refuge that you are offering me. To some
         extent, you have understood my situation. I am so grateful that, believe me, I will come to you and perhaps quite soon; but
         now there are reasons, important ones … and I cannot decide right now, this minute. If you were staying for two weeks even
         …’


      
      ‘That means, you don’t want to?’

      
      ‘It means that I can’t. Besides, in any event I can’t leave my brother and sister behind, and since … since … since it really
         is possible that they might be abandoned, then … If you will take me and the little ones, Grandmother, then of course I will
         come and, believe me, I will repay you!’ she added heatedly. ‘But I cannot come, Grandmother, without the children.’


      
      ‘Well, no whimpering!’ (Polina had no intention of whimpering; in fact, she never cried.) ‘And room will be found for the
         chicks; the hen house is a big one. Besides, it’s time they were in school. Well, so you’re not coming now? Well, Praskovya,
         take care! I only wish you well, but I know, you see, why you’re not coming. I know everything, Praskovya! That little Frenchman
         will bring you no good.’


      
      Polina blushed. I was simply taken aback. (Everybody knows! So, I’m the only one who knows nothing!)

      
      ‘Come, come, don’t frown. I won’t spread it on thick. Only mind that it doesn’t end badly, do you understand? You’re a clever
         girl; I’d be sorry for you. Well, enough, I wish I’d never set my eyes on the lot of you! Go! Goodbye!’


      
      ‘Grandmother, I’ll see you off,’ Polina said.

      
      ‘There’s no need; don’t bother, I’m sick of you all.’ Polina kissed Grandmother’s hand, but the latter pulled it away and
         kissed her on the cheek.


      
      As she walked past me, Polina gave me a quick glance and at once turned away her eyes.

      
      ‘Well, goodbye to you, too, Alexey Ivanovich! It’s only an hour till the train. And I think you’re tired of my company. Here,
         take these fifty gold pieces.’


      
      ‘Thank you so very much, Grandmother, but I’m ashamed …’

      
      ‘Come, come!’ Grandmother cried out, but so energetically and threateningly that I didn’t dare try to stop her and took them.

      
      ‘When you’re running around in Moscow without a job – come and see me; I’ll recommend you to someone. Well, off with you!’

      
      I went to my room and lay down on the bed. I think I lay there for half an hour on my back, with my hands behind my head.
         Catastrophe had struck; there was more than enough to think about. I decided to have an urgent talk with Polina tomorrow.
         Ah! The little Frenchman? So, then, it was true! However, what could it mean? Polina and des Grieux! Goodness gracious! What
         a contrast!


      
      This was all simply unbelievable. Suddenly beside myself, I jumped up in order to go at once to look for Mr Astley and make
         him talk, come what may. Of course, he knows more than I about all this. Mr Astley? There’s another riddle for me!


      
      But suddenly there was a knock at my door. I look and it’s Potapych.

      
      ‘My good sir, Alexey Ivanovich, the mistress is asking for you!’

      
      ‘What’s the matter? Is she leaving? There’s still twenty minutes till the train.’

      
      ‘She’s anxious, sir, she can scarcely sit still. “Quickly, quickly!” – you, that is, sir; for Christ’s sake, don’t delay.’

      
      I ran downstairs at once. They had already brought Grandmother out into the corridor. She had her pocketbook in her hands.

      
      ‘Alexey Ivanovich, lead the way, let’s go! …’

      
      ‘Where, Grandmother?’

      
      ‘Life’s not worth living unless I win it back! Well, march, no questions! They play until midnight there, don’t they?’

      
      I was dumbfounded, gave it a moment’s thought, but made up my mind at once.

      
      ‘As you please, Antonida Vasilyevna, but I’m not going.’

      
      ‘And why is that? What’s this all about? Have you all gone crazy!’

      
      ‘As you please: I would reproach myself afterwards; I don’t want to! I want to be neither a witness nor a participant; spare
         me, Antonida Vasilyevna. Here’s your fifty friedrichs d’or back; goodbye!’ And after putting down the roll of friedrichs d’or
         there on the table right next to Grandmother’s chair, I bowed and walked away.


      
      ‘What nonsense!’ Grandmother cried out to me as I was leaving. ‘So don’t come, I’ll find the way there by myself! Potapych,
         come with me! Well, lift me up, carry me.’


      
      I didn’t find Mr Astley and returned home. It was late, past midnight, when I learned from Potapych how Grandmother’s day
         ended. She had lost everything that I had just changed for her, that is, another 10,000 roubles in our money. That very same
         little Pole, to whom she had earlier given two friedrichs d’or, attached himself to her and directed her play the entire time.
         In the beginning, before the little Pole turned up, she had Potapych place the stakes, but she soon got rid of him; and that’s
         when the little Pole came running. As luck would have it, he understood Russian and could even jabber away in a mixture of
         three languages, so that they could understand each other enough. Grandmother abused him mercilessly the whole time, and though
         he constantly prostrated himself at his lady’s feet, he ‘couldn’t compare with you, Alexey Ivanovich,’ Potapych told me. ‘She
         treated you just like you were a gentleman, but that one – I saw it with my own eyes, may God strike me dead, was stealing her money right there from the table. She
         caught him at it twice herself, and she gave him such a dressing down, she called him every name in the book, sir, and she
         even pulled him by the hair once, indeed she did, I wouldn’t lie, so that everybody around started laughing. She lost everything,
         sir; everything she had, everything that you changed for her. We brought the mistress back here – she asked only for a little
         drink of water, crossed herself, and went straight to bed. She was exhausted, I suppose, and fell asleep right away. May God
         send her angelic dreams! Oh, I’ve had enough of this being abroad!’ Potapych said by way of conclusion. ‘I said that it would
         come to no good. And now we should get back to our own Moscow as soon as possible! You name it, we’ve got it back home in
         Moscow: a garden, flowers the likes of which they don’t even have here, smells, apples ripening, space – but no, we had to come abroad!
         Oh-oh-oh! …’


      
      
      
      
      CHAPTER 13

      
      
      Almost a whole month now has passed since I touched these notes of mine, begun under the influence of impressions that were
         powerful, though chaotic. The catastrophe, whose approach I sensed even then, indeed did come, but a hundred times more violently
         and unexpectedly than I had thought. It was all somewhat strange, shocking and even tragic, at least as far as I was concerned.
         Certain things happened to me that were almost miraculous; at least that’s how I still look upon them, although from another
         point of view and especially if one were to judge by the whirl in which I found myself then, they were only somewhat out of
         the ordinary. But the most miraculous thing for me is how I regarded all these events. I still don’t understand it myself!
         And all this has flown by like a dream – even my passion – which after all had been strong and true, but … what has become
         of it now? Indeed, every once in a while, the idea flashes through my head: ‘Was I out of my mind then or have I been in some
         madhouse all this time, and maybe I’m sitting there now – so that it all only seemed to have happened and to this day only seems …’


      
      I have gathered my notes together and reread them. (Who knows, perhaps in order to convince myself that I didn’t write them
         in a madhouse?) Now I’m absolutely all alone. Autumn is coming, the leaves are turning yellow. I sit in this forsaken little
         town (oh, these little German towns are so forsaken!), and instead of weighing my next step, I am living under the influence
         of sensations that have only just passed, under the influence of fresh memories, under the influence of all this recent whirlwind,
         which pulled me then into its vortex and then threw me aside again. At times it still seems as though I were still whirling
         around in that same vortex, as though this storm is about to come tearing by again, to carry me away on its wing in passing,
         and I will again lose my sense of order and proportion, and I will spin, spin, spin … 


      
      However, perhaps I’ll settle down somehow and stop spinning, if I give myself as precise an account as possible of all that
         happened this month. I feel drawn to my pen again; and sometimes there’s absolutely nothing to do in the evenings. It’s funny,
         but in order to have something to keep me busy I take out from the rotten little library here the novels of Paul de Kock1 (in German translation!), which I can hardly stomach, but I read them and – marvel at myself: it’s as if I were afraid of
         destroying the enchantments of the recent past with a serious book or some other serious occupation. It’s as if this shocking
         dream and all the impressions that it left behind were so dear to me that I’m afraid even to have it touched by anything new
         in case it goes up in smoke! Is it really all so dear to me? Yes, of course it is; perhaps I will remember it even after forty
         years … 


      
      So then, let’s get down to writing. However, I can now tell only part of the story and briefly at that: the impressions were
         quite different … 


      
      First of all, to finish up with Grandmother. The next day she lost every last thing. It was bound to happen: once someone
         like her starts down that road, it’s like riding a sled down a snowy mountain, you go faster and faster. She played all day
         until eight o’clock in the evening; I wasn’t there when she played and know about it only from what I’ve been told.


      
      Potapych stood by her side all day long in the casino. The little Poles who were acting as Grandmother’s guides changed several
         times during the course of the day. She began by banishing the little Pole from the day before, whom she had pulled by the
         hair, and took on another who turned out to be even worse. After banishing him and taking on the first one again, who had
         not left and who kept shoving up right against her chair and constantly thrusting his head forward during the entire time
         of his exile, she finally fell into absolute despair. The second little Pole whom she had banished did not intend to leave
         either; one planted himself on the right, the other on her left. They quarrelled and abused each other the entire time over
         the stakes and strategies, calling each other łajdak2 and other Polish compliments, then they made up again, threw money around willy-nilly and gave worthless orders. When they
         quarrelled, they would each put down a stake from his own side: one, for example, on red, and the other immediately on black.
         It all ended with them making Grandmother so dizzy and confused that she finally turned to the old croupier almost in tears,
         asking that he protect her and have them banished. They were in fact immediately banished, despite their clamour and protests:
         they both shouted at once and tried to prove that Grandmother owed them money, that she had somehow deceived them and dealt
         with them dishonestly, basely. The unfortunate Potapych told me all this with tears that same evening, after she’d lost everything,
         and complained that they stuffed their pockets with money, that he himself had seen how they had been stealing shamelessly
         and constantly thrusting it in their pockets. For example, one would ask Grandmother for five friedrichs d’or for his trouble
         and immediately start staking it, right next to Grandmother’s stakes. Grandmother would win, but he’d cry out that it was
         his stake that had won and Grandmother’s had lost. As they were being shown the door, Potapych came forward and reported that
         their pockets were full of gold. Grandmother at once asked the croupier to look into it, and despite the little Poles’ screeching
         (they were just like two roosters that had been snatched up barehanded), the police did come and their pockets were emptied
         out at once in Grandmother’s favour. Grandmother commanded the respect of the croupiers and the entire casino staff, for that
         matter, for the whole day, until she lost everything. Little by little, news of her spread throughout the town. All the visitors
         to the spa, of all nations, the ordinary and the most exalted, thronged to have a look at ‘une vieille comtesse russe, tombée en enfance’, who had already lost ‘several million’.


      
      But Grandmother gained very, very little from being rid of the two Poles. In their place a third Pole appeared at once to
         offer his services; he spoke absolutely perfect Russian, was dressed like a gentleman, but there was still something of the
         flunkey about him with his enormous moustache and his arrogance. He also kissed the ‘pani’s feet’ and ‘prostrated himself at the pani’s feet’, but he behaved arrogantly to those around him, managed things like a despot – in a word, he immediately became Grandmother’s
         master rather than her servant. He constantly turned to her, at every move, and swore by the most dreadful oaths that he was
         a most ‘honourable pan’ and that he wouldn’t take a single kopeck of Grandmother’s money. He repeated these oaths so often that she became positively
         frightened. But since in the beginning this pan did in fact seem to improve her game and she started winning, Grandmother couldn’t give him up. An hour later, both of the
         other little Poles, who had been turned out of the casino, reappeared behind Grandmother’s chair, again offering their services,
         even if it were just running errands. Potapych swore that the honourable pan had winked at them and even handed them something. Since Grandmother had not had dinner and had hardly left her chair, one
         of the little Poles in fact did come in handy: he ran next door to the casino dining room and got her a cup of bouillon, and
         later some tea. Both of them, however, ran errands for her. But by the end of the day, when it had already become clear to
         everyone that she was losing her last banknote, there were as many as six little Poles standing behind her chair, none of
         whom had been seen or heard of earlier. And when Grandmother was gambling away her last coins, not only did they not listen
         to her, but they didn’t even take any notice of her, but clambered right over her to reach the table, snatched up the money
         themselves, gave directions and staked, quarrelled and shouted, conferred confidentially with the honourable pan, while the honourable pan all but forgot about Grandmother’s existence. Even when Grandmother had lost absolutely everything and was returning to the
         hotel that evening at eight o’clock, three or four little Poles still had not made up their minds whether to leave her or
         not but ran alongside her chair, shouting with all their might and claiming in a rapid-fire patter that Grandmother had somehow
         swindled them and must give them something. And that’s how she made her way to the hotel, where they were finally driven away
         by force.


      
      Potapych reckoned that Grandmother had lost as much as 90,000 roubles in all that day, not counting the money she had lost the day before. She had exchanged all her banknotes one after the other – five per-cent notes, the domestic bonds, all
         the shares that she had with her. I wondered how she endured sitting for those seven or eight hours in her chair, almost never
         leaving the table, but Potapych told me that she did in fact start to win considerably on three occasions; and carried away
         again by hope, she couldn’t bring herself to leave. But gamblers know how a person can sit for almost an entire day over cards
         in the same spot, without taking his eyes off them.


      
      Meanwhile, very decisive things were also taking place all day long in the hotel. That morning, before eleven o’clock, when
         Grandmother was still at home, our people, that is, the general and des Grieux, decided on the final step. Upon learning that
         Grandmother had no intention of leaving, but on the contrary was setting out again for the casino, they all (except Polina)
         went for a conclave, to talk things over finally and even openly. The general, trembling and with sinking heart in view of the awful consequences in store for him, even went a bit too far:
         after half an hour of prayers and entreaties, and even openly admitting everything, that is, all his debts and even his passion
         for Mlle Blanche (he had become completely flustered), the general suddenly adopted a threatening tone and even began to shout
         and stamp his feet at Grandmother; he shouted that she was bringing shame on the family, that she had become a scandal all
         over town and, finally … finally: ‘You have disgraced the name of Russia, madam!’ the general shouted, ‘and we have the police
         for that sort of thing!’ Grandmother at last chased him out with a stick (a real stick). The general and des Grieux conferred
         once or twice more that morning, and what interested them precisely was whether in actual fact they could make use of the
         police. In effect that the unfortunate but respectable old lady had lost her mind, was gambling away the last of her money
         and so forth. In a word, wouldn’t it be possible to obtain some sort of order of protection or injunction? … But des Grieux
         merely shrugged his shoulders and laughed in the general’s face, when the latter began talking utter nonsense as he darted
         back and forth in his study. Finally, des Grieux threw up his hands and vanished somewhere. That evening I learned that he
         had left the hotel altogether, after a decisive and mysterious discussion with Mlle Blanche. As for Mlle Blanche, she had already
         taken final measures that morning: she had completely thrown over the general and would not allow him in her sight. When the
         general ran to the casino after her and found her arm in arm with the little prince, neither she nor Madame veuve Cominges acknowledged him. Nor did the little prince return his bow. All that day Mlle Blanche made an effort with the prince,
         working on him so that he would at last speak his mind once and for all. But alas! She was cruelly deceived in her designs
         on the prince! This little catastrophe took place in the evening: it suddenly came to light that the prince was as poor as
         a church mouse and that he had been counting on borrowing money from her in exchange for his promissory note so that he could
         play roulette. Blanche indignantly sent him packing and locked herself in her room.


      
      On the morning of that same day I went to see Mr Astley or, to be more precise, I had spent all morning trying to track him
         down, but wasn’t able to do so. He wasn’t at home, or in the casino, or in the park. He hadn’t dined at his hotel that day.
         It was going on five o’clock when I suddenly caught sight of him making his way from the railroad platform straight for the
         Hotel d’Angleterre. He was in a hurry and very preoccupied, although it was difficult to detect signs of worry or any other
         sort of distress on his face. He cordially held out his hand to me with his usual exclamation of ‘Ah!’, but without stopping
         and continuing on his way down the road at a rather fast clip. I tagged along behind him; but somehow he managed to answer
         me in such a way that I didn’t succeed in asking him about anything. Besides, for some reason I was terribly embarrassed to
         bring up Polina; he himself didn’t ask a word about her. I told him about Grandmother; he heard me out attentively and seriously
         and shrugged his shoulders.


      
      ‘She’ll lose everything,’ I observed.

      
      ‘Oh, yes,’ he answered. ‘You see, she had just gone to play when I was leaving, and I knew for certain that she would lose
         everything. If there’s time, I’ll stop by the casino, because it will be interesting to have a look …’


      
      ‘Where have you been?’ I exclaimed, amazed that I hadn’t asked yet.

      
      ‘I was in Frankfurt.’

      
      ‘On business?’

      
      ‘Yes, on business.’

      
      Well, what else could I ask? However, I kept walking beside him, until he suddenly turned into the Hotel de Quatre Saisons,
         situated there beside the road, nodded to me and disappeared inside. As I was making my way back home, I came to realize,
         little by little, that even if I had talked with him for two hours I would still not have learned anything at all, because
         … because I had nothing to ask him! Yes, of course, that’s it! There was no way for me to formulate my question now.


      
      All that day Polina was either strolling with the children and nanny in the park, or at home. She had been avoiding the general
         for a long time now and hardly spoke to him, at least about anything serious. I had noticed that a long time ago. But knowing
         the situation the general found himself in today, I thought that he wouldn’t be able to avoid her, that is, they would have
         to have some sort of important family discussions. However, upon returning to the hotel after my conversation with Mr Astley,
         I met Polina and the children, and her face showed the most serene tranquillity, as if of all the family the storms had bypassed
         her. She nodded in answer to my bow. I arrived at my room quite angry.


      
      Of course, I had been avoiding talking to her and we hadn’t seen each other since the incident with the Wurmerhelms. For all
         that, to some degree it amounted to swagger and posing on my part; but the more time went on, the more I seethed with genuine
         indignation. Even if she didn’t love me at all, she shouldn’t trample my feelings like that and receive my declarations with
         such scorn. After all, she knows that I truly love her; after all, she herself has allowed me to speak like that to her! True,
         it all began somewhat strangely between us. For some time now, from about two months ago, I had begun to notice that she wanted
         to make me her friend, her confidant, and that she was even testing me to some degree. But for some reason it didn’t work
         between us; and instead we were left with the present strange relationship; and that’s why I started talking to her like that. But if she finds my love repellent, why doesn’t she
         forbid me outright to speak of it?


      
      I’m not forbidden; on occasion she has even contrived for me to begin the conversation and … of course, she did this as a
         joke. I know for certain, I have distinctly noticed that – she found it pleasant after hearing me out and then irritating
         me to the point of pain, suddenly to disconcert me with some outburst of the greatest scorn and lack of consideration. And
         she knows, you see, that I can’t live without her. It’s been three days now since the incident with the baron, and I can’t
         endure our separation any longer. When I saw her just now at the casino, my heart began to pound so that I turned white. But, you see, she can’t
         live without me either! She needs me and – surely, surely not only to play the buffoon like Balakirev.3

      
      She has a secret – that’s clear! Her conversation with Grandmother had been an agonizing wrench to my heart. You see, I’d
         appealed to her a thousand times to be open with me, and she knew, you see, that I really was prepared to lay down my life
         for her. But she had always regarded this lightly, almost with scorn – or instead of the sacrifice of my life, which I had
         offered her, she asked for escapades like the one with the baron! Isn’t that an outrage? Can that Frenchman really mean the
         whole world to her? And what about Mr Astley? But here the matter becomes decidedly incomprehensible; meanwhile, my God! how
         I have suffered!


      
      Upon my arrival home, in a fit of rage, I seized my pen and dashed off the following:

      
      
         Polina Alexandrovna, I see clearly that things are coming to a head, and, of course, this will affect you as well. I repeat
            for the last time: do you need my life or not? If you need it, for anything at all – it’s at your disposal; meanwhile, I’ll stay in my room, at least for the most part, and won’t go anywhere. If you need
            me – then write or send for me.




      
      I sealed this note and sent it with the floor attendant, with instructions that it be delivered straight into her hands. I
         did not expect an answer, but three minutes later the attendant returned with the news that she ‘sends her compliments’.


      
      It was after six when I was summoned to the general’s.

      
      He was in his study, dressed as though he was just about to go out. His hat and stick lay on the sofa. I had the impression
         when I entered that he had been standing in the middle of the room, with his legs planted apart, his head lowered, and talking
         out loud to himself. But as soon as he caught sight of me, he rushed towards me almost shouting, so that I involuntarily took
         a step backwards and wanted to run away; but he grabbed me by both hands and dragged me towards the sofa; he sat down on it
         himself, and seated me directly across from him in an armchair, and, without letting go of my hands, with trembling lips,
         with tears suddenly glistening on his eyelashes, he uttered in an imploring voice:


      
      ‘Alexey Ivanovich, save me, save me, have mercy on me!’

      
      For a long time I couldn’t understand a thing; he kept talking, talking, talking and repeating: ‘Have mercy on me! Have mercy
         on me!’ Finally, I guessed that he was expecting some sort of advice from me; or rather, abandoned by everybody, anxious and
         alarmed, he suddenly thought of me and summoned me just so that he could talk, talk, talk.


      
      He had lost his mind, or at the very least he was utterly at his wits’ end. He clasped his hands together and was ready to
         fall down before me on his knees so that (what do you think?) – so that I would immediately go to see Mlle Blanche and beg
         her, appeal to her to come back and marry him.


      
      ‘For pity’s sake, General,’ I cried out, ‘Mlle Blanche most likely is not even aware of my existence. What can I do?’

      
      But my objections were made in vain; he didn’t understand what was said to him. And then he launched into talking about Grandmother
         as well, but it was all terribly incoherent; he was still in favour of the idea of sending for the police.


      
      ‘Back home, back home,’ he began, suddenly seething with indignation, ‘in a word, back home, in a well-ordered state, where
         there are authorities, old ladies like that would be fixed up at once with a guardian! Yes, my dear sir, yes,’ he continued,
         suddenly adopting a reproving tone, jumping up from his seat and pacing up and down the room; ‘you still don’t know that, my dear sir,’ (he was addressing some imaginary dear sir in the
         corner), ‘well, you’ll find out now … yes, sir … back home old women like that are made to knuckle under, under, under, yes,
         sir … Oh, the devil take it!’


      
      And he threw himself on the sofa again, and a minute later, almost sobbing, gasping for breath, he hurriedly told me that
         Mlle Blanche would not marry him because Grandmother had come instead of a telegram and that now it was clear that he wouldn’t
         come into the inheritance. He seemed to think that I didn’t know about any of this. I began to speak about des Grieux; he
         waved his hand:


      
      ‘He’s gone! I’ve mortgaged everything I have to him; I’m as poor as a church mouse! The money you brought … that money – I
         don’t know how much there is, perhaps 700 francs remain and – enough, sir, that’s all there is, but after that – I don’t know,
         sir, I don’t know! …’


      
      ‘How will you pay your hotel bill?’ I cried out in alarm. ‘And … what’s to happen afterwards?’

      
      He looked around pensively, but didn’t seem to understand anything and perhaps didn’t even hear me. I tried to bring the conversation
         around to Polina Alexandrovna and the children; he replied hastily: ‘Yes, yes!’ – but at once started talking about the prince
         again, about how he would now leave with Blanche and then … and then … ‘What am I to do, Alexey Ivanovich?’ he turned to me
         suddenly. ‘I swear to God! What am I to do – tell me, what ingratitude! Isn’t this ingratitude?’


      
      Finally, he burst into floods of tears.

      
      There was nothing to be done with a man like this; it was dangerous to leave him alone; something might happen to him. However,
         I somehow managed to get away from him, though I let the nanny know that she should look in on him frequently, and, on top
         of that, I spoke with the floor attendant, a very sensible fellow; he also promised that he would keep an eye on him.


      
      I had scarcely left the general when Potapych came to me with a summons from Grandmother. It was eight o’clock and she had
         just come back from the casino after her final losses. I went to see her: the old woman was sitting in an armchair, utterly exhausted and visibly ill. Marfa had given her a cup of
         tea which she almost forced her to drink. Both Grandmother’s voice and tone had noticeably changed.


      
      ‘Good evening, Alexey Ivanovich,’ she said, bowing her head slowly and imposingly. ‘Forgive me for disturbing you again, please
         forgive an old woman. I, my friend, left there everything I had, almost a hundred thousand roubles. You were right not to
         go with me yesterday. I have no money now, not a kopeck. And I do not wish to linger here another minute, I’m leaving at half
         past nine. I’ve sent for your Englishman – his name is Astley, isn’t it? – and I want to ask him to loan me 3,000 francs for
         a week. Please persuade him, won’t you, and don’t let him think anything’s wrong and refuse. I’m still quite rich, my friend.
         I have three villages and two houses. And besides that there’s still some money, I didn’t bring it all with me. I’m telling
         you this so that he will not have any doubts … Ah, and here he is! One can see he’s a good man.’


      
      Mr Astley had hurried over at Grandmother’s first summons. Without giving it a great deal of thought and without saying much,
         he immediately counted out 3,000 francs against a promissory note which Grandmother signed. After the business was finished,
         he took his leave and hurried out.


      
      ‘And now you go as well, Alexey Ivanovich. There’s just over an hour left – I want to lie down, my bones ache. Don’t be hard
         on me, old fool that I am. Now I will no longer accuse young people of being frivolous, and it would also be a sin for me
         to blame that unhappy general of yours. All the same, I won’t give him the money he wants, because, in my opinion, he’s a
         complete nincompoop, but then I’m not any smarter than he is, old fool that I am. Truly, God calls the old to account as well
         and punishes them for their pride. Well, goodbye. Marfusha, help me up.’


      
      I, however, wished to see Grandmother off. Besides, I was in a state of some expectation; I kept waiting for something to
         happen at any minute. I couldn’t bear staying in my room. I went out into the hallway, and even went for a bit of a walk on
         the avenue. My letter to her was clear and decisive, and the present catastrophe, of course, was final. I had heard about des Grieux’s departure at the hotel. In the end, if she rejects
         me as a friend, then perhaps she won’t reject me as a servant. You see, she does need me, if only to run errands; and I might
         be of use, how could it be otherwise!


      
      When it was time for the train, I ran to the platform and helped Grandmother to her seat. They were all seated in a private
         family carriage.4 ‘Thank you, my dear, for your unselfish concern,’ she said at parting with me. ‘And mention to Praskovya again what I told
         her yesterday – I’ll be expecting her.’


      
      I went home. As I walked past the general’s room, I met the nanny and asked about the general. ‘Oh, sir, he’s fine,’ she answered
         cheerlessly. I went in, however, but in the doorway to the study I stopped in absolute amazement. Mlle Blanche and the general
         were roaring with laughter about something. Veuve Cominges was sitting right next to them on the sofa. The general, clearly beside himself with joy, was babbling all sorts
         of nonsense and would burst into prolonged nervous peals of laughter, which transformed his whole face into a myriad of tiny
         wrinkles, and his eyes would disappear from sight altogether. Later I learned from Blanche herself that, after banishing the
         prince and learning about the general’s tears, she took it into her head to console him and stopped by to see him for a minute.
         But the poor general did not know at that moment that his fate had already been decided and that Blanche had begun packing
         so that she could rush off to Paris on the first morning train.


      
      After standing on the threshold of the general’s study for a bit, I thought better of entering and left unnoticed. After going
         up to my room and opening the door, I suddenly noticed in the half-darkness the figure of someone sitting on the chair in
         the corner, by the window. The figure did not get up when I appeared. I quickly walked over, looked and – my breath was taken
         away: it was Polina!


      
      
      
      
      CHAPTER 14

      
      
      I actually cried out.

      
      ‘What is it? What is it?’ she asked strangely. She was pale and looked gloomy.

      
      ‘What do you mean “what is it?” You? Here in my room!’

      
      ‘If I come, then I do so wholeheartedly. That’s my way. You’ll see that in a moment; light a candle.’


      
      I lit a candle. She got up, walked over to the table and placed before me a letter that had been unsealed.

      
      ‘Read it,’ she ordered.

      
      ‘This – this is des Grieux’s handwriting,’ I cried out, seizing the letter. My hands were shaking, and the lines danced before
         my eyes. I have forgotten the letter’s exact turns of phrase, but here it is – if not word for word, then at the very least,
         thought for thought.


      
      
         Mademoiselle – des Grieux wrote – unfortunate circumstances compel me to leave immediately. You, of course, have noticed that I have deliberately
            avoided a final explanation with you until all the circumstances became clear. The arrival of your old relation (de la vielle dame) and her ridiculous conduct have put an end to all my uncertainties. My own affairs are in disarray, and this forbids me
            once and for all from nourishing any further the sweet hopes which I had allowed myself to entertain for some time now. I
            regret the past, but I hope you will not find anything in my conduct unworthy of a gentleman and an honest man (gentilhomme et honnête homme).1 After losing almost all my money in loans to your stepfather, I find myself in urgent need of making use of what I have left:
            I have already let my friends in Petersburg know that they should immediately arrange for the sale of the property mortgaged
            to me; knowing, however, that your frivolous stepfather has squandered your own money, I have decided to forgive him 50,000
            francs and am returning to him mortgage deeds on his property in that amount, so that you are now in a position to return
            all that you have lost, after laying claim to your property from him through legal channels. I hope, Mademoiselle, that my action will prove to be quite advantageous for you in the present circumstances. I also hope that with this action I am fulfilling in
            every respect the duty of an honest and noble man. Rest assured that the memory of you is forever imprinted on my heart.




      
      ‘Well then, it’s all clear,’ I said, turning to Polina. ‘Did you really expect anything different?’ I added indignantly.

      
      ‘I didn’t expect anything,’ she answered, to all appearances calmly, although there was something of a quaver in her voice.
         ‘I made up my mind long ago; I read his thoughts and knew what he was thinking. He thought that I was looking for … that I
         would insist …’ (She stopped, without finishing what she was saying, bit her lip and fell silent.) ‘I deliberately doubled
         my scorn for him,’ she began again, ‘I waited to see what he would do. If a telegram had come about the inheritance, I would
         have flung at him what was owed by that idiot (my stepfather) and sent him packing! I have found him loathsome for a long,
         long time now. Oh, he was not the same man as before, a thousand times not the same one, but now, but now! … Oh, how happy
         I would be to throw at him now, into his vile face, that 50,000 and spit at him … and rub it in!’


      
      ‘But the document, the mortgage deed for 50,000 that he returned, the general must have it now, right? Take it and give it
         to des Grieux.’


      
      ‘Oh, it’s not the same thing, not the same thing at all! …’

      
      ‘Yes, true, true, it’s not the same thing! Besides, what can the general do now? What about Grandmother?’ I cried suddenly.

      
      Polina looked at me somewhat absent-mindedly and impatiently.

      
      ‘Why Grandmother?’ Polina said with vexation. ‘I can’t go to her … And I don’t want to ask anybody’s forgiveness,’ she added
         irritably.


      
      ‘What’s to be done!’ I cried. ‘And how, well, how could you have loved des Grieux! Oh, the scoundrel, scoundrel! Well, if
         you want, I’ll kill him in a duel! Where is he now?’


      
      ‘He’s in Frankfurt and will stay there for three days.’

      
      ‘Just one word from you and I’ll be gone, tomorrow, on the first train!’ I said in some sort of foolish enthusiasm.

      
      She laughed.

      
      ‘What if he were to say, first return the 50,000 francs. And why should he fight? … What nonsense!’

      
      ‘Well then, where, where are you going to get these 50,000 francs?’ I repeated, grinding my teeth, just as though one might
         suddenly pick them up from the floor. ‘Look here – what about Mr Astley?’ I asked, turning to her with the beginning of a
         strange idea.


      
      Her eyes began to sparkle.

      
      ‘What, do you really want me to leave you for that Englishman?’ she said, looking me straight in the face with a piercing stare and a bitter
         smile. It was the first time that she had addressed me with the familiar ‘you’.


      
      I think that at that moment her head began spinning from the excitement, and she suddenly sat down on the sofa, as if she
         were utterly exhausted.


      
      It was as if I had been struck by lightning; I stood there and didn’t believe my eyes, I didn’t believe my ears! Why, that
         means she loves me! She came to me, and not to Mr Astley! She, alone, a girl, had come to my room, in a hotel – which means that she had compromised herself
         in society’s eyes – and I, I was standing before her and still didn’t understand!


      
      A wild idea flashed through my head.

      
      ‘Polina! give me just one hour! Wait here for just an hour and … I will return! This … this is essential! You’ll see! Stay
         here, stay here!’


      
      And I ran out of the room, without answering her surprised, questioning look; she cried out something after me, but I didn’t
         turn back.


      
      Yes, sometimes the wildest idea, which looks like the most impossible idea, becomes so firmly entrenched in your head that
         in the end you take it to be something realizable … Moreover, if the idea is combined with a strong, passionate desire, then
         perhaps sometimes you take it in the end to be something fated, necessary, predestined, something that cannot but exist and
         come to be! Perhaps there’s some reason here as well, some sort of combination of presentiments, some unusual force of will,
         that is becoming poisoned by your own fantasy or something else – I don’t know; but something miraculous happened to me that evening (which I will never forget as long as I live). Even though
         it is completely supported by simple arithmetic, nevertheless I still find it to be something miraculous. And why, why had
         this certainty lodged itself inside me then so deeply, and for such a long time? To be sure, I used to think about it – I
         repeat – not as about an event that might happen among other things (and consequently, that might not happen), but as something
         that could not but come about!


      
      It was a quarter past ten; I entered the casino with such firm hopes and at the same time such agitation, the likes of which
         I had never experienced. There were still rather a lot of people in the gaming rooms, though less than half as many as in
         the morning.


      
      After ten o’clock it’s the genuine, desperate gamblers who remain at the gaming tables, those for whom roulette is the only
         thing that exists at the spa, who came only for that, who hardly notice what’s happening around them, and who are interested
         in nothing else all season long, but only play from morning till night, and who very likely would be more than ready to play
         all night long until dawn, if that were possible. And they always leave with annoyance when the roulette closes at midnight.
         And when the head croupier calls out around twelve o’clock before the roulette closes: ‘Les trois derniers coups, messieurs!’,2 they are sometimes prepared to stake on those three last turns everything they have in their pockets – indeed, this is when
         they lose most of their money. I made my way over to the same table where Grandmother had sat earlier. It wasn’t very crowded,
         so I soon found a place to stand at the table. Directly in front of me, on the green cloth, was written the word ‘passe’. ‘Passe’ is the series of numbers from nineteen to thirty-six inclusive. The first series, from one to eighteen inclusive, is called
         ‘manque’. But what did I care about that? I wasn’t making any calculations, I didn’t hear what number had come up in the last round
         nor did I even ask when I began playing, as the least shrewd gambler would have done. I took all my twenty friedrichs d’or
         from my pocket and threw them down on passe, which happened to lay before me.


      
      ‘Vingt-deux!’ the croupier called out.


      
      I’d won – and once again I staked everything: both what I had before and my winnings.

      
      ‘Trente et un,’3 the croupier trumpeted. Another win! That meant I now had eighty friedrichs d’or in all! I moved all eighty to the twelve
         middle numbers (I’d triple my winnings, but with the odds two to one against me) – the wheel started spinning and it came
         up twenty-four. They spread before me three rolls of 50 friedrichs d’or each and ten gold coins; all in all, counting what
         I had before, I now found myself with 200 friedrichs d’or.


      
      Feeling as though I had a fever, I moved this entire pile of money on to red – and suddenly I came to my senses! And only
         this once during the whole of the evening, during all the time that I was playing, did fear course through me like a chill
         and cause my arms and legs to tremble. I sensed with horror and for an instant realized: what it would mean for me to lose
         now! My whole life was at stake!


      
      ‘Rouge!’ the croupier cried – and I took a deep breath, fiery pins and needles ran up and down my body. I was paid in banknotes;
         that meant I already had 4,000 florins and 80 friedrichs d’or! (I could still keep track of the total at this time.)


      
      Next, I remember, I staked 2,000 florins on the middle twelve numbers again and I lost; I staked my gold and 80 friedrichs
         d’or and lost. I was consumed with rage: I snatched up the last remaining 2,000 florins and staked them on the first twelve
         numbers – haphazard, on the off chance, to no purpose, without any calculation! However, there was one moment of anticipation,
         similar perhaps to the sensation experienced by Madame Blanchard in Paris as she plummeted to the earth from a balloon.4

      
      ‘Quatre!’5 the croupier cried. In all, with my previous stake, I again found myself with 6,000 florins. I already looked like a conqueror,
         I was afraid of nothing, absolutely nothing, and I flung down four 4,000 florins on black. Some nine others, following my
         example, also rushed to stake black. The croupiers exchanged glances and conferred with one another. All around me people
         were talking and waiting.


      
      It came up black. I no longer remember my calculations or the sequence of my stakes after this. I only remember, as if in a dream, that I had already won, I believe, some 16,000 florins;
         suddenly, after three unlucky rounds I squandered twelve of them; then I moved the last 4,000 to passe (but feeling almost nothing as I did so; I merely waited, somehow mechanically, without thinking) – and I won again; then
         I won another four times in a row. I remember only that I was raking in money by the thousands; I also recall that the twelve
         middle numbers came up more frequently than the rest, and I kept to them. They came up with some sort of regularity – without
         fail three or four times in a row, and then would disappear for two times, and then start up once again three or four times
         in a row. This astonishing regularity is sometimes encountered in streaks – and it’s this that confuses inveterate gamblers
         who tot up their calculations with pencil in hand. And what terrible mockeries of fate sometimes take place here!


      
      I don’t think that more than half an hour had passed since my arrival. Suddenly the croupier informed me that I had won 30,000
         florins, and since the bank could not be responsible for more than that at one time, this meant that the table would be closed
         until the following morning. I snatched up all my gold and dropped it into my pockets, I snatched up all the banknotes and
         immediately moved to another table in another room where there was another game of roulette; the whole crowd surged after
         me; a place was immediately cleared for me, and I once again began staking haphazardly and without calculating. I don’t know
         what saved me!


      
      Sometimes, however, glimmerings of calculation began to flash through my head. I would become attached to some numbers and
         odds, but I would soon abandon them and was staking again almost unconsciously. I must have been very absent-minded; I remember
         that the croupiers corrected the way I was playing several times. I made outrageous mistakes. My temples were wet with sweat
         and my hands were shaking. Some little Poles came running up to offer their services, but I didn’t listen to anybody. My luck
         was holding! Suddenly loud talk and laughter broke out all around me. ‘Bravo, bravo!’ everybody shouted, some even clapped.
         I broke the bank here as well with 30,000 florins, and it too was closed until the following day!


      
      ‘Leave, leave,’ somebody’s voice whispered to me on my right. It was a Frankfurt Jew; he had been standing next to me the
         whole time and, I think, had sometimes helped me play.


      
      ‘For goodness’ sake, leave,’ another voice whispered in my left ear. I glanced around quickly. It was a quite modestly and
         decently dressed lady, about thirty, with a somewhat sickly-pale and weary face, but which even now bore traces of its former
         marvellous beauty. At that moment I was stuffing my pockets with banknotes, which I simply crumpled up, and gathering up the
         remaining gold coins from the table. When I picked up the last roll of fifty friedrichs d’or, I managed, completely unobserved,
         to thrust it into the pale lady’s hand; I wanted terribly to do this then, and her slender, thin little fingers, I remember,
         pressed my hand firmly in token of warmest gratitude. All this happened in an instant.


      
      After gathering up everything, I quickly moved over to the trente et quarante.

      
      The aristocratic clientele plays trente et quarante. This is not roulette, but cards. Here the bank is responsible for a hundred thousand thalers at once. The largest stake is
         also 4,000 florins. I did not know the game at all and hardly knew a single stake, besides red and black, which they have
         here as well. And so I stuck to those. The whole casino crowded round. I don’t remember whether I even once gave a thought
         to Polina all this time. I felt then an irresistible delight in grabbing and raking up the banknotes which were piling up
         in front of me.


      
      Indeed, it was as if fate were urging me on. This time, as if on purpose, a circumstance occurred that, however, happens rather
         frequently in gambling. Chance becomes attached, say, to red and doesn’t drop it for ten times, even fifteen times in a row.
         The day before yesterday I had heard that the previous week red came up twenty times in a row; nobody could even recall that
         happening in roulette and it was talked about with amazement. It goes without saying, everybody immediately drops red, and
         after the tenth time, say, almost nobody risks placing a stake on it. But none of the experienced gamblers stakes on black,
         the opposite of red, either. The experienced gambler knows what ‘the caprice of chance’ means. For example, it would seem that after coming
         up red sixteen times the seventeenth time without fail will come up black. And all the novices rush forward in crowds to double
         and triple their stakes, and lose terribly.


      
      But on account of some sort of strange wilfulness, after observing that red had come up seven times in a row, I deliberately
         stuck with it. I’m convinced that pride was half responsible; I wanted to amaze the onlookers with this senseless risk, and
         – oh, the peculiar sensation – I distinctly remember that I really was suddenly overcome with a terrible craving for risk
         without any encouragement on the part of my pride. Perhaps when it undergoes so many sensations, the soul is not satiated,
         but merely irritated by them and demands still more sensations, stronger and stronger ones, until it reaches utter exhaustion.
         And I’m really not lying when I say that if the rules of the game allowed me to stake 50,000 florins at a time, I would certainly
         have done so. All round they were shouting that it was madness, that red had already come up fourteen times!


      
      ‘Monsieur a gagné déjà cent mille florins,’6 someone’s voice next to me rang out.


      
      I suddenly came to my senses. What? That evening I had won 100,000 florins! Whatever did I need more for? I fell upon the
         banknotes, crumpled them into my pocket without counting them, raked up all my gold coins and all the rolls, and ran out of
         the casino. Everybody around laughed as I made my way through the halls, looking at my bulging pockets and my unsteady gait
         from the weight of the gold. I think that it was well over half a pood.7 Several hands stretched out towards me; I doled it out by the handful, as much as I happened to grab. Two Jews stopped me
         by the exit.


      
      ‘You are bold! You are very bold!’ they said to me. ‘But you must leave tomorrow morning without fail, as early as possible,
         otherwise you will lose absolutely everything …’


      
      I didn’t listen to them. The avenue was so dark that you couldn’t make out your hands in front of your face. It was half a
         verst to the hotel. I had never been afraid of thieves or robbers before, even when I was little; I didn’t give them any thought
         now. I don’t remember though what I was thinking about as I made my way; I had no thoughts about anything. I felt some sort
         of terrible delight at my good fortune, victory, power – I don’t know how to express it. I also glimpsed Polina’s image fleetingly;
         I remembered and was conscious of one fact: that I was going to her, that I would meet her now and tell her, show her … but
         I scarcely recalled what she had said to me earlier or why I had gone, and all of those recent sensations, which I had experienced
         just an hour and a half ago, now seemed something long past, remedied, superseded – something we would no longer remember,
         because now everything would begin anew. Almost at the end of the avenue I was seized by fear: ‘What if I’m robbed and murdered
         right now?’ My fear doubled with each step. I was almost running. Suddenly at the end of the avenue our hotel flashed into
         view all at once, illuminated by innumerable lights. Thank God – home!


      
      I ran up to my floor and quickly opened the door. Polina was there, sitting on my sofa, arms folded, with a lighted candle
         in front of her. She looked at me with amazement and, to be sure, at that moment I looked rather strange. I stopped in front
         of her and began tossing my money on to the table in a pile.


      
      
      
      
      CHAPTER 15

      
      
      I remember she looked in my face with a terrible intensity, but without moving from where she was sitting, without even changing
         her position.


      
      ‘I won 200,000 francs,’ I cried, as I tossed down the last roll. An enormous pile of banknotes and rolls of gold coins took
         up the whole table; I couldn’t take my eyes off it; there were moments when I completely forgot about Polina. Now I’d start
         putting these heaps of banknotes in order by making a stack of them, then I’d separate all the gold coins into one general
         pile; then I’d stop all that and begin pacing quickly about the room, then fall deep into thought, and then suddenly I’d walk
         over to the table again, and begin counting my money all over again. Suddenly it was as if I had come to my senses, and I
         rushed to the door and quickly locked it, turning the key around twice. Then I paused to reflect in front of my suitcase.


      
      ‘Should I put it in my suitcase tomorrow?’ I asked, suddenly turning to Polina, and suddenly remembering about her. She was
         still sitting, without moving, in the same place, but she was watching me intently. The expression on her face was somehow
         strange; I didn’t like that look! I would not be wrong if I were to say that there was hatred in it.


      
      I quickly walked over to her.

      
      ‘Polina, here’s 25,000 florins – that’s 50,000 francs, even more. Take it, throw it in his face tomorrow!’

      
      She didn’t answer me.

      
      ‘If you want, I’ll take it myself, early in the morning. Shall I?’

      
      She suddenly burst out laughing. She laughed for a long time.

      
      I looked at her with surprise and a sorrowful feeling. This laughter was very much like her recent, frequent, mocking laughter
         at me, which had always attended my most passionate declarations. Finally, she stopped and frowned; she looked at me sternly
         from under her brows.


      
      ‘I won’t take your money,’ she uttered scornfully.

      
      ‘Why? What’s the matter?’ I cried. ‘Polina, for goodness’ sake, why?’

      
      ‘I don’t take money for nothing.’

      
      ‘I offer it to you as a friend; I am offering you my life.’

      
      She looked at me with a prolonged, searching look, as if she wanted to pierce me through.

      
      ‘You’re giving too much,’ she uttered with a smile. ‘Des Grieux’s mistress isn’t worth 50,000 francs.’

      
      ‘Polina, how can you talk to me like that!’ I exclaimed reproachfully. ‘I’m not des Grieux, am I?’

      
      ‘I hate you! Yes … yes! … I don’t love you any more than I do des Grieux,’ she exclaimed, her eyes suddenly beginning to flash.

      
      And then she covered her face with her hands and went into hysterics. I rushed to her.

      
      I understood that something had happened to her in my absence. She was not at all in her right mind.

      
      ‘Buy me! Is that what you want? Is it? For 50,000 francs, like des Grieux?’ she burst into convulsive sobs. I embraced her,
         kissed her hands and feet; I fell to my knees before her.


      
      Her hysterics were subsiding. She placed both her hands on my shoulders and scrutinized me intently; it seemed that she wanted
         to read something in my face. She listened to me, but evidently did not hear what I was saying. Her face assumed a worried
         and brooding look. I was afraid for her; it definitely seemed that she was losing her mind. Now she would suddenly start to
         draw me to her; a trusting smile wandered across her face; and then suddenly she would push me away and once again take to
         peering at me with a darkened look.


      
      Suddenly she rushed to embrace me.

      
      ‘But you do love me, don’t you, don’t you?’ she said. ‘After all you, after all you … you wanted to fight the baron for my
         sake!’ And suddenly she burst out laughing, as if the memory of something funny and nice had suddenly come to her. She both
         wept and laughed – at the same time. Well, what was I to do? I seemed to be in a fever myself. I remember that she began saying
         something to me, but I could understand hardly a thing. It was a sort of delirium, a babbling – as if she wanted to tell me
         something as quickly as possible – a delirium that at times was interrupted by the most cheerful laughter, which began to
         frighten me. ‘No, no, you’re a dear, a dear!’ she repeated. ‘You’re my faithful one!’ and once again she would place her hands
         on my shoulders, and once again she would peer at me and continue to repeat: ‘You love me … love me … will you love me?’ I
         didn’t take my eyes off of her; I had never before seen her in these paroxysms of tenderness and love; true, this of course
         was delirium, but … noticing the passionate look on my face, she suddenly began to smile cunningly; out of the blue she suddenly
         began talking about Mr Astley.


      
      However, she had been talking about Mr Astley constantly (particularly when she had been making such efforts to tell me something
         earlier), but what precisely she was trying to say, I could not fully grasp; I think she was even laughing at him; she kept
         constantly repeating that he was waiting … and did I know that he was probably standing under the window now? ‘Yes, yes, under the window – well, open it, take a look, take a look, he’s here, here!’ She was pushing me towards the window,
         but as soon as I made the move to go, she burst into peals of laughter, and I would remain by her side, and she rushed to
         embrace me.


      
      ‘Are we leaving? We’re leaving tomorrow, aren’t we?’ suddenly occurred to her uneasy mind. ‘Well …’ (and she fell into thought)
         ‘well, but will we catch up with Grandmother, what do you think? I think we’ll catch up with her in Berlin. What do you think
         she’ll say when we catch up with her and she sees us? And Mr Astley? … Well, that one won’t jump off the Schlangenberg, do
         you think?’ (She burst out laughing.) ‘Well, listen: do you know where he’s going next summer? He wants to go to the North
         Pole for scientific research and he invited me to go with him, ha-ha-ha! He says that we Russians wouldn’t know anything without
         the Europeans and that we aren’t capable of anything … But he’s also a kind man! Do you know that he excuses the “general”;
         he says that Blanche … that passion – well, I don’t know, I don’t know,’ she suddenly repeated as if she’d lost her train
         of thought while she was speaking. ‘The poor things, I feel so sorry for them, and Grandmother … Well, listen, listen, how
         could you kill des Grieux? And did you really, really think that you would kill him? Oh, you silly fool. Did you really think
         that I would let you go to fight des Grieux? And you won’t kill the baron either,’ she added, after a sudden burst of laughter.
         ‘Oh, how ridiculous you were with the baron then; I watched you both from the bench; and how loath you were to go then, when
         I sent you. And how I laughed, how I laughed then,’ she added, roaring with laughter.


      
      And suddenly she kissed and embraced me again, she passionately and tenderly pressed her face to mine again. I no longer thought
         about anything else and no longer heard anything. My head was spinning … 


      
      I think that it was around seven o’clock in the morning when I came to my senses; the sun was shining into the room. Polina
         sat beside me and looked about strangely, as if she were emerging from some sort of gloom and collecting her thoughts. She,
         too, had only just woken up and was looking intently at the table and at the money. My head was heavy and ached. I wanted to take Polina by the hand; she suddenly pushed me away and jumped
         up from the sofa. The dawning day was overcast; it had rained before daybreak. She walked over to the window, opened it, thrust
         out her head and shoulders and, leaning on the windowsill with her hand, her elbows resting on the frame, she stayed there
         for about three minutes, without turning around towards me or listening to what I was saying. I dreaded to think what would
         happen next and how it would all end. Suddenly she got up from the window, walked over to the table, and, looking at me with
         an expression of infinite hatred, her lips trembling with fury, she said to me:


      
      ‘Well, now give me my 50,000 francs!’

      
      ‘Polina, again, again!’ I began.

      
      ‘Or have you changed your mind? Ha-ha-ha! Perhaps you already regret it?’

      
      The 25,000 florins, which I had already counted out last night, lay on the table; I picked the packet up and gave it to her.

      
      ‘They’re mine now, right? Isn’t that right? Isn’t it?’ she asked me spitefully, holding the money in her hands.

      
      ‘But it was always yours,’ I said.

      
      ‘Well, so here’s your 50,000 francs!’ She made a sweeping gesture with her arm and hurled them at me. The packet hit me painfully
         in the face and scattered all over the floor. After doing this, Polina ran out of the room.


      
      I know, of course, that she was not in her right mind at that moment, although I don’t understand this temporary insanity.
         True, to this day, a month later, she is still ill. However, what was the cause of this condition and, the main point, of
         this outburst? Wounded pride? Despair that she had resolved on coming to me? Had I given her the impression that I was relishing
         my good fortune and that when all was said and done I was just like des Grieux, wanting to get rid of her by making her a
         present of 50,000 francs? But, you see, that wasn’t the case; my conscience is clear. I think her vanity was partly to blame
         here: vanity prompted her not to believe me and to insult me, although all this was perhaps unclear even to herself. In that
         case, of course, I was answering for des Grieux and was found guilty, though perhaps my guilt was not so great. It’s true, all this
         was merely delirium; and it’s also true that I knew she was delirious, and … paid no attention to that circumstance. Perhaps
         she can’t forgive me for this now? Yes, but that’s now; but what about then? You see, her delirium and illness were not so
         severe that she was completely unaware of what she was doing, when she came to me with des Grieux’s letter. That means that
         she must have known what she was doing.


      
      I made a slapdash effort to stuff all my banknotes and my pile of gold into the bed, pulled up the covers and left about ten
         minutes after Polina. I was certain that she had run back to her room, and I wanted to make my way to their quarters on the
         sly and ask the nanny about the young lady’s health. Imagine my surprise when I learned from the nanny, whom I met on the
         stairs, that Polina had not yet returned home and that the nanny was coming to my room to look for her.


      
      ‘Just now,’ I said to her, ‘she just now left my room, ten minutes ago, where could she have gone?’

      
      The nanny looked at me reproachfully.

      
      Meanwhile, a regular scandal had erupted, which was already making the rounds of the hotel. In the porters’ room and the manager’s
         office it was being whispered that this morning, at six o’clock, the fraülein1 had run out of the hotel, in the rain, and had run off in the direction of the Hotel d’Angleterre. From what they said and
         the hints they gave, I noticed that they already knew that she had spent the whole night in my room. However, there was talk
         about all of the general’s family: it was known that yesterday the general had lost his mind and had been weeping for all
         the hotel to hear. There was also talk that the grandmother who had come was his mother and that she had travelled from Russia
         itself in order to forbid her son to marry Mlle de Cominges, and that if he disobeyed she would disinherit him, and as he
         indeed had not obeyed, the Countess intentionally, right before his very eyes, gambled away all her money at the roulette
         table so that he would get nothing. ‘Diese Russen!’2 the manager indignantly repeated, shaking his head. The others laughed. The manager was preparing the bill. People already knew about my winnings; Karl, my floor attendant, was the first to congratulate me. But I had other things on my mind.
         I rushed off to the Hotel d’Angleterre.


      
      It was still early; Mr Astley was not receiving anyone; upon learning that it was I, he came out into the hall and stopped
         in front of me, silently fastening his lustreless look on me, and waited to hear what I had to say. I at once asked about
         Polina.


      
      ‘She’s ill,’ Mr Astley answered, staring straight at me as before, not taking his eyes off me.

      
      ‘Then she really is with you?’

      
      ‘Oh, yes, she’s with me.’

      
      ‘So then you … you intend to keep her with you?’

      
      ‘Oh, yes, I do.’

      
      ‘Mr Astley, this will create a scandal; it’s impossible. Besides, she’s quite ill; perhaps you noticed?’

      
      ‘Oh, yes, I noticed and I already said to you that she was ill. If she weren’t ill, she wouldn’t have spent the night in your
         room.’


      
      ‘So you know that as well?’

      
      ‘I do. She was coming here yesterday, and I would have taken her to a relative of mine, but since she was ill she made a mistake
         and went to you.’


      
      ‘Just imagine! Well, I congratulate you, Mr Astley. By the way, you’ve given me an idea. Were you by any chance standing all
         night beneath my window? All night long Miss Polina kept having me open the window and look out to see whether you were standing
         there, and she laughed terribly.’


      
      ‘Is that so? No, I wasn’t standing beneath the window; but I was waiting in the hall and walking around.’

      
      ‘But she needs to see a doctor, Mr Astley.’

      
      ‘Oh, yes, I’ve already called a doctor, and if she dies, you’ll answer to me for her death.’

      
      I was astounded.

      
      ‘For goodness’ sake, Mr Astley, what do you mean?’

      
      ‘And is it true that you won 200,000 thalers yesterday?’

      
      ‘Only a hundred thousand florins.’

      
      ‘Well then, you see! So then, off you go to Paris this morning.’

      
      ‘Why?’

      
      ‘All Russians who have money go to Paris,’ Mr Astley explained in a voice and tone as if he were reading this from a book.

      
      ‘What would I do now, in the summertime, in Paris? I love her, Mr Astley. You know that yourself.’

      
      ‘Is that so? I’m convinced that you don’t. Moreover, if you stay here, you’ll be certain to gamble away everything, and you
         won’t have anything to pay for your trip to Paris. Well, goodbye, I’m absolutely convinced that you’ll leave today for Paris.’


      
      ‘Fine, goodbye, only I’m not going to Paris. Just think, Mr Astley, what will be happening here. In a word, the general …
         and now this adventure with Miss Polina – you see, all this will make the rounds of the whole town.’


      
      ‘Yes, the whole town; but I don’t think the general is giving that any thought – he has other things on his mind. And what’s
         more, Miss Polina is entitled to live where she pleases. As for that family, it can truly be said that the family no longer
         exists.’


      
      I walked away and chuckled at this Englishman’s strange certainty that I was going to Paris. ‘However, he wants to kill me
         in a duel,’ I thought, ‘if Mlle Polina dies – yet more bother!’ I swear that I felt sorry for Polina, but strangely enough,
         from the moment I touched the gaming table yesterday and started raking in packets of money – my love seemed to have retreated
         into the background. That’s how I would put it now, but then I still hadn’t clearly seen all this. Is it possible that I really
         am a gambler? Is it possible that I really … loved Polina so strangely? No, I love her to this day, as God is my witness!
         And then, when I had left Mr Astley and was going home, I was sincere in suffering and blaming myself. But … but then an utterly
         strange and silly thing happened to me.


      
      I was hurrying to the general’s, when suddenly a door not far from his suite opened and someone called out to me. It was Madame
         veuve Cominges and she was calling me at the request of Mlle Blanche.


      
      They had a small suite, just two rooms. I could hear Mlle Blanche laughing and calling from the bedroom. She was just getting
         up.


      
      ‘Ah, c’est lui! Viens donc, bêtà. Is it true, que tu as gagné une montagne d’or et d’argent? J’aimerais mieux l’or.’3

      
      ‘I did,’ I answered, laughing.

      
      ‘How much?’

      
      ‘A hundred thousand florins.’

      
      ‘Bibi, comme tu es bête. Yes, come in here, I can’t hear anything. Nous ferons bombance, n’est-ce pas?’4

      
      I went in to her. She was lolling under a pink satin blanket, from beneath which her dusky, strong, marvellous shoulders were
         on display – shoulders the likes of which one only sees in a dream – carelessly covered by a cambric camisole, trimmed with
         the whitest lace, which suited her dusky skin to a remarkable degree.


      
      ‘Mons fils, as-tu du coeur?’ she exclaimed upon seeing me, and burst out laughing. She always laughed very gaily and even sometimes sincerely.


      
      ‘Tout autre …’5 I began, paraphrasing Corneille.


      
      ‘There, you see, vois-tu,’ she suddenly began chattering, ‘first of all, find my stockings, help me get them on, and in the second place, si tu n’es pas trop bête, je te prends à Paris.6 You see, I’m going now.’


      
      ‘Now?’

      
      ‘In half an hour.’

      
      Indeed, everything was packed. All her cases and things were ready. Coffee had been served long before.

      
      ‘Eh bien! Do you want, tu verras Paris. Dis donc qu’est ce que c’est qu’un outchitel? Tu étais bien bête, quand tu étais outchitel.7 Where are my stockings? Well, help me get them on!’


      
      She held out her truly delightful little foot, dusky, tiny, not misshapen like most feet that look so charming in shoes. I
         laughed and began to pull on her silk stocking. Mlle Blanche meanwhile sat on the bed and chattered away.


      
      ‘Eh bien, que feras-tu, si je te prends avec? First of all, je veux cinquante mille francs. You can give them to me in Frankfurt.
         Nous allons à Paris; we will live together there et je te ferai voir des étoiles en plein jour.8 You will see such women, the like of which you have never seen. Listen …’


      
      ‘Wait a minute, if I give you 50,000 francs, then what will be left for me?’

      
      ‘Et cent cinquante mille francs, you’ve forgotten, and besides I agree to live with you in your apartment for a month or two, que sais-je! We, of course, will go through those 150,000 francs in two months. You see, je suis bonne enfant and I tell you beforehand, mais tu verras des étoiles.’9

      
      ‘What, all of it in two months?’

      
      ‘What! Does that horrify you! Ah, vil esclave! But do you know that one month of life like that is better than your whole existence. One month – et après le deluge! Mais tu ne peux comprendre, va! Off you go, off you go! You’re not worthy! Oh, que fais-tu?’10

      
      At that moment I was putting the stocking on her other foot, but I couldn’t help myself and I kissed it. She pulled it away
         and began to hit me in the face with the tip of her toes. In the end, she chased me out altogether.


      
      ‘Eh bien, mon outchitel, je t’attends, si tu veux;11 I’m leaving in a quarter of an hour!’ she called out after me.


      
      Upon returning home, my head was already spinning. Now then, I was not to blame that Mlle Polina had thrown an entire packet
         in my face and as of yesterday preferred Mr Astley over me. Some of the banknotes that had been scattered about still lay
         on the floor; I picked them up. At that minute the door opened and the manager himself (who hadn’t even wanted to look at
         me before) appeared with an invitation: Wouldn’t I like to move downstairs into the magnificent rooms just vacated by Count
         V?


      
      I stood there for a moment, thinking.

      
      ‘My bill! I’m leaving now, in ten minutes,’ I cried. ‘If it’s to be Paris, then Paris it is!’ I thought to myself. ‘Evidently,
         it was meant to be!’


      
      A quarter of an hour later the three of us were indeed sitting in a family carriage: Mlle Blanche et Madame veuve Cominges and myself. Mlle Blanche laughed loudly, almost to the point of hysterics, as she looked at me. Veuve Cominges seconded her; I can’t say that I was very cheerful. My life had been broken in two, but since yesterday I had already
         grown accustomed to betting everything I had on a single card. Perhaps it was indeed true that I was unable to take the money in stride and had
         lost my head. Peut-être, je ne demandais pas mieux.12 It seemed that for a time – but only for a time – the scenery was being changed. ‘But in a month I’ll be here again and then
         … and then we’ll be rivals once again, Mr Astley!’ No, as I now recall, I was terribly sad even then, though I was laughing
         as loudly as that little fool Blanche.


      
      ‘But what’s the matter with you? How silly you are! Oh, how silly you are,’ Blanche exclaimed, interrupting her laughter and
         beginning seriously to take me to task. ‘Well, yes, well, yes, yes, we’ll go through all of your 200,000 francs, but in return,
         mais tu seras heureux, comme un petit roi; I’ll tie your necktie for you myself and introduce you to Hortense. And when we’ve gone through all your money, you’ll come
         back here and break the bank again. What did those Jews say to you? The main thing is courage, and you have it, and you’ll
         bring money to me in Paris more than once. Quant à moi, je veux cinquante mille francs de rente et alors …’13

      
      ‘And what about the general?’ I asked her.

      
      ‘The general, as you know, every day at this hour goes to get me a bouquet. This time I deliberately requested that he find
         me some very rare flowers. The poor thing will return, and the little bird will have flown away. He’ll come flying after us,
         you’ll see. Ha-ha-ha! I’ll be very glad. He’ll be of use to me in Paris; Mr Astley will pay for his stay here …’


      
      And that was how I came to set out for Paris then.

      
      
      
      
      CHAPTER 16

      
      
      What can I say about Paris? Of course, it was all delirium and folly. I spent just over three weeks in Paris, and in that
         time my hundred thousand francs were completely finished. I’m speaking only of the hundred thousand; the remaining hundred
         thousand I’d given Mlle Blanche in cash – fifty thousand in Frankfurt and three days later in Paris I gave her a promissory
         note for another 50,000 francs, which, however, she redeemed for cash from me a week later, ‘et les cent mille francs, qui nous restent, tu les mangeras avec moi,1 mon outchitel’. She always called me tutor. It’s difficult to imagine anything on this earth more conniving, mean and stingy than the class
         of creatures like Mlle Blanche. But that’s only where spending her own money was concerned. As for my hundred thousand francs
         – she frankly announced to me later that she needed them for the initial costs of setting herself up in Paris. ‘So that now
         I have begun in grand style once and for all, and nobody will knock me down for a long time – at least that’s how I’ve arranged
         things,’ she added. However, I hardly saw that hundred thousand; she kept the money the whole time, while my note-case, the
         contents of which she would apprise herself every day, never held more than a hundred francs, and almost always less than
         that.


      
      ‘But what do you need money for?’ she would say at times with the most guileless demeanour, and I didn’t argue with her. But
         on the other hand, she put the finishing touches to her apartment very, very nicely with that money, and when she later took
         me to her new home and showed me the rooms, she said: ‘You see what can be done with care and taste on the most paltry sums.’
         The price of this paltriness, however, was exactly 50,000 francs. She acquired horses and a carriage with the remaining 50,000;
         moreover, we gave two balls, that is, two evening parties, which were attended by Hortense and Lisette and Cléopâtre – women
         remarkable in many, many respects and not at all bad looking. I was made to play the very foolish part of host at those two
         parties, to greet and entertain some nouveau riche and utterly dimwitted merchants, assorted, impossibly ignorant and shameless
         army lieutenants and pathetic little authors and journalistic vermin, who made their appearance in fashionable tailcoats,
         pale yellow gloves and with a sense of self-esteem and an arrogance of such proportions inconceivable even in Petersburg –
         and that’s saying a great deal. They even took it into their heads to laugh at me, but I got drunk on the champagne and lay
         sprawled out in the back room. I found all this to be loath-some in the highest degree. ‘C’est un outchitel,’ Blanche would say about me, ‘il a gagné deux cent mille francs2 and without me he wouldn’t know how to spend them. And afterwards he’ll enter the ranks of tutors again; does anybody know of a position? Something must be done for him.’ I began turning to champagne
         quite often, because I was invariably very sad and extremely bored. I lived in the most bourgeois, the most mercantile milieu,
         where every sou was counted and rationed out. Blanche didn’t like me at all for the first two weeks, I noticed. True, she
         dressed me like a dandy and daily tied my necktie for me herself, but in her heart she frankly despised me. I didn’t pay this
         the slightest attention. Bored and despondent, I started going to the Château des Fleurs, where I regularly got drunk every
         night and learned the cancan (which they dance vilely there) and even acquired some notoriety for this later on. Finally,
         Blanche figured me out: she had somehow earlier got the impression that during the entire period of our cohabitation I would
         walk behind her with pencil and paper in hand and would add up how much she had spent, how much she had stolen, how much she
         was going to spend and how much more she would steal. And, of course, she was sure that we would have rows over every ten
         francs. To my every assault, which she had pictured to herself beforehand, she had prepared her justification well in advance;
         but seeing that no assaults were forthcoming from me, she at first would launch into the justifications anyway. sometimes
         she would begin ever so heatedly, but when she saw that I remained silent – more often than not I was lolling about on the
         couch and staring intently at the ceiling – she would end up being surprised. At first she thought that I was simply a fool,
         ‘un outchitel’, and would simply break off her explanations, probably thinking to herself: ‘After all, he’s a fool; there’s no reason to
         keep on about it if he doesn’t understand.’ She would leave, but sometimes ten minutes later would come back again – this
         happened during the period of her most frenzied spending, when she was spending completely beyond our means: for example,
         she changed her horses and bought a pair for 16,000 francs.


      
      ‘Well, so, bibi, you’re not angry?’ she came up to me.


      
      ‘No-o-o! I’m sick to death of you!’ I said, waving her away with my hand, but she found this so curious that she immediately
         sat down beside me.


      
      ‘You see, if I decided to pay so much it was only because they were such a bargain. They can be resold for 20,000 francs.’

      
      ‘I believe you, I believe you; the horses are handsome; and now you have a splendid turnout; they’ll come in handy; well and
         that’s enough of that.’


      
      ‘So you’re not angry?’

      
      ‘Why should I be? You’re acting sensibly by providing yourself with some essential things. All this will come in handy later
         on. I see that you really need to put yourself on a footing like this; otherwise, you won’t make your million. Our hundred
         thousand francs is only the beginning, a drop in the ocean.’


      
      For Blanche, who had expected from me anything but reasoning like this (instead of shouts and incriminations!), this came
         like a bolt from the blue.


      
      ‘So you … so that’s what you’re like! Mais tu as de l’esprit pour comprendre! Sais-tu, mon garçon,3 even though you’re a tutor – but you should have been born a prince! So you don’t regret that the money is going so quickly?’


      
      ‘Well, so what – the quicker the better!’

      
      ‘Mais … sais-tu … mais dis donc, are you rich? Mais sais-tu, you see, you despise money too much. Qu’est ce que tu feras après,
         dis donc?’4

      
      ‘Après I’ll go to Homburg5 and win another hundred thousand francs.’


      
      ‘Oui, oui, c’est ça, c’est magnifique! And I know that you will win without fail and bring it here. Dis donc, and you’ll make me really love you! Eh bien, for being like this I will love you the whole time and won’t be unfaithful to you even once. You see, even though I didn’t
         love you all this time, parce que je croyais, que tu n’est qu’un outchitel (quelque chose comme un laquais, n’est-ce pas?), but nevertheless I have been faithful to you, parce que je suis bonne fille.’6

      
      ‘Come on, you’re lying! What about Albert, that swarthy little officer, do you think that I didn’t see you last time?’

      
      ‘Oh, oh, mais tu es …’

      
      ‘Come on, you’re lying, you’re lying; and what do you think, that I’m angry? And to hell with it; il faut que jeunesse se passe.7 You can’t send him packing if he was here before me and you love him. Just don’t give him any money, do you hear?’


      
      ‘So you’re not angry about that either? Mais tu es un vrai philosophe, sais-tu? Un vrai philosophe!’ she exclaimed ecstatically.
         ‘Eh bien, je t’aimerai, je t’aimerai – tu verras, tu sera content!’8

      
      And indeed, from that time on she really did seem to become somewhat attached to me, even friendly, and that was how our last
         ten days passed. I didn’t see any of the promised ‘stars’; but in certain respects she really did keep her word. What is more,
         she introduced me to Hortense, who was quite a remarkable woman in her own way, and whom our circle had dubbed Thérèse-philosophe9 …

      
      However, there’s no need to enlarge on that; it might make a story on its own, with its own colouring, which I don’t want
         to insert into this tale. The fact of the matter is that I wished with all my might that it would all end as quickly as possible.
         But our hundred thousand francs sufficed, as I said earlier, for almost a month, which genuinely surprised me: at the very
         least, Blanche spent 80,000 of that money buying things for herself, and we lived on no more than 20,000 francs and – nevertheless
         it sufficed. Blanche, who towards the end was almost candid with me (at least she wasn’t lying to me about some things), owned
         up that at least the debts that she had been forced to incur wouldn’t fall on me. ‘I didn’t have you sign any of the bills
         or notes,’ she said to me, ‘because I felt sorry for you; another woman would certainly have done so and got you sent to prison.
         You see, you see how much I love you and how good I am! This damned wedding alone is going to cost me a lot!’


      
      We really did have a wedding. It took place at the very end of our month together, and it may be assumed that the very last
         dregs of my hundred thousand francs went to pay for it; that was the end of the business, that is, that was how our month
         together ended, after which I formally retired.


      
      This was what happened: the general arrived a week after we settled in Paris. He came straight to Blanche and from the very
         first visit all but lived with us. He had, it’s true, a little apartment of his own somewhere. Blanche greeted him joyfully,
         with shrieks and laughter, and even rushed to embrace him; it transpired that she wouldn’t let go of him and he had to follow her around
         everywhere: on the boulevard, riding in the carriage, to the theatre and to visit acquaintances. The general was still fit
         for such things; he was rather imposing and decent looking – almost tall, with dyed side whiskers and moustaches (he had served
         in the Cuirassiers),10 with a distinguished face, although it was somewhat flabby. His manners were impeccable, a tailcoat sat well on him. In Paris
         he started wearing his decorations. With such a man not only was it possible to take a stroll on the boulevard, but if one
         may put it like this, it’s even to be recommended. The good and clueless general was terribly pleased by all this; he hadn’t counted on it at all when he came to see us on
         his arrival in Paris. He made his appearance practically shaking with fear; he thought that Blanche would start shouting and
         order that he be sent packing; and that’s why when things worked out as they did, he went into raptures and spent the whole
         of that month in a state of inane rapture; and that was how I left him. It was here that I learned the details of what happened
         to him after our sudden departure from Roulettenburg – that very same morning he had some sort of fit. He fell unconscious,
         and then for a whole week was almost like a raving madman. He was under the care of doctors, but he suddenly stopped all that,
         got on the train and turned up in Paris. It goes without saying, Blanche’s reception proved to be the very best medicine for
         him; but symptoms of his illness lingered long afterwards, despite his joyful and rapturous state of mind. He was utterly
         incapable of reasoning or even of carrying on any sort of mildly serious conversation; in such instances, he would merely
         keep repeating ‘Hm!’ to every word that was said and nodding his head – that was how he would get out of it. He often laughed,
         but it was a nervous, unhealthy laugh, as if he were about to go off into uncontrolled peals; sometimes he would sit for hours
         on end as dark as night, knitting his bushy eyebrows. There was a lot that he did not even remember; he had become dreadfully
         absent-minded and had adopted the habit of talking to himself. Blanche was the only one who could breathe some life into him;
         and the fits of dark and gloom, when he would hide himself in the corner, merely signified that he had not seen Blanche for a long time, or that Blanche had gone
         somewhere and not taken him with her, or, that as she was leaving, she hadn’t cosseted him. At the same time, he wouldn’t
         say what he wanted, and didn’t know himself that he was dark and sad. After sitting for an hour or two (I observed this twice,
         when Blanche had gone out for the whole day, probably to see Albert), he suddenly began to look about, started fussing, stole
         a glance over his shoulder and tried to recall something, as if he were searching for somebody; but not seeing anybody and
         not recalling what he wanted to ask, he would fall back into oblivion until Blanche herself would suddenly appear, gay, frisky,
         all dressed up, with her ringing laugh; she would run up to him and begin to pester and even to kiss him, which was something,
         however, she rarely granted. Once the general was so delighted that he even burst into tears – I was even surprised.


      
      From the very moment of his arrival, Blanche had immediately begun to plead his case before me. She even waxed eloquent; she
         reminded me that she had been unfaithful to the general because of me, that she had almost been his fiancée, that she had
         given him her word; that because of her he had abandoned his family and that, finally, I had been in his employ and I ought
         to appreciate this, and that – I ought to be ashamed … I kept my silence, while she chattered on terribly. Finally, I burst
         out laughing, and with that the matter came to an end; that is, first she thought that I was a fool, but towards the end she
         settled on the notion that I was a very good and sensible person. In a word, towards the end I had the good fortune to earn
         without reservation the good favour of this worthy young lady. (Blanche, however, really was a very kind girl – but in her
         own way, it goes without saying; I didn’t appreciate her at first.) ‘You are an intelligent and kind man,’ she would say towards
         the end, ‘and … and … it’s just a pity that you’re such a fool! You’ll never, never make your fortune!’


      
      ‘Un vrai russe, un calmouk!’11 She sent me several times to take the general out for a walk, exactly as if she were sending a lackey to walk her greyhound.
         I, however, took him to the theatre, the Bal Mabille12 and restaurants. Blanche would give me money for this, even though the general had his own and liked taking out his note-case in front of people a great deal.
         Once I almost had to use force to keep him from spending 700 francs on a brooch that tempted him in the Palais Royal and which
         he wanted to make a present of to Blanche in the worst way. Well, what was a seven-hundred-franc brooch to her? And the general
         didn’t have more than a thousand francs altogether. I never did find out where he got it from. I suppose from Mr Astley, seeing
         as he had paid their hotel bill. As far as the general’s disposition towards me during this whole period is concerned, I don’t
         believe that he even suspected my relationship with Blanche. Although he had heard somewhat vaguely that I had won a fortune,
         he probably supposed that I was some kind of private secretary to Blanche or perhaps even her servant. In any event, he invariably
         spoke with me just as condescendingly as before, was just as overbearing, and sometimes even ventured to blow up at me. Once
         he made me and Blanche laugh an awful lot as we were having our morning coffee. He wasn’t a person quick to take offence;
         and here he’d suddenly taken offence at me, for what? – I still don’t understand. But, of course, he didn’t understand himself.
         In a word, he launched into a speech without beginning or end, à batons-rompus,13 shouting that I was just a little boy, he would teach me … he would make me understand … and so on and so forth. But nobody
         could understand a thing he said. Blanche broke out into peals of laughter; finally, he was placated somehow or other and
         taken out for a walk. On many occasions, however, I noticed that he would become sad, that he felt sorry for someone and about
         something, that he missed someone, even despite the presence of Blanche. A couple of times during moments like these he started
         talking to me, but could never make himself understood; he would recall his military service, his late wife, his family, his
         estate. He’d hit on a certain word and be delighted with it, and repeat it a hundred times a day, even though it did not in
         the least express either his feelings or his thoughts. I tried to talk with him about his children; but he evaded the questions
         with a bit of his former prattling – ‘Yes, yes! The children, you’re right, the children!’ – and quickly changed the subject.
         Only once did he become deeply moved – we were on our way to the theatre: ‘Those poor children!’ he said suddenly, ‘yes, sir, yes, those poor, poor children!’
         And several times later that same evening he repeated the words: ‘poor children!’ When I once brought up the subject of Polina,
         he became enraged. ‘She’s an ungrateful woman,’ he exclaimed, ‘she’s wicked and ungrateful! She has brought disgrace on the
         family! If there were laws here, I would make her knuckle under! Yes, sir, yes!’ As far as des Grieux was concerned, he couldn’t
         even bear to hear his name. ‘He ruined me,’ he would say, ‘he robbed me blind, he was my undoing! He’s been my nightmare for
         two whole years now! I have dreamed of him for whole months on end! He’s – he’s a … Oh, never speak of him to me.’


      
      I saw that things were going well for them, but as usual I kept my silence. Blanche was the first to declare herself: this
         was exactly a week before we parted ways.


      
      ‘Il a de la chance,’ she chattered away to me. ‘Babouchka really is ill now and will certainly die. Mr Astley sent a telegram; you must admit that still and all he’s her heir. And
         even if he weren’t, he won’t hinder me in any way. First of all, he has his own pension, and second, he’ll live in the spare
         room and be perfectly happy. I will be “Madame la Générale”. I will get into a good circle,’ (Blanche dreamed about that constantly),
         ‘and later I’ll be a Russian landowner, j’aurai un château, des moujiks, et puis j’aurai toujours mon million.’14

      
      ‘Well, and what if he starts getting jealous, demands … God knows what – do you understand?’

      
      ‘Oh, no, non, non, non! He wouldn’t dare! I’ve taken measures, don’t worry. I have already had him sign several promissory notes of Albert’s. The
         littlest thing – and he’ll be punished at once; but he wouldn’t dare!’


      
      ‘Well, marry him …’

      
      The wedding took place without any particular fanfare, a quiet family affair. Albert and a few other close friends were invited.
         Hortense, Cléopâtre and the others were very definitely kept away. The fiancé was extremely interested in his position. Blanche
         tied his necktie herself, and pomaded his hair; and he looked très comme il faut in his tails and white waistcoat.


      
      ‘Il est pourtant très comme il faut,’15 Blanche announced to me, as she was leaving the general’s room, as if the idea that the general should be très comme il faut surprised even her. I entered into the details so little, taking part in all this only in the capacity of idle spectator,
         that I have forgotten a lot of what transpired. I remember only that Blanche turned out not to be de Cominges at all, just
         as her mother was not veuve Cominges, but du Placet. Why they both had been de Cominges up to this point – I do not know. But the general was very pleased
         by this as well, and he liked du Placet even more than de Cominges. On the morning of the wedding, after he was dressed, he
         kept pacing back and forth in the hall and repeating to himself, with an unusually serious and weighty air: ‘Mlle Blanche
         du Placet! Blanche du Placet! Du Placet! Miss Blanche du Placet! …’ And a certain complacency shone on his face. In the church,
         at the mayor’s and at home over the zakuski,16 he was not only joyful and pleased, but even proud. Something had happened to both of them. Blanche, too, had started to
         have a special dignity about her.


      
      ‘I now need to behave completely differently,’ she said to me extremely seriously. ‘Mais vois-tu, I hadn’t thought of one horrible thing: just think, I still haven’t learned my new surname: Zagoryansky, Zagoziansky, madame
         le générale de Sago-Sago, ces diables des noms russes, enfin madame la générale à quatorze consonnes! Comme c’est agréable, n’est-ce pas?’17

      
      Finally, we parted, and Blanche, that silly Blanche, even shed a few tears as she said goodbye to me. ‘Tu étais bon enfant,’ she said, whimpering. ‘Je te croyais bête es tu en avais l’air, but it suits you.’ And, after shaking my hand for the last time, she suddenly exclaimed: ‘Attends!’, and rushed to her boudoir and a minute later brought me two thousand-franc notes. I would never have believed it possible!
         ‘This will come in handy, you might be a very learned outchitel, but you’re a terribly foolish man. I won’t give you more than 2,000 under any circumstances, because you’ll only squander
         it gambling. Well, goodbye! Nous seron toujours bons amis, and if you win again, come see me without fail, et tu seras heureux!’18

      
      I still had about 500 francs left myself; besides, I had a magnificent watch worth a thousand francs, diamond studs and so forth, which I could stretch out for a rather long time without
         worrying. I deliberately settled down in this little town to catch my breath and, above all, to wait for Mr Astley. I had
         found out for certain that he would travel through here and stay for a day on business. I’ll find out about everything … and
         then – then straight to Homburg. I won’t go to Roulettenburg, except maybe next year. Indeed, they say that it’s a bad omen
         to try your luck twice in a row at the same table, and the real gambling is in Homburg.


      
      
      
      
      CHAPTER 17

      
      
      It’s already been a year and eight months since I’ve taken a look at these notes, and only now, in anguish and sorrow, did
         I take it into my head to read through them to amuse myself. So I stopped them then when I was about to go to Homburg. My
         God! With what a light heart, comparatively speaking, did I write those last lines! That is, not so much a light heart, but
         with what confidence and what unshakeable hopes! Did I have any doubts whatsoever about myself? And now more than a year and
         a half has gone by and, in my opinion, I’m far worse off than a beggar! What am I saying – beggar! To hell with beggary! I’ve
         simply ruined myself. However, there’s almost nothing to compare it with, and it’s no use giving myself a lecture on morals.
         Nothing could be more ridiculous than a morality lecture at a time like this! Oh, self-satisfied people: with what proud self-satisfaction
         are these chatterboxes ready to deliver their sententious lectures! If they knew to what extent I myself understand the complete
         loathsomeness of my present situation, then of course they wouldn’t be able to bring themselves to lecture me. Well, what,
         what can they tell me that I don’t know? And is that really the point? The point here is that everything changes with one
         turn of the wheel, and these same moralists will be the first (I’m sure of it) to come and congratulate me with their friendly
         jokes. And they won’t all turn away from me like they do now. But to hell with them all! What am I now? Zéro. What can I be tomorrow? Tomorrow I may rise from the dead and begin a new life! I may find the man in me, before he’s done
         for!


      
      I really did go to Homburg then, but … afterwards I was in Roulettenburg again, and in Spa, I was even in Baden, where I went
         as valet to Councillor Hintze, a scoundrel and my former master here. Yes, I was even a lackey for five whole months! That
         happened right after prison. (You see, I was in prison in Roulettenburg for a debt of mine here. An unknown person bought
         me out of prison – who was it? Mr Astley? Polina? I don’t know, but the debt was paid, 200 thalers in all, and I was set free.)
         Where was I to go? And so I started working for this Hintze. He’s a young and frivolous man, likes to laze about, and I know
         how to speak and write in three languages. At first I worked as some sort of secretary, for thirty gulden a month; but I ended
         up working as a real lackey: he found that he didn’t have the means to employ a secretary, and so he reduced my salary; I
         didn’t have anywhere to go and so I stayed – and thus became a lackey through my own doing. I didn’t have enough to eat or
         drink, but on the other hand I saved up 70 gulden in five months. One evening, in Baden, I announced to him that I wished
         to part with him; that same evening I set off for the roulette table. Oh, how my heart pounded! No, it was not the money that
         was dear to me! Then I merely wanted all these Hintzes, all these hotel managers, all these magnificent Baden ladies to talk
         about me the next day, tell my story, marvel at me, praise me and admire me for my new winnings. All this is childish dreams
         and cares, but … who knows; maybe I would meet Polina, I would tell her everything and she would see that I was above all
         these ridiculous strokes of fate … Oh, it wasn’t the money that was dear to me! I’m sure that I would have squandered it on
         some Blanche again and would have driven around Paris again for three weeks with a pair of my own horses that cost 16,000
         francs. You see, I know for certain that I’m not stingy; I even think that I’m extravagant – but meanwhile, with what trembling,
         with what a sinking heart do I hear the croupier’s cry: trente et un, rouge, impaire et pass! or: quatre, noir, pair et manque! With what avidity do I look at the gaming table on which lie scattered louis d’or, friedrichs d’or and thalers, at the little piles of gold as they fall from the croupier’s
         shovel in heaps of burning fire, or at the two-foot-long pillars of silver that lie around the wheel. As I am still making
         my way to the gaming room, I almost go into convulsions two rooms away, when I hear the clink of the money as it is being
         poured out.


      
      Oh, that evening when I took my seventy gulden to the gaming table was also remarkable. I began with ten gulden on passe again. I have a partiality for passe. I lost. I had sixty gulden in silver coins left; I gave it some thought – and decided on zéro. I started by staking five gulden at a time on zéro; zéro came up on the third stake; I almost died with happiness, when I got 175 gulden; I wasn’t this happy when I’d won 100,000
         gulden. I at once staked 100 gulden on rouge – and won; all 200 on rouge – and won; all 400 on noir – and won; all 800 on manque – and won; counting what I had before there were 1,700 gulden, and this was in less than five minutes! Yes, at such moments
         you forget all your previous failures! You see, I obtained this by risking more than life, I had dared to take a risk and
         – now again I was a man among men!


      
      I took a room, locked myself in and until three o’clock sat there counting my money. That morning I was no longer a lackey
         when I woke up. I decided to leave that very day for Homburg: I hadn’t been a lackey in service there, or in prison. A half-hour
         before the train I set off to place two stakes, no more, and I lost 1,500 florins. However, I moved to Homburg all the same
         and it’s a month I’ve been here now … 


      
      Of course, I live in constant anxiety, I play for the smallest stakes and wait for something; I make calculations, I stand
         for days on end by the gaming table and observe the play, I even see them playing in my sleep, but all that notwithstanding I seem to have become numb, as it were, as if
         I’d become mired in some sort of mud. I conclude this on the basis of my impressions on meeting Mr Astley. We had not seen
         each other since that time, and met by chance; this is how it was. I was walking in the garden and had figured that I had
         almost no money left, but I did have fifty gulden, and besides, the day before yesterday I had paid my bill in full at the
         hotel where I occupied a closet of a room. And so I had only one more opportunity to go to the roulette tables – if I won something at least, I could continue
         playing; if I lost – I’d need to go back to being a lackey again if I didn’t right away find some Russians who could use a
         tutor. Engrossed in these thoughts, I went out for my daily walk through the park and the forest, to the neighbouring principality.
         Sometimes I would walk like this for four hours at a time and return to Homburg exhausted and famished. I had just left the
         garden and was entering the park when I suddenly espied Mr Astley on the bench. He had noticed me first and called out to
         me. I sat down beside him. Noticing a certain reserve about him, I at once restrained my gladness; but I was terribly happy
         to see him.


      
      ‘So then, you’re here! I thought that I would run across you,’ he said to me. ‘Don’t bother telling me your story: I know,
         I know everything; your whole life this past year and eight months is known to me.’


      
      ‘Well, you certainly keep track of your friends!’ I responded. ‘It does you credit that you don’t forget … Wait a minute,
         however, you’ve given me an idea: was it you who bought me out of prison in Roulettenburg, where I was being held for a debt
         of 200 gulden? An anonymous person paid my debt.’


      
      ‘No, oh, no; I did not buy you out of prison in Roulettenburg, where you were being held for a debt of 200 gulden, but I knew
         that you were being held in prison for a debt of 200 gulden.’


      
      ‘That means you nevertheless know who paid my debt?’

      
      ‘Oh, no, I can’t say that I do.’

      
      ‘Strange; none of our Russians knows me, and the Russians here likely wouldn’t pay my debt; that happens there, in Russia,
         when the Orthodox take care of their fellow Orthodox. And so I thought that some eccentric Englishman did it on a whim.’


      
      Mr Astley listened to me with some surprise. I believe he thought that he would find me dejected and crushed.

      
      ‘However, I’m very glad to see that you’ve retained in full all your independence of spirit and even cheerfulness,’ he uttered
         with a rather unpleasant air.


      
      ‘That is, you’re racked with vexation on the inside that I’m not crushed and not humiliated,’ I said, laughing.

      
      He didn’t understand right away, but once he did, he smiled.

      
      ‘I like your remarks. I recognize in these words my former intelligent, old, enthusiastic and at the same time cynical friend;
         some Russians can encompass, at one and the same time, so many contradictions. Indeed, a person likes to see his best friend
         humiliated before him; a large part of friendship is based on humiliation; and all intelligent people know this old truth.
         But in the present instance, I assure you, I am sincerely happy that you are not dejected. Tell me, don’t you intend to quit
         gambling?’


      
      ‘Oh, the devil take it! I’d quit right now, if only …’

      
      ‘If only you could win back what you’ve lost? I thought so; don’t bother finishing what you were going to say – I know you
         said it unintentionally, and consequently, you spoke the truth. Tell me, apart from gambling, do you have any other occupation?’


      
      ‘Nothing …’

      
      He began to put me through an examination. I had scarcely glanced at the newspapers and positively not cracked open a single
         book.


      
      ‘You’ve become apathetic,’ he observed, ‘not only have you renounced life, your interests both personal and social, your duty
         as a man and a citizen, your friends (and all the same you did have friends); not only have you renounced any goal whatsoever,
         apart from winning, you have even renounced your own memories. I remember you at an ardent and intense moment of your life;
         but I’m certain that you’ve forgotten all your best impressions of that time; your dreams, your most urgent desires now don’t
         go further than pair and impair, rouge, noir, the twelve middle numbers and so forth and so on, I’m certain of it!’


      
      ‘Enough, Mr Astley, please, please, don’t remind me,’ I cried out in vexation and almost with malice. ‘You should know that
         I have forgotten absolutely nothing; but I merely have driven all this out of my head, even my memories – for the time being,
         until I radically improve my circumstances; then … then you will see, I will rise up from the dead!’


      
      ‘You will still be here in ten years’ time,’ he said. ‘I’ll wager that I will remind you of this, if I am alive, right here on this very bench.’

      
      ‘Well, that’s enough,’ I broke in with some impatience, ‘and to prove to you that I’m not so forgetful of the past, allow
         me to ask: where is Miss Polina now? If it wasn’t you who paid my debt, then it must certainly have been she. I have had no
         news of her since that time.’


      
      ‘No, oh, no! I don’t think that it was she who paid your debt. She’s in Switzerland now, and you would be doing me a great
         favour if you stopped asking me about Miss Polina,’ he said resolutely and even angrily.


      
      ‘That means that she must have hurt you very badly as well!’ I began to laugh involuntarily.

      
      ‘Miss Polina is the best being of all beings who are most worthy of respect, but I repeat, you would be doing me a big favour
         if you stopped asking me about Miss Polina. You never knew her and I consider her name on your lips to be an insult to my
         moral sensibilities.’


      
      ‘So that’s how it is! However, you’re wrong; and judge for yourself – what else is there for me to talk to you about besides
         that? You see, all our memories consist of nothing else. However, don’t worry, I don’t need to know your inner, secret affairs
         … I’m only interested in Miss Polina’s external situation, as it were, only her present outward circumstances. That can be
         conveyed in a few words.’


      
      ‘All right, on the condition that it ends with these few words. Miss Polina was ill for a long time; she’s ill now too; she
         lived for a while with my mother and sister in northern England. Six months ago her grandmother – you remember that crazy
         woman – died and left her, personally, a fortune of 7,000 pounds. Miss Polina is now travelling with my married sister’s family.
         Her little brother and sister were also provided for by the grandmother’s will and are studying in London. The general, her
         stepfather, died of a stroke a month ago in Paris. Mlle Blanche treated him well, but she managed to have transferred to her
         own name all that he received from the grandmother … there, that seems to be everything.’


      
      ‘And des Grieux? Isn’t he travelling in Switzerland as well?’

      
      ‘No, des Grieux is not travelling in Switzerland, and I do not know where des Grieux is; moreover, I warn you once and for
         all to avoid such remarks and ignoble associations, otherwise you will definitely have to answer to me.’


      
      ‘What! Despite our former friendly relations?’

      
      ‘Yes, despite our former friendly relations.’

      
      ‘I beg your pardon a thousand times, Mr Astley. But allow me nonetheless: there’s nothing insulting or ignoble about it; you
         see I do not blame Miss Polina for anything. Moreover, a Frenchman and a Russian young lady, generally speaking, is an association,
         Mr Astley, the likes of which neither you nor I could explain or fully understand.’


      
      ‘If you will not mention the name of des Grieux together with that other name, then I would ask you to explain to me what
         you mean by the expression: “a Frenchman and a Russian young lady”? What is this “association”? Why is it precisely a Frenchman
         and why without fail a Russian young lady?’


      
      ‘You see, you are interested. But it’s a lengthy subject, Mr Astley. You need to know a lot beforehand. However, it’s an important
         question – no matter how ridiculous it looks at first glance. The Frenchman, Mr Astley, is a finished, beautiful form. You,
         as a Briton, may disagree with this; I, as a Russian, also disagree, well, maybe, from envy; but our young ladies are of a
         different opinion. You might find Racine1 unnatural, distorted and perfumed; you probably wouldn’t even bother to read him. I also find him unnatural, distorted and
         perfumed, and even ridiculous from a certain point of view; but he is delightful, Mr Astley, and the main thing, he is a great
         poet, whether we like it or not. The national form of a Frenchman, that is, a Parisian, began to develop its elegant form
         when we were still bears. The Revolution succeeded the nobility. Now the most vulgar little Frenchy can have manners, methods,
         expressions and even thoughts quite elegant in form, without taking part in this form through his own initiative, or his soul
         or his heart; all this comes to him by way of inheritance. Of course, they may be shallower than the shallowest and more base
         than the basest. Well, Mr Astley, I tell you now that there is not a being in the world more trusting and open than a good,
         bright and not too affected Russian young lady. Des Grieux, by appearing in some role, by appearing masked, can conquer her heart with unusual ease; he
         has an elegant form, Mr Astley, and the young lady takes this form to be his real soul, the natural form of his heart and
         soul, and not garments that came to him by way of inheritance. To your great displeasure, I must declare to you that Englishmen,
         by and large, are awkward and inelegant, and Russians can discern beauty rather deftly and have a weakness for it. But to
         discern a beautiful soul and original personality, one needs incomparably more independence and freedom than our women have,
         especially the young ladies – and, in any event, more experience. Now Miss Polina – forgive me, you can’t take back what’s
         been said – needs a very, very long time to make up her mind to prefer you to that scoundrel des Grieux. She will appreciate
         you, become your friend, open up her heart to you; but nevertheless the loathsome scoundrel, the nasty and petty moneylender
         des Grieux will reign in her heart. This will even persist, so to speak, out of stubbornness and pride alone, because this
         same des Grieux appeared to her once with the halo of an elegant marquis, a disillusioned liberal who brought ruin upon himself
         (supposedly?) by helping her family and the frivolous general. All these shams were revealed afterwards. But it doesn’t matter
         that they were revealed: all the same, give her the former des Grieux now – that’s what she wants! And the more she hates
         the present des Grieux, the more she yearns for the former one, even though the former existed only in her imagination. You’re
         a sugar refiner, aren’t you Mr Astley?’


      
      ‘Yes, I’m a partner in the well-known sugar refinery Lowell and Co.’

      
      ‘Well, then, you see, Mr Astley. On the one hand you have a sugar refiner, and on the other Apollo Belvedere;2 they have nothing in common. And I’m not even a sugar refiner; I’m simply a petty gambler at the roulette table, and I was
         even a lackey, which is probably already known to Miss Polina, because she seems to have good detectives.’


      
      ‘You’re embittered, and that’s why you’re talking all this nonsense,’ Mr Astley said coolly, after giving it some thought.
         ‘Besides, your words lack originality.’


      
      ‘I agree! But that’s precisely what’s so terrible, my noble friend, that all these accusations of mine, no matter how out-of-date,
         however banal, however vaudevillian – they are true nevertheless! You and I have nevertheless achieved nothing!’


      
      ‘That’s vile nonsense … because, because … See here now!’ Mr Astley uttered in a trembling voice, his eyes flashing. ‘See
         here now, you ignoble and unworthy, petty and unfortunate man, I have come to Homburg expressly at her bidding in order to
         see you, to have a long heart-to-heart talk with you, and to convey to her everything – your feelings, thoughts, hopes and
         … memories!’


      
      ‘Really! Really?’ I cried and the tears flowed from my eyes in torrents. I couldn’t hold them back and I believe this was
         the first time it happened in my life.


      
      ‘Yes, you unfortunate man, she loved you, and I can reveal that to you, because you are a ruined man! What’s more, even if
         I were to tell you that she loves you to this day, you would remain here all the same! Yes, you have brought ruin upon yourself.
         You had certain abilities, a lively nature, and you weren’t a bad fellow; you might even have proved useful to your fatherland,
         which is in such need of men, but you will remain here and your life is over. I do not blame you. As I see it, all Russians
         are like that or inclined to be so. If it’s not roulette, then it’s something else like it. Exceptions are rare. You are not
         the first not to understand what work is (I’m not speaking about your peasants). Roulette for the most part is a Russian game.
         So far you have been honest and would rather become a lackey than steal … but I dread to think what it will be like in the
         future. Enough, goodbye! You, of course, need money? Here are ten louis d’or from me, I won’t give you any more, because you’ll
         gamble it away all the same. Take it and goodbye! Now take it!’


      
      ‘No, Mr Astley, after all that has been just said …’

      
      ‘T-a-k-e it!’ he cried. ‘I’m convinced that you are still a noble person and I give this to you as one true friend to another.
         If I could be certain that you would quit gambling, leave Homburg and go to your fatherland – I would be prepared to give
         you a thousand pounds at once so that you might begin a new career. But I’m not giving you a thousand pounds, but only ten louis d’or, precisely because at the present time it’s absolutely one
         and the same to you – you’ll gamble it away all the same. Take it and goodbye.’


      
      ‘I’ll take it if you’ll permit me to embrace you at parting.’

      
      ‘Oh, with pleasure.’

      
      We embraced sincerely, and Mr Astley walked away.

      
      No, he’s wrong! If I was harsh and foolish about Polina and des Grieux, then he was sharp and rash about Russians. I won’t
         say anything about myself. However … however, for the time being all this is beside the point. All this is words, words and
         words, when it’s action that is called for! Now the main thing is Switzerland! Tomorrow first thing – oh, if only it were
         possible to set out tomorrow! To be reborn, to rise up from the dead. I need to show them … To let Polina know that I can
         still be a man. All I need to do is … now, however, it’s late – but tomorrow … Oh, I have a presentiment and it can’t be otherwise!
         I now have fifteen louis d’or, and I began with fifteen gulden! If one begins carefully … And really, really, am I such a
         baby! Do I really not understand that I am a ruined man. But – why shouldn’t I rise up from the dead? Yes! All it would take
         is just once in my life to be careful and patient and – and that’s all there is to it! All it would take is to stand firm
         just once, and I can change my whole destiny in a single hour! The main thing is standing firm. Just remember what happened
         to me in similar circumstances seven months ago in Roulettenburg, before my final loss. Oh, that was a remarkable instance
         of resolve: I had lost everything, everything … I’m leaving the casino, and I see that I still have a single gulden knocking
         about in my waistcoat pocket. ‘Ah, so I’ll be able to buy myself some dinner!’ I thought, but after taking about a hundred
         steps, I changed my mind and went back. I staked that gulden on manque (this time it was manque), and there really is something peculiar in the feeling, when you’re alone, in a foreign country, far from your native land
         and friends, and you don’t know if you’re going to eat that day, you stake your last gulden, the very, very last one! I won
         and twenty minutes later I walked out of the casino with 170 gulden in my pocket. That is a fact, sir! That’s what your last gulden can mean sometimes! And what if I had lost heart, if I hadn’t dared to bring myself to do
         it? … 


      
      Tomorrow, tomorrow it will all be over!

      
      1866

      
      

      
      
      
      BOBOK

      
      
      This time I’m submitting ‘The Notes of a Certain Person’. It is not I; it is by an altogether different person. I think nothing
         more in the way of an introduction is necessary.


      
      The Notes of a Certain Person

      
      The day before yesterday Semyon Ardalyonovich suddenly comes out with:

      
      ‘And would you kindly tell me, Ivan Ivanych, will the day come when you’ll be sober?’

      
      A strange request. I don’t take offence, I’m a shy person; but, just the same, they’ve gone and made me out to be a madman.
         An artist happened to paint my portrait: ‘After all,’ he says, ‘you’re a literary man.’ I acquiesced, and he exhibited it.
         I read: ‘Go take a look at this sickly face that is on the verge of madness.’1

      
      Even if my face is like that, really how can one be so direct in print? In print everything should be noble: there should
         be ideals, but here … 


      
      At the very least say it indirectly, that’s what you have style for. No, he doesn’t want to do it indirectly. Nowadays humour
         and good style are disappearing and swear words are taken for wit. I’m not offended, I’m not some God-knows-what-kind of fancy
         man of letters to lose my mind over something like that. I wrote a story – it wasn’t published. I wrote a feuilleton2 – it was rejected. I took a lot of these feuilletons around to different publishers, and was rejected everywhere: ‘You don’t
         have enough salt,’ they told me.


      
      ‘What kind of salt do you want?’ I ask with scorn. ‘Attic salt?’3

      
      He doesn’t even understand. For the most part, I translate from French for the booksellers. And I write advertisements for
         the merchants. ‘A rare treat! Fine tea,’ I write, ‘from our own plantations …’ I made a bundle on a panegyric for His Excellency,
         the late Pyotr Matveyevich. I was commissioned by a bookseller to compile The Art of Pleasing the Ladies. I’ve put out about six books like this in my lifetime. I want to collect Voltaire’s bon mots,4 but I’m afraid that they’ll seem a bit flat to people here. Who needs Voltaire now; these days it’s a cudgel you need, not
         Voltaire! We’ve knocked out each other’s teeth – every last one! Well, and that’s the whole extent of my literary endeavours.
         Although I do dispatch letters to the editorial offices free of charge, signed with my name in full. I give advice and make
         recommendations, I offer criticism and point out the proper path. Last week I sent my fortieth letter in two years to a certain
         editorial office; I’ve spent four roubles on stamps alone. I have a nasty temper, that’s what it is.


      
      I think the painter did my portrait not for the sake of literature, but for the sake of the two symmetrical warts on my forehead:
         it’s a phenomenon, he says. They don’t have any ideas, so now they resort to phenomena. Well, and what a fine job he did of
         capturing my warts in the portrait – they’re lifelike! That’s what they call realism.


      
      And as far as madness is concerned, last year a lot of people were put down as mad. And with such style: ‘Such an original
         talent …’ they say, ‘and then towards the end it turned out that … However, this should have been foreseen long ago …’ This
         is still rather ingenious; so that one might even praise it from the point of view of pure art. Well, and then suddenly these
         madmen came back even smarter. There you are – we know how to drive people out of their minds, but we’ve never made anyone
         smarter … 


      
      In my opinion, the one who’s smarter than all the rest is the one who calls himself a fool at least once a month – an unheard
         of talent nowadays! Before, a fool knew once a year at the very least that he was a fool, but now nothing doing. And they’ve muddled things so that you can’t tell a fool from an intelligent
         person. They do this on purpose.


      
      I’m reminded of a Spanish witticism, when two and a half centuries ago the French built the first madhouse: ‘They locked up
         all their fools in a special building to reassure themselves that they’re the sane ones.’ But really, locking somebody else
         up in a madhouse doesn’t prove that you have brains. ‘K. lost his mind, that means that we are sane.’ No, that isn’t what
         that means.


      
      However, what the devil … and why am I fussing about my brains: I grumble and grumble. Even the servant girl is tired of it.
         Yesterday a friend dropped by: ‘Your style is changing,’ he says, ‘it’s choppy. You chop and chop – and then you’ve got a
         parenthetic clause, then you pile on another parenthetic clause, and then you stick something else in parentheses, and then
         you start chopping and chopping again …’


      
      My friend’s right. Something strange is happening to me. And my character is changing, and my head aches. I’m beginning to
         see and hear certain strange things. Not exactly voices, but it’s as if someone were right beside me, saying: ‘Bobok, bobok, bobok!’5

      
      What is this bobok? I need some diversion.


      
      I went out in search of diversion and ended up at a funeral. A distant relative. A collegiate councillor, however. A widow,
         five daughters, all young. What it must come to just for shoes alone! The deceased managed, but now there’s only a little
         pension. They’ll have their tails between their legs. I had always been given a less than hearty welcome. And I wouldn’t have
         gone now if it hadn’t been such a special occasion. I took part in the procession to the cemetery along with the others; they
         keep their distance and put on airs. My uniform,6 indeed, is in pretty bad shape. It’s been about twenty-five years, I think, since I’ve been to the cemetery; there’s a nice
         little place for you!


      
      First of all, the smell. About fifteen corpses had arrived. Palls of various prices; there were even two catafalques: one
         for a general and one for some lady. There were a lot of mournful faces, and a lot of bogus mourning as well, and even a lot of undisguised gaiety. The clergy can’t complain: it’s money. But
         the smell, the smell. I wouldn’t want to be one of the local ecclesiastics.7

      
      I took a cautious look at the corpses, not having confidence in controlling my impressionability. There were some gentle expressions,
         but there were unpleasant ones as well. Generally, the smiles weren’t very nice, and some were quite far from nice. I don’t
         like them; I’ll have dreams about them.


      
      During the service I walked out of the church for some air; it was a greyish day, but dry. It was cold as well; well, it is
         October after all. I walked for a bit among the graves. There are various classes. The third class costs thirty roubles: decent
         and not too expensive. The first two classes are inside the church and under the church porch; well, they charge an arm and
         a leg for those. This time there were six third-class burials, including the general and the lady.


      
      I glanced in the graves – it was terrible: water, and what water! It was absolutely green and … well, let’s leave it at that!
         The gravedigger was constantly bailing it out with a bucket. As the service was still going on, I strolled outside the gates.
         There’s an almshouse right there and a bit further on there’s a restaurant. The little restaurant wasn’t bad – fair to middling
         – and you can get a bite to eat and everything. It was packed with mourners. I noticed a good deal of merrymaking and heartfelt
         liveliness. I had a bite to eat and something to drink.


      
      Later I took part with my own hands in bearing the coffin from the church to the grave. Why is it that corpses are so heavy
         in their coffins? They say that it’s because of some sort of inertia, that the body is no longer in control of itself … or
         some such nonsense; it contradicts mechanics and common sense. I don’t like it when people with only a general education rush
         in to solve problems best left to specialists; and that happens all the time among us. Civilians like to have opinions on
         military matters, even those that concern a field marshal, while people educated as engineers more often than not have opinions
         on philosophy and political economy.


      
      I didn’t go to the prayer service. I’m proud, and if I’m only to be received out of dire necessity, then why should I trail along to their dinners, even if it is a funeral dinner? Only
         I don’t understand why I stayed on at the cemetery; I sat down on a monument and became suitably thoughtful.


      
      I began with the Moscow exhibition and ended with the subject of astonishment in general. Here’s what I came up with about
         ‘astonishment’:


      
      ‘To be astonished at everything, of course, is silly, while to be astonished at nothing is much more handsome, and for some
         reason is recognized as good form. But surely it’s not like that in reality. In my opinion, it’s much sillier to be astonished
         at nothing than to be astonished at everything. And what’s more: to be astonished at nothing is almost the same thing as to
         respect nothing. And a silly man is not capable of showing respect.’


      
      ‘And above all I want to feel respect. I thirst to feel respect,’ an acquaintance of mine said to me on one occasion recently.


      
      He thirsts to feel respect! And my God, I thought, what would become of you if you dared to print that now!

      
      And that’s when I started daydreaming. I don’t like reading the inscriptions on gravestones; it’s forever the same thing.
         A half-eaten sandwich lay on the gravestone next to me: it was silly and out of place. I threw it on the ground, since it
         wasn’t bread but just a sandwich. However, dropping bread crumbs on the ground isn’t a sin, it seems; it’s when it’s on the
         floor that it’s a sin.8 I should look it up in Suvorin’s calendar.9

      
      One might suppose that I’d been sitting there for a long time, even too long; that is, I even lay down on a long stone in
         the shape of a marble coffin. And how did it happen that I suddenly began to hear various things? At first I didn’t pay any
         attention and regarded it with disdain. However, the conversation continued. I listened – the sounds were muffled, as though
         they had pillows covering their mouths; and yet they were intelligible and very near. I roused myself, sat up and began to
         listen carefully.


      
      ‘Your Excellency, this is simply impossible, sir. You declared hearts, I’m following your lead and suddenly you have the seven
         of diamonds. We should have made arrangements about diamonds earlier, sir.’


      
      ‘What’s that, you mean we should play by rote? Where’s the attraction in that?’

      
      ‘You can’t, Your Excellency. You can’t play without rules. We absolutely must have a dummy and the cards must be dealt face
         down.’


      
      ‘Well, you won’t find a dummy here.’

      
      What arrogant words, however! Both strange and unexpected. One voice was so weighty and dignified, while the other seemed
         softly honeyed; I wouldn’t have believed it if I hadn’t heard it myself. I didn’t think I was at the prayer service. And yet
         how was it that they’re playing preference10 here and who was this general? That it was coming from under the gravestone there could be no doubt. I bent down and read
         the inscription on the tombstone.


      
      ‘Here lies the body of Major General Pervoyedov … Knight of such and such orders.’ Hm. ‘Passed away in August of the year
         … fifty-seven … Rest, dear ashes, until the joyful morn!’11

      
      Hm, the devil, he really is a general! There wasn’t a tombstone yet on the other grave, the one the ingratiating voice came
         from; there was only a stone slab; must be a newcomer. Judging by his voice he was a court councillor.


      
      ‘Oh-ho-ho-ho!’ an altogether different voice could be heard coming from a quite new grave some dozen yards away from the general’s
         spot. It belonged to a man of the common people, but modulated to an obsequiously pious manner.


      
      ‘Oh-ho-ho-ho!’

      
      ‘Ah, he’s hiccuping again!’ suddenly resounded the squeamish and haughty voice of an irritated lady, who seemed to be from
         the highest society. ‘My punishment is to lie next to this shopkeeper!’


      
      ‘No, I didn’t hiccup at all, and I haven’t taken any food, it’s simply my nature. And still and all, my lady, these whims
         of yours just won’t let you settle down here.’


      
      ‘So why did you have to lie down here?’

      
      ‘They put me here, my wife and the little ones put me here, I didn’t lie down here myself. The mysteries of death! And I wouldn’t
         have lain down next to you for anything, not for all the money in the world; but my own capital got me my place here, reckoning by the price, madam. For we can always do that,
         I mean, put enough aside for our own third-class grave.’


      
      ‘You made a bundle, cheated people?’

      
      ‘How could we cheat you, when it seems there’s been no payment from you since January? We’ve got a little bill in your name
         at the shop.’


      
      ‘Well, now that’s silly; in my opinion, it’s very silly to look to have debts settled here! Go upstairs. Ask my niece; she’s
         my heir.’


      
      ‘But who can I ask now and where can I go? We have both reached the end, and before the judgement seat of God we are equal
         in our trespasses.’


      
      ‘In our trespasses!’ the dead woman mimicked disdainfully. ‘And don’t you dare speak another word to me!’

      
      ‘Oh-ho-ho-ho!’

      
      ‘The shopkeeper nevertheless obeys the lady, Your Excellency.’

      
      ‘And why shouldn’t he obey?’

      
      ‘Well, Your Excellency, as we know there’s a new order here.’

      
      ‘What new order is that?’

      
      ‘Well, you see, we’re dead, so to speak, Your Excellency.’

      
      ‘Ah, yes! But still there’s order …’

      
      Well, haven’t they done us a favour! What a comfort! If it’s already reached this point here, then why bother questioning
         what it’s like upstairs? But how they carry on! However, I continued listening, though with extreme indignation.


      
      ‘No, I would have lived a bit longer! No … I, you know … I would have lived a bit!’ a new voice suddenly made itself heard
         from somewhere between the general and the irritable lady.


      
      ‘Do you hear, Your Excellency, our friend is at it again. He’s quiet as can be for three days, and then suddenly: “I would
         have lived a bit! yes, I would have lived a bit!” And, you know, with such an appetite, he-he!’


      
      ‘And with such thoughtlessness.’

      
      ‘He can’t help it, Your Excellency, and, you know, he falls asleep, he’s already fast asleep; after all he’s been here since
         April, you see, and then suddenly: “I would have lived a bit.” ’


      
      ‘On the boring side, though,’ His Excellency observed.

      
      ‘On the boring side, Your Excellency. Perhaps we should tease Avdotya Ignatyevna again, he-he?’

      
      ‘Please don’t, spare me that. I can’t stand that quick-tempered crybaby.’

      
      ‘And I, for that matter, can’t stand the two of you either,’ the crybaby answered contemptuously. ‘You’re both incredible
         bores and you don’t know how to talk about the ideal. I know a little story about you, Your Excellency – don’t flatter yourself
         – about how a servant swept you out with a broom from under a certain married couple’s bed one morning.’


      
      ‘Nasty woman!’ the general muttered through clenched teeth.

      
      ‘Dear Avdotya Ignatyevna,’ the shopkeeper cried out again suddenly, ‘my dear lady, tell me, and don’t hold it against me,
         am I in the torments12 now, or is something else happening?’


      
      ‘Ah, he’s back on the same thing again; I had a feeling he would be, because there’s a smell coming from him, a smell from
         his tossing and turning.’


      
      ‘I’m not tossing and turning, ma’am, and there’s no particular smell coming from me, because I’ve still managed to preserve
         my body whole, while you, my lady, have really started to go bad – because the smell indeed is unbearable, even for this place.
         I’ve kept quiet merely out of politeness.’


      
      ‘Ah, you and your nasty insults! He’s the one who reeks, and he blames me.’

      
      ‘Oh-ho-ho-ho! If only these forty days would pass: I’d hear tearful voices above me, my wife wailing and the children softly
         weeping! …’


      
      ‘Well, what a thing to weep about: they’ll stuff themselves with kutya13 and leave. Ah, if only somebody would wake up!’


      
      ‘Avdotya Ignatyevna,’ the smooth-tongued official spoke up, ‘wait a little bit, the new ones will start talking.’

      
      ‘And are there any young people among them?’

      
      ‘Young people as well, Avdotya Ignatyevna. There are even some young men.’

      
      ‘Ah, just what we need!’

      
      ‘What, haven’t they begun yet?’ His Excellency enquired.

      
      ‘Even the ones from the day before yesterday haven’t woken up yet, Your Excellency, you yourself know that sometimes they’re
         quiet for a week. It’s a good thing that yesterday and the day before and today they brought a whole lot all at once. Otherwise,
         you see, they’re all from last year for seventy feet around.’


      
      ‘Yes, that should be interesting.’

      
      ‘Now, Your Excellency, today they buried Tarasevich, the actual privy councillor. I recognized the voices. I know his nephew
         who helped lower the coffin just now.’


      
      ‘Hm, whereabout is he then?’

      
      ‘About five paces away from you, Your Excellency, to the left. He’s almost at your feet, sir … There’s somebody you should
         get acquainted with, Your Excellency.’


      
      ‘Hm, no … I shouldn’t be the first to make a move.’

      
      ‘But he’ll do that, Your Excellency. He’ll even be flattered; leave it to me, Your Excellency, and I’ll …’

      
      ‘Ah, ah … Ah, what’s happening to me?’ somebody’s frightened, new little voice suddenly wheezed.

      
      ‘It’s a new one, Your Excellency, a new one, thank God, and so soon! Sometimes they’re silent for a whole week.’

      
      ‘Ah, I believe it’s a young man!’ Avdotya Ignatyevna cried out.

      
      ‘I … I … I … from complications, and so suddenly!’ the youth began to babble again. ‘Just the day before Schultz tells me:
         “You have complications,” he says, and suddenly I up and die by the morning. Ah! Ah!’


      
      ‘Well, there’s nothing to be done, young man,’ observed the general kindly, evidently delighted by the novice. ‘You must console
         yourself. Welcome to our Vale of Jehoshaphat,14 so to speak. We’re good people, you’ll get to know us and appreciate us. Major General Vasily Vasilyev Pervoyedov, at your
         service.’


      
      ‘Ah, no! No, no, absolutely not, sir! I went to Schultz; you see, I had complications, first in my chest and then a cough,
         and later I caught cold: the chest and the flu … and then suddenly quite unexpectedly … that’s the main thing, it was quite
         unexpected.’


      
      ‘You say that it started in the chest,’ the official gently interjected, as if wishing to encourage the novice.

      
      ‘Yes, the chest and phlegm, but then suddenly the phlegm and chest were gone, and I couldn’t breathe … and you know …’

      
      ‘I know, I know. But if it was the chest, you should have gone to Ecke, not to Schultz.’

      
      ‘But, you know, I kept meaning to go to Botkin15 … and suddenly …’


      
      ‘Well, but Botkin’s unreasonable,’ the general observed.

      
      ‘Ah, no, he’s not at all unreasonable; I’ve heard that he’s so attentive and will tell you everything in advance.’

      
      ‘His Excellency was referring to the price,’ the official set him straight.

      
      ‘Ah, not at all, just three roubles, and he examines you so well, and you get a prescription … and I definitely wanted to,
         because I was told … So then, gentlemen, should I go see Ecke or Botkin?’


      
      ‘What? See whom?’ the general’s corpse began to rock with pleasant laughter. The official followed suit in falsetto.

      
      ‘Dear boy, dear, delightful boy, how I love you!’ Avdotya Ignatyevna cried out, beside herself. ‘Now if only they’d put one
         like you next to me!’


      
      No, I simply cannot countenance that! And this is the dead of today! However, I should listen some more and not jump to conclusions.
         This whimpering novice – I remember seeing him in his coffin earlier – wore the expression of a frightened chicken, the most
         revolting thing in the whole world! However, what’s next?


      
      But what came next was such a muddled affair that I didn’t manage to retain all of it in my memory, for a great many of them
         woke up all at once: an official woke up, a state councillor, and he began immediately discussing with the general the project of a new subcommittee in the Department of — Affairs and
         in connection with this about the probable transfer of public servants, all of which the general found very, very entertaining.
         I confess that I also learned a lot that was new, so much so that I marvelled at the ways by which it is sometimes possible
         to come by government news in this capital. Then an engineer half woke up, but for a long time afterwards muttered such absolute
         nonsense that our friends didn’t bother him, but instead let him rest. Finally, the noble lady who had been buried under the
         catafalque that morning showed signs of sepulchral animation. Lebezyatnikov16 (for the ingratiating court councillor whom I detested turned out to be named Lebezyatnikov) was surprised and made a great
         deal of fuss that they were all waking up so soon this time. I confess, I was surprised as well; however, some of those who
         woke up had been buried the day before yesterday, for example, a very young girl, about sixteen years old, but who was all
         giggles … disgusting and lustful giggles.


      
      ‘Your Excellency, Privy Counsellor Tarasevich is waking up!’ Lebezyatnikov suddenly announced with extraordinary urgency.

      
      ‘Eh? What’s that?’ the suddenly awakened privy councillor mumbled demandingly in a lisping voice. His voice sounded both capricious
         and imperious. I listened with curiosity, for during these past few days I had heard something about this Tarasevich – something
         highly suggestive and alarming.


      
      ‘It’s me, Your Excellency, sir, so far it’s only me, sir.’

      
      ‘What do you want and how can I help you?’

      
      ‘Merely to enquire after Your Excellency’s health; not being accustomed to the circumstances here, sir, everybody at first
         feels rather cramped, as it were … General Pervoyedov would like to have the honour of making Your Excellency’s acquaintance
         and wishes …’


      
      ‘Never heard of him.’

      
      ‘For goodness’ sake, Your Excellency, General Pervoyedov, Vasily Vasilyevich …’

      
      ‘Are you General Pervoyedov?’

      
      ‘No, Your Excellency, I am merely Court Councillor Lebezyatnikov, sir, at your service, but General Pervoyedov …’

      
      ‘Nonsense! And I’ll ask you to leave me in peace.’

      
      ‘Let him be,’ General Pervoyedov himself, with a dignified air, finally put a stop to the vile haste of his sepulchral attendant.

      
      ‘He’s not fully awake yet, Your Excellency, you need to take that into consideration, sir; it’s on account that he’s not accustomed,
         sir: he’ll wake up and then he’ll take it differently, sir …’


      
      ‘Let him be,’ the general repeated.

      
      ‘Vasily Vasilyevich! Hey you, Your Excellency!’ an entirely new voice suddenly cried out loudly and excitedly, right next
         to Avdotya Ignatyevna. It was the impertinent voice of a gentleman with a fashionably weary mode of expression and impudent
         delivery. ‘I’ve been observing all of you for two hours now; I’ve been lying here three days now; do you remember me, Vasily
         Vasilyevich? Klinevich, we used to meet at the Volokonskys, where, I don’t know why, you were also received.’


      
      ‘What, Count Pyotr Petrovich … is that really you? … and at such a young age … I am so sorry!’

      
      ‘And I’m sorry myself, but it’s really all the same to me, and I want to get as much as possible from every quarter here.
         And it’s not Count, but Baron, I’m merely a baron. We’re some sort of mangy little barons, our people were lackeys, and I
         don’t know why – to hell with it! I’m merely a scoundrel from pseudo-high society and thought to be a charming polisson. My father was some sort of little general, and my mother was once received en haut lieu.17 Zieffel the Yid18 and I passed off 50,000 roubles in counterfeit banknotes, and I informed against him, but Yulka Charpentier de Lusignan carried
         off all the money with her to Bordeaux. And, just imagine, my engagement had already been announced – to Shchevalevskaya,
         just three months shy of sixteen, still in school, with a dowry of 90,000. Avdotya Ignatyevna, do you remember how you corrupted
         me, fifteen years ago, when I was still a fourteen-year-old page? …’


      
      ‘Ah, so it’s you, you scoundrel; well, at least God sent you, because otherwise here it’s …’

      
      ‘You were wrong to suspect your merchant neighbour of smelling bad … I just kept quiet and laughed. You see, it’s me; they
         buried me in a nailed coffin.’


      
      ‘Ugh, you’re disgusting! But I’m glad all the same; you wouldn’t believe, Klinevich, you wouldn’t believe how scarce life
         and wit are here.’


      
      ‘Yes, I know, yes, I know, and I’m determined to get something original going here. Your Excellency – not you, Pervoyedov
         – the other one, Mr Tarasevich, the privy councillor! Answer me! It’s Klinevich, I’m the one who took you to see Mlle Furie
         during Lent. Can you hear me?’


      
      ‘I hear you, Klinevich, and I’m very glad, and believe me …’

      
      ‘I don’t believe you for a minute and don’t give a damn! I simply want to kiss you, you dear old thing, and thank God I can’t.
         Do you know, gentlemen, the trick that this grand-père19 came up with? He died two or three days ago and, can you imagine, he left behind a shortfall of a total of 400,000 of public
         money. Funds for widows and orphans, and for some reason he was the only one in charge, so that at the end he hadn’t been
         audited for some eight years. I can just see the long faces they’re all wearing now and how they’re remembering him! A delightful
         thought, don’t you agree? I’d been marvelling for a whole year now how this seventy-year-old geezer, who suffered from gout
         and rheumatism, managed to conserve so much energy for debauchery, and – and now we have the answer! It was the widows and
         orphans – the thought of them alone must have fired him up! … I had known about it for a long time, and I was the only one
         to know, Charpentier told me, and as soon as I found out, I immediately hit him up in a friendly way during Holy Week: “Give
         me 25,000, or there’ll be an audit tomorrow”; and just imagine, he could only come up with 13,000, so it seems that his dying
         now was very expedient. Grand-père, grand-père, do you hear me?’


      
      ‘Chèr20 Klinevich, I quite agree with you, and there is no need for you … to go into such details. Life has so much suffering and
         torments and so little reward … In the end I wished finally to have some peace and, so far as I see, I hope to glean all I can from here as well …’


      
      ‘I’ll wager that he’s already sniffed out Katish Berestova!’

      
      ‘Who? … Which Katish is that?’ the old man’s voice began to tremble with lust.

      
      ‘Ah-ah, which Katish? The one right here, to the left, five paces from me, ten from you. It’s already her fifth day here,
         and if you knew, grand-père, what a little rascal she is … from a good family, well brought up and – a monster, an utter monster! I didn’t show her to
         anybody there, I was the only one who knew … Katish, answer me!’


      
      ‘He-he-he!’ answered in reply the cracked sound of a girl’s voice, in which, however, one could hear something like the jab
         of a needle. ‘He-he-he!’


      
      ‘A little blonde girl?’ Grand-père babbled haltingly, drawing out the three words.


      
      ‘He-he-he!’

      
      ‘I … I have long,’ babbled the old man, panting, ‘dreamed of a little blonde girl … about fifteen years old … and precisely
         in circumstances like these …’


      
      ‘Ugh, you monster!’ Avdotya Ignatyevna exclaimed.

      
      ‘Enough!’ Klinevich had made up his mind, ‘I see that there’s excellent material. We’ll quickly arrange things for the better
         here. The main thing is to spend the remaining time enjoyably; but how much time? Hey, you, the government official, did I
         hear that your name was Lebezyatnikov?’


      
      ‘Lebezyatnikov, court councillor, Semyon Yevseyich, at your service, and I’m very, very, very glad to make your acquaintance.’

      
      ‘I don’t give a damn whether you’re pleased; it’s just that it seems you know everything here. Tell me, first of all (I’ve
         been wondering about this since yesterday), how is it that we can talk here? After all, we’re dead, and yet we can talk; and
         it seems that we can move as well, and yet we don’t talk and we don’t move. What’s the secret?’


      
      ‘If you wish, Baron, Platon Nikolayevich could explain this to you better than I.’

      
      ‘Who’s Platon Nikolayevich? Don’t shilly-shally, get to the point.’

      
      ‘Platon Nikolayevich is our local, homespun philosopher, scientist and master of arts. He’s put out several little books on
         philosophy, but for the past three months now he keeps falling sound asleep, so much so that it’s impossible to stir him.
         Once a week he mutters a few words beside the point.’


      
      ‘Get to the point, get to the point! …’

      
      ‘He explains it all by the simplest fact, namely, that up above, when we were still alive, we mistakenly deemed death there
         was death. The body comes to life here again, as it were, the residue of life is concentrated, but only in the consciousness.
         I don’t know how to say it – it’s as if life continues by inertia. Everything is concentrated, in his opinion, somewhere in
         the consciousness and continues for another two or three months … sometimes even half a year … There’s one fellow here, for
         example, who has almost completely decomposed, but once every six weeks he’ll still suddenly mutter a word, meaningless, of
         course, about some bobok: “Bobok, bobok.” But that means that an inconspicuous spark of life still glimmers inside him as well …’


      
      ‘Rather stupid. But then how is it that I smell a stench if I don’t have a sense of smell?’

      
      ‘That’s … he-he … Well, that’s where our philosopher gets a bit hazy. It was precisely in regard to the sense of smell that
         he observed that the stench that is smelled, so to speak, is a moral stench! He-he! The stench coming from our soul, as it
         were, so that in these two or three months one has time to look back … and that this is, so to speak, the final mercy … Only
         it seems to me, Baron, that this is all mystical gibberish, which is quite excusable given his circumstances …’


      
      ‘Enough, and the rest of it, I’m sure, is all nonsense. The main thing is that there’s two or three months of life and in
         the end – bobok. I propose that we all spend these two months as pleasantly as possible and to that end we should all arrange things on a
         different footing. Ladies and gentlemen! I propose that we not be ashamed of anything!’


      
      ‘Ah, yes, let’s, let’s not be ashamed of anything!’ many voices were heard to say, and, strangely enough, even altogether
         new voices were heard, which means that meanwhile some others had only just awakened. The bass voice of an engineer, now fully awake, thundered his assent with particular readiness. The
         girl Katish giggled with delight.


      
      ‘Ah, how I want not to be ashamed of anything!’ Avdotya Ignatyevna exclaimed with rapture.

      
      ‘Listen, now if even Avdotya Ignatyevna wants not to be ashamed of anything …’

      
      ‘No-no-no, Klinevich, I was ashamed, all the same I was ashamed there, but here I so terribly, terribly wish not to be ashamed
         of anything!’


      
      ‘I understand, Klinevich,’ the engineer bellowed, ‘that you’re proposing to arrange life here, so to speak, on a new and rational
         footing.’


      
      ‘Well, I don’t give a damn about that! As far as that’s concerned, let’s wait for Kuderyarov, who was brought here yesterday.
         He’ll wake up and explain everything to you. He’s such a figure, such a gigantic figure! Tomorrow, I believe, they’re bringing
         another scientist and probably another officer, and, if I’m not mistaken in three or four days a certain feuilletonist and,
         I believe, his editor as well. However, to hell with them, we’ll have our own little group and everything will fall into place
         on its own. But meanwhile I don’t want there to be any lying. That’s all I want, because that’s the main thing. On earth it’s
         impossible to live and not to lie, for life and lying are synonymous; well, but here for the fun of it we won’t lie. The devil
         take it, the grave does mean something after all! We’ll all tell our stories out loud and we won’t be ashamed of anything
         now. I’ll tell about myself first. I’m a voluptuary, you know. Up there all this was bound together with rotten ropes. Down
         with ropes, and let’s live these two months in the most shameless truth! Let’s strip ourselves bare and be naked!’


      
      ‘Let’s be naked, naked!’ the voices all cried out.

      
      ‘I so terribly, terribly want to be naked!’ Avdotya Ignatyevna squealed.

      
      ‘Ah … ah … Ah, I see that we’re going to have a good time here; I don’t want to go see Ecke!’

      
      ‘No, I would have lived a bit longer, you know, I would have lived a bit longer!’

      
      ‘He-he-he!’ Katish giggled.

      
      ‘The main thing is that nobody can stand in our way, and even though Pervoyedov, I see, is angry, all the same he can’t touch
         me. Grand-père, do you agree?’


      
      ‘I absolutely, absolutely agree and with the greatest pleasure, provided only that Katish begins with her biography first.’

      
      ‘I protest, I protest with all my might,’ General Pervoyedov pronounced firmly.

      
      ‘Your Excellency!’ the scoundrel Lebezyatnikov prattled and urged in hurried excitement, with his voice lowered, ‘Your Excellency,
         it will be to our advantage to agree. You see, there’s this girl … and, finally, all these various little things …’


      
      ‘To be sure, there’s the girl, but …’

      
      ‘To our advantage, Your Excellency, it would really and truly be to our advantage! Well, if only as an experiment, well, let’s
         at least give it a try …’


      
      ‘Even in the grave they won’t let me rest in peace!’

      
      ‘First of all, General, you’re playing preference in the grave, and secondly, we don’t give a damn about you,’ Klinevich declaimed, emphasizing each word.


      
      ‘My dear sir, I beg you all the same not to forget yourself.’

      
      ‘What? But you can’t touch me, while I can tease you from here, like Yulka’s lapdog. And, first of all, gentlemen, what sort
         of general is he here? It’s there he was a general, but here he’s a mere nothing!’


      
      ‘No, not a mere nothing … Here, too, I’m a …’

      
      ‘Here you’ll rot in your coffin, and the only thing left of you will be your six brass buttons.’

      
      ‘Bravo, Klinevich, ha-ha-ha!’ the voices roared.

      
      ‘I served my sovereign … I have a sword …’

      
      ‘The only thing your sword’s good for is spearing mice; besides, you never drew it.’

      
      ‘All the same, sir; I comprised a part of the whole.’

      
      ‘There are all sorts of parts in the whole.’

      
      ‘Bravo, Klinevich, bravo, ha-ha-ha!’

      
      ‘I don’t understand what exactly a sword is,’ the engineer exclaimed.

      
      ‘We’ll run from the Prussians like mice, they’ll tear us to pieces,’ cried a distant and unfamiliar voice, but one literally
         transported with delight.


      
      ‘A sword, sir, is honour!’ the general cried, but only I heard him. A prolonged and frenzied roar, melee and clamour broke
         out, and only Avdotya Ignatyevna’s impatient squeals, which bordered on the hysterical, could be heard.


      
      ‘But quickly, quickly! Ah, when are we going to start being ashamed of nothing!’

      
      ‘Oh-ho-ho! Truly, my soul is passing through the torments!’ resounded the voice of the man of the common people, and …

      
      And that’s when I suddenly sneezed. It happened without warning and unintentionally, but the effect was startling: everything
         fell as silent as the grave, and it all vanished like a dream. A truly sepulchral silence ensued. I don’t think that they
         had become ashamed on my account: after all, they’d resolved not to be ashamed of anything! I waited for about five minutes
         and – not a word, not a sound. Nor can one suppose that they feared that I would inform on them to the police; for what could
         the police do here? I can only conclude that they must after all have some secret, unknown to us mortals, which they carefully
         conceal from every mortal.


      
      ‘Well, my dears,’ I thought, ‘I’ll come visit you again’, and with that I left the cemetery.

      
      No, this I will not tolerate; no, indeed, no! It’s not bobok that troubles me (so that’s what this bobok turned out to be!).


      
      Depravity in such a place, the depravity of the final hopes, the depravity of flabby and rotting corpses and – not sparing
         even the final moments of consciousness! They were granted, they were made a present of these moments and … But most of all,
         most of all – in such a place! No, this I will not tolerate … 


      
      I’ll spend some time in other classes of graves here, I’ll listen everywhere. That’s just what needs to be done, to listen
         everywhere and not just in one part, in order to come to an understanding. Perhaps I’ll stumble on to something comforting.


      
      But I’ll definitely go back to them. They promised their biographies and various stories. Ugh! But I’ll go, I’ll definitely
         go; it’s a matter of conscience!


      
      I’ll take it to the Citizen;21 a portrait of one of the editors there was also put in the exhibit. Perhaps he’ll publish it.
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      THE MEEK ONE

      
      A Fantastic Story

      
      
      From the Author

      
      I beg my readers’ pardon that this time instead of the Diary in its usual form I’m only giving you a story. But this story has really kept me busy for the better part of a month. In
         any case, I beg the readers’ indulgence.


      
      Now about the story itself. I have subtitled it ‘fantastic’, when in fact I believe it to be realistic in the highest degree.
         But there is indeed something fantastic about it, namely, the very form the story takes, which I find necessary to comment
         on beforehand.


      
      The fact of the matter is that this is neither a story nor just notes. Picture to yourself a husband, whose wife is lying
         on a table,1 a suicide, who a few hours earlier had hurled herself out the window. He is confused and still has not managed to collect
         his thoughts. He paces about his rooms and tries to comprehend what has happened, to collect his thoughts ‘to a T’. Moreover,
         he is an inveterate hypochondriac, one of those who talks to himself. So here he is talking to himself, recapitulating what
         has happened, trying to make sense of it. Despite the apparent coherence of his speech, he contradicts himself several times, both in his logic and his feelings. He
         justifies himself and blames her, and launches into irrelevant explanations: there is a vulgarity of mind and heart here,
         there is also deep feeling. Little by little, he indeed does make sense of it all and collects his thoughts ‘to a T’. A series of memories that he calls forth inexorably leads him in the end to
         the truth; the truth inexorably ennobles his mind and heart. Towards the end even the tone of the story changes in comparison with the chaotic beginning. The truth is revealed to the unfortunate man rather clearly and definitely,
         at least as far as he is concerned.


      
      That is the subject. Of course, the process of the telling of the story takes several hours, by fits and starts, and the form
         is inconsistent: now he talks to himself, now he addresses, as it were, an unseen listener, some sort of judge. But that is
         how it always is in real life. If a stenographer could eavesdrop on him and record everything, it would come out somewhat
         rougher, less polished than I have presented it, but, so it seems to me, the psychological sequence would perhaps remain the
         same. Now this presumption of a stenographer who records everything (after which I would polish what had been recorded) is
         what I would call the fantastic in this story. But something very similar has been allowed in art more than once: Victor Hugo,
         for example, in his masterpiece The Last Day of a Condemned Man2 employed virtually the very same stratagem, and although he did not depict a stenographer, he admitted an even greater improbability
         by presuming that a condemned man is able (and has the time) to keep a diary not only on his last day, but even during his
         final hour and literally, his last minute. But if he had not permitted this fantasy, the work itself would not exist – the
         most realistic and most truthful work of all he wrote.


      
      
      
      CHAPTER 1

      
      
      
      
      I. Who I Was and Who She Was

      
      
      … Now as long as she’s here – everything is still all right: I’m constantly going over and looking at her; but tomorrow they’ll
         take her away and – how will I ever stay behind all on my own? Now she’s on the table in the sitting room, on two card tables
         that were put together, and the coffin will come tomorrow, a white one, with white gros de Naples,3 however, that’s not it … I keep pacing and want to make sense of it for myself. Now it’s six hours that I’ve been trying
         to make sense of it and I still can’t collect my thoughts to a T. The fact of the matter is that I keep pacing, pacing, pacing … Here’s how it was. I’ll simply tell it in order. (Order!) Gentlemen, I’m far from being a literary
         man, as you’ll see, well, so be it, but I’ll tell it as I myself understand it. That’s the horror of it for me, that I understand
         everything!


      
      If you want to know, that is, if we take it from the very beginning, then quite simply she used to come to me to pawn things
         in order to pay for advertising in the Voice,4 saying, well, that there’s a governess, willing to travel and give lessons in the home and so forth and so on. That was in
         the very beginning and of course I didn’t single her out from the others: she came like all the others and so forth. But afterwards
         I began to single her out. She was so thin, fair, a bit taller than average; with me she was always awkward, as if she were
         embarrassed (I think that she was exactly the same with all strangers, and, it goes without saying, I was no different than
         anyone else, that is, if taken not as a pawnbroker but as a man). As soon as she received her money she would immediately
         turn around and leave. And all in silence. Others argue, beg, haggle to be given more; but not this one, whatever she was
         given … It seems to me that I keep getting muddled … Yes; first of all, I was struck by her things: silver gilt earrings,
         a worthless little locket – things worth twenty kopecks. She herself knew that they were worth all of ten kopecks, but I could
         see from her face that for her they were objects of great value – and indeed, as I learned later, this was all that she had
         left from her papa and mama. Only once did I permit myself to smile at her things. That is, you see, I never permit myself
         that, I maintain a gentlemanly tone with the public: a few words said respectfully and sternly. ‘Sternly, sternly and sternly.’5 But she suddenly permitted herself to bring the remnants (quite literally, that is) of an old rabbit-skin jacket – and I
         couldn’t resist and suddenly said something to her in the way of a witticism, as it were. Goodness gracious, how she flared
         up! Her eyes were blue, large, thoughtful, but how they blazed! But she didn’t let drop a single word, she picked up her ‘remnants’
         and left. That was the first time that I noticed her particularly and thought something of that sort about her, that is, precisely something of that particular sort. Yes; I recall yet another
         impression, that is, if you wish, the main impression, the synthesis of everything: namely, that she was terribly young, so young, as if she were fourteen years old. Whereas she was then three
         months shy of sixteen. However, that wasn’t what I wanted to say, that wasn’t the synthesis at all. She came again the next
         day. I later learned that she had been to Dobronravov and Mozer with that jacket, but they don’t take anything except gold
         and didn’t even bother to talk to her. I, on the other hand, had once taken a cameo from her (a worthless little thing) –
         and when I gave it some thought later on I was surprised: I also don’t buy anything except gold and silver and yet I had taken
         a cameo. That was my second thought about her then, I remember that.


      
      This time, that is, after going to Mozer, she brought an amber cigar holder – a so-so little piece, for the connoisseur, but
         something of no worth to us, because we deal only in gold. Since she had come after yesterday’s rebellion, I greeted her sternly. Sternness for me means dryness. However, as I was giving her the two roubles, I couldn’t resist and
         said with some irritation, as it were: ‘I’m doing this only for you, Mozer wouldn’t take a thing like this from you.’ I particularly emphasized the words ‘for you’, and precisely with a certain insinuation. I was angry. Once again she flared up, upon hearing that ‘for you’, but she held her tongue, didn’t throw down the money,
         took it – that’s what poverty is! But how she flared up! I understood that I had wounded her. But when she had gone, I suddenly
         asked myself: So is this triumph over her really worth two roubles? Hee-hee-hee! I remember that I asked precisely that very
         question twice: ‘Is it worth it? Is it worth it?’ And, laughing, I answered this question to myself in the affirmative. Then
         I really cheered up. But this wasn’t a nasty feeling: I had a plan, a purpose; I wanted to test her, because suddenly I began
         to have some thoughts about her. That was my third particular thought about her.


      
      … Well, it was from that time that it all started. It goes without saying, I immediately tried to find out all her circumstances
         indirectly and waited for her arrival with particular impatience. You see, I had a feeling that she would come soon. When
         she came, I launched into an amiable conversation with unusual politeness. You see, I wasn’t badly brought up and have manners.
         Hmm. That was when I guessed that she was kind and meek. The kind and meek don’t resist for long, and although they are by no means very open, they don’t at all know how to
         avoid a conversation: they answer grudgingly, but they answer and the longer it goes on, the more they answer; but if this
         is what you want, you can’t let yourself get tired. It goes without saying that she didn’t explain anything to me then. It
         was later that I learned about the Voice and about everything else. She was then mustering every last bit she had to advertise – at first, it goes without saying,
         presumptuously: ‘Governess, willing to travel, send terms by post’; but later: ‘Willing to do anything, tutor, be a companion,
         housekeeping, care for the sick, can sew’ and so forth and so on. The usual! It goes without saying that all this was added
         to the advertisement at different stages, and towards the end, when despair had set it, there was even ‘without salary, for
         board’. No, she didn’t find a position! I made up my mind then to test her for the last time: I suddenly picked up today’s
         Voice and showed her an advertisement: ‘Young female, orphan, seeks position as governess of small children, preferably with an
         elderly widower. Willing to do light housework.’


      
      ‘There, you see, this was published this morning and by evening she’s sure to have found a job. That’s the way to advertise!’

      
      Again she flared up, again her eyes blazed; she turned around and immediately walked out. I was very pleased. However, by
         then I was already sure of everything and had no fears: nobody would take her cigar holders. Besides, she had already run
         out of cigar holders. And so it was, two days later she comes, such a pale, agitated little thing – I understood that something
         had happened at home, and indeed something had happened. I’ll explain straight away what happened, but now I merely wish to
         recall how I suddenly did something chic and rose in her eyes. A plan suddenly occurred to me. The fact of the matter is that
         she brought this icon (she had steeled herself to bring it) … Oh, listen! Listen! This is where it began, but I keep getting
         muddled … The fact of the matter is that I now want to recall everything, every trifle, every little detail. I still want
         to collect my thoughts to a T and – I can’t, and now there are these little details, these little details … 


      
      An icon of the Mother of God. The Mother of God with Child, a family heirloom, an antique, with a silver gilt frame – worth
         – well, worth about six roubles. I see that the icon is dear to her, and she’s pawning the whole icon, without removing the
         mounting. I tell her that it would be better if she removed the mounting and took the icon with her, because after all it’s
         an icon.


      
      ‘Surely you’re not forbidden?’

      
      ‘No, it’s not that it’s forbidden, but just that, perhaps, you yourself …’

      
      ‘Well, remove it.’

      
      ‘You know what, I won’t remove it, but I’ll put it over there in the icon case,’ I said, after giving it some thought, ‘with
         the other icons, under the lamp.’ (I’ve always had the lamp burning ever since I opened my shop.) ‘And I’ll give you ten roubles
         – it’s as simple as that.’


      
      ‘I don’t need ten, give me five; I’ll redeem it without fail.’

      
      ‘But don’t you want ten? The icon is worth it,’ I added, after observing that her little eyes had flashed once again. She
         held her tongue. I brought her five roubles.


      
      ‘Don’t despise anybody – I’ve been in tight squeezes myself, and even a bit worse, and if you now see me in such an occupation
         … well, you see, after all that I’ve endured …’


      
      ‘You’re taking revenge on society? Is that it?’ she suddenly interrupted me with a rather sarcastic gibe, in which, however,
         there was a good deal of innocence (that is, of a general sort, because she certainly did not single me out from the others
         then, so it was said almost inoffensively). ‘Aha!’ I thought, ‘so that’s what you’re like, your character is showing itself,
         you belong to the new movement.’6

      
      ‘You see,’ I immediately observed, half-jokingly, half-mysteriously. ‘I – I am part of that part of the whole that desires
         to do evil, but creates good …’7

      
      She looked at me quickly and with great curiosity, in which, however, there was a great deal of childishness:

      
      ‘Wait a moment … What’s that saying? Where’s it from? I’ve heard it somewhere …’

      
      ‘Don’t rack your brains: Mephistopheles recommends himself to Faust in those words. Have you read Faust?’


      
      ‘No … not carefully.’

      
      ‘That is, you haven’t read it at all. You should read it. However, once again I see a sardonic grin on your lips. Please,
         don’t suppose that I have so little taste that I wished to paint over my role as a pawnbroker by recommending myself to you
         as Mephistopheles. Once a pawnbroker, always a pawnbroker. We know that, miss.’


      
      ‘You’re such a strange person … I didn’t in the least want to say anything of the kind …’

      
      She wanted to say: I didn’t expect that you were an educated man, but she didn’t say it, though I knew that she had thought
         it; I had pleased her terribly much.


      
      ‘You see,’ I observed, ‘one can do good in any walk of life. Of course, I’m not speaking of myself; let’s suppose that I do
         nothing but bad things …’


      
      ‘Of course, one can do good in any position,’ she said, looking at me with a quick and penetrating glance. ‘Precisely in any
         position,’ she added suddenly.


      
      Oh, I remember, I remember all those moments! And I also want to add that when these young people, these dear young people,
         want to say something intelligent and penetrating, then their faces suddenly show you all too sincerely and naively: ‘Here
         I am, I’m telling you something intelligent and penetrating.’ And it’s not at all from vanity, as is the case with the likes
         of us, but you see that she herself sets great store on all this terribly, and she believes, and respects and thinks that
         you, too, respect all this just as she does. Oh, sincerity! That’s what they win you over with! And it was so charming in
         her!


      
      I remember, I have forgotten nothing! When she left, I made up my mind at once. That same day I made my final enquiries and
         learned absolutely everything else there was to know about her present particulars; all the particulars of her past I already
         knew from Lukerya, who was then their servant and whom I had bribed several days earlier. These circumstances were so horrible
         that I don’t understand how it had been possible for her to laugh, as she had that day, and be curious about Mephistopheles’
         words, when she herself was faced with such horrors. But – youth! That’s precisely what I thought about her then with pride and joy, because, you see, there was also magnanimity about it, as if she were to say: the great works of Goethe shine
         even on the brink of ruin. Youth is always magnanimous, if only ever so slightly and ever so distortedly. That is, I’m speaking
         of her, you see, her alone. And the main thing, I then looked upon her as mine and did not doubt my power. You know, that’s a most voluptuous thought, when you no longer have any doubt.


      
      But what’s wrong with me? If I keep going on like this, then when will I collect everything to a T? Quickly, quickly – this
         isn’t the point at all, oh God!


      
      
      
      
      II. A Marriage Proposal

      
      
      The ‘particulars’ I learned about her I can set forth in a few words: her father and mother had died a long time ago, three
         years previously, and she had been left with her disreputable aunts. That is, it’s saying too little to call them disreputable.
         One aunt was a widow with a large family, six children, each one smaller than the next; the other was a spinster, old and
         nasty. Both of them were nasty. Her father had been a government official, but only a clerk, and a non-hereditary nobleman
         – in a word: everything played into my hands. I appeared as if from some higher world: after all, I was a retired staff captain
         of a brilliant regiment, a nobleman by birth, independent and so on, and as far as the pawnshop went, the aunts could only
         look at it with respect. She had been slaving for her aunts for three years, but nevertheless she had passed an examination
         somewhere – she had managed to pass it, snatched a free minute to pass it, despite relentless work day in and day out – and
         that meant something about aspirations for the noble and the sublime on her part. After all, why did I want to get married?
         But who cares about me, we’ll save that for later … As if that were the point! She taught her aunt’s children, she sewed their
         underclothes, and towards the end she washed not only these underclothes, but she, with her bad chest, also washed the floors.
         To put it bluntly, they even beat her, reproaching her for every crumb. It ended with them intending to sell her. Ugh! I’ll
         omit the dirty details. Later she told me everything in detail. A neighbour, a fat shopkeeper, had been observing all this for a whole year,
         and he wasn’t just an ordinary shopkeeper, but the owner of two grocery stores. He had already beat two wives to death and
         was looking for a third, and had cast his eye on her: ‘She’s a quiet one,’ he thought, ‘she grew up in poverty and I’m marrying
         for the sake of my orphans.’ Indeed, he did have orphans. He began to seek her hand, started negotiations with the aunts,
         and on top of that – he’s fifty years old; she’s horrified. And that’s when she started coming to me to get money for advertisements
         in the Voice. In the end, she began asking the aunts to give her just the littlest bit of time to think it over. They gave her that little
         bit, but only one, they didn’t give her another; they badgered her: ‘We don’t know where we’ll get our next meal, even without
         an extra mouth to feed.’ I already knew all this, and on that same day, after her visit in the morning, I made up my mind.
         That evening the merchant came, he had brought from the shop a pound of candies worth fifty kopecks; she’s sitting with him,
         and I summon Lukerya from the kitchen and tell her to go to her and whisper that I’m standing by the gate and wish to tell
         her something most urgently. I remained pleased with myself. And in general I was terribly pleased with myself that entire
         day.


      
      Right there at the gate, already dumbfounded that I had summoned her, I explained to her, in Lukerya’s presence, that I would
         consider myself happy and honoured … Secondly, she was not surprised by my manner or by the fact that this was taking place
         by the gate: ‘I am a straightforward man,’ I said, ‘and have studied the circumstances of the matter.’ And I wasn’t lying
         that I’m straightforward. Well, to hell with it. I spoke not only decently, that is, by showing myself to be a person of good
         breeding, but originally as well, and that’s the main thing. What, is it a sin to acknowledge this? I want to judge myself
         and am doing so. I must speak both pro and contra,8 and I am doing so. I recalled it with delight afterwards, even though it was stupid: I announced straight out then, without
         any embarrassment, that, in the first place, I wasn’t particularly talented, not particularly intelligent, and perhaps not
         even particularly kind, that I was a rather cheap egoist (I remember this expression, I had composed it on my way there and remained pleased with it) and that – very, very likely – there was much that was unpleasant about me
         in other respects as well. All this was said with a particular kind of pride – we know how these sorts of things are said.
         Of course, I had sufficient good taste, after nobly declaring my deficiencies, not to launch into a declaration of my virtues:
         ‘But to make up for this, I have this, that and the other.’ I could see that she was still terribly afraid, but I didn’t soften
         anything; instead, seeing that she was afraid I deliberately intensified it: I said straight out that she wouldn’t go hungry,
         but as for fancy clothes, the theatre and balls – there would be none of that, though perhaps later, when I had achieved my
         goal. I was definitely carried away by this stern tone. I added, and as casually as possible, that if I had taken up such
         an occupation, that is, keeping this pawnshop, it was for one purpose only – that is, there was a certain circumstance, so
         to speak … But you see I had a right to speak like that: I really did have such a purpose and such a circumstance. Wait a
         moment, gentlemen, all my life I have been the first to hate this pawnbroking business, but in essence, you see, even though
         it’s ridiculous to talk to oneself in mysterious phrases, I was ‘taking revenge on society’, you see, I really, really, really
         was! Therefore, her joke about the fact that I was ‘taking revenge’ was unfair. That is, you see, if I had said to her straight
         out in so many words: ‘Yes, I’m taking revenge on society’, and she had burst out laughing, the way she did that morning,
         it would indeed have come out ridiculous. But with an indirect hint and by dropping a mysterious phrase it turned out that
         it was possible to engage her imagination. Moreover, I wasn’t afraid of anything then: you see, I knew that in any event the
         fat shopkeeper was more repulsive than I and that I, standing by the gate, was her liberator. I understood that, you see.
         Oh, man understands baseness particularly well! But was it baseness? How is one to judge a man in a case like this? Didn’t
         I love her already even then?


      
      Wait a moment: it goes without saying that I didn’t say a word to her about doing a good deed: on the contrary, oh, on the
         contrary: ‘It is I,’ I said, ‘who am being done the favour, and not you.’ So that I even expressed this in words, I couldn’t help myself, and perhaps it came out stupidly, because I noticed a fleeting grin on her face. But on the whole I had definitely
         won. Wait a moment, if I’m going to recall all this filth, then I’ll recall this final bit of swinishness: I was standing
         there and this is what was going through my head: You’re tall, fit, educated and – and finally, to speak without any boasting,
         you’re not bad looking. That’s what was running through my head. It goes without saying, she said ‘yes’ there and then by
         the gate. But … but I should add: she thought it over for a long time, right there and then by the gate, before she said ‘yes’.
         She was so deep in thought, so deep in thought that I was on the verge of asking, ‘Well, what is it going to be?’ – and I
         couldn’t even help myself from asking with a certain sense of chic: ‘Well, what is it going to be, Miss?’ – adding the ‘Miss’
         for good measure.


      
      ‘Wait, I’m thinking.’

      
      And her little face was so serious, so serious – that even then I might have read it! But instead I was offended: ‘Is she
         really,’ I thought to myself, ‘choosing between me and the merchant?’ Oh, I still didn’t understand then! I still didn’t understand
         anything, anything then! I didn’t understand until today! I remember Lukerya ran after me when I was already walking away,
         stopped me in the street and said, catching her breath: ‘God will reward you, sir, for taking our dear young lady – only don’t
         say anything about it to her, she’s proud.’


      
      Well now, proud! I like them proud, I said to myself. The proud ones are particularly nice, when … well, when you no longer
         harbour any doubts about your power over them. Eh? Oh, base, awkward man! Oh, how pleased I was! Do you know, while she was
         standing there by the gate deep in thought about whether to say ‘yes’ to me, and I was surprised, do you know, that she might
         even have been thinking: ‘If it’s to be misfortune either way, isn’t it better to choose the worst straight away, that is,
         the fat shopkeeper; let him get drunk, the sooner the better, and beat me to death!’ Eh? What do you think, could that have
         been what she was thinking?


      
      And even now I don’t understand, even now I don’t understand anything! I just now said that she might have been thinking that
         she should choose the worse of the two misfortunes, that is, the merchant. But who was worse for her then – the merchant or I? The merchant or the pawnbroker who quotes Goethe? That’s
         still a question! What question? You don’t understand even that: the answer is lying on the table, and you say ‘what question’!
         But to hell with me! I’m not the point here at all … And at the same time, what do I care now – whether I’m the point or not?
         That’s something I’m utterly incapable of deciding. I’d better go to bed. I have a headache … 


      
      
      
      
      III. The Noblest of Men, But I Don’t Believe It Myself

      
      
      I didn’t fall asleep. And how could I with that pulse hammering away in my head. I want to absorb all this, all this filth.
         Oh, the filth! Oh, the filth I dragged her out of then! She should have realized that, you know, she should have appreciated
         my deed! I was pleased, too, by various thoughts, for example, that I was forty-one years old and that she was only sixteen.
         That fascinated me, this sense of inequality, it was very sweet, very sweet.


      
      I, for example, wanted to have the wedding à l’anglaise,9 that is, just the two of us, perhaps with two witnesses, one of whom would be Lukerya, and then at once to the train, for
         example, if only to Moscow (it so happened that I had business there), to a hotel for a fortnight or so. She was against it,
         she wouldn’t have it and I was forced to visit her aunts and pay my respects to them as the relatives from whom I was taking
         her. I gave in, and the aunts were rendered their due. I even made a present of a hundred roubles each to those creatures
         and promised more, of course, without saying a word to her, so as not to distress her with the baseness of the situation.
         The aunts at once became as soft as silk. There was an argument about the trousseau as well: she didn’t have anything, almost
         literally, but she didn’t want anything either. However, I managed to convince her that it wasn’t possible to have absolutely
         nothing, and so I arranged for the trousseau myself, because who else would do anything for her? Well, but to hell with me!
         Various ideas of mine, however, I nevertheless did manage to convey to her then, so that she would at least know. Perhaps
         I was even too hasty. The main thing is that from the very beginning, however much she tried to hold out, she would throw herself at me with her love; she would meet me when I came home in the evening with rapture,
         she would tell me in her prattle (the charming prattle of innocence!) all about her childhood, youth, about her parental
         home, about her father and mother. But I immediately threw cold water on all these ecstasies right then and there. That was
         the whole point of my idea. I answered her raptures with silence, gracious, of course … but she nevertheless quickly saw that
         we were different and that I was – a riddle. And the main thing is that I had set my sights on this riddle! You see, it was
         in order to pose this riddle perhaps that I committed all this foolishness! First of all, sternness – it was with sternness
         that I took her into my house. In a word, even though I was quite pleased with things as they were, I began to create a complete
         system. Oh, it took shape on its own, without any effort. And it couldn’t have been otherwise, I had to create this system
         on account of one incontrovertible circumstance – really, what is this? I’m slandering myself! The system was genuine. No,
         listen, if you’re going to judge a person, then you should judge him knowing the case … Listen.


      
      How should I begin this, because it’s very difficult. When you begin justifying yourself – that’s when it gets difficult.
         You see: young people despise money, for example – I hammered away about money; I pressed home about money. And I hammered
         away so that she began to fall silent more and more. She would open her big eyes, listen, look and fall silent. You see: young
         people are magnanimous, that is, the good ones are magnanimous and impetuous, but they have little tolerance, as soon as something’s
         not quite right – you get their contempt. But I wanted breadth, I wanted to instil breadth right into her heart, to instil
         it into her heart’s vista, isn’t that so? I’ll take a trivial example: How could I explain, for example, my pawnshop to a
         person like that? It goes without saying that I didn’t bring it up directly, or it would have looked like I was asking her
         forgiveness for the pawnshop; instead I acted, so to speak, with pride – I spoke almost silently. And I’m a master of speaking
         silently – all my life I’ve spoken silently and I’ve lived through entire tragedies in silence. Oh, and I too have been unhappy!
         I was cast aside by everyone, cast aside and forgotten, and no one, no one knows it! And suddenly this sixteen-year-old girl
         got hold of details about me afterwards from vile people and thought that she knew everything, but meanwhile the secret remained
         only in this man’s breast! I went on being silent, and I was particularly, particularly silent with her until just yesterday
         – why was I silent? Because I’m a proud man. I wanted her to find out on her own, without me, but not from stories told by
         scoundrels, but that she should guess herself about this man and comprehend him! When I received her into my house, I wanted her complete respect. I wanted her to stand
         before me beseechingly, on account of my suffering – and I was worthy of that. Oh, I’ve always been proud, I’ve always wanted
         all or nothing! And that’s precisely why I’m not for half-measures in happiness, but wanted everything – and that’s precisely
         why I was forced to act as I did then, as if to say: ‘Figure it out for yourself and appreciate me!’ Because, you must agree,
         if I had begun by explaining and prompting, being evasive and asking for respect – then, you see, it would have been as if
         I were asking for charity … However … However, why am I talking about this!


      
      Stupid, stupid, stupid, stupid! I straight away and ruthlessly (and I want to emphasize that it was ruthlessly) explained
         to her then, in a few words, that the magnanimity of young people was lovely, but not worth a brass button. Why not? Because
         it comes cheap, they get it without having lived; it’s all, so to speak, the ‘first impressions of existence’,10 but let’s see you do some work! Cheap magnanimity is always easy, and even to give your life – even that’s easy, because
         that’s just a matter of the blood boiling and an over-abundance of energy,11 one passionately longs for beauty! No, take an act of magnanimity that is difficult, quiet, muted, without splendour, where
         you’re slandered, where there’s much sacrifice and not a drop of glory – where you, a shining man, are brought forward before
         everyone as a scoundrel, when you are the most honest man in the world – come on, try your hand at that sort of deed, no,
         sir, you’ll give it up! While I – all I’ve done my whole life is to shoulder that sort of deed. In the beginning she would
         argue – and how! But then she began to fall silent, completely and totally, she would just open her eyes terribly wide as she listened, such big, big eyes, and so attentive. And … and besides that I suddenly saw a smile,
         a mistrustful, silent, bad smile. It was with that smile that I brought her into my house. And it’s also true that she had
         nowhere else to go … 


      
      
      
      
      IV. Plans and More Plans

      
      
      Which of us was the first to begin then?

      
      Neither. It began on its own from the very first. I have said that I had brought her into my house with sternness; however,
         I softened it from the very first. When she was still my fiancée it had been explained to her that she would assist in taking
         in the pledges and paying out the money, and she didn’t say anything then (note that). And what’s more, she even took to the
         business with zeal. Well, of course, the apartment, the furniture – everything remained the same as before. The apartment
         has two rooms: one is a large room in which the shop is partitioned off from the rest, and the other one is also a large room
         in which we have our sitting room and bedroom. My furniture isn’t much; even her aunts had better. My icon-stand with the
         lamp is in the room with the shop; in the other room I have my bookcase with some books and a trunk to which I have the keys;
         and there’s a bed, tables, chairs. When she was still my fiancée I told her that one rouble a day and no more was allotted
         for our board, that is, food, for me, her and Lukerya, whom I had enticed away: ‘I need 30,000 in three years,’ I told her,
         ‘otherwise I won’t be able to save up enough money.’ She didn’t stand in the way, but I myself added to our board by thirty
         kopecks. It was the same thing with the theatre. When she was still my fiancée I told her that there wouldn’t be any theatre;
         however, I decided that we should go to the theatre once a month, and decently at that, in the orchestra. We went together,
         three times, and saw In Pursuit of Happiness and Songbirds,12 I think. (Oh, to hell with it, to hell with it!) We went in silence and returned in silence. Why, why did we from the very
         beginning choose to be silent? After all, there weren’t any quarrels in the beginning, but there was silence then, too. As
         I recall, she somehow kept looking at me then on the sly; when I noticed that I increased my silence. True, I was the one who insisted upon silence, and not she. On
         her part there were outbursts once or twice, when she would rush to embrace me; but since these outbursts were unhealthy and
         hysterical, and what I required was steadfast happiness, together with her respect, I received them coldly. And I was right
         to do so: each time the outburst was followed the next day by a quarrel.


      
      That is, there weren’t any quarrels, but there was silence and – and on her part a more and more insolent look. ‘Rebellion
         and independence’ – that’s what it was, only she didn’t know how. Yes, that meek face was becoming more and more insolent.
         Can you believe it? I was becoming repulsive to her – I came to understand that. And there could be no doubt about these outbursts
         that came over her. For example, after leaving behind such filth and beggary, after scrubbing floors, how could she suddenly
         begin to grumble about our poverty! You see, gentlemen: it wasn’t poverty, it was economy, and where necessary there was
         some luxury, when it came to linens and cleanliness, for example. I had always dreamed before that cleanliness in a husband
         attracts a wife. However, it wasn’t poverty, but my supposed miserly economy that bothered her: ‘He has goals, he’s showing
         his firm character.’ She suddenly declined to go to the theatre. And there was more and more of that sardonic grin … While
         I intensified my silence, I intensified my silence.


      
      Surely there was no need to justify my actions? The main thing here was the pawnshop. Come now, sirs: I knew that a woman,
         especially one who was sixteen years old, couldn’t help but submit completely to a man. Women have no originality, that’s
         – that’s an axiom, even now it’s an axiom for me! Never mind what’s lying there in the front room: truth is truth, and even
         Mill13 himself can’t do anything about it! But a loving woman, oh, a loving woman idolizes even the vices, even the villainy of
         her beloved being. He would not seek such justifications for his villainy as she will find for him. That’s magnanimous but
         not original. It is this lack of originality alone that has been the undoing of women. And what, I repeat, what are you pointing
         to there on the table? Is there really anything original about what’s there on the table? Oh-h-h!


      
      Listen: I was certain of her love then. You see, she would throw herself on my neck then. That meant she loved me, or rather
         – she wished to love me. Yes, that’s what it was: she wished to love, she sought to love. But the main thing, you see, is
         that there weren’t any villainies for which she needed to find justifications. You say a ‘pawnbroker’ and that’s what everyone
         says. But what if I am a pawnbroker? That means there are reasons, if the most magnanimous of men became a pawnbroker. You
         see, gentlemen, there are ideas … that is, you see, when some ideas are said out loud, put into words, they come out terribly
         stupid. They come out so that you’re ashamed of them yourself. But why? For no reason at all. Because we’re all good-for-nothings
         and can’t bear the truth, or I don’t know why else. I said just now ‘the most magnanimous of men’. That’s ridiculous, you
         see, and yet that’s how it was. You see, it’s the truth, that is, it’s the most truthful truth of all! Yes, I had the right then to want to provide for myself and open this shop: ‘You, that is, you people, have spurned me, you have driven me away
         with your contemptuous silence. You have answered my outbursts of passion with an insult that I will feel for the rest of
         my life. Consequently, I now am within my rights to protect myself from you with a wall, to amass those 30,000 roubles and
         end my days somewhere in the Crimea,14 on the southern shore, amidst mountains and vineyards, on my own estate purchased with that 30,000, and the main thing, far
         away from you all, but without malice towards you, with an ideal in my soul, with my beloved woman at my heart, with a family
         if God should send one, and – helping out the neighbouring peasants.’ It goes without saying that it’s good that I’m telling
         this to myself now, but what could have been more stupid than if I had described all this out loud to her then? That was the
         reason behind my proud silence, and that was the reason we sat in silence. Because what would she have understood? Just sixteen
         years old, so very young – what could she have understood of my justifications, of my suffering? I was dealing with straightforwardness,
         ignorance of life, cheap, youthful convictions, the blindness of ‘beautiful hearts’, and the main thing, the pawnshop and
         – basta!15 (But was I a scoundrel in the pawnshop, didn’t she see how I conducted myself and did I charge more than I should?) Oh, how terrible is truth on this earth! This charming one, this meek one, this
         heaven – she was a tyrant, the unbearable tyrant of my soul and my tormentor! I’d be slandering myself, you see, if I didn’t
         say that! You think I didn’t love her? Who can say that I didn’t love her? You see: there was irony here, the malicious irony
         of fate and nature! We are accursed, the life of people in general is accursed! (And mine in particular!) I understand now,
         you see, that I made some mistake here! Something didn’t come out the way it was supposed to. Everything was clear, my plan
         was as clear at the sky: ‘Severe, proud, requires no moral consolation, suffers in silence.’ That’s how it was, I wasn’t lying,
         I wasn’t lying! ‘She’ll see for herself later on that there was magnanimity here, but she just wasn’t able to see it now –
         and when she does fathom it some day, she’ll appreciate it ten times more and will fall down in the dust with her hands folded
         in supplication.’ That was the plan. But I forgot something here or failed to take it into account. I wasn’t able to do something
         here. But enough, enough. And of whom can I ask forgiveness now? What’s done is done. Take courage, man, and be proud! It’s
         not you who are to blame! … 


      
      Now then, I’ll tell the truth, I won’t be afraid to stand face to face with the truth: she is to blame, she is to blame! … 


      
      
      
      
      V. The Meek One Rebels

      
      
      The quarrels began when she suddenly took it into her head to pay out money as she saw fit, to appraise things for more than
         they were worth, and a couple of times she even thought fit to enter into an argument with me on the subject. I didn’t agree.
         But then this captain’s widow turned up.


      
      An old lady, the widow of a captain, came with a locket – a present from her late husband, well, you know, a keepsake. I gave
         thirty roubles. She started to whine plaintively, begging me to keep the thing for her; it goes without saying that we keep
         it. Well, in a word, suddenly she comes five days later to exchange it for a bracelet that’s not worth even eight roubles;
         it goes without saying that I refused. She must have guessed then something from my wife’s eyes, but in any case she came when I wasn’t there, and my wife exchanged the locket.


      
      When I learned about it that very same day, I began by speaking meekly, but firmly and reasonably. She was sitting on the
         bed, looking at the floor, tapping the rug with the toe of her right shoe (her gesture); an unpleasant smile played on her
         lips. Then without raising my voice at all I announced calmly that the money was mine, that I had the right to look at life with my own eyes and that when I invited her into my house I had not concealed anything from her.


      
      She suddenly jumped up, suddenly began trembling all over and – what do you think – she suddenly began stamping her feet at
         me; this was a wild animal, this was a fit, this was a wild animal having a fit. I froze in astonishment: I had never expected
         such an outburst. But I didn’t become flustered, I didn’t even move a muscle, and once again in the same calm voice I declared
         plainly that from that time forward I refused to let her take part in my affairs. She laughed in my face and walked out of
         the apartment.


      
      The fact of the matter is that she had no right to leave the apartment. Nowhere without me, that was the agreement we made
         when she was still my fiancée. She returned towards evening; I didn’t say a word.


      
      The next day, too, she went out in the morning, and it was the same thing the following day. I locked up the shop and set
         off to see her aunts. I had broken off relations with them from the day of the wedding – I hadn’t invited them to visit me,
         we didn’t visit them. Now it turned out that she wasn’t with them. They heard me out with curiosity and laughed in my face.
         ‘Serves you right,’ they said. But I had expected their laughter. I then and there bribed the younger aunt, the spinster,
         with a hundred roubles, and gave her twenty-five in advance. Two days later she comes to me: ‘An officer,’ she says, ‘a Lieutenant
         Yefimovich, a former comrade of yours from the regiment, is mixed up in this.’ I was quite astonished. This Yefimovich had
         done me more harm than anyone else in the regiment, and a month ago he stopped by my shop a couple of times, and being the
         shameless fellow that he is, under the pretence of pawning something, I remember, he began laughing with my wife. I went up to him then and told him that, considering our relations, he should not presume
         to visit me; but no idea of anything like that crossed my mind, I simply thought that he was an insolent fellow. But now suddenly
         her auntie informs me that she had made an appointment to see him and that this whole affair is being handled by a certain
         former acquaintance of the aunts, Yuliya Samsonovna, a widow, and a colonel’s widow at that – ‘It’s her that your spouse goes
         to visit now,’ she says.


      
      I’ll cut this story short. This business cost me almost 300 roubles, but in two days it was arranged that I would stand in
         the adjoining room, behind closed doors, and listen to my wife’s first rendezvous alone with Yefimovich. Meanwhile, the previous evening a brief but for me very significant scene between myself and my wife
         took place.


      
      She returned towards evening, sat down on the bed, looked at me mockingly and thumped the rug with her foot. Suddenly, as
         I was looking at her, the idea flew into my head then that all this past month, or, rather, for the past two weeks, she had
         not been herself at all – one could even say that she had been exactly the opposite: a wild, aggressive being had made its
         appearance; I can’t say shameless, but disorderly and looking for trouble. Asking for trouble. Meekness, however, held her
         back. When a girl like that starts creating an uproar, even if she does cross the line, it’s nevertheless plain to see that
         she’s only hurting herself, that she’s egging herself on and that she will be the first who is unable to cope with her feelings
         of modesty and shame. That’s why girls like that sometimes go too far, so that you don’t believe your own eyes when you witness
         it. A soul accustomed to debauchery, on the contrary, always softens it, making it more vile, but in a guise of decorum and
         decency that claims to be superior to you.


      
      ‘And is it true that you were driven out of your regiment, because you were too cowardly to fight a duel?’ she asked suddenly,
         out of the blue, and her eyes flashed.


      
      ‘It’s true; the officers rendered the verdict that I was to be asked to leave the regiment, although I had in any case already
         tendered my resignation.’


      
      ‘You were driven out as a coward?’

      
      ‘Yes, they judged me a coward. But I refused to duel not because I was a coward, but because I didn’t wish to submit to their
         tyrannical verdict and issue a challenge to a duel when I did not consider myself to be insulted. You should know,’ I couldn’t
         restrain myself here, ‘that flying in the face of such tyranny through my actions and accepting all the consequences took
         far more courage than any duel would have done.’


      
      I couldn’t contain myself, with this phrase I launched into self-justifications, as it were, and that was all she needed,
         a fresh instance of my humiliation. She burst out in malicious laughter.


      
      ‘And is it true that for the next three years you wandered the streets of Petersburg like a tramp, and begged for kopecks,
         and slept under billiard tables?’


      
      ‘I even spent some nights in the Vyazemsky House on Haymarket Square.16 Yes, it’s true; in my life after leaving the regiment there was much shame and degradation, but not moral degradation, because
         I was the first to loathe my actions even then. It was merely the degradation of my will and mind, and it was brought about
         only by the desperation of my situation. But this passed …’


      
      ‘Oh, now you’re an important person – a financier!’

      
      That is, a hint at my pawnshop. But I had already managed to hold myself in check. I saw that she thirsted for explanations
         that would be humiliating for me and – I didn’t give them. Fortunately, a client rang the bell just then and I went to see
         him in the front room. Afterwards, an hour later, when she had suddenly dressed to go out, she stopped in front of me and
         said:


      
      ‘You didn’t tell me anything about this before the wedding, however.’

      
      I didn’t answer, and she left.

      
      And so, the next day I stood in this room behind the door and listened to my fate being decided, and in my pocket there was
         a revolver. She was dressed up, sitting at the table, and Yefimovich was putting on airs. And what do you know: it turned
         out (I say this to my credit), it turned out exactly as I had foreseen and supposed, though without realizing that I had foreseen and supposed this. I don’t know whether I’m expressing
         myself clearly.


      
      This is what happened. I listened for a whole hour and for that hour I witnessed a duel between the most noble and lofty woman
         and a worldly, depraved, dim-witted creature with a grovelling soul. And how, I thought to myself in amazement, how does this
         naive, this meek, this reserved girl know all this? The cleverest author of a high-society comedy could not have created this
         scene of ridicule, the most naive laughter and the holy contempt of virtue for vice. And such brilliance in her words and
         little turns of speech; what wit in her quick replies, what truth in her censure! And at the same time what almost girlish
         ingenuousness. She laughed in his face at his declarations of love, at his gestures, at his proposals. Coming straight to
         the matter with a crude assault and not foreseeing any opposition, all of a sudden he had the wind taken out of his sails.
         At first I might have thought that it was simply coquetry on her part – the ‘coquetry of a clever though depraved creature
         in order to show herself more lavishly’. But no, the truth shone through like the sun and it was impossible to have any doubts.
         It was only out of hatred for me, affected and impetuous though it was, that she, inexperienced as she was, could have decided
         to undertake this meeting, but as soon as it had become reality – her eyes were opened at once. Here was a creature who was
         simply flailing about so as to insult me no matter what, but once she had decided on such filth she couldn’t bear the disorder.
         And could she, blameless and pure, with ideals, have been attracted to Yefimovich or any of those other high-society brutes?
         On the contrary, he aroused only laughter. The whole truth rose up from her soul, and indignation called forth sarcasm from
         her heart. I repeat, towards the end this fool was utterly dazed and sat scowling, barely responding, so that I even began
         to fear that he would venture to insult her out of mean-spirited revenge. And I repeat once again: to my credit I heard this
         scene out almost without astonishment. It was as though I had encountered something familiar. It was as though I had gone
         in order to encounter it. I had gone, believing nothing, no accusation, although I did put a revolver in my pocket – that’s the truth! And could I have really imagined her otherwise? Wasn’t that
         why I loved her, wasn’t that why I cherished her, wasn’t that why I had married her? Oh, of course, I was all too convinced
         that she hated me then, but I was also convinced of her purity. I brought the scene swiftly to a close by opening the door.
         Yefimovich jumped to his feet, I took her by the hand and invited her to leave with me. Yefimovich found his bearings and
         suddenly burst out in resounding peals of laughter.


      
      ‘Oh, I have no objections to sacred conjugal rights, take her away, take her away! And you know,’ he shouted after me, ‘even
         though a respectable person can’t fight you, yet out of respect for your lady, I am at your service … If you, however, want
         to risk it …’


      
      ‘Do you hear that!’ I stopped her for a second on the threshold.

      
      Then not a word all the way home. I led her by the hand, and she didn’t resist. On the contrary, she was utterly dumbfounded,
         but only until we got home. On our arrival, she sat down on a chair and fastened her gaze on me. She was extraordinarily pale;
         though her lips had at once formed a mocking smile, she was already regarding me with a solemn and severe challenge, and,
         I believe, she was seriously convinced those first few moments that I was going to kill her with the revolver. But I took
         the revolver out of my pocket in silence and laid it on the table. She looked at me and at the revolver. (Note: she was already
         familiar with this revolver. I had acquired it and kept it loaded ever since opening the shop. When I was getting ready to
         open the shop I had decided not to keep hulking dogs or a burly lackey like Mozer did, for example. The cook opens the door
         for my visitors. But people who engage in my trade cannot deprive themselves of self-defence, just in case, and I kept a loaded
         revolver. During those first days when she had come to live in my house she showed a lot of interest in this revolver, she
         asked a lot of questions, and I even explained the mechanism and how it worked; moreover, I persuaded her once to shoot at
         a target. Note all that.) Paying no notice of her frightened look, I lay down on the bed half-undressed. I was very tired;
         it was already almost eleven o’clock. She went on sitting in the same place, without moving, for almost another hour, then she put out the
         candle and lay down, also dressed, on the sofa by the wall. It was the first time that she didn’t come to bed with me – note
         that as well … 


      
      
      
      
      VI. A Terrible Memory

      
      
      Now, this terrible memory …

      
      I woke up in the morning, between seven and eight, I think, and it was already almost completely light in the room. I woke
         up all at once fully conscious and suddenly opened my eyes. She was standing by the table, holding the revolver. She didn’t
         see that I was awake and watching. And suddenly I saw that she had started to move towards me, holding the revolver. I quickly
         shut my eyes and pretended to be fast asleep.


      
      She came up to the bed and stood over me. I heard everything; although a dead silence had fallen, I heard even that silence.
         Then there came a convulsive movement – and I suddenly, uncontrollably, opened my eyes against my will. She was looking me
         right in the eyes, and the revolver was already by my temple. Our eyes met. But we looked at each other for no more than a
         moment. I forced myself to shut my eyes again and at the same moment I resolved with every fibre of my being that I would
         not stir or open my eyes, no matter what awaited me.


      
      In fact, it does happen sometimes that a person who is sound asleep suddenly opens his eyes, even raises his head for a second
         and looks about the room, then, a moment later, he lays his head on the pillow again and falls asleep without remembering
         a thing. When, after meeting her gaze and feeling the revolver at my temple, I suddenly shut my eyes again and didn’t stir,
         like someone sound asleep, she certainly could have supposed that I indeed was asleep and that I hadn’t seen anything, particularly
         since it was altogether incredible that having seen what I saw I would shut my eyes again at such a moment.


      
      Yes, incredible. But she still might have guessed the truth – that was what suddenly flashed through my mind, at that very
         same moment. Oh, what a whirlwind of thoughts, sensations raced through my mind in less than a moment; long live the electricity of human thought! In that case (I felt), if she had
         guessed the truth and knew that I wasn’t sleeping, then I had already crushed her with my readiness to accept death and her
         hand might now falter. Her former resolve might be shattered by this new extraordinary impression. They say that people standing
         on a height are drawn downwards, as it were, of their own accord, to the abyss. I think that a lot of suicides and murders
         have been committed merely because the revolver was already in hand. There’s an abyss here as well, there’s a forty-five-degree
         slope down which you can’t help but slide and something relentlessly challenges you to pull the trigger. But the awareness
         that I had seen everything, that I knew everything and that I was awaiting my death from her in silence – might hold her back
         from that slope.


      
      The silence continued, and suddenly I felt on my temple, at my hairline, the cold touch of iron. You will ask: did I firmly
         hope that I would be saved? I will answer you as if I were before God himself: I had no hope whatsoever, except perhaps one
         chance in a hundred. Why, then, did I accept death? But I will ask: What need would I have of life after the revolver was
         raised against me by the being whom I adored? Moreover, I knew with all the force of my being that a struggle was going on
         between us at that very moment, a terrible duel for life and death, a duel of that same coward of yesterday, driven out by
         his comrades. I knew it, and she knew it, if only she had guessed the truth that I wasn’t sleeping.


      
      Perhaps it wasn’t like that, perhaps I didn’t think that then, but still it must have been like that, even without thought,
         because all I’ve done since is think about it every hour of my life.


      
      But you’ll ask me the question again: why didn’t I save her then from this treachery? Oh, I have asked myself that question
         a thousand times since – each time when, with a shiver down my spine, I recalled that second. But my soul then was plunged
         in dark despair: I was lost, I myself was lost, so whom could I have saved? And how do you know whether I still wanted to
         save somebody then? How can you know what I might have been feeling then?


      
      My consciousness, however, was seething; the seconds passed, there was dead silence; she was still standing over me – and
         then suddenly I shuddered with hope! I quickly opened my eyes. She was no longer in the room. I got up from the bed: I had
         defeated her – and she was forever defeated!


      
      I went out to the samovar. We always had the samovar brought to the outer room and she was always the one to pour the tea.
         I sat down at the table in silence and took a glass of tea from her. About five minutes later I glanced at her. She was terribly
         pale, even paler than yesterday, and she was looking at me. And suddenly – and suddenly, seeing that I was looking at her,
         she gave a pale smile with her pale lips, a timid question in her eyes. ‘That means that she still has doubts and is asking
         herself: does he know or not, did he see or didn’t he?’ I indifferently turned my eyes away. After tea I locked up the shop,
         went to the market and bought an iron bed and a screen. When I returned home, I had the bed installed in the front room with
         the screen around it. This bed was for her, but I didn’t say a word to her. Even without words she understood from this bed
         alone that I ‘had seen everything and knew everything’ and that there was no longer any doubt about this. I left the revolver
         on the table for the night as always. At night she silently got into her new bed: the marriage was dissolved, ‘she had been
         defeated but not forgiven’. During the night she became delirious, and by morning she had a fever. She was confined to bed
         for six weeks.


      
      
      
      
      
      CHAPTER 2

      
      
      
      
      I. A Dream of Pride

      
      
      Lukerya just announced that she won’t stay with me and that she’ll leave as soon as the mistress is buried. I prayed on my
         knees for five minutes, and I had wanted to pray for an hour, but I keep thinking, and thinking, and they’re all such aching
         thoughts and my head aches – what’s the use of praying – it’s nothing but a sin! It’s also strange that I don’t want to sleep:
         in great, in such great sorrow, after the first violent outbursts, one always wants to sleep. They say that people who are condemned to death sleep extremely soundly on their last night. As they should, it’s only natural,
         otherwise they wouldn’t have the strength to endure it … I lay down on the sofa, but I didn’t fall asleep … 


      
      … For the six weeks of her illness we took care of her day and night – Lukerya and I and a trained nurse from the hospital,
         whom I had hired. I didn’t begrudge the money, and even wanted to spend money on her. I called in Dr Schroeder and paid him
         ten roubles a visit. When she regained consciousness, I started to show myself less often. But why am I describing this? When
         she was completely on her feet again, she sat quietly and silently in my room at a special table, which I had also bought
         for her at the time … Yes, it’s true, we were perfectly silent; that is, we began to talk later on, but only about the usual
         things. Of course, I deliberately refrained from becoming expansive, but I could see very well that she also was happy not
         to say a word more than was necessary. This seemed perfectly natural on her part: ‘She is too shaken and too defeated,’ I
         thought, ‘and of course she needs time to forget and get used to things.’ And so it was that we were silent, but every minute
         I was secretly preparing myself for the future. I thought that she was doing the same as well, and it was terribly entertaining
         for me to guess: Exactly what is she thinking about now?


      
      I’ll say one more thing: Oh, of course, nobody knows what I endured as I grieved over her during her illness. But I kept my
         grief to myself and kept the grieving in my heart even from Lukerya. I couldn’t imagine, I couldn’t even suppose that she
         would die without learning everything. When she was out of danger and her health started to return, I remember this, I quickly
         calmed down and very much so. What’s more, I decided to postpone our future for as long as possible, and for the present to leave everything as it was now. Yes, then something happened to me that was
         strange and peculiar, I don’t know what else to call it: I had triumphed and this thought alone proved to be quite sufficient
         for me. And that’s how the whole winter passed. Oh, I was pleased as I had never been before, and that for the whole winter.


      
      You see: in my life there had been one terrible external circumstance, which until then, that is, until the catastrophe with
         my wife, weighed heavily on me every day and every hour, namely, the loss of my reputation and leaving the regiment. To put
         it in a nutshell: this had been a tyrannical injustice against me. True, my comrades disliked me on account of my difficult
         and, perhaps, ridiculous character, although it often happens that what you find sublime, what you hold dear and esteem, for
         some reason at the same time makes a group of your comrades laugh. Oh, I was never liked, even in school. I’ve never been
         liked anywhere. Even Lukerya cannot like me. The incident in the regiment, though a consequence of this dislike for me, without
         a doubt bore an accidental character. I mention this because there’s nothing more exasperating and intolerable than to be
         ruined by an incident that might or might not have happened, by an unfortunate chain of circumstances that might have passed
         over, like a cloud. It’s humiliating for an educated man. The incident was as follows.


      
      During the intermission at the theatre I went to the bar. Hussar17 A—v came in suddenly and began talking loudly with two of his fellow hussars in the presence of all the officers and public
         gathered there about how Bezumtsev, the captain of our regiment, had just caused a scandal in the corridor ‘and he seems to
         be drunk’. The conversation moved on to other things; besides, there had been a mistake, because Captain Bezumtsev wasn’t
         drunk, and there hadn’t really been a scandal. The hussars began talking about something else, and that was the end of it,
         but the next day the story made its way to our regiment, and at once they began saying how I was the only person at the bar
         from our regiment and that when Hussar A—v spoke insolently of Captain Bezumtsev I had not gone over to A—v and put a stop
         to it by reprimanding him. But why on earth should I have done that? If he had it in for Bezumtsev, then it was their personal
         affair, and why should I get involved? Meanwhile, the officers began to take the position that the affair was not personal
         but concerned the regiment, and that since I was the only officer of our regiment present, I had proved by my conduct to all
         the officers at the bar as well as the public that there might be officers in our regiment who were not overly scrupulous concerning their honour and the regiment’s. I could not agree with this verdict.
         I was given to understand that I might still set everything right even now, belatedly, if I should wish to demand a formal
         explanation from A—v. I did not wish to do so and since I was annoyed, I refused with pride. I then at once resigned my commission
         – and that’s the whole story. I left proud, but with my spirit crushed. My mind and will both foundered. It was just then
         that my sister’s husband squandered our little fortune and my portion of it, a tiny portion, so I was left on the street without
         a kopeck. I could have found employment in a private business, but I didn’t: after wearing my splendid regimental uniform
         I couldn’t go work on some railroad. And so – if it’s shame, let it be shame, if it’s disgrace, let it be disgrace, if it’s
         degradation, let it be degradation, and the worse, the better – that’s what I chose. There followed three years of gloomy
         memories, even of the Vyazemsky House. A year and a half ago a rich old lady, my godmother, died in Moscow and among other
         bequests unexpectedly left me 3,000 in her will. I gave it some thought and then decided my fate. I settled on the pawnshop,
         with no apologies to anyone: money, then a corner and – a new life far away from my former memories – that was the plan. Nevertheless,
         my gloomy past and the reputation of my honour, forever ruined, tormented me every hour, every minute. But then I married.
         By chance or not – I don’t know. But when I brought her into my house, I thought that I was bringing a friend, I greatly needed
         a friend. But I saw clearly that my friend had to be prepared, given the finishing touches, and even defeated. And could I
         have explained anything straight off like that to this sixteen-year-old girl with her prejudices? For example, how could I,
         without the accidental assistance of the terrible catastrophe with the revolver, have convinced her that I wasn’t a coward
         and that I had been unjustly accused by the regiment of being a coward? But the catastrophe arrived just at the right moment.
         Having stood up to the revolver, I had avenged all of my gloomy past. And even though nobody knew about it, she knew about it, and that was everything for me, because she was everything to me, all my hopes for the future in my dreams!
         She was the only person whom I was preparing for myself, and I didn’t need another – and now she knew everything; at least she knew that she had unjustly
         hurried to join my enemies. This thought delighted me. In her eyes I could no longer be a scoundrel, but merely a peculiar
         person, and even this thought, after everything that had happened, did not at all displease me: peculiarity is not a vice;
         on the contrary, it sometimes attracts the feminine character. In a word, I deliberately postponed the finale: what had taken
         place was more than sufficient, for the time being, for my peace of mind and contained more than enough pictures and material
         for my dreams. That’s the nasty thing about this – I’m a dreamer: I had enough material; as for her, I thought that she would wait.

      
      And so the whole winter passed in some sort of expectation of something. I liked to steal looks at her, when she happened
         to be sitting at her little table. She would be busy with her needlework, with the linen, and in the evenings she would sometimes
         read books which she would take from my bookcase. The choice of books in the bookcase should also have spoken in my favour.
         She hardly ever went out. Every day after dinner, before dusk, I would take her for a walk and we would go for our constitutional,
         but not completely in silence, as before. I precisely tried to make it look as though we weren’t being silent and were speaking
         harmoniously, but as I’ve already said we both avoided getting carried away talking. I was doing this on purpose, while she,
         I thought, needed to be ‘given time’. Of course, it’s strange that it did not once occur to me until almost the very end of
         the winter that though I liked to look at her on the sly, I never once caught her looking at me that whole winter! I thought
         that it was timidity on her part. Moreover, she had an air about her of such timid meekness, such weakness after her illness.
         No, better to bide one’s time and – ‘and she will suddenly come to you on her own …’


      
      That thought delighted me irresistibly. I will add one thing: sometimes it was as if I had deliberately inflamed myself and
         really brought my heart and mind to the point that I would feel that I had been wronged by her. And so it continued for some
         time. But my hatred could never ripen and take root in my soul. And I even felt that it was only some sort of game. And even
         then, although I had dissolved our marriage by buying the bed and screen, never, never could I see her as a criminal. And
         not because I judged her crime lightly, but because it made sense to forgive her completely, from the very first day, even
         before I bought the bed. In a word, this was a strange move on my part, for I am morally stern. On the contrary, in my eyes
         she was so defeated, so humiliated, so crushed that I sometimes felt tormenting pity for her, even though at the same time
         I sometimes definitely found the idea of her humiliation pleasing. The idea of our inequality pleased me … 


      
      That winter it so happened that I deliberately performed several good deeds. I forgave two debts, I gave money to one poor
         woman without any pledge. And I didn’t tell my wife about this, and I hadn’t done this so that she would find out; but the
         woman came to thank me herself, she was practically on her knees. And that was how it became known; it seemed to me that she
         was truly pleased to find out about the woman.


      
      But spring was approaching, it was already the middle of April, the storm windows had been taken down, and the sun began to
         light up our silent rooms with its bright pencils of light. But scales hung before my eyes and blinded my reason. Fateful,
         terrible scales! How did it come about that they suddenly fell from my eyes and that I suddenly could see clearly and understand
         everything! Was it chance, was it that the appointed day had come, was it a ray of sunshine that had kindled the thought and
         conjecture in my benumbed mind? No, it wasn’t a matter of a thought but rather a nerve began to play up, a nerve that had
         grown numb began to quiver and came to life and illuminated my entire benumbed soul and my demonic pride. It was as if I had
         suddenly jumped up from my seat then. And it happened suddenly and unexpectedly. It happened towards evening, at about five
         o’clock, after dinner … 


      
      
      
      
      II. The Scales Suddenly Fall

      
      
      A couple of words first. A month earlier I had noticed a strange pensiveness in her, not just silence, but pensiveness. I
         had also noticed this suddenly. She was sitting at her work at the time, her head bent over her sewing, and she didn’t see that I was looking at her. And suddenly I was struck by how delicate and
         thin she had become, that her face was pale, her lips were drained of colour – all this as a whole, taken together with her
         pensiveness, shocked me all at once in the extreme. I had already heard earlier a little dry cough, particularly at night.
         I got up at once and set off to ask Schroeder to pay us a visit, without saying anything to her.


      
      Schroeder came the following day. She was very surprised and looked first at Schroeder and then at me.

      
      ‘But I’m fine,’ she said with an uncertain smile.

      
      Schroeder didn’t examine her very thoroughly (these medical men sometimes are condescendingly offhand), and merely told me
         in the other room that it was the remnants of her illness and that come spring it wouldn’t be a bad idea to take a trip somewhere
         to the sea or if that were not possible, then simply to find a place in the country. In a word, he didn’t say anything other
         than that there was some weakness or something of the sort. When Schroeder had gone, she suddenly said to me again, looking
         at me terribly seriously:


      
      ‘I’m really, really fine.’

      
      But after saying this, she then and there suddenly flushed, apparently from shame. Apparently, it was shame. Oh, now I understand:
         She was ashamed that I was still her husband, that I was taking care of her as if I were still her real husband. But I didn’t understand then and ascribed her blush to
         humility. (The scales!)


      
      And then, a month later, between five and six o’clock, in April, on a bright sunny day I was sitting in the shop and doing
         the accounts. Suddenly I heard her in our room, at her table, over her work, singing ever so softly … This new development
         made a tremendous impression on me, and to this day I don’t understand it. Until then I had almost never heard her sing, except
         perhaps in the very first days when I brought her into my house and we could still have some fun, target shooting with the
         revolver. Then her voice was still rather strong, ringing, though a bit off-key, but terribly pleasant and healthy. But now
         her little song sounded so feeble – oh, not that it was doleful (it was some romance), but it was as if there was something cracked, broken, in her voice, as if the little voice couldn’t cope, as if
         the song itself were ailing. She was singing under her breath, and suddenly, after rising, the voice broke – such a poor little
         voice, it broke so pitifully; she cleared her throat and started singing again, ever so softly, you could barely hear her
         … 


      
      My agitation may be laughable, but no one will ever understand why I had become so agitated! No, I didn’t feel sorry for her
         yet; it was still something altogether different. At the beginning, for the first moments at least, I suddenly felt bewilderment
         and terrible surprise, terrible and strange, painful and almost vindictive: ‘She is singing and in my presence! Has she forgotten about me, is that it?’


      
      Completely shaken, I stayed where I was, then I suddenly rose, took my hat and left, without thinking it through, as it were.
         At least I didn’t know why or where I was going. Lukerya started helping me on with my coat.


      
      ‘She sings?’ I said to Lukerya unintentionally. She didn’t understand and looked at me, still not understanding; but I really
         had been incomprehensible.


      
      ‘Is this the first time that she’s been singing?’

      
      ‘No, she sometimes sings when you’re not here,’ Lukerya replied.

      
      I remember everything. I walked down the stairs, went out into the street and set off for nowhere in particular. I walked
         as far as the corner and began to stare off into the distance. People passed by me, jostled me, but I didn’t feel it. I hailed
         a cab and told him to take me to the Police Bridge,18 I don’t know why. But then I suddenly changed my mind and gave him a twenty-kopeck piece.


      
      ‘That’s for your trouble,’ I said, laughing senselessly, but some sort of rapture had suddenly begun to fill my heart.

      
      I turned around and went home, quickening my step. The cracked, poor, broken little note suddenly rang out in my heart again.
         It took my breath away. The scales were falling, falling from my eyes! If she’d started singing in my presence, then she had
         forgotten about me – that’s what was clear and terrible. My heart sensed this. But rapture shone in my soul and overcame my
         fear.


      
      Oh, the irony of fate! You see, there had been nothing else and there could not have been anything else in my soul all winter
         except this very rapture, but where had I myself been all winter long? Had I been there with my soul? I ran up the stairs
         in a great hurry, I don’t know whether I walked in timidly or not. I remember only that the entire floor seemed to be rippling
         and it was as if I were floating down a river. I walked into the room, she was sitting in the same place, sewing, with her
         head bent, but no longer singing. She threw me a fleeting and incurious glance, but it wasn’t even a glance, merely the usual,
         indifferent gesture one makes when somebody enters a room.


      
      I walked straight up to her and sat down on a chair right beside her, like a madman. She gave me a quick look, as though she
         were frightened: I took her by the hand and I don’t remember what I said to her, that is, what I wanted to say, because I
         couldn’t even speak properly. My voice kept breaking and wouldn’t obey me. And I didn’t know what to say, I just kept gasping
         for breath.


      
      ‘Let’s talk … you know … say something!’ I suddenly babbled something stupid – oh, but was I capable of making sense? She
         flinched again and recoiled, badly frightened, looking at my face, but suddenly – stern surprise appeared in her eyes. Yes, surprise, and stern. She was looking at me wide-eyed. This sternness, this stern surprise came crashing down on me all at once: ‘So you still
         want love? Love?’ that surprise seemed to ask suddenly, although she was silent as well. But I could read it all, all of it.
         My whole being was shaken and I simply fell to the ground at her feet. Yes, I collapsed at her feet. She quickly jumped up,
         but I restrained her by taking hold of both her hands with extraordinary force.


      
      And I fully understood my despair, oh, I understood! But would you believe it, rapture was seething in my heart so irrepressibly
         that I thought I would die. I kissed her feet in ecstasy and happiness. Yes, in happiness, immeasurable and infinite, yet
         understanding nonetheless all my hopeless despair! I wept, said something, but couldn’t speak. Her fright and surprise suddenly
         gave way to some anxious thought, some extreme question, and she looked at me strangely, wildly even – she wanted to understand something quickly, and she smiled. She was terribly ashamed that I was kissing her feet, and she kept moving back,
         but I would at once kiss the spot on the floor where she had been standing. She saw this and suddenly began to laugh from
         shame (you know how people laugh from shame). Hysterics weren’t far off, I saw that, her hands quivered – I didn’t give it
         a thought and kept muttering that I loved her, that I wouldn’t get up, ‘… let me kiss your dress … I’ll worship you like
         this for as long as you live …’ I don’t know, I don’t remember – and suddenly she burst out into sobs and started trembling;
         a terrible fit of hysteria had set in. I had frightened her.


      
      I carried her over to the bed. When the fit had passed, she sat up on the bed and with a terribly distraught look, seized
         me by the hands and pleaded with me to calm myself: ‘Enough, don’t torment yourself, calm yourself!’ and she began to weep
         again. I didn’t leave her side all that evening. I kept telling her that I’d take her to Boulogne19 to bathe in the sea, now, right away, in two weeks, that she had such a cracked little voice, I had heard it earlier that
         day, that I would close the pawnshop, sell it to Dobronravov, that everything would begin afresh, and the main thing, to Boulogne,
         to Boulogne! She listened and was still afraid. She was more and more afraid. But that wasn’t the main thing for me, but rather
         that I more and more irrepressibly wanted to lie down again at her feet, and once again, to kiss, to kiss the ground on which
         her feet stood, and to idolize her and – ‘I’ll ask nothing more of you, nothing,’ I kept repeating every minute. ‘Don’t answer
         me anything, don’t take any notice of me at all, and only let me look at you from the corner, turn me into your thing, into
         your little dog …’ She wept.


      
      ‘But I thought that you were going to leave me like that,’ suddenly burst forth from her involuntarily, so involuntarily that perhaps she didn’t notice at all how she had said it,
         and yet – oh, it was the most important, her most fateful word and the most comprehensible for me that evening, and it was
         as if it had slashed my heart like a knife. It explained everything to me, everything, but as long as she was there beside
         me, before my eyes, I went on hoping irrepressibly and was terribly happy. Oh, I wore her out terribly that evening and I
         understood that, but I kept thinking that I would change everything at once. Finally, towards nightfall, she broke down completely; I persuaded
         her to go to sleep, and she immediately fell sound asleep. I expected delirium, and there was delirium, but it was very mild.
         I got up during the night every few minutes, and would quietly go in my slippers to look at her. I wrung my hands over her,
         as I looked at this sick being lying on that pathetic little cot, the iron bedstead that I had bought for her then for three
         roubles. I got down on my knees but I didn’t dare kiss her feet while she was sleeping (against her wishes!). I would start
         praying to God, and then jump up again. Lukerya watched me closely and kept coming out of the kitchen. I went to her and told
         her to go to bed and that tomorrow ‘something quite different’ would begin.


      
      And I believed that blindly, madly, terribly. Oh, I was surging with rapture, rapture. I couldn’t wait for tomorrow. The main
         thing, I didn’t believe in any misfortune, despite the symptoms. My powers of understanding had not yet fully returned, even
         though the scales had fallen, and for a long, long time would not return – oh, not until today, not until this very day! And
         how, how could my understanding have returned then: you see, she was still alive then, you see, she was right there before
         me, and I before her. ‘She’ll wake up tomorrow, and I’ll tell her all this, and she’ll see it all.’ That was my reasoning
         then, clear and simple, hence the rapture! The main thing was this trip to Boulogne. For some reason I thought that Boulogne
         was everything, that there was something final about Boulogne. ‘To Boulogne, to Boulogne! …’ I waited for morning in a state
         of madness.


      
      
      
      
      III. I Understand All Too Well

      
      
      But this was only a few days ago, you see, five days, only five days ago, just last Tuesday! No, no, if only there had been
         a little more time, if only she had waited just a little bit longer and – and I would have dispelled the darkness! And hadn’t
         she calmed down? The very next day she listened to me with a smile even, despite her confusion. The main thing was that during
         all this time, all five days, she was either confused or ashamed … She was also afraid, very afraid. I don’t dispute it, I won’t deny it, like some madman: there was fear, but then how could
         she not be afraid? You see, we’d been strangers to each other for so long, we had grown so far apart from one another, and
         suddenly all this … But I didn’t pay attention to her fear – something new was shining! … Yes, it’s undoubtedly true that
         I’d made a mistake. And perhaps even many mistakes. And as soon as we woke up the next day, when it was still morning (this
         was on Wednesday), I suddenly made a mistake right away: I suddenly made her my friend. I was in a hurry, much too much of
         a hurry, but a confession was necessary, essential – and much more than a confession! I didn’t even conceal that which I had
         concealed from myself all my life. I told her straight out that I had done nothing all winter long but be certain of her love.
         I explained to her that the pawnshop had been merely the degradation of my will and mind, my personal idea of self-flagellation
         and self-exaltation. I explained to her that I had indeed turned coward that time at the bar, and that it was owing to my
         character, my touchiness: I was struck by the surroundings, I was struck by the bar; I was struck by how I would end up looking
         in all this and wouldn’t it end up looking stupid? I didn’t turn coward on account of the duel, but because it would end up
         looking stupid … And then later I didn’t want to admit it, and tormented everyone, and tormented her for it as well, and then
         I married her so that I could torment her on account of it. In general, for the most part I spoke as though I were in a fever.
         She herself took me by the hands and begged me to stop: ‘You’re exaggerating … you’re tormenting yourself’, and the tears
         would begin again, and again there’d almost be a fit of hysteria. She kept pleading with me not to say or remember any of
         this.


      
      I paid little or no attention to her pleas: spring, Boulogne! There was the sun, there was our new sun, that was all I talked
         about! I locked up the shop, handed over the business to Dobronravov. I suddenly suggested to her that we give away everything
         to the poor, except for the initial 3,000 I had received from my godmother, which we would use to travel to Boulogne, and
         then we’d come back and begin our new working life. And so it was decided, because she didn’t say anything … she merely smiled.
         And I believe she smiled more out of a sense of delicacy, so as not to upset me. Of course, I saw that I was a burden to her,
         don’t think that I was so stupid or such an egoist that I didn’t see that. I saw everything, everything, right down to the
         last detail, I saw and knew better than anyone else; my despair was there for all to see!


      
      I told her everything about myself and about her. And about Lukerya. I told her that I had wept … Oh, I’d change the subject,
         you see, I was also trying not to remind her of certain things at all. And, you see, she even livened up once or twice, you
         see, I remember, I remember! Why do you say that I looked and saw nothing? And if only this had not happened, everything would have been resurrected. You see, it was she who told me the day before yesterday, when
         the conversation turned to reading and what she had read that winter – you see, it was she who told me and laughed, when she
         recalled that scene between Gil Blas and the Archbishop of Granada.20 And what a childish laugh, sweet, just like when she was still my fiancée (an instant! an instant!); I was so happy! I was
         terribly struck, however, by the archbishop: you see, that meant she had found enough peace of mind and happiness to laugh
         at that masterpiece while she sat there that winter. That means that she had already begun to find herself wholly at peace,
         that she had already begun to be wholly persuaded that I would leave her like that. ‘I thought that you were going to leave me like that’ – that’s what she had said then on Tuesday! Oh, the thought of a ten-year-old girl! And you see, she believed, believed
         that everything would in fact remain like that: she at her table, I at mine, and that’s how it would be for both of us until we were sixty. And suddenly – here I come forward,
         her husband, and her husband needs love! Oh, the incomprehensibility, oh, my blindness!


      
      It was also a mistake to look at her with rapture; I should have exercised restraint, because the rapture frightened her.
         But you see, I did exercise restraint, I didn’t kiss her feet anymore. Not once did I make a show of the fact … well, that
         I was her husband – oh, and it didn’t even cross my mind, I only worshipped her! But you see, I couldn’t be completely silent,
         I couldn’t say nothing at all, you see! I suddenly told her that I enjoyed her conversation and that I considered her incomparably, incomparably more educated and developed than I. Embarrassed,
         she blushed bright red and said that I was exaggerating. At this point, unable to contain myself, I foolishly told her what
         rapture I’d felt when I stood behind the door and listened to her duel, a duel of innocence with that beast, and how I had
         taken pleasure in her intelligence, her sparkling wit, combined with such childlike simple-heartedness. She seemed to shudder
         all over, murmured again that I was exaggerating, but suddenly her whole face darkened, she covered it with her hands and
         burst into sobs … Here I was unable to hold myself back: I again fell down before her, I again started to kiss her feet and
         again it ended in a fit, just as it had on Tuesday. That was yesterday evening, but the next morning … 


      
      Next morning?! Madman, but that morning was today, just now, only just now!

      
      Listen and consider carefully: you see, when we met just now (this was after yesterday’s attack), she even struck me with
         her calmness, that’s how it was! While all night long I had been trembling with fear over what had happened yesterday. But
         suddenly she comes up to me, stands before me and with her arms folded (just now, just now!), began by telling me that she’s
         a criminal, that she knows this, that the crime has tormented her all winter long, and is tormenting her now … that she values
         my magnanimity all too much … ‘I’ll be your true wife, I’ll respect you …’ Here I jumped up and embraced her like a madman!
         I kissed her, I kissed her face, her lips, like a husband, for the first time after a long separation. But why did I go out
         just now, for only two hours … our foreign passports … Oh, God! If only I had returned five minutes earlier, just five minutes!
         … And now there’s this crowd at our gate, these eyes fixed on me … Oh, Lord!


      
      Lukerya says (oh, I won’t let Lukerya go now for anything, she knows everything, she was here all winter, she’ll tell me everything),
         she says that after I left the house and only some twenty minutes before my return – she suddenly went into our room to see
         the mistress to ask her something, I don’t remember what, and she saw that her icon (the same icon of the Mother of God) had been taken down and was on the table before her, and that her mistress seemed to have been praying before it.
         ‘What’s wrong, mistress?’ ‘Nothing, Lukerya, you may go … Wait, Lukerya,’ she walked up to her and kissed her. ‘Are you happy,
         mistress?’ I ask. ‘Yes, Lukerya.’ ‘The master should have come to ask your forgiveness long ago … Thank God, you’ve made up.’
         ‘All right, Lukerya,’ she says, ‘leave me, Lukerya.’ And she smiled, but so strangely. So strangely that ten minutes later
         Lukerya suddenly went back to look in on her: ‘She was standing by the wall, right by the window, she had placed her hand
         on the wall, and laid her head on her hand, she was standing like that and thinking. And she was so lost in thought standing
         there that she didn’t hear me standing there and watching her from the other room. I saw that she was smiling, as it were,
         standing, thinking and smiling. I looked at her, turned around ever so quietly and walked out, thinking to myself, only suddenly
         I hear the window being opened. I at once went to say that “it’s fresh, mistress, you’ll catch cold” – and suddenly I see
         that she’s climbed up on to the window and is already standing there upright, in the open window, with her back towards me
         and holding the icon. My heart just sank then and I cried out: “Mistress, mistress!” She heard, made a move as if to turn
         around towards me, but didn’t, instead she took a step, clutched the icon to her breast – and threw herself out the window!’


      
      I only remember that when I entered the gates she was still warm. The main thing is that they’re all looking at me. At first
         they were shouting, but then they suddenly fell silent and they all make way for me and … and she’s lying there with the icon.
         I remember, though darkly, that I walked over in silence and looked for a long time, and they all gathered round and are saying
         something to me. Lukerya was there, but I didn’t see her. She says that she spoke with me. I remember only that trades-man:
         he kept shouting at me ‘only a handful of blood came out of her mouth, a handful, a handful!’ and pointing to the blood on
         a stone. I think I touched the blood with my finger, smeared some on my finger, looked at my finger (I remember that), and
         he kept saying to me: ‘A handful, a handful!’


      
      ‘And what do you mean “a handful”?’ I wailed, they say, with all my might, I raised my arms and threw myself at him …

      
      Oh, it’s absurd, absurd! Incomprehensibility! Improbability! Impossibility!

      
      
      
      
      IV. Only Five Minutes Too Late

      
      
      But is it really? Is it really probable? Can one really say that it was possible? Why, for what reason did this woman die?

      
      Oh, believe me, I understand; but why she died is still a question. She was frightened of my love, she asked herself seriously
         whether she should accept it or not, and she couldn’t bear the question and it was better to die. I know, I know, there’s
         no use in racking my brains over it: she had made too many promises, got frightened that she couldn’t keep them – that’s clear.
         There are a number of circumstances here that are quite terrible.


      
      Because why did she die? The question persists, all the same. The question hammers, hammers away in my brain. I would even
         have left her like that if she had wished to be left like that. She didn’t believe it, that’s what! No, no, I’m lying, that’s not it at all. It was simply because with me it had to be honest:
         to love meant to love completely, and not like she would have loved the merchant. And since she was too chaste, too pure to
         agree to a love like a merchant needs, she didn’t want to deceive me. She didn’t want to deceive me with half a love or a
         quarter of a love under the guise of love. She was much too honest, that’s what it is, gentlemen! I wanted to cultivate breadth
         of heart then, do you remember? A strange thought.


      
      I’m terribly curious: did she respect me? I don’t know. Did she despise me or not? I don’t think she did. It’s terribly strange:
         why didn’t it occur to me all winter long that she despised me? I was utterly convinced of the contrary right until the moment
         when she looked at me then with stern surprise. Precisely, stern. It was then that I understood at once that she despised me. I understood irrevocably and forever! Ah, let her, let her despise
         me, for her whole life even, but let her live, live! Just now she was still walking, talking. I don’t at all understand how
         she could throw herself out the window! And how could I have supposed that even five minutes earlier? I summoned Lukerya. I won’t
         let Lukerya go now for anything, not for anything!


      
      Oh, we could still have come to an understanding. It’s just that we had grown so terribly unused to each other during the
         winter, but couldn’t we have become accustomed to one another again? Why, why couldn’t we have come together and begun a new
         life again? I’m magnanimous, and so is she – that’s the point of connection! Just a few words more, two days, no more, and
         she would have understood everything.


      
      The main thing, it’s a pity that it all comes down to chance – simple, barbaric inertia, chance. That’s the pity of it! All of five minutes, I was only five minutes late! If I had arrived five
         minutes earlier – the moment would have passed by, like a cloud, and it would never have occurred to her again. And it would
         have ended by her understanding everything. But now the rooms stand empty again and I’m alone once again. There’s the pendulum
         ticking, it doesn’t care, it doesn’t feel sorry for anyone. There’s no one – that’s the awful thing!


      
      I pace, I keep pacing. I know, I know, don’t try to put words in my mouth: you think it’s ridiculous that I complain about
         chance and the five minutes? But it’s obvious, you see. Consider one thing: she didn’t even leave a note saying, ‘Don’t blame
         anyone for my death’, like everyone does. Could she really not have considered that even Lukerya might get into trouble? They
         might say, ‘You were alone with her, so you must have pushed her.’ In any event, she would have been dragged away, innocent
         though she was, if four people in the courtyard hadn’t seen from the windows of the wing and the courtyard how she stood there
         holding the icon and hurled herself down. But, you see, that’s chance as well that people were standing and saw it. No, this
         was all a moment, just one inexplicable moment. Suddenness and fantasy! So what if she was praying before the icon? That doesn’t
         mean that this was before death. The entire moment lasted, perhaps, all of some ten minutes, the entire decision – precisely
         when she was standing by the wall, with her head resting on her arm, and smiling. The thought flew into her head, her head
         started spinning and – and she couldn’t withstand it.


      
      It was a clear misunderstanding, say what you will. She could still have lived with me. But what if it was anaemia? Simply
         on account of anaemia, the exhaustion of vital energy? She had grown tired during the winter, that’s what it was … 


      
      I was late!!!

      
      How very thin she is in the coffin, how sharp her little nose has become! Her eyelashes lie like arrows. And she fell, you
         see – without smashing or breaking anything! Just this one ‘handful of blood’. A dessert spoon, that is. Internal concussion.
         A strange thought: What if it were possible not to bury her? Because if they take her away, then … Oh, no, it’s almost impossible
         that she’ll be taken away! Oh, of course, I know that she must be taken away, I’m not a madman and I’m not the least bit delirious;
         on the contrary, my mind has never been so lucid – but how can it be that again there’ll be no one in the house, again the
         two rooms, and again I’m alone with the pledges. Delirium, delirium, that’s where the delirium lies! I tormented her – that’s
         what it was!


      
      What are your laws to me now? What do I need with your customs, your ways, your life, your government, your faith? Let your
         judges judge me, let them take me to court, to your public court, and I will say that I acknowledge nothing. The judge will
         shout: ‘Silence, officer!’ And I will cry out to him: ‘What power do you now possess that I should obey you? Why has dark
         inertia shattered that which was dearest of all? What need have I now of your laws? I part company with you.’ Oh, it’s all
         the same to me!


      
      Blind, she’s blind! Dead, she doesn’t hear! You don’t know with what paradise I would have surrounded you. The paradise was
         in my soul; I would have planted it all round you! Well, you wouldn’t have loved me – so be it, what of it? Everything would
         have been like that, everything would have stayed like that. You would have talked to me only as a friend – and we would have rejoiced and laughed with joy, as we looked into each other’s
         eyes. That’s how we would have lived. And if you had fallen in love with somebody else – well, so be it, so be it! You would
         have walked with him and laughed, while I looked on from the other side of the street … Oh, let it be anything, anything,
         if only she would open her eyes just once! For one moment, just one! If she would look at me as she did just now, when she stood
         before me and swore to be my faithful wife! Oh, she would have understood it all in one glance!


      
      Inertia!21 Oh, nature! People are alone on this earth – that’s the problem! ‘Is there a man alive on the field?’ the Russian bogatyr22 cries out. And I cry out as well, though I am not a bogatyr, and no one answers. They say that the sun gives life to the universe. The sun will rise and – look at it, isn’t it dead?23 Everything is dead, the dead are everywhere. There are only people, and all around them is silence – that’s the earth. ‘People,
         love one another’ – who said that?24 Whose commandment is that? The pendulum ticks insensibly, disgustingly. It’s two o’clock in the morning. Her little shoes
         are by the bed, as if they were waiting for her … No, seriously, when they take her away tomorrow, what will become of me?
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      THE DREAM OF A RIDICULOUS MAN

      
      A Fantastic Story

      
      
      
      
      I

      
      
      I am a ridiculous man. They call me mad now. That would be a promotion in rank if I weren’t just as ridiculous to them as
         I was before. But I’m no longer angry now, they’re all so dear to me now, and even when they laugh at me – even then they’re
         somehow particularly dear to me. I would laugh with them – not at myself really, but because I love them, if it weren’t so
         sad for me to look at them. Oh, how hard it is when you’re the only one who knows the truth! But they won’t understand that.
         No, they won’t understand.


      
      Before it used to make me miserable that I seemed ridiculous. Not seemed, but was. I was always ridiculous, and I have known
         that, perhaps, since the very day I was born. Perhaps I already knew when I was seven years old that I was ridiculous. Then
         I went to school, then to university and what do you know – the more I studied, the more I learned that I was ridiculous.
         So that for me all my university studies in the end existed solely to prove and explain to me, the more deeply I delved, that
         I was ridiculous. As in my studies, so in my life. With each passing year the same consciousness about my ridiculous appearance
         in all regards grew and became more firmly established. I was always laughed at by everybody. But not one of them knew or
         guessed that if there was a man on this earth who knew better than everyone else that I was ridiculous, then that man was
         I, and that what I found all the more annoying was that they didn’t know, but I was to blame for that: I was always so proud
         that I never wished under any circumstances to admit it to anybody. This pride grew in me as the years passed and if it had happened that I allowed myself to confess to anybody at all that I
         was ridiculous, I think I would have blown my brains out with a revolver that very evening. Oh, how I suffered in my adolescence
         that I might break down and suddenly somehow confess it to my schoolmates myself. But since becoming a man, though I learned
         with each passing year more and more about my terrible nature, for some reason I became somewhat calmer. Precisely for some
         reason, because to this day I can’t determine why. Perhaps because a terrible anguish was growing in my soul in connection
         with a certain circumstance that was already infinitely beyond me: namely, the conviction that was gaining ground in me that
         in the whole wide world nothing made any difference. I’d had an inkling of this a very long time ago, but I became fully convinced somehow suddenly last year. I suddenly felt
         that it didn’t make any difference to me whether the world existed or whether there was nothing anywhere. I began to sense and feel with all my being that there
         was nothing around me. At first it seemed to me that there had been a great deal before, but then I perceived that there had
         been nothing before either, but that it had only seemed like that for some reason. Little by little, I was persuaded that
         there would never be anything in the future either. Then I suddenly stopped getting angry at people and almost stopped noticing
         them. Indeed, this became apparent in even the smallest trifles: for example, I would happen to be walking down the street
         and would bump into people. And not because I was lost in thought: what did I have to think about; I had completely stopped
         thinking then: nothing made any difference to me. And it would have been another matter if I had resolved some problems; oh,
         but I didn’t resolve a single one, and there were so many of them! But nothing made any difference to me any more and all the questions had faded away.


      
      And then, after all this, I learned the truth. I learned the truth last November, on the 3rd of November1 to be precise, and from that time I remember every second. It was a gloomy evening, as gloomy as could be. I was returning
         home some time after ten o’clock and I remember precisely that I thought that there couldn’t possibly be a gloomier time. Even in the physical regard. It had been pouring all day long and it was the coldest
         and gloomiest rain, the rain was even threatening, I remember that, with a palpable hostility towards people, and then suddenly,
         at eleven o’clock, it stopped and a strange dampness ensued, damper and colder than when it had been raining, and some sort
         of steam was rising from everything, from every stone on the street and from every lane, if you looked far into its very depths
         from the street. It suddenly occurred to me that if the gaslights everywhere went out, then it would become more cheerful,
         that gaslight makes the heart sadder, because it lights everything up. I had eaten almost nothing that day and since early
         evening I had been visiting a certain engineer, who had two other friends with him. I kept my silence, and I think that they
         had had enough of me. They were talking about something controversial and suddenly even became excited. But it didn’t really
         make any difference to them, I saw that, and they had become excited merely because they should. And I suddenly said this
         to them: ‘Gentlemen,’ I told them, ‘you know that it doesn’t make any difference to you.’ They weren’t offended, but they
         all laughed at me. That’s because I said it without any reproach, but simply because it didn’t make any difference to me.
         They saw that it didn’t make any difference to me and were amused by that.


      
      When I was on the street thinking about the gaslight, I glanced up at the sky. The sky was terribly dark, but one could clearly
         distinguish the ragged clouds, and in their midst bottomless black patches. Suddenly I noticed in one of these patches a little
         star and I began watching it intently. That was because this little star had given me an idea: I had decided to kill myself
         that night. I had firmly made up my mind about this two months before, and poor as I was, had purchased a fine revolver and
         loaded it that same day. But two months had already passed, and it was still lying in the drawer; but it made so little difference
         to me that in the end I wanted to seize the moment when things wouldn’t make so little difference, but why this was so – I
         don’t know. And so it was that for these two months as I made my way home every night I thought that I would shoot myself.
         I kept waiting for the moment. And now this little star had given me the idea and I made up my mind that it would take place
         without fail that night. But why the little star gave me the idea – I do not know.


      
      And just then, as I was looking at the sky, this little girl suddenly grabbed me by the elbow. The street was empty, and there
         was practically nobody about. In the distance a cabbie was sleeping on his droshky.2 The girl was about eight years old, wearing just a kerchief and a little dress, wet all the way through, but I remembered
         in particular her wet, torn shoes and I remember them still. They particularly caught my eye. She suddenly started tugging
         me by the elbow and calling out to me. She wasn’t crying, but was somewhat convulsively shouting words, which she couldn’t
         say properly, because her whole body was shivering from the cold. She was terrified for some reason and shouted desperately:
         ‘Mama! Mama!’ I almost turned to face her, but I didn’t say a word and continued on my way, but she ran after me and kept
         tugging at me, and in her voice could be heard the sound that signals despair in very frightened children. I know this sound.
         Even though she wasn’t getting the words out properly, I understood that her mother was dying somewhere or that something
         had happened to them and that she had run out to call somebody, to find something to help her mother. But I didn’t follow
         her, and, on the contrary, I suddenly had the idea to chase her away. At first I told her to find a policeman. But she suddenly
         clasped her little hands together and, sobbing and gasping for breath, she kept running alongside me and wouldn’t leave me.
         That was when I stamped my feet and shouted at her. She merely cried out: ‘Sir, sir! …’ But suddenly she gave up on me and
         took off running to the other side of the street: another passer-by had come into view there and evidently she had rushed
         to him.


      
      I made the climb to my fifth storey. I rent a private room from my landlady. My room is shabby and small with a semicircular
         attic window. I have an oilcloth sofa, a table with books on it, two chairs and a comfortable armchair, which is very, very
         old but still and all a Voltaire armchair.3 I sat down, lit the candle and began thinking. Next door, in the room on the other side of the partition, the bedlam continued. It had been going on now since the day before yesterday. A retired captain lived there
         and he had guests – half a dozen ne’er-do-wells were drinking vodka and playing stoss4 with old cards. There had been a fight last night, and I know that two of them had been pulling each other by the hair for
         a long time. The landlady wanted to complain, but she was terribly afraid of the captain. There was only one other tenant
         renting a room: a short, frail woman, the wife of a regimental officer, who had arrived from out of town with three small
         children who had fallen ill since coming to live here. Both she and the children were mortally afraid of the captain and they
         trembled and crossed themselves all night long, while the youngest child was so afraid that he had some sort of attack. This
         captain – I know this for certain – sometimes stops passers-by on Nevsky Prospekt5 and begs for money. He can’t get a job, but the strange thing is (and this is why I’m telling you this, you see) that the
         captain during the whole month that he has been living with us has not caused me to become the least bit irritated. Of course,
         I avoided his acquaintance from the very beginning, and he himself was bored with me from the very first, but no matter how
         much they shouted on the other side of their partition and no matter how many of them there were – it made no difference to
         me at all. I would sit there the whole night and I really didn’t hear them – I had so completely forgotten about them. You
         see, I don’t ever go to bed before dawn and it’s been like that for a year now. I spend all night sitting at the table in
         my armchair, not doing anything. I only read books during the day. I sit there like that without even thinking, and some sort
         of ideas wander about and I set them free. The candle burns down completely during the night. I carefully sat down by the
         table, took out the revolver and placed it in front of me. When I had put it down, I remember that I asked myself ‘Is this
         really it?’ And I answered myself quite positively: ‘Yes.’ That is, I would shoot myself. I knew that I would shoot myself
         that very night for certain, but how much longer I would sit at the table – that I didn’t know. And of course I would have
         shot myself had it not been for that little girl.


      
      
      
      
      II

      
      
      You see, don’t you, that even though it didn’t make any difference to me, I did, for example, feel pain. If someone were to
         strike me, I would have felt pain. And it was just the same in the moral regard: if something very pitiful were to take place,
         I would feel pity just as I would have done when things in my life did make a difference to me. And I had felt pity earlier:
         I would have helped a child without fail. Why hadn’t I helped the little girl? Because of a certain idea that had occurred
         to me then: when she was tugging and calling out to me, I was suddenly confronted by a question and I couldn’t resolve it.
         It was an idle question but it made me angry. I got angry as a result of the conclusion: that if I had already made up my
         mind to kill myself that night, then consequently everything in the world should make even less difference than ever before.
         Why, then, did I suddenly feel that it did make a difference and that I pitied the little girl? I remember that I pitied her
         a great deal; to the point even of some strange pain, which was even quite incredible given my situation. Indeed, I don’t
         know how better to convey this fleeting sensation of mine then, but it stayed with me when I was sitting at the table at home
         and I was very irritated, more than I had been for a very long time. One explanation was followed by another. It seemed clear
         that if I was a man and not yet a zero, then until I turned into a zero I was alive, and consequently, I can suffer, get angry
         and experience shame for my actions. Very well. But, you see, if I was going to kill myself, for example, in two hours’ time,
         then what did I care about that little girl, and what does shame or anything else in the world have to do with me? I was turning
         into a zero, into an absolute zero. And can it be that the knowledge that I will soon completely cease to exist and that, therefore, nothing would exist, could not have the slightest influence on my feeling of pity for
         the little girl or my feeling of fear after the base act I had committed? You see, that was why I stamped and shouted in a
         ferocious voice at the unfortunate child, since as I put it, ‘not only do I feel no pity, but if I commit some inhuman base
         act, I may do so now, because in two hours all will be extinguished’. Do you believe that’s why I shouted? I’m almost convinced of it now. It seemed clear to me that life and the world now depended on
         me. One might even say that the world now seemed, as it were, to have been made for me alone: I’ll shoot myself and the world
         will no longer exist, at least for me. To say nothing of the fact that perhaps there really would be nothing for anybody after
         me, and that the entire world, as soon as my consciousness is extinguished, would at once be extinguished, like a phantom,
         like the property of my consciousness alone, and would be annihilated, for perhaps all this world and all these people are
         nothing but me alone. I remember that as I was sitting and pondering, I was working my way through all these new questions,
         which came crowding one after the other, from a quite different angle and came up with something quite new. For example, a
         strange thought suddenly occurred to me that if I used to live on the moon or on Mars and had committed there the most shameless
         and dishonest act imaginable and had met with such disgrace and dishonour as one could only experience and imagine sometimes,
         perhaps, in a dream, in a nightmare, and if, upon finding myself on the earth afterwards, I continued to retain some consciousness
         of what I had done on the other planet and, moreover, knew that I now would never return there under any circumstances, then
         as I look at the moon from the earth – would it make any difference to me or not? Would I experience shame for my action or not? The questions were idle and superfluous, since the revolver
         already lay before me, and I knew with all my being that this would take place for certain, but they were exciting me and driving me mad. It was as if I could no longer die now without
         resolving something beforehand. In a word, this little girl saved me, because I postponed the shot with these questions. Meanwhile,
         things were becoming quieter and quieter at the captain’s: they had finished with their cards and were settling down to sleep,
         but for now they were grumbling and half-heartedly finishing up their bickering. That was when I suddenly fell asleep, while
         sitting at the table in my armchair, which had never happened to me before. I fell asleep completely unawares. Dreams, as
         everybody knows, are an extremely strange thing: certain events are presented with frightful clarity, with a jeweller’s fine attention to detail, while you gallop through others, seeming not to notice at all,
         for example, either the time or the place. Dreams, it would seem, are dictated not by reason, but desire, not by the head,
         but the heart, and yet what clever things my reason has sometimes accomplished in my dreams! And yet what utterly incomprehensible
         things take place in my dreams. My brother, for example, died five years ago. I sometimes see him in my dreams: he takes part
         in my affairs, we are very engaged, and yet, you see, I fully know and remember, throughout the course of the entire dream,
         that my brother is dead and buried.6 How is it that I’m not surprised that though he is dead, nevertheless he is there beside me and scrambling about with me?
         Why does my reason permit all this unequivocally? But enough. I’ll turn to my dream. Yes, I had this dream then, my dream
         of the 3rd of November! They tease me now that after all it was merely a dream. But does it really make any difference whether
         it was a dream or not, if this dream proclaimed to me the Truth? You see, once you’ve learned the truth and seen it, you know
         that it is the truth, and there is no other, nor can there be, whether you are asleep or awake. And what if it was a dream,
         just a dream; but this life, which you extol so very much, I wanted to extinguish by suicide, and my dream, my dream – oh,
         it proclaimed to me a new, great, renewed, powerful life!


      
      Listen.

      
      
      
      
      III

      
      
      I said that I fell asleep unawares and even while continuing to ponder the same matters, as it were. Suddenly I dreamed that
         I was picking up the revolver and as I sat there I aimed it right at my heart – at my heart and not my head; whereas I had
         decided earlier that I would shoot myself in the head, in the right temple to be exact. Having taken aim at my chest, I waited
         for a second or two, and my candle, table and wall suddenly began to move and sway before me. I fired quickly.


      
      In dreams you sometimes fall from a height, or you’re knifed, or beaten, but you never feel pain, except perhaps if you somehow
         really bruise yourself in your bed, then you’ll feel pain and you’ll almost always wake up because of the pain. And that was
         how it was in my dream: I didn’t feel any pain, but it seemed to me that after the shot everything inside me shuddered and
         suddenly everything died out, and it became terribly black all around me. It was as if I had become blind and dumb, and here
         I was lying on something solid, stretched out on my back – I don’t see anything and can’t make the slightest movement. They’re
         milling about me and shouting, the captain bellows, the landlady screeches – and suddenly there’s a break again, and then
         I’m being carried in a closed coffin. And I feel the coffin swaying and I ponder that, and suddenly for the first time I’m
         struck by the idea that I’m dead, quite dead, I know this and I don’t doubt it, I don’t see and don’t move, and yet I’m feeling
         and pondering. But I quickly make my peace with this and, as usually happens in dreams, I accept the reality without argument.


      
      And then I’m being buried in the ground. Everyone leaves. I’m alone, absolutely alone. I don’t move. Whenever I had imagined
         before when I was alive how I would be buried in my grave, the only sensation I really associated with the grave was damp
         and cold. And that was how I felt now, that I was very cold, particularly the tips of my toes, but I didn’t feel anything
         else.


      
      I lay there and strangely enough – I didn’t expect anything, having accepted without argument that a dead man has nothing
         to expect. But it was damp. I don’t know how much time passed – an hour or a day, or several days. But then suddenly on my
         closed left eye fell a drop of water that had leaked through the coffin lid; a minute later it was followed by another, and
         then a minute later by another, and so forth and so on – one every minute. Suddenly my heart was inflamed with deep indignation,
         and I suddenly felt physical pain there: ‘That’s my wound,’ I thought, ‘it’s the shot, the bullet’s there …’ And the drops
         kept dripping, every minute and right on to my closed eye. And suddenly I called out, not with my voice, because I couldn’t
         move, but with all my being, to the Sovereign of all that was happening to me:


      
      ‘Whoever you may be, but if you are and if there exists something more sensible than what is happening now, then grant that it come to pass here as well. If you are taking vengeance
         for my senseless suicide – by means of the sordidness and absurdity of this further existence, then know that no torment that
         might befall me could ever compare with the contempt that I will experience in silence, even in the course of millions of
         years of martydom! …’


      
      I called out and fell silent. Deep silence continued for almost a whole minute and even another drop fell, but I knew, I boundlessly
         and steadfastly knew and believed that everything would certainly change now. And then suddenly my grave was opened wide.
         That is, I don’t know whether it was opened and dug up, but I had been seized by some dark and unknown being, and we found
         ourselves in space. I suddenly began to see clearly: it was deep night, and never, never had there ever been such darkness!
         We had already flown in space far from the earth. I didn’t ask the one who was carrying me about anything; I waited and was
         proud. I kept assuring myself that I wasn’t afraid, and I was beside myself with delight at the thought that I wasn’t afraid.
         I don’t remember how long we were flying, and I can’t envision it: it all happened like it always does in a dream, when you
         vault over space and time and over the laws of existence and reason, and only come to a stop on those points for which your
         heart yearns. I remember that I suddenly saw a little star in the darkness. ‘Is that Sirius?’7 I asked, suddenly unable to restrain myself, for I didn’t want to ask about anything. ‘No, it’s the very same star that you
         used to see between the clouds on your way home,’ answered the being who was carrying me. I knew that it had what seemed to
         be a human face. Strangely enough, I didn’t like this being, I even felt a deep-seated revulsion. I had been expecting total
         non-existence and had shot myself in the heart accordingly. And here I was in the hands of a being, of course, not a human
         one, but one which is, which exists: ‘So, this means that there is life beyond the grave!’ I thought with the strange blitheness of dreams, but
         the essence of my heart stayed with me in all its intensity: ‘And if I must be again,’ I thought, ‘and live again according to someone’s implacable will, then I don’t want to be defeated and humiliated!’
         ‘You know that I am afraid of you and that you despise me for that,’ I said suddenly to my companion, unable to refrain from the
         humiliating question, which comprised a confession; and feeling, like the jab of a pin, my humiliation in my heart. He didn’t
         reply to my question, but I suddenly sensed that I wasn’t despised, and I wasn’t being laughed at, and that I wasn’t even
         pitied, and that our journey had a purpose, unknown and mysterious, and which concerned only me. Fear was growing in my heart.
         Something was communicated to me, mutely but torturously, from my silent companion, which seemed to bore through me. We were
         flying through dark and unknown expanses. I had long since stopped seeing constellations familiar to my eye. I knew that there
         were such stars in the heavenly expanses from which the rays reach earth only after thousands and millions of years. Perhaps
         we were already flying through those expanses. I was expecting something in the terrible anguish that tormented my heart.
         And suddenly I was shaken by a feeling that was at once familiar and highly inviting: I suddenly saw our sun! I knew that
         this couldn’t be our sun, the one which had given birth to our earth, and that we were an infinite distance away from our sun, but I recognized for some reason, with all my being, that
         it was absolutely the same sun as ours, a repetition of it and its double. The sweet, inviting feeling began to ring with
         delight in my soul: the innate force of light, the same light that had given birth to me, resounded in my heart and resurrected
         it, and I felt life, my former life, for the first time since I’d left the grave.


      
      ‘But if this is the sun, if this is absolutely the same sun as ours,’ I cried out, ‘then where is the earth?’ And my companion
         pointed to a little star, a twinkling emerald-green brilliance in the darkness. We were flying straight for it.


      
      ‘And are such repetitions in the universe really possible, can that really be nature’s law? … And if that is the earth there,
         then can it really be the same earth as ours … absolutely the same, unfortunate, poor, but dear and eternally beloved, as ours,
         which gives birth to the same agonizing love in even the most ungrateful of its children?’ I cried out, trembling with irrepressible,
         ecstatic love for that former native earth, which I had abandoned. The image of the poor little girl, whom I had treated badly, flashed before me.


      
      ‘You’ll see everything,’ my companion responded, and a certain sadness could be heard in his words.

      
      But we were quickly approaching the planet. It was growing before my eyes; I could already make out the ocean, the outlines
         of Europe, and suddenly a strange feeling of some sort of great, holy jealousy flared up in my heart: ‘How can there be a
         repetition like this and for what purpose? I love, I can love only that earth which I left behind, which I left spattered
         with my blood, when I, ingrate that I am, extinguished my life with a bullet to the heart. But never, never have I stopped
         loving that earth, and even on that night, as I was leaving it, I perhaps loved it even more agonizingly than I had ever done
         before. Is there suffering on this new earth? On our earth we can truly love only with suffering and only through suffering!
         Otherwise, we don’t know how to love and we know no other kind of love. I want suffering in order to love. I want, I thirst
         this very minute to kiss, with tears pouring down my face, only that one and the same earth that I left behind, and I don’t
         want, I won’t accept life on any other! …’


      
      But my companion had already left me. Suddenly, caught quite unawares, as it were, I found myself standing on this other earth
         in the bright light of a sunny day, as lovely as paradise. I believe I was standing on one of those islands that on our earth
         is part of the Greek archipelago,8 or somewhere on the mainland coast bordering on that archipelago. Oh, everything was exactly like it was with us, but everywhere
         seemed to be radiant with some festival and with a great, holy victory that had been achieved at long last. The gentle emerald-green
         sea quietly plashed on the shore and kissed it with a love that was palpable, visible, almost conscious. Tall, beautiful trees
         stood in full luxuriant flower, and their innumerable leaves, I am convinced, greeted me with their soft, tender stirring
         and seemed to be speaking some words of love. The grass shone with bright, fragrant flowers. Flocks of birds flew through
         the air and, unafraid of me, landed on my shoulders and arms and joyfully thumped me with their dear, fluttering little wings.
         And at last I saw and came to know the people of this happy earth. They came to me themselves, they surrounded me, they kissed me. Children
         of the sun, children of their own sun – oh, how beautiful they were! Never had I seen on our earth such beauty in a human
         being. Perhaps only in our children, in the very first years of their life, could one have seen a distant though faint reflection
         of this beauty. The eyes of these happy people twinkled with a bright light. Their faces shone with reason and a consciousness
         brimming over with serenity, but their faces were cheerful; a childlike joy sounded in the words and voices of these people.
         Oh, I at once, at the first glance at their faces, understood everything, everything! This was the earth undefiled by the
         Fall, here lived people who had not sinned; they lived in just such a paradise as did our fallen forebears according to the
         legends of all mankind, the only difference being that the entire earth here was everywhere one and the same paradise. These
         people, laughing joyfully, crowded round me and caressed me; they led me away to their homes and each and every one of them
         wanted to set my mind at rest. Oh, they didn’t question me about anything, but it was as if they already knew everything,
         so it seemed to me, and they wished to drive away the suffering from my face as quickly as possible.


      
      
      
      
      IV

      
      
      Well, you see, and what’s more: well, even if it was only a dream! But the sensation of love of these innocent and beautiful
         people has remained with me forever, and I feel that their love washes over me from there even now. I saw them myself, I got
         to know them and was won over, I loved them, later I suffered for them. Oh, I at once understood, even then, that there would
         be a lot I wouldn’t understand about them at all; for me, a modern Russian progressive and vile Petersburger, it seemed inexplicable
         that, for example, they who know so much, don’t possess our science. But I soon understood that their knowledge was imbued
         with and nurtured by other convictions than is the case with us on earth, and that their aspirations were quite different
         as well. They desired nothing and were at peace; they did not aspire to an understanding of life like we do, because their lives were
         full. But their knowledge was deeper and loftier than our science; for our science seeks to explain what life is, it aspires
         to understand it in order to teach others how to live; while they, even without science knew how they should live, and I understood
         that, but I could not understand their knowledge. They pointed out their trees for me and I couldn’t understand the degree
         of love with which they looked at them: it was as if they were talking with beings like themselves. And do you know, maybe
         I wouldn’t be mistaken if I were to say that they were talking with them! Yes, they had found their language, and I’m convinced
         that the trees understood them. That was how they regarded all of nature – the animals who lived peaceably with them, who
         didn’t attack them and loved them, mastered by their love. They pointed out the stars to me and talked to me about them, and
         though I could not understand I am convinced that they were somehow in contact with the heavenly stars, not only by means
         of their thoughts but also in some vital way. Oh, these people did not try to get me to understand them; they loved me even
         without that, and yet I knew that they would never understand me, and that was why I seldom spoke to them of our earth. I
         merely kissed in their presence the earth on which they lived and wordlessly worshipped them, and they saw this and let themselves
         be worshipped, unashamed that I was worshipping them, because they themselves loved so very much. They did not suffer for
         me when I, in tears, would sometimes kiss their feet, joyfully knowing in their own hearts with what force they would return
         my love. At times I would ask myself in amazement: How is it that during all this time they have not offended such a one as
         I, nor aroused in such a one as I feelings of jealousy or envy? Many times I asked myself how is it that I, a braggart and
         a liar, did not speak to them about my knowledge (about which, of course, they had no idea), nor wish to astonish them with
         it, or simply out of my love for them if for no other reason? They were as playful and cheerful as children. They wandered
         about their beautiful groves and forests, they sang their beautiful songs, they nourished themselves on light food, the fruits
         of their trees, the honey of their forests and the milk of the animals who loved them. For food and clothing they laboured only a little and
         lightly. They knew love and children were born, but I never observed in them the outbursts of that cruel sensuality that befalls almost everyone on our earth, one and all, and which is the single source of almost all the sins
         of our mankind. They rejoiced in their children as new partakers in their bliss. There were no quarrels or jealousy among
         them, and they didn’t even understand what that meant. Their children were everybody’s children, because they all comprised
         one family. They were almost without illness, though there was death; but the old people died quietly, as if falling asleep,
         surrounded by people who had come to bid them farewell, bless them, smile at them and receive in return radiant smiles of
         farewell. Moreover, I saw neither sorrow nor tears, but only love that was multiplied, as it were, to the point of rapture,
         but a rapture that was calm, contented, contemplative. One might think that they were in contact with their dead even after
         death and that this earthly union was not dissolved by death. They could barely understand me when I asked them about eternal
         life, but were apparently so convinced of it instinctively that it did not amount to a question for them. They had no temples,
         but they did have some sort of urgent, vital and constant union with the Whole of the universe; they had no religious faith,
         but instead they had a firm knowledge that when their earthly joy had reached the limits of earthly nature, then an even more
         extensive contact with the Whole of the universe would commence for them, both the living and the dead. They waited for this
         moment with joy, but without haste, without longing, but as if they already possessed it in their hearts’ presentiments, which
         they communicated to one another. In the evenings, before going to sleep, they liked to sing in graceful and harmonious chorus.
         In these songs they expressed all the sensations that the waning day had given them, they praised it and bade it farewell.
         They praised nature, the earth, the sea, the forests. They liked to compose songs about one another and praised one another
         like children; these were the simplest songs, but they came from the heart and they pierced the heart. And not in their songs
         alone, but it seemed that they spent their whole lives in mutual admiration. This was a love for one another that was complete and universal. Of their other
         songs, solemn and rapturous, I understood almost nothing. While I understood the words, I never could entirely fathom their
         meaning. It remained beyond my comprehension, as it were, and yet my heart instinctively came to be filled with it more and
         more. I often told them that long ago I had a presentiment of all this, that all this joy and glory had already proclaimed
         itself to me when I was still on our earth as a call of anguish that sometimes reached the point of unendurable sorrow; that
         I had had a presentiment of every one of them and of their glory in the dreams of my heart and in the daydreams of my mind,
         so that I often could not look, on our earth, at the setting sun without tears … That my hatred for people of our earth always
         involved anguish: Why can’t I hate them without loving them? Why can’t I forgive them, and why is there anguish in my love
         for them? Why can’t I love them without hating them? They listened to me and I saw that they could not imagine what I was
         saying, but I didn’t regret that I had talked to them about it: I knew that they understood the depths of my anguish for those
         whom I had abandoned. Yes, when they would gaze at me with their dear eyes full of love, when I felt that in their presence
         my heart, too, had become as innocent and just as their hearts, then I did not regret that I did not understand them. Sensing
         the fullness of life took my breath away, and I worshipped them in silence.


      
      Oh, everybody laughs in my face now and assures me that even in dreams you can’t see such details as I’m relating now, that
         in my dream I saw or felt merely a sensation that was brought to life by my delirious heart, and that the details were made
         up by me after waking up. And when I revealed to them that perhaps that was what really had happened – my God! How they laughed
         in my face! How they did rejoice! Oh, yes, of course, I was overcome merely by the sensation of that dream, and it alone had
         survived in my bloody and wounded heart: and yet the real images and forms of my dream, that is, those which I really did
         see at the time when I was dreaming, were executed with such harmony, were so charming and beautiful, and so very true, that of course after I woke up I was unable to embody them in our feeble words so that they must have become erased
         from my mind, as it were, and, consequently, perhaps I really was unconsciously compelled to compose the details afterwards
         and, of course, distorted them, particularly considering my passionate desire to convey at least something of them as quickly
         as possible. But then how can I not believe that this all really happened? And that perhaps it was a thousand times better,
         brighter and more joyful than how I have told it? Even if it was a dream, all this could not but have taken place. Do you
         know, I’ll tell you a secret: all this might not have been a dream at all! For something happened here, something so horribly
         true that it couldn’t have been dreamed up. Even if my heart gave birth to my dream, could my heart alone have given birth
         to that horrible truth that happened to me afterwards? How could I alone have invented or dreamed it up with my heart? Is
         it possible that my petty heart and my capricious, worthless mind could be elevated to such a revelation of truth? Oh, judge
         for yourselves: I’ve been concealing it all this time, but now I’ll tell the whole truth. The fact of the matter is that I … I
         corrupted them all!


      
      
      
      
      V

      
      
      Yes, yes, it all ended in my corrupting them all! How this could have happened – I don’t know, I don’t remember clearly. The
         dream flew through thousands of years and left in me merely a sense of the whole. I know only that I was the cause of their
         fall. Like a nasty trichina,9 like an atom of the plague infecting entire nations, I infected with myself this earth that until my appearance had been
         happy and without sin. They learned how to lie and they grew to love lies and came to know the beauty of lies. Oh, perhaps
         it began innocently enough, with a joke, flirting or a game for lovers, perhaps it really did begin with an atom, but this atom of a lie penetrated
         their hearts and they liked it. Then sensuality was quickly born, sensuality begat jealousy, and jealousy – cruelty … Oh, I
         don’t know, I don’t remember, but soon, very soon the first blood was shed: they were surprised and horrified and they began to part company, to go their separate
         ways. Alliances made their appearance, but it was one against the other now. Reproaches and reproofs commenced. They learned
         what shame was and held it up as a virtue. The concept of honour was born and each alliance raised aloft its own banner. They
         started torturing animals, and the animals beat a hasty retreat from them to the forests and became their enemies. A struggle
         began for separation, for isolation, for individuality, for yours and mine. They started to speak in different languages.
         They became acquainted with sorrow and came to love sorrow; they thirsted for suffering and said that Truth could only be
         attained through suffering. Then science made its appearance among them. When they became wicked, they started to talk about
         brotherhood and humaneness and understood these ideas. When they became criminals, they invented justice and lay down complete
         codes of law to maintain it, and to secure these codes they erected a guillotine. They remembered only a tiny bit of what
         they had lost; they didn’t even want to believe that they had once been innocent and happy. They even laughed at the possibility
         of this former happiness of theirs and called it a dream. They couldn’t even imagine its forms and images, but the strange
         and wonderful thing of it was that though they had lost all faith in their former happiness, and called it a fairy tale, they
         so wanted to be innocent and happy anew, once again, that they fell down before their heart’s desire, like children; they
         idolized this desire, they built temples and began to pray to this idea of theirs, to this ‘desire’, while at the same time
         recognizing full well its unrealizability and impracticability, even as they tearfully worshipped it and bowed down before
         it. And yet, if it had happened that they could have returned to that innocent and happy state, which they had lost, and if
         somebody suddenly were to show it to them once again and ask them whether they wished to return to it – they would certainly
         have refused. They would answer me: ‘Yes, we’re deceitful, wicked and unjust, we know that and we shed tears over it, and torment ourselves on account of that, and torture ourselves and punish ourselves perhaps
         even more than that merciful Judge who will judge us and whose name we do not know. But we have science and with it we once again will find the
         truth, but now we will adopt it consciously. Knowledge is higher than feeling, consciousness of life is higher than life.
         Science will give us wisdom, wisdom will reveal the laws and knowledge of the laws of happiness is higher than happiness.’
         That’s what they said to me, and after such words each one loved himself more than anyone else and they could not have done
         otherwise. Each one became so jealous of his own personality that he would try with all his might to humiliate and belittle
         it in others, and that was reckoned to be the purpose of one’s life. Slavery appeared, even voluntary slavery: the weak readily
         submitted to the strong, provided that the latter helped them crush those who were weaker still. Righteous men appeared who
         would come to these people in tears and talk to them about their pride, about the collapse of proportion and harmony, about
         their loss of shame. They were laughed at or stoned. The thresholds of the temples were awash in holy blood. But then people
         began to appear who started to work out a plan for everyone to become united again, so that everyone, without ceasing to love
         himself more than all others, at the same time would not hinder any other person, and thus they would live all together, as
         it were, in a harmonious society. Whole wars were waged over this idea. All the warring parties at the same time firmly believed
         that science, wisdom and a sense of self-preservation in the end would force mankind to come together in a harmonious and
         rational society, and therefore, to hasten matters, the ‘wise ones’ sought to exterminate as quickly as possible all the ‘unwise’
         and those who did not understand their idea, so that they would not hinder its triumph. But the sense of self-preservation
         quickly began to weaken, and proud men and sensualists appeared who demanded outright everything or nothing. In order to take
         possession of everything, they resorted to villainy, and if that did not succeed – to suicide. Religions appeared with the
         cult of non-existence and self-destruction for the sake of eternal peace in nothingness. In the end, these people grew tired
         of their meaningless labours and suffering appeared on their faces, and these people proclaimed that suffering was beauty, for only in suffering is there thought. They sang of suffering in their songs. I walked among them, wringing my hands,
         and wept over them, but I loved them, perhaps even more than I had before, when suffering had not yet marked their faces and
         when they were innocent and so beautiful. I loved their defiled earth even more than when it had been paradise, if for no
         other reason than that sorrow had appeared on it. Alas, I have always loved sorrow and grief, but only for myself, for myself,
         but for them I wept, pitying them. I held out my hands to them, in despair, accusing, cursing and despising myself. I told
         them that I had done all this, I alone, that I had brought them debauchery, contagion and lying! I implored them to crucify
         me on a cross; I taught them how to make a cross. I could not, I did not have the strength to kill myself, but I wanted to
         assume their anguish; I craved anguish, I craved that every last drop of my blood be shed over this anguish. But they merely
         laughed at me and towards the end began to regard me as a holy fool.10 They excused me, they said that they had merely got what they themselves wanted and that everything as it was now could not
         be otherwise. In the end, they informed me that I was becoming dangerous for them and that they would put me in a madhouse
         if I didn’t hold my tongue. Then sorrow entered my soul with such force that it wrung my heart, and I felt as though I were
         dying, and that was when … well, that was when I woke up.


      
      It was already morning, that is, it wasn’t light yet, but it was about six o’clock. I woke up in the same chair, my candle
         had burned down completely, they were asleep at the captain’s and all round was a silence that was all too rare in our apartment.
         First of all, I jumped up in extreme astonishment; nothing like this had ever happened to me before, even as far as the trifling
         details were concerned: never had I, for example, fallen asleep in my armchair like that. Then suddenly, while I was standing
         there, coming to my senses, I suddenly caught sight of the revolver lying before me, ready and loaded – but I pushed it away
         from me in a flash! Oh, now I wanted life, life! I raised my hands and called out to eternal truth; I didn’t call out, I wept;
         rapture, fathomless rapture inspirited my entire being. Yes, life and – preaching! That very moment I made up my mind about preaching and, of course, for the rest of my life I am going to
         preach, I want to preach – what? Truth, for I have seen it, I have seen it with my own eyes, I have seen it in all its glory!


      
      And so I’ve been preaching ever since. Moreover, I love all those who laugh at me more than all the rest. Why this is so –
         I don’t know and I can’t explain it, but so be it. They say that I’m already getting muddled, that is, if I’m already muddled
         now, then what will the future bring? It’s the simple truth: I’m muddled and it might even get worse in the future. And, of
         course, I’ll get muddled several times before I find out how to preach, that is, with what words and what deeds, because it’s
         very difficult to carry out. You know, I see it all now as clear as day, but listen: who doesn’t get muddled! But meanwhile,
         the end is one and the same for all, at least all aspire to one and the same thing, from the wise man to the worst brigand,
         only by different paths. It’s an old truth, but here’s what’s new: I can’t get very muddled. Because I have seen the truth,
         I have seen and know that people can be beautiful and happy, without losing the ability to live on this earth. I do not wish
         and cannot believe that evil is mankind’s normal state. But you see, they all laugh at this belief of mine. But how can I
         not believe: I have seen the truth – it wasn’t invented by my mind, I saw it, I saw it, and its living image has filled my soul forever more. I saw it in such perfect wholeness that I cannot believe that people may not obtain it.
         So then, how can I get muddled? I’ll digress, of course, even several times, and I’ll speak, perhaps, in somebody else’s words,
         but not for long: the living image of that which I have seen will be with me always and will always correct and guide me.
         Oh, I’m hale and hearty, I’m fresh, I’m going, I’m on my way, for a thousand years or more if need be. Do you know, at first
         I even wanted to conceal that I had corrupted them all, but that was a mistake – already my first mistake! But truth whispered
         to me that I was lying, and protected me and guided me. But how does one build paradise – I don’t know, because I don’t know how to put it into
         words. After my dream I lost the words. At least, all the chief words, the most necessary ones. But so be it: I’ll go and
         I’ll keep talking, ceaselessly, because when all is said and done I saw it with my own eyes, even though I don’t know how to convey what I saw. But that’s what the scoffers don’t understand:
         ‘A dream,’ they say, ‘that’s what it was, ravings, hallucinations.’ Eh! Is that so clever? But how proud they are! A dream?
         What is a dream? Isn’t our life a dream? I’ll even go so far as to say: even if, even if this never comes to pass and there
         is no paradise (you see, that I do understand!) – well, I will preach nevertheless. But meanwhile, it’s so simple: in one
         day, in one hour – everything could be arranged straight away! The main thing is to love others as yourself,11 that’s the main thing, and that’s all, absolutely nothing else is necessary: you’ll find out at once how everything is to
         be arranged. But meanwhile, this is merely an old truth, you see, one that has been repeated and read a billion times, but,
         you see, it hasn’t taken root! ‘Consciousness of life is higher than life, knowledge of the laws of happiness is higher than
         happiness’ – that’s what we need to fight against! And I will. If only everyone would want it, it could all be arranged at
         once!


      
      And I’ve tracked down that little girl … And I will go! I will!

      
      1877

      
      

      
      
      
      Notes

      
      
      It gives me great pleasure to acknowledge my very large debt to the editors of the ‘Academy’ edition of Dostoyevsky’s Complete Collected Works in Thirty Volumes (Polnoe sobranie sochinenii), as many of my notes rely heavily on material that is published in the editors’ commentary to the individual works. Quotations
         from Dostoyevsky’s works and other contemporary source materials (journals, newspapers, letters, etc.), unless otherwise noted,
         are from this edition.


      
      All translations of foreign-language text are from French, unless otherwise specified. Quotations from the Bible refer to
         the Revised Standard Version.


      
      All dates, unless otherwise indicated, are given according to the Julian calendar (Old Style), which remained in force in
         Russia until 1918. The Gregorian calendar, adopted in the West in the eighteenth century, was generally twelve days ahead.


      
      
      WHITE NIGHTS

        1.   Or was … Turgenev: A quotation, with very minor variations, from the poem ‘The Flower’ (1843), by Ivan Turgenev (1818–83), best known for his
         novel Fathers and Sons (1862). He made the transition from poetry, for which he showed little promise, to prose in the late 1840s.


        2.   dachas: Country houses.


        3.   Nevsky Prospekt: The main fashionable thoroughfare in Petersburg runs from the Admiralty Building to the Moscow Rail-road Station, and then,
         after a turn, to the Alexander Nevsky Monastery.


        4.   Fontanka: The canal, lined with the magnificent private residences of the nobility, is a branch of the Neva River that runs through
         central St Petersburg.


        5.   Celestial Empire: An old name for Imperial China, whose flag depicted a dragon on a yellow field.


        6.   Kamenny and Aptekarsky islands … Krestovsky Island: High-ranking nobility kept summer residences on Kamenny (Stone) Island, located in the Neva delta, and the Peterhof Road.
         The latter runs from Petersburg to the grand palace of Peter the Great (1672–1725), known as Peterhof (Peter’s Court), located
         30 kilometres from the Petersburg city centre on the southern shore of the Gulf of Finland; it was modelled after the road
         from Paris to Versailles. Aptekarsky (Apothecary) Island, located north of the narrow Karpovka River from the Petersburg Side
         (situated across the Neva from the Summer Garden and the Field of Mars), was considered somewhat less aristocratic; it was
         named for the garden of medicinal plants established by Peter the Great. Krestovsky Island (Island of the Cross), the largest
         of the three islands located north of the Petersburg Side in the Neva delta, was primarily parkland and forest. Pargolovo,
         located just north of the city, was the summer destination for those with limited means, including students and the intelligentsia
         in general, e.g. Vissarion Belinsky, the liberal literary critic, lived there in 1845.


      7.   Chernaya River: In north-west St Petersburg, the site of the fatal duel where Alexander Pushkin was killed (see note 12 below).


        8.   embankment of the canal: The Yekaterininsky Canal, now known as the Griboyedov Canal, is also the setting for much of Crime and Punishment (1866).


        9.   King Solomon’s genie: In the ‘Story of the Fisherman’, one of the best-known tales from the Thousand and One Nights, the prophet Allah Suleiman (the Arabian variant of the biblical King Solomon) shuts up a disobedient genie in a pitcher
         with a lead stopper and throws it into the sea. Eighteen hundred years later a fisherman happens to fish it out of the water
         and opens it. See also Revelation 6 for the biblical account of the opening of the seven seals.


      10. “Goddess of Fantasy” … Zhukovsky: The poem ‘My Goddess’ (1809) was a free adaptation of Goethe’s ‘Meine Göttin’ (1780), by the poet and translator Vasily
         Zhukovsky (1783–1852).


      11. seventh crystal heaven: In ‘On the Heavens’, Aristotle writes that the heavens are made up of seven stationary crystal spheres on which the stars
         and planets are affixed.


      12. Hoffmann … the little house in Kolomna: The German Romantic writer E. T. A. Hoffmann (1776–1822) greatly influenced Dostoyevsky with his fantastic stories; the
         slaughter of the Huguenots (French Protestants) by the Catholics began in Paris in the early hours of 24 August 1572, St Bartholomew Day, and provides
         the historical background for the opera Les Huguenots (1836) by Giacomo Meyerbeer (1791–1864), as well as prose works by Mérimée and Dumas père; Diana Vernon is the brave and plucky heroine of the historical novel Rob Roy (1817) by the wildly popular and prolific Scottish novelist Sir Walter Scott (1771–1832); Kazan was conquered by Ivan Vasilyevich
         (Ivan the Terrible, 1530–84) in 1552 after a six-week siege; Clara Mowbray and Effie Deans are characters in Walter Scott,
         St Ronan’s Well (1823) and The Heart of Midlothian (1818), respectively; Czech religious reformer Jan Hus (1372?–1415) was excommunicated by the Catholic Church for being a
         heretic and burned at the stake; the ominous music of the dead nuns rising from their graves in Meyerbeer’s Romantic opera
         Robert le diable (1831); Minna may refer to Zhukovsky’s poem ‘Mina’ (1818), a translation of Goethe’s ballad ‘Mignon’ from his Wilhelm Meister’s Apprenticeship (1795–6); ‘Brenda’ (1834) is a Romantic lyrical ballad by Ivan Kozlov (1779–1840); the Battle of Beryozina signalled the
         final expulsion of the Napoleonic army from Russia in 1812; Yekaterina Vorontsova-Dashkova (1743–1810), president of the Academy
         of Sciences and the Russian Academy and memoirist, also founded two journals to which she attracted some of the leading writers
         of the day; Georges Jacques Danton (1759–94), one of the leaders of the French Revolution in its early phase, was found guilty
         by the Revolutionary Tribunal and guillotined; Cleopatra and her lovers (ei suoi amante, Italian) is the theme that is proposed to the improvisatore in the tale Egyptian Nights (1835) by Alexander Pushkin (1799–1837), Russia’s greatest poet; Pushkin’s ‘The Little House in Kolomna’ (1830) has been
         compared to Byron’s Beppo, with its mock-heroic tone and the minimal importance of the plot.


      13. “so long and tenderly”: Quotation from Heinrich Heine’s ‘Sie liebten sich beide’ (‘They loved each other’, 1823) in a free translation by the Romantic
         poet and novelist Mikhail Lermontov (1814–41). True to form, Lermontov’s characters ‘love each other’ not only ‘long and tenderly’,
         but with ‘deep anguish and ‘terrible and stormy passion’; they part in ‘wordless and proud suffering’.


      14. Eternal City: Rome.


      15. Pavlovsk: Named for Catherine the Great’s son Paul (Pavel in Russian), this summer retreat for the imperial family and well-to-do
         Petersburgers is located 30 kilometres south of Petersburg. Much of Dostoyevsky’s The Idiot (1868) is set in Pavlovsk.


      16. Ivanhoe: Walter Scott’s novel (1819) is set in medieval England.


      17. The Barber of Seville: The opera by Gioacchino Rossini (1792–1868), which had its premiere in Rome in 1816, enjoyed enormous popularity in Russia
         and was frequently staged there.


      18. recollection passed through my mind: Count Almaviva, disguised as a poor student, hopes to make the beautiful Rosina fall in love with him – and not his money.
         Figaro, his former servant, helps Almaviva with his courting. The Dreamer is reminded of the similar ‘letter scene’ in Rossini’s
         opera when Rosina hands Figaro a note for Almaviva that she had prepared in advance.


      A CHRISTMAS PARTY AND A WEDDING

        1.   con amore: With love (Italian).


        2.   Yulian Mastakovich: The character with this name first appears in 1847 in Dostoyevsky’s ‘Petersburg Chronicle’ (27 April), where he is engaged
         to marry the seventeen-year-old Glafira Petrovna.


        3.   tax-farmer: An individual who has purchased from the government the rights to collect certain taxes or the exclusive franchise to sell
         certain goods (salt, liquor, etc.).


        4.   nankeen: Durable cotton cloth, ranging from brownish yellow to a pale yellow or buff colour, originally loomed in Nanking, China.


        5.   nec plus ultra: Nothing further beyond; to the utmost (Latin).


      A NASTY BUSINESS

        1.   the renaissance of our beloved fatherland: Published in 1862, the story is set in the era of the ‘Great Reforms’ of the 1860s, instituted by Alexander II (1818–81,
         known as Alexander the Liberator) in order to modernize a backward Russia. The most important reforms included the emancipation
         of the serfs in 1861, followed three years later by judicial reforms and the implementation of the zemstvo, i.e. rural self-government.


        2.   Petersburg Side: Situated between Vasilyevsky Island and the Vyborg Side, this section of St Petersburg is located across the Neva River
         from the city centre.


      3.   the rank of general: The ranks in the Russian civil service held equivalent military titles. Thus Privy Councillor Nikiforov, a civil servant of the third class, is entitled to call himself general. See Appendix II, Table of Ranks.


        4.   Actual State Councillor: ‘Actual’ in this context implies a full, working member in active service.


        5.   stars, even though he already had two: Stars were featured in a number of Russian Imperial orders and medals.


        6.   grand-patience: Solitaire or a card game for one person.


        7.   rather far away: That is, far from the city centre and ‘official’ Petersburg, where Nikiforov’s office no doubt is located.


        8.   une existence manquée … parleur … phraseur: A failed life; talker, chatterbox; phrasemonger.


        9.   tax-farming: See ‘A Christmas Party and a Wedding’ and note 3.


      10. new wine in new wineskins: ‘And no one puts new wine into old wineskins; if he does, the wine will burst the skins … but new wine is for fresh skins’
         (Mark 2:22).


      11. merci: Thank you.


      12. Bolshoy Prospekt: Major avenue (bolshoy means ‘big’) that crosses the Little Neva via the Tuchkov Bridge, runs the length of the Petersburg Side and spans the Karpovka
         River into Apothecary Island.


      13. c’est le mot … bon sens: That’s the word; good sense.


      14. quadrille: Originally of French origin, a dance performed by four couples in a square formation.


      15. Pseldonimov, the legistrator: He, as we see later, is a registrator, that is, a collegiate registrar, the lowest of the fourteen ranks. ‘Legistrator’
         appears to be an invention of the policeman.


      16. his surname: Absurdly close to the Russian word for ‘pseudonym’ (psevdonim), which Ivan Ilyich brings up later. Even more absurd is that his bride is named Mlekopitayev, derived from the word for
         ‘mammal’.


      17. last day of Pompeii: Reference to the massive historical painting by Karl Bryullov (1799–1852), The Last Day of Pompeii (1830–33), which depicts the chaos and destruction of the city and its people caused by the volcanic eruption.


      18. inertia: See ‘The Meek One’ and note 21.


      19. Gogol: Nikolay Gogol (1809–52), master of the Russian short story and author of the novel Dead Souls (1842), has composed the portraits of some of the oddest characters in Russian literature, for example, the lowly clerk Akaky
         Akakievich and his tailor Petrovich in ‘The Overcoat’ (1842).


      20. lampion: Small oil lamp for the outdoors, usually with a coloured chimney; a carriage lamp.


      21. galantine … blancmange: A galantine is a dish of boned meat or fish that is poached before it is set in a mould with its own jelly or in aspic.
         A blancmange is a sweet dessert made from milk or cream, often flavoured with almonds, and thickened with gelatine or cornstarch;
         it is usually set in a mould and served cold.


      22. chaîne de dames, balancez: A figure in a quadrille: Ladies’ chain, set to your partners!


      23. Harun-al-Rashid: Caliph of Baghdad (763?–809), known for the opulence of his court and his participation in the Muslim holy war against Byzantium.
         According to legend, he made excursions at night around the city of Baghdad incognito, in order to become better acquainted
         with the life of his subjects. He is the subject of numerous songs and a cycle of tales from the One Thousand and One Nights, the collection of stories narrated by the clever Scheherazade, who captivates her murderous husband with her storytelling.


      24. pronouncing the letter ‘a’ somewhat like ‘eh’: This manner of pronouncing words indistinctly, with a poor articulation that results from speaking too quickly, carelessly
         or with one’s mouth half-closed, in this instance, reducing the full ‘a’ sound to a short ‘eh’, signals the speaker’s arrogant
         regard or disdain (even a disdain that is forced or assumed) for his interlocutor. Ivan Ilyich’s affected speech, aimed at
         maintaining distance between master and servant, is wholly inappropriate for the situation and his position as advocate of
         ‘humaneness’.


      25. Porfiry Petrov: Instead of giving the expected ‘Petrovich’ as his patronymic, Pseldonimov, a recent arrival from the provinces, uses the
         old Russian form ‘Petrov’, the more plebian abbreviated patronymic.


      26. Charmé: Charmed.


      27. Panayev: A parody of a dream-book, written by N. F. Shcherbina in 1855–7, who says about Ivan Panayev (1812–62), the writer, critic
         and co-editor of the journal the Contemporary: ‘Seeing Ivan Panayev in your dreams portends spilling coffee on a white waistcoat or buying a half-dozen Holland shirts
         at Lepter’s.’ Dream-books, or compilations of interpretations of dreams, enjoyed enormous popularity in Russia. For example,
         Pushkin’s Eugene Onegin, whose heroine Tatyana is engrossed in a dream-book which she has purchased from a pedlar.


      28. A new lexicon … eksposé literature: The newspaper and journal editor Andrey Krayevsky (1810–89) was made editor of the Encyclopedic Dictionary, Compiled by Russian Scholars and Litterateurs, much to the dismay of scholars and writers, since Krayevsky was neither. (His editorship ceased with volume 1 (1861).) Nikolay
         Alferaki (1815–63), a wealthy merchant in Taganrog, left behind a magnificent palace, which today houses the Taganrog Regional
         Museum. The ironic misspelling of exposé as eksposé (ablichitel’naya literatura), favoured genre of the radical camp, is repeated in Dostoyevsky’s Notes from Underground.

      29. the Brand: Easily decipherable as the Spark, one of the most popular publications of the 1860s, a weekly illustrated journal published in St Petersburg, known especially
         for its satire and caricatures.


      30. Yaroslavl: The linen mills in Yaroslavl, situated 280 kilometres north-east of Moscow, on the confluence of the Volga and Kotorosl
         rivers, date from the time of Peter the Great.


      31. the “fish”: This folk dance is described by Ivan Turgenev in his story ‘Old Portraits’ (1881): ‘Ivan danced marvellously, especially
         the so-called “fish dance.” When the chorus struck up a dance tune, the fellow would come into the middle of the ring, and
         then there would begin such a turning and skipping and stamping, and then he would fall flat on the ground, and imitate the
         movement of a fish brought out of the water on to dry land; such turning and wriggling, the heels positively clapped up to
         the head; and then he would get up and shriek—the earth seemed simply quivering under him’ (A Desperate Character and Other Stories, tr. Constance Black Garnett (1899; reprinted New York: AMS Press, Inc. 1970)).


      32. ritornello: Return (Italian). A recurrent musical theme.


      33. preference: Game for 2–4 people played with a 32-card deck, popular in Russia and Eastern Europe.


      34. ‘Luchinushka’: Russian folk song, performed by everybody from gypsy singers to the famous operatic bass Fyodor Chaliapin.


      35. Petersburg News … Academic News: The daily newspaper’s nickname Academic News comes from its publisher, the Academy of Sciences.


      36. Früstück: Breakfast (German). Reference to St Petersburg’s significant German population – in 1869, the year of the first city-wide
         census, the German population accounted for 7 per cent of the population (Steven Duke, ‘Multiethnic St. Petersburg’, in Preserving Petersburg: History, Memory, Nostalgia, ed. H. Goscilo and S. M. Morris (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 2008)). For literary examples of Germans in Petersburg,
         see Pushkin’s ‘Queen of Spades’ (1833) and Ivan Goncharov’s Oblomov (1859).


      37. Fokine: Famed and infamous dancer, ‘hero of the can-can’, known for his ‘shameless entrechats’, according to the literary critic
         A. M. Skabichevksy (Literary Memoirs (Moscow–Leningrad, 1929)).


      38. zakuski: Hors-d’oeuvres (Russian).


      39. hussar fashion: Hussar regiments in Russia, as in other European countries, were light-cavalry units. The hussar, in addition to his superior
         skill as a horseman, could be distinguished from men of other units by his elaborate and richly coloured uniform, which was
         matched by the wearer’s fearless courage on the battlefield and reckless abandon in private life.


      40. Schule: School (German).


      41. kazachok: Ukrainian folk dance, in which the male partner kicks out his legs from a squatting position.


      42. cup of gall and vinegar: The drink given to Christ before his crucifixion: ‘They gave him vinegar to drink mingled with gall: and when he had tasted
         thereof, he would not drink’ (Matthew 27:34 (King James Version)).


      43. droshky: A light, uncovered four-wheeled carriage outfitted with a bench on which the passengers sit sideways or astride.


      44. cholerine: Exact translation of the Russian kholerina, the diminutive of kholera (cholera), a word used as little today in Russian as in English. Cholerine signifies the condition of having mild symptoms
         associated with cholera, e.g. diarrhoea, but not the actual incidence of the disease.


      45. Peski, to Fourth Rozhdestvensky Street: Quite a distance, indeed – across the Neva to a neighbourhood not far from the Moscow train station on Nevsky Prospekt.


      46. flogged to death on the square: Public flogging, which often ended in death, was abolished in Russia in 1845.


      47. un beau matin: One fine morning.


      48. sternness, only sternness, nothing but sternness: In Gogol’s ‘The Overcoat’, the Very Important Person holds the same ‘stern’ philosophy. The formula reappears in ‘The Meek
         One’.


      THE GAMBLER

      CHAPTER 1

      
        1.   Roulettenburg: Based on the city of Wiesbaden, located on the Rhine River in Germany, famous in the nineteenth century for both its gambling
         and spas. Dostoyevsky took the actual name from a Russian translation of a sketch by William Makepeace Thackeray (‘The Kickleburys
         on the Rhine’, 1850); the Russian version translated Thackeray’s Rougetnoirebourg (Redandblackcity) as Roulettenburg, which Dostoyevsky had originally used
         as the title of his novel. He changed it to The Gambler at the publisher’s request.


        2.   thalers: Silver coin that circulated throughout much of Europe. For information on the currencies referred to in the novel, see Appendix
         III, A Note about Money in The Gambler.

        3.   comte et comtesse: Count and countess.


        4.   outchitel: The Russian word for tutor or teacher, given in French transliteration.


        5.   table d’hôte: Meal at a fixed price served to guests in a hotel.


        6.   North Cape … Nizhny Novgorod: The cape on the island of Mageroya in northern Norway, where the Norwegian Sea meets the Barents Sea, often called the northernmost
         point of Europe. Situated on the confluence of the Volga and Oka rivers, Nizhny Novgorod has a long history as a trading centre.
         In the nineteenth century the fair in the city attracted millions of visitors annually. Today it is the fourth largest city
         in the Russian Federation.


        7.   I said this in French: As demonstrated by the long passages in French in Tolstoy’s War and Peace, in the early nineteenth century French was the language of the Russian aristocracy and polite society. However, by the time
         of the action of the Gambler, the use of Russian had become much more usual among all the educated classes. Note that both Alexey Ivanovich and Grandmother
         speak French poorly. Of course, in an international setting such as Roulettenburg, it would be the common language.


        8.   Opinion nationale:National Opinion, French daily newspaper, the organ of the liberal Bonapartists, which came out in Paris until 1879.


        9.   Cela n’était pas si bête: That wasn’t so stupid.


      10. pan: Sir, gentleman (Polish); pani, the feminine form, appears in Chapter 13.


      11. chasseur: Literally, hunter; member of a French light-infantry regiment, known for their skill in rapid manoeuvres.


    12. Nadenka: Earlier called Nadya, both are diminutive forms of Nadezhda, the girl’s given name. See Appendix I, Names in Russian.


      13. “la baboulinka”: French transcription of the Russian diminutive of babushka (grandmother).


      14. Schlangenberg: Snake Mountain (German).


      CHAPTER 2

      
        1.   feuilletons: From the French feuillet, sheet of paper, leaf, i.e. light fiction, sketches, reviews, chronicles that were printed as a supplement to the political
         news in French newspapers. In Russia, the feuilleton was generally a critical essay or a satirical article, and Dostoyevsky’s
         ‘Petersburg Chronicle’ is a good example.


        2.   Rothschild: The head of the well-known banking firm, Baron James de Rothschild (1792–1868) is alluded to in Dostoyevsky’s The Adolescent (1875), when Arkady Dolgoruky, the protagonist, reveals that his ‘plan’ consists of becoming a Rothschild.


        3.   mauvais genre: Bad form.


        4.   trente et quarante: ‘Thirty and forty’, a French card game, also known as ‘rouge et noir’ (red and black).


      CHAPTER 4

      
        1.   Kirghiz: Also Kyrgyz. Traditionally, nomadic people of Turkic origins in Central Asia.


        2.   Tatar: Also Tartar. Member of several Turkic-speaking peoples that for the most part are settled along the Volga River in central
         Russia and eastward to the Ural Mountains. Historically, the Mongol invaders of Russia in medieval times came to be known
         as Tatars.


        3.   ten versts: Russian unit of measure equal to 3,500 feet or 1.06 kilometres; so, here approximately 6½ miles.


        4.   Vater: Father (German).


        5.   stork on the roof: The folkloric role of the stork as a symbol of childbirth and the harbinger of good fortune likely originated in Germany
         and the Netherlands, where the stork often figures in nursery rhymes.


        6.   save up money like Jews: On Dostoyevsky’s anti-Semitism, see ‘Bobok’ and note 18.


        7.   Hoppe & Co.: The Dutch banking firm Hope & Co. (only one ‘p’), which was in operation for more than two centuries, had offices in Amsterdam
         and London.


      
      CHAPTER 5

      
        1.   copybook: Collection of models for penmanship exercises. The short texts often comprised clichéd maxims and aphorisms.


        2.   le coq gaulois: The cockerel of Gaul, the national symbol of France.


        3.   Wurmerhelm: It has been suggested that Dostoyevsky drew on the character Wurm (Worm, German), one of the most negative characters in Friedrich Schiller’s play Love and Intrigue (1784). In any event, the name has obvious associations with ‘worm’.


      CHAPTER 6

      
        1.   Madame la baronne … votre esclave: Madame Baroness. I have the honour to be your slave.


        2.   Hein: Beat it (German, from gehen).


        3.   nec plus ultra: See ‘A Christmas Party and a Wedding’, note 5.


        4.   Jawohl … Sind Sie resend: Indeed … Have you lost your mind? (German).


        5.   junkers: Country squires, titled landowners (German).


      
      CHAPTER 7

        1.   vos appointements: Your salary.


        2.   mon cher monsieur … n’est ce pas: My dear sir, forgive me, I have forgotten your name, Monsieur Alexis? … isn’t that right?


        3.   Mais le general: But the general.


        4.   et madame sa mere: And madame, her mother.


        5.   le baron est … querelle d’Allemande: The baron is so hot-tempered, the Prussian character, you know, he might start a groundless quarrel over nothing.


        6.   que diable … comme vous: The devil take it! A youngster like you.


        7.   subalterne: Subordinate; subaltern.


        8.   Peut-être: Perhaps.


      
      CHAPTER 8

        1.   miss: In the narrator’s rendition (in Russian) of Mr Astley’s conversation, which we presume took place in French, Astley appropriately
         uses the Russian noun miss (in Cyrillic letters), rather than the more usual baryshnia or devushka, both of which can be translated as lady, miss or young girl.


        2.   veuve: Widow.


        3.   Barberini: Illustrious family name of the Roman nobility. In 1623, Cardinal Maffeo Barberini was elected Pope Urban VIII.


        4.   un beau matin: One fine morning.


        5.   Spa: Resort town in Belgium famed for its hot springs.


        6.   garçon: Waiter.


      
      CHAPTER 9

        1.   name and patronynic: Russians are usually addressed by the first name and the second, which is the patronymic, formed from the name of the person’s
         father.


        2.   les seigneurs russes: The Russian grandees.


        3.   Praskovya: Grandmother, the symbol of old Russia, as it were, calls Polina Alexandrovna, not by her adopted name abroad, Polina, but
         by her true Russian name.


        4.   une russe … duchesse de N: A Russian, a countess, an important lady … Grand Duchess of N.


        5.   à la barbe du pauvre general: Under the poor general’s nose.


        6.   Oui, madame … surprise charmante: Yes, madam … and believe me, I am so delighted … your health … it is a miracle … to see you here, a charming surprise.


        7.   Bonjour: Good day.


        8.   pointe: Peak.


        9.   Cette vielle … enfance: This old woman has fallen into childhood.


      10. Mais … plaisir: But, madam, it would be a pleasure.


      
      CHAPTER 10

        1.   Madame la générale princesse de Tarassevitcheva: Madam, the General’s wife, the Princess Tarasevicheva.


        2.   Elle est … des bêtises: She has fallen into childhood … left alone she’ll do a lot of stupid things.


        3.   Sortez, sortez: Leave, leave!


        4.   rouge et noir, pair et impair, manque et passe: Red and black, even and odd, the low numbers 1–18 (manque) and the high numbers 19–36 (passe).


        5.   trente-six: Thirty-six.


        6.   Faites le jeu … ne va plus: Place your bets, gentlemen! Place your bets gentlemen! No more bets?


        7.   Combien zéro? Douze? Douze: How much is zero? Twelve? Twelve?


        8.   Le jeu est fait: No more bets!


      CHAPTER 11

      
        1.   Quelle victoire! … Mais, madame, c’était du feu: What a victory! … Why, Madam, that was brilliant!


        2.   Madame la princesse … si généreux: Madam Princess … a poor expatriate … Constant misfortune … the Russian princes are so generous.


        3.   Que diable … terrible vieille: The devil take it, she’s a terrible old woman!


        4.   Was ist’s der Teufel: What the devil is it! (German).


        5.   Mais, madame … perdrez absolument: ‘But Madam … Your luck may change, only one unlucky move and you’ll lose everything … above all, with your sort of game
         … it was terrible!’ ‘You’ll certainly lose.’


        6.   Eh! ce … se trompe: Eh! that’s not it … My dear sir, our dear general is mistaken.


        7.   cette pauvre terrible vieille: This poor, frightful old woman.


        8.   O mon … bon: Oh, my dear Monsieur Alexis, be so good.


        9.   Quelle mégère: What a shrew!


      
      CHAPTER 12

        1.   Nous boirons … l’herbe fraîche: We will drink milk on the fresh grass.


        2.   nature et la vérité: Nature and truth. In his ‘Winter Notes on Summer Impressions’ (1863), Dostoyevsky visits the grave of writer and philosopher,
         Jean-Jacques Rousseau (1712–78), whom he refers to as ‘l’homme de la nature et de la vérité’ (man of nature and of truth), an allusion to Rousseau’s Confessions (1781–8).


        3.   Diantre … Elle vivra cent ans: The devil take it! … She’ll live a hundred years!


      
      CHAPTER 13

        1.   Paul de Kock: The racy, frothy and immensely popular novels of Parisian life by Charles-Paul de Kock (1793–1871) are the favoured reading
         of Stepan Verkhovensky in Dostoyevsky’s Demons (1871–2).


        2.   łajdak: Good-for-nothing, scoundrel (Polish).


        3.   Balakirev: Ivan Balakirev (1699–1763), servant in the imperial court of Peter the Great, was appointed court buffoon under Empress
         Anna Ivanovna (1693–1740). A book of anecdotes ascribed to Balakirev was published in 1839 and enjoyed widespread success.


        4.   family carriage: A private car on a train outfitted with tables, beds and samovar.


      
      CHAPTER 14

        1.   de la vielle dame … gentilhomme et honnête homme: The old lady … a gentleman and honourable man.


        2.   Les trois derniers coups, messieurs: Last three turns, gentlemen!


        3.   Vingt-deux … Trente et un: Twenty-two! … Thirty-one.


        4.   Madame Blanchard … balloon: Marie Blanchard (b. 1778), widow of a pioneering hot-air balloonist, fell to her death during an exhibition over the Tivoli
         Gardens in Paris in 1819, when fireworks ignited the hydrogen in her balloon.


        5.   Quatre: Four!


        6.   a gagné déjà cent mille florins: Has already won one hundred thousand florins.


        7.   half a pood: 18 lbs; 8.19 kilograms.


      CHAPTER 15

        1.   fraülein: Young lady (German).


        2.   Diese Russen: These Russians!


        3.   Ah, c’est lui … mieux l’or: Ah, it’s him. Come here, you little fool! … that you won a mountain of gold and silver? I would prefer the gold.


        4.   Bibi, comme … n’est-ce pas: Darling, how stupid you are … We’ll have a feast, right? (Blanche uses the familiar form of ‘you’ throughout.)


        5.   Mons fils, as-tu du coeur … Tout autre: My son, are you brave? … As anyone else. Blanche and Alexey trade lines from Act I, scene 5 of Le Cid (1637), by the great French classical tragedian Pierre Corneille (1606–84).


        6.   vois-tu … à Paris: You see … if you’re not too stupid, I’ll take you to Paris.


        7.   Eh bien … tu étais outchitel: Now then! … you’ll see Paris. Tell me, what’s an outchitel [tutor]? You were very stupid when you were an outchitel.

        8.   Eh bien … en plein jour: Well then, what will you do if I take you with me? … I want 50,000 francs … We’re going to Paris … and I will show you stars
         in broad daylight.


        9.   Et cent cinquante mille … des étoiles: One hundred fifty thousand francs … who knows! … I am a good girl … but you will see stars.


      10. vil esclave … fais-tu: Vile slave! … and afterwards the flood! But you can’t understand that, go! … what are you doing? ‘Après moi le deluge’ (after me the flood), to which Blanche alludes, has been attributed to Louis XV and his mistress Madame de Pompadour.


      11. je t’attends, si tu veux: I’ll wait for you, if you wish.


      12. Peut-être, je ne demandais pas mieux: Perhaps, I wasn’t asking for anything better.


      13. mais tu seras heureux … et alors: But you’ll be as happy, as a little king … As for me, I want an income of 50,000 francs and then.


      
      CHAPTER 16

        1.   et les cent mille … avec moi: And the 100,000 francs that we have left, you’ll eat them up with me.


        2.   il a gagné deux cent mille francs: He won 200,000 francs.


        3.   Mais tu … mon garçon: But you have enough sense to understand! You know, my boy.


        4.   Mais … sais-tu … dis donc: Why … you know … tell me then … Why you know … What will you do afterwards, tell me?


        5.   Homburg: Dostoyevsky frequented the roulette tables in Homburg during his stay at this fashionable German resort town in 1863.


        6.   Oui, oui, c’est ça … bonne fille: Yes, yes, that’s splendid! Because I thought that you were only an outchitel (something like a lackey, isn’t that right?) … because I’m a good girl.


        7.   il faut que jeunesse se passe: One must sow one’s wild oats when one is young.


        8.   Mais tu es … sera content: But you are a true philosopher, do you know that? A true philosopher … Well, I will love you, love you – you will see, you’ll
         be pleased!


        9.   Thérèse-philosophe: The heroine of the book Thérèse the Philosopher, published anonymously in 1748; ascribed to the Marquis d’Argens. The Olympia Press, publishers of an English translation
         (2007), supplies this description: ‘This first-person narrative by Thérèse is the charming tale of an innocent’s initiation
         into sexual happiness. Self-discovery in a convent leads her to her confessor, Father Dirrag, and she is soon launched upon
         the path of reason that convinces her that passion and love of the Deity are equal gifts of God.’


      10. Cuirassiers: Mounted cavalry soldiers, named for the breastplate armour they wore, the cuirasse.

      11. Un vrai russe, un calmouk: A true Russian, a Kalmyk! The latter (also spelled Kalmuck) are a Mongol people who live in south-western Russia, west of
         the Volga River, on the north-western shore of the Caspian Sea.


      12. Bal Mabille: Notorious Parisian dance hall founded in 1831 by Mabille, a dance instructor. The dancers, who performed the scandalous
         cancan, were often available to gentlemen after hours. A number of photographs and drawings survive of the Bal Mabille dancers.


      13. à batons-rompus: In fits and starts.


      14. Il a de la chance … mon million: He’s lucky … I will have a château, muzhiks, and then I’ll always have my million. Babouchka: French form of the Russian babushka (grandmother).


      15. très comme il faut … il faut: Very proper … He, nevertheless, is very proper.


      16. zakuski: Hors-d’oeuvres (Russian).


      17. Mais vois-tu … n’est-ce pas: But you see … these devilish Russian names, in a word, Madam, the general’s wife with fourteen consonants. Isn’t that lovely?
         The general’s surname is Zagoryansky, but for Blanche it might as well be Zagoziansky or the even more ludicrous and absolutely
         non-Russian sounding Sago-Sago.


      18. Tu étais bon enfant … et tu seras heureux: You were a good boy … I thought you were stupid and you looked like you were … Wait! … We will always be friends … and you
         will be happy!


      
      CHAPTER 17

        1.   Racine: The French classical dramatist, Jean Racine (1639–99), author of the verse tragedies Iphigénie (1674) and Phèdre (1677), was enthusiastically embraced and defended by the young Dostoyevsky, despite the prevailing Romantic opinion held
         by many, including his brother, that Racine was somewhat outdated.


        2.   Apollo Belvedere: Marble copy of lost bronze original that was made in 350–325 BC. Rediscovered in the late fifteenth century, this statue of the Greek god Apollo has been considered for centuries the essence
         of classical perfection and the epitome of male beauty (now located in the Vatican Museum).


      BOBOK

        1.   my portrait … verge of madness: On the genesis of this story, see the Introduction, ‘Three Stories from A Writer’s Diary’.


        2.   feuilleton: See The Gambler, Chapter 2, note 1.


        3.   Attic salt: A metaphor for refined wit that can be traced back to Cicero, who prized Greek (Attic) oratory.


        4.   Voltaire’s bon mots: That is, the clever sayings or witticisms of Voltaire (1694–1778), the French moralist, satirist, historian, dramatist and
         all-round genius of the Enlightenment.


        5.   bobok: Bean (Russian).


        6.   uniform: Civil servants were required to wear uniforms, which reflected the rank of the wearer.


        7.   the smell, the smell … local ecclesiastics: The pun here is impossible to translate. Dostoyevsky plays on the colloquial term for ‘smell’ (dukh), which more usually means ‘spirit’, and the word for ‘ecclesiastic’ (dukhovnyi).


        8.   bread crumbs … it’s a sin: See Mikhail Bakhtin’s Problems of Dostoevsky’s Poetics: ‘This particularly naturalistic and profaning detail – a half-eaten sandwich on the grave – gives us occasion to touch on
         a symbolic attribute of the carnival type: throwing bread on the ground is permitted, for that is sowing, fructification;
         throwing it on the floor is forbidden, for that is barren soil’ (ed. and tr. Caryl Emerson (Minneapolis: University of Minnesota
         Press, 1984), p. 139).


        9.   Suvorin’s calendar: Calendars were one of the early publishing successes for Alexey Suvorin (1834–1912), who became particularly well known
         for his cheap editions of the classics, both Russian and foreign. The Russian Calendar for 1872, which doubled as a reference book and factbook about Russia, included a section on folk customs and beliefs.


      10. preference: See ‘A Nasty Business’, note 33.


      11. Rest, dear ashes, until the joyful morn: The epitaph belongs to Nikolay Karamzin (1766–1826), major Sentimentalist prose writer and poet, author of History of the Russian State (1818– 26). It was used by the Dostoyevsky brothers on their mother’s gravestone.


      12. torments: A series of difficult ordeals or torments during the first forty days after a person’s death. Memorial prayers are said
         on the ninth and fortieth days.


      13. kutya: Mixture of a boiled grain (e.g. rice, barley) and honey (or sugar, raisins, etc.) traditionally served as part of the funeral
         and memorial meals. The first ingredient symbolizes the resurrection; the latter the blessings of the life to come.


      14. Vale of Jehoshaphat: Located near Jerusalem, the valley is named in honour of the Judaean king, and according to Joel 3:2, the Last Judgement
         will take place there.


      15. Ecke … Botkin: V. E. Ecke (1818–75) and S. P. Botkin (1832–89) were well-known Petersburg medical practitioners.


      16. Lebezyatnikov:Crime and Punishment has the ‘fawning’ Andrey Lebezyatnikov (lebezit’ means ‘to fawn’) and his ‘progressive’ tendencies.


      17. polisson … en haut lieu: Scamp, mischievous boy … in high places.


      18. Zieffel the Yid: Dostoyevsky uses the derogatory Russian word zhid (Yid), rather than the conventional noun evrei (Jew). Dostoyevsky’s deep-seated xenophobia can be seen in the caricatures of Germans, Jews and Poles that appear in his fiction;
         his anti-Semitism becomes even more blatant in the articles in A Writer’s Diary (see, for example, the short piece ‘The Jewish Question’ in the March 1877 issue). Joseph Frank tackles the complicated issue
         of Dostoyevsky’s anti-Semitism in his chapter ‘The Jewish Question’, in Dostoevsky:The Mantle of the Prophet, 1871–1881 (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2002), pp. 301–19.


      19. grand-père: Grandfather.


      20. Cher: Dear.


      21. Citizen: ‘Bobok’ was published in the 5 February 1873 issue of the Citizen (see Introduction).


      THE MEEK ONE

        1.   whose wife is lying on a table: It was customary in Russia for the body of the deceased to be laid out on the table (here two card tables pushed together)
         prior to the arrival of the coffin. See Liza Knapp’s discussion of this passage in connection with the entry Dostoyevsky recorded
         in his notebook upon the death of his first wife (16 April 1864): ‘Masha [i.e. Marya Dmitryevna] is lying on the table. Will
         I ever see Masha again?’ (The Annihilation of Inertia:Dostoevsky and Metaphysics (Evanston, IL: Northwestern University Press, 1996), pp. 1–2ff.; 37–43).


        2.   Victor Hugo … The Last Day of a Condemned Man: Victor Hugo (1802–85), French Romantic poet, novelist and dramatist, conceived Last Day of a Condemned Man (1829) as a protest against the death penalty. The work, comprised of forty-six entries, is the journal of the condemned
         man’s sufferings from the time he receives the death sentence until the very last moments of his life. The book ends abruptly,
         for the condemned man cannot record his own execution. The work was translated into Russian by Dostoyevsky’s brother, Mikhail.


        3.   gros de Naples: Heavy silk fabric.


        4.   Voice: In the 1870s, the circulation of this St Petersburg daily, one of the most influential newspapers in all of Russia, reached
         22,000.


        5.   Sternly, sternly and sternly: See ‘A Nasty Business’, note 48.


        6.   new movement: The 1870s witnessed a number of liberal reforming movements, including women’s rights and the ‘woman question’, ‘going to
         the people’ in order to educate and mobilize the Russian peasantry, as well as frankly revolutionary and terrorist organizations, as portrayed in Dostoyevsky’s Demons (1871–2).


        7.   I – I am part of that part of the whole that desires to do evil, but creates good: The pawnbroker stumbles in his quotation from Scene 3 of Faust:Part I (1808), a poetic drama by Johann Wolfgang von Goethe (1749–1832). In answer to Faust’s ‘Who art thou then?’, Mephistopheles
         replies: ‘Part of that Power, not understood / Which always wills the Bad, and always works the Good’ (Faust, tr. Bayard Taylor (New York: Modern Library, 1912), p. 46).


        8.   pro and contra: For and against (Latin).


        9.   à l’anglaise: In the English manner.


      10. ‘first impressions of existence’: An inexact quotation from Alexander Pushkin’s ‘The Demon’ (1823), which reads: ‘In those days, when all the impressions
         of existence were new to me’. In the poem, the lyric hero’s marvelling at the world (‘the maidens’ glances, the rustling grove
         and the song of the nightingale at night’) is spoiled by the evil genius who despises inspiration and fills the poet’s soul
         with icy poison. Both Pushkin’s Demon and the pawnbroker are destroyers of youthful innocence and wonder.


      11. blood boiling and an over-abundance of energy: Allusion to Mikhail Lermontov’s ‘Do not trust yourself’ (1839), which is structured on the Romantic dichotomy of poet vs.
         the crowd, a frequent theme in his mature lyrics. Here the crowd taunts and jeers at the poet, asking why they should care
         whether he has suffered or not, and the poem ends with the poet being compared to a ‘tragic actor waving a cardboard sword’.
         The quotation is from the first stanza, in which the ‘young dreamer’ is told to ‘fear imagination’, which is merely the ‘ravings
         of his sick soul … Either the blood boiling or an over-abundance of energy’. The pawnbroker fittingly quotes the lines attributed
         to the crowd; in other words he is quite removed from Mephistopheles in Faust or the poets in Pushkin and Lermontov. Dostoyevsky alludes to this poem in the opening pages of The Brothers Karamazov, when he is describing Adelaida Ivanovna, Fyodor Pavlovich’s first wife.


      12. In Pursuit of Happiness and Songbirds: The first is a four-act play by the popular dramatist Pyotr Ilyich Yurkevich (d. 1884), which had its premiere in St Petersburg
         in 1876. Songbirds is the Russian title of the charming opéra bouffe La Périchole (1868) by the French composer Jacques Offenbach (1819–80). Based on a novella by Prosper Mérimée and set in Peru, the libretto
         tells the story of two street singers, too poor even to afford a marriage licence, who are united after a few hours of toils and tribulations. The two works reflect the pawnbroker’s middlebrow tastes.


      13. Mill: The utilitarian philosopher and economist John Stuart Mill (1806–73), author of The Subjection of Women (1869), of which two translations into Russian appeared in 1869. In the opening paragraph of his argument for equality between
         the sexes, Mill writes that he believes: ‘the existing social relations between the two sexes – the legal subordination of
         one sex to the other – is wrong itself, and now one of the chief hindrances to human improvement’. When the pawnbroker refers
         to women’s ‘lack of originality’, he no doubt has in mind: ‘If we consider the works of women in modern times, and contrast
         them with those of men, either in the literary or the artistic department, such inferiority as may be observed resolves itself
         essentially into one thing: but that is a most material one; deficiency of originality’ (London: Longmans, 1869, pp. 127–8).


      14. Crimea: Region and peninsula located on the Black Sea and the Sea of Azov.


      15. basta: Enough! (Italian).


      16. Vyazemsky House on Haymarket Square:Voice published a sketch of the Vyazemsky House, a Petersburg flophouse located in the slums of Haymarket Square: ‘One can say
         without exaggeration that this house is a breeding-ground and receptacle of every possible disgraceful outrage of which a
         person, oppressed by poverty and ignorance, might commit … At the present time, in this den live approximately 7000 people, ragged, filthy, who have not seen either a comb or soap since birth, and the great majority of whom, almost to a
         man, are drunk’ (28 October 1876). Much of Crime and Punishment is set in Haymarket Square – both Sonya and Raskolnikov live there, and it is where he bows down and kisses the earth; the
         unsavoury Svidrigailov admits to spending nights in the Vyazemsky House.


      17. Hussar: See ‘A Nasty Business’, note 39.


      18. Police Bridge: So-called because of its proximity to the residence of the Chief of the St Petersburg Police, the structure, known today
         as the Green Bridge, carries Nevsky Prospekt across the Moika River.


      19. Boulogne: Dostoyevsky visited the port and seaside resort Boulogne-sur-Mer, located on the northern coast of France, in the summer
         of 1862.


      20. Gil Blas and the Archbishop of Granada: In the picaresque novel Histoire de Gil Blas de Santillane (1715–35) by the French satirical dramatist and prose writer Alain-René Lesage (1668–1747), the adventures of the young Gil Blas are his education
         gleaned from a succession of masters. He is asked by the archbishop to comment on his latest, clearly unsuccessful, sermon,
         and makes a few careful, exceedingly diplomatic criticisms – and is banished by the archbishop. This scene was a favourite
         of Dostoyevsky’s, who refers to it on multiple occasions in his letters and works.


      21. Inertia: This is the third instance of ‘inertia’ (kosnost’), which could also be rendered as ‘sluggishness’ or ‘stagnation’. Its placement here signals its importance. Previous translations
         have proposed ‘insensibility’, ‘insensateness’, ‘immutability’ or ‘blind force’. According to Liza Knapp’s compelling analysis
         of kosnost’ as a metaphysical concept in Dostoyevsky’s works, ‘in Russian usage, the Latinate word inertsiya [inertia] is more strictly associated with Newtonian mechanics than is the Slavic word kosnost’ … But in Dostoevsky’s day kosnost’ was used to denote the mechanical principle of inertia, as defined in Newton’s law of motion, and more generally to denote
         the property of being “subject to mechanical necessity” ’ (The Annihilation of Inertia, p. 4).


      22. bogatyr: Heroic warrior of the byliny, the Russian folk-epic songs that date back to at least the eleventh century. While some are historical and others mythical,
         all are models of courage and strength.


      23. The sun … isn’t it dead: The figure of the dead sun draws on imagery from Revelation 16:8–9.


      24. ‘People, love one another’ – who said that: Well-known words spoken by Jesus: ‘This I command you, to love one another’ and ‘This is my commandment, that you love one
         another, as I have loved you’ (John 15:17, 12). See also ‘The Dream of a Ridiculous Man’ and note 11.


      THE DREAM OF A RIDICULOUS MAN

        1.   the 3rd of November: The significance of the date is never explained in the text. Eric Naiman draws parallels between the story and the items
         in A Writer’s Diary devoted to Ekaterina Kornilova, a seamstress who pushed her stepdaughter out of a fourth-storey window. (The child miraculously
         survived.) He notes, among other things, the importance of a young girl at the close of the two narratives and of the adjective
         ‘fantastic’. (This juxtaposition of essay and fictional treatment is also seen in connection with the story ‘The Meek One’ – see Introduction, ‘Three Stories
         from A Writer’s Diary’.) Judging from Dostoyevsky’s correspondence and notebooks, it seems likely, according to Naiman, that Dostoyevsky visited
         Kornilova in prison on 3 November (‘Of Crime, Utopia, and Repressive Complements: The Further Adventures of the Ridiculous
         Man’, Slavic Review, 50:3 (1991), pp. 512–20).


        2.   droshky: See ‘A Nasty Business’, note 43.


        3.   Voltaire armchair: A wide, deep, comfortable armchair with a tall back, named for the philosopher, see ‘Bobok’, note 4. This naming points
         to the Western origins of the narrator’s philosophical malaise.


        4.   stoss: Also known as stuss, it is a variant of faro, the card game at which Hermann ultimately loses in Pushkin’s ‘Queen of Spades’.
         Whole fortunes were lost at the faro table in Russia in the nineteenth century. Playing with old, dirty cards is one more
         indicator of the captain’s degradation.


        5.   Nevsky Prospekt: See ‘White Nights’, note 2.


        6.   dream, that my brother is dead and buried: Dreams play a major role in Dostoyevsky’s works, for example, Crime and Punishment. He often dreamed of his brother who had died twelve years before this story was written; moreover, he accorded his dreams
         an almost mystical and prophetic significance.


        7.   Sirius: The brightest star in the night sky, commonly known as the ‘Dog Star’ on account of its position in the constellation Canis
         Major. In ancient times, the Greeks believed that the position of Sirius in the sky would foretell the ‘dog days’ of summer;
         the Egyptians used it to predict the annual flooding of the Nile.


        8.   Greek archipelago: The islands in the Aegean Sea, the ‘cradle’ of European civilization. Compare this scene with the depiction of the ‘Golden
         Age’ in Stavrogin’s confession in Demons (the chapter ‘At Tikhon’s’), which reappears in The Adolescent (1875; Part III, Chapter 7).


        9.   trichina: A parasitic worm. In the epilogue to Crime and Punishment, Raskolnikov is hospitalized during Holy Week and dreams of a pestilence of trichinae that causes madness.


      10. holy fool: A Fool-in-Christ who lives outside of society and its norms, who does not have a fixed residence, but wanders, living on
         the charity of strangers, who may be mad or may merely simulate madness, who is able to divine truths or perhaps see the future
         and who delivers his message in parables or in symbolic language.


      11. to love others as yourself: Christ’s teaching to his disciples: ‘You shall love your neighbour as yourself. There is no other commandment greater …’
         (Mark 12:31). See also ‘The Meek One’ and note 24.


      

      
      

      
      
      Appendix I
 Names in Russian

      
      
      All Russians have three names: the given name, the patronymic and the surname. Thus: Fyodor Mikhaylovich Dostoyevsky; Anna
         Grigoryevna Dostoevskaya. The patronymic is the father’s given name and the ending -ovich or -evich for males, -ovna or -evna for females. Patronymics can be abbreviated by omitting the -ov/-ev, as in ‘A Nasty Business’ with Semyon Ivanych, rather than the expected Ivanovich; such abbreviation usually connotes a degree of familiarity. Note that in The Gambler, Grandmother, as was customary, addresses her manservant by patronymic alone – Potapych.


      
      Most given names have affectionate or diminutive forms, as in English. Thus, Nadezhda: Nadya, Nadenka; and Marfa: Marfusha,
         both characters in The Gambler. In ‘White Nights’, the Dreamer is surprised when his unknown companion says, ‘My name is Nastenka … That’s all! Is that
         really not enough for you?’ In other words, she does not reply with name and patronymic, but merely the diminutive (Nastenka
         is the diminutive of Anastasia). Finally, there is Polina in The Gambler, who is addressed by most characters, with the exception of Grandmother, by the French equivalent (Polina) of her Russian
         name, Praskovya.


      
      One normally addresses a person one does not know by the surname, preceded by an honorific, for example, ‘Professor’ or ‘Mr’,
         and the formal form of the verb, second personal plural (vy – very much like the French vous). Some knowledge of the person, even with a great difference in age and rank, entitles one to use the first name and patronymic
         only, though the vy form of the verb is usually preserved.


      

      
      
      
      Appendix II
 Table of Ranks

      
      
      Established by Peter the Great in 1722, the Table of Ranks classified all civil servants, military officers and court officials
         into fourteen classes (no. I is the highest rank). Only the civil and military classes appear in this volume. It was not uncommon
         for a civil servant to make use of the military equivalent of his rank. Thus the three generals in ‘A Nasty Business’ are,
         in fact, civil servants of the third and fourth classes (privy councillor and actual state councillor).


      
      Until 1843, rank VIII conferred hereditary nobility to a civil servant, and rank X personal, or nonhereditary nobility; the
         lowest rank conferred nobility in the military. The Table of Ranks remained in force until 1918.


      
      
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
            	Rank
            	Civil Service
            	Army
            	Form of Address


         
         
         
         
            	I
            	Chancellor
            	Field Marshal
            	Your High
    Excellency


         
         
            	II
            	Actual Privy Councillor
            	General
            	''


         
         
            	III
            	Privy Councillor
            	Lieutenant
   General
            	Your Excellency


         
         
            	IV
            	Actual State Councillor
            
            	Major-General
            	


         
         
            	V
            	State Councillor
            	*
            	Your High-Born


         
         
            	VI
            	Collegiate Councillor
            	Colonel
            	Your High Honour


         
         
            	VII
            	Court Councillor
            	Lieutenant
   Colonel
            	''


         
         
            	VIII
            	Collegiate Assessor
            
            	Major
            	''


         
         
            	IX
            	Titular Councillor
            
            	Staff-Captain
            	Your Honour


         
         
            	X
            	Collegiate Secretary
            
            	*
            	''


         
         
            	XI
            	Naval Secretary
            	*
            	''


         
         
            	XII
            	Secretary of Province
            	Second
            	''


         
         
            	
            	
            	Lieutenant
            	''


         
         
            	XIII
            	Provincial Secretary
            	Ensign
            	''


         
         
            	XIV
            	Collegiate Registrar
            
            	*
            	''


         
         
            	* An asterisk indicates those ranks with no precise army equivalent.
            
            


         
         
         


      

      
      
      
      Appendix III
 A Note about Money in The Gambler

      
      
      Money plays a prominent role from the very first page of the novel, when the general gives Alexey Ivanovich two thousand-franc
         notes to be changed. As befits the international scene in Roulettenburg, apart from the hotel and the casino, the only institution
         mentioned is the exchange bureau. Sums of money are referred to throughout The Gambler, in currencies and amounts that have meaning for the narrator, but not necessarily for the twenty-first-century reader.


      
      
      
      FRANCS, FLORINS AND GULDEN

      
      
      A uniform German currency, the deutschemark, was not established until after the creation of the German Empire in 1871. Wiesbaden,
         the model for Roulettenburg, was the capital of the duchy of Nassau from 1806 to 1866, when it became part of Prussia. The
         Latin Monetary Union was established in 1856 by Belgium, France, Italy and Switzerland to set standards and equivalents for
         their currencies: 4 gulden was the equivalent of 10 francs or 4 florins, all currencies which circulated widely throughout
         Europe and which are mentioned in The Gambler. (The exchange rates of the Latin Union were observed informally by many other states throughout Europe.) In the 1860s the
         French franc was the equivalent of US $0.20 (UK £1.00 was equal to 25 francs1); thus the 2,000 francs that Alexey Ivanovich changes in the opening of Chapter 1 corresponded to approximately $400, estimated
         to have the purchasing power of $5,500 in 2008 US dollars (£80, i.e. £5,800) using the retail price index.2 The 200,000 francs that Alexey Ivanovich and Blanche spend in Paris under three weeks’ time is indeed a fortune: $40,000
         in 1865 had the equivalent purchasing power of over half a million US dollars in 2008 (£8,250 in 1865), with a purchasing
         power of almost £600,000 now).


      
      
      
      
      ROUBLES AND THALERS

      
      
      Also in Chapter 1, the general gives Alexey Ivanovich an advance of 100 thalers against the 120 roubles he is owed (approximately
         $95 dollars; the rouble was valued at US $0.80). The thaler, a silver coin that circulated throughout Europe for almost four
         centuries, had been adopted by most of the German states in the 1860s with a value of 1 gulden equals 1.75 thalers. (In Chapter
         6 Alexey has some fried eggs and wine for a thaler and a half.) The 100 thalers equals 60 gulden or 150 francs ($30; £6);
         in other words, far less than he was due.


      
      Potapych reckons that Grandmother lost ‘as much as 90,000 roubles in all that day’, or $72,000, which in 2008 would have the
         purchasing power of close to a million dollars (£690,370) – a fortune, indeed! Finally, the 3,000 roubles (approximately $2,400)
         that Dostoyevsky received from Stellovsky, the amount that keeps reappearing in Dostoyevsky’s works, is by no means a fortune,
         particularly when you consider he was supporting six people and paying off debts – its purchasing power would come to about $32,700 (£36,000) now.


      
      
      
      
      FRIEDRICHS D’OR AND LOUIS D’OR

      
      
      The friedrich d’or was a Prussian gold coin in circulation from the mid-eighteenth century through the mid-nineteenth. In
         Chapter 2, Alexey Ivanovich begins his career at the roulette table with a stake of 5 friedrichs d’or, which he mentions is
         the equivalent of 500 gulden, putting the value of his first stake at 1,250 francs, i.e. $250 (£50), a purchasing power in
         2008 of $3,400 (£3,600).


      
      The louis d’or (gold Louis), a gold coin first minted under Louis XIII in 1640, depicted on one side the French king and the
         royal coat of arms on the reverse. Subsequent monarchs continued the practice, as did Napoleon. The value was set at 20 francs.
         In Chapter 2, when Alexey Ivanovich is describing his first visit to the roulette tables, he writes that a ‘gentleman … may
         stake 5 or 10 louis d’or, rarely more than that’; in other words all of 100 or 200 francs, i.e. $20 or $40 (£4 or £8); the
         lower figures come to a respectable $275 (£290) in terms of purchasing power in 2008.


      
      NOTES

      
        1.  For the sake of convenience I have rounded off amounts throughout; the British pound was actually valued at 25.22 francs.


        2.  I quote the figures for current (i.e. 2008) ‘purchasing power’ in US dollars and UK pounds, converted from their value in
         1865, according to the conversion calculator on the website Measuring Worth: http://www.measuringworth.com. The website of the UK National Archive also has a currency converter for British pounds, which gives somewhat different
         but similar amounts: http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/currency/default.asp#mid.


      

      
      
      * Dates are Old Style (see p. 359).
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